# JMIR Dermatology

All topics related to diseases of the skin, hair, and nails, with special emphasis on technologies for information exchange, education, and clinical care Volume 4 (2021), Issue 2 ISSN 2562-0959 Editor in Chief: Robert Dellavalle, MD, PhD, MSPH

# Contents

# **Original Papers**

**RenderX** 

Effects of Pain From Atopic Dermatitis: Interview and Focus Group Study With Patients and Their Families (e29826)	
Ashley Snyder, Vanina Taliercio, Adelheid Brandenberger, Bianca Rich, Lisa Webber, Abram Beshay, Joshua Biber, Rachel Hess, Jamie Rhoads, Aaron Secrest.	. 4
Patients' Experiences of Using Skin Self-monitoring Apps With People at Higher Risk of Melanoma: Qualitative Study (e22583)	
Emily Habgood, Christopher McCormack, Fiona Walter, Jon Emery.	18
Global Burden of Skin Disease Representation in the Literature: Bibliometric Analysis (e29282)	44
Kayd Pulsipher, Mindy Szeto, Chandler Rundle, Colby Presley, Melissa Laughter, Robert Dellavalle.	41
Publication Trends and Their Relationship With Academic Success Among Dermatology Residents: Cross-sectional Analysis (e30015)	
J Anderson, David Wenger, Austin Johnson, Corbin Walters, Mopileola Adewumi, Lindy Esmond, Jourdan Waddell, Matt Vassar.	47
Skin of Color Representation on Wikipedia: Cross-sectional Analysis (e27802)	
William Kim, Sophia Wolfe, Caterina Zagona-Prizio, Robert Dellavalle	57
Identifying and Responding to Health Misinformation on Reddit Dermatology Forums With Artificially Intelligent Bots Using Natural Language Processing: Design and Evaluation Study (e20975)	
Monique Sager, Aditya Kashyap, Mila Tamminga, Sadhana Ravoori, Christopher Callison-Burch, Jules Lipoff.	63
The Contact Dermatitis Quality of Life Index (CDQL): Survey Development and Content Validity Assessment (e30620)	
Mary Hill, Melissa Laughter, Cecile Harmange, Robert Dellavalle, Chandler Rundle, Cory Dunnick.	71
Supporting Self-management Among Young People With Acne Vulgaris Through a Web-Based Behavioral Intervention: Development and Feasibility Randomized Controlled Trial (e25918)	
Athena Ip, Ingrid Muller, Adam Geraghty, Kate Rumsby, Beth Stuart, Paul Little, Miriam Santer.	79
Comparing Risk Profiles in Critical Care Patients With Stage 2 and Deep Tissue Pressure Injuries: Exploratory Retrospective Cohort Study (e29757)	
Jenny Alderden, Linda Amoafo, Yue Zhang, Caroline Fife, David Yap, Tracey Yap	115

Conflicts of Interest in "Throwaway" Dermatology Publications: Analysis of the Open Payments Database (e30126) Jorge Roman, David Elpern.	130
Exploring Access to Surgical Interventions for Hidradenitis Suppurativa: Retrospective Population-Based Analysis (e31047) Alexandra Finstad, Alex Lee, Ralph George, Raed Alhusayen.	167

# **Research Letters**

Sunscreen Posts on Twitter in the United States and Canada, 2019: Content Analysis (e29723)	
Sajjad Fazel, Emma Quinn, Chelsea Ford-Sahibzada, Steven Szarka, Cheryl Peters.	14
Surgical Surprise: Cutaneous Metastasis Presenting for Mohs Micrographic Surgery Without a Prior Diagnostic Biopsy (e33241)	
Spencer Dunaway, Pushkar Aggarwal, Cristin Shaughnessy, Scott Neltner.	27
Global Melanoma Correlations With Obesity, Smoking, and Alcohol Consumption (e31275)	
Nisha Batta, Sarah Shangraw, Andrew Nicklawsky, Takeshi Yamauchi, Zili Zhai, Dinoop Ravindran Menon, Dexiang Gao, Robert Dellavalle, Mayumi Fujita	32
Teledermatology Consults in a County Hospital Setting: Retrospective Analysis (e30530)	
Colton Funkhouser, Martha Funkhouser, Jay Wolverton, Toby Maurer.	37
The Role of Providers and Influencers in the Use of Social Media as Solace for Psoriasis: Qualitative and Quantitative Study (e29904)	
Sarin Pakhdikian, Benjamin Woo.	99
Assessment and Evaluation of Social Engagement in Dermatology Residency Programs on Instagram: Cross-sectional Study (e32105)	
Chapman Wei, Sophie Bernstein, Nagasai Adusumilli, Mark Marchitto, Frank Chen, Anand Rajpara.	107
From the Cochrane Library: Skin Care Interventions in Infants for Preventing Eczema and Food Allergy (e30197)	
Jarett Anderson, Torunn Sivesind.	140
From the Cochrane Library: Systemic Treatments for Metastatic Cutaneous Melanoma (e30270)	
Austin Hamp, Jarett Anderson, Torunn Sivesind, Mindy Szeto, Andreas Hadjinicolaou.	143
From the Cochrane Library: Topical Tacrolimus for Atopic Dermatitis (e31838) Austin Hamp, Jarett Anderson, Torunn Sivesind, Mindy Szeto, Jade Cury-Martins.	147
Ani Oganesyan, Torunn Sivesind, Robert Dellavalle.	150
From the Cochrane Library: Topical Treatments for Cutaneous Warts (e33900)	
Ani Oganesyan, Torunn Sivesind, Robert Dellavalle.	153

XSL•F<del>O</del> RenderX

# Corrigenda and Addenda

Correction: The Use of Person-Centered Language in Medical Research Journals Focusing on Psoriasis: Cross-sectional Analysis (e31902) Ryan Ottwell, Benjamin Heigle, Arjun Reddy, Nicholas Sajjadi, Alexis Wirtz, Courtney Cook, Hannah Howard, Micah Hartwell, Matt Vassar. . . 4 6

# **Short Paper**

Performance of Artificial Intelligence Imaging Models in Detecting Dermatological Manifestations in Higher			
Fitzpatrick Skin Color Classifications (e31697)			
Pushkar Aggarwal	111		

# Reviews

Gamification and Game-Based Strategies for Dermatology Education: Narrative Review (e30325)	
Mindy Szeto, Daniel Strock, Jarett Anderson, Torunn Sivesind, Victoria Vorwald, Hope Rietcheck, Gil Weintraub, Robert Dellavalle.	122
Trends in Hidradenitis Suppurativa Disease Severity and Quality of Life Outcome Measures: Scoping	
Review (e27869)	
Jalal Maghfour, Torunn Sivesind, Robert Dellavalle, Cory Dunnick	156



**Original Paper** 

# Effects of Pain From Atopic Dermatitis: Interview and Focus Group Study With Patients and Their Families

Ashley M Snyder<sup>1,2</sup>, MPH; Vanina L Taliercio<sup>1</sup>, MS, MD; Adelheid U Brandenberger<sup>3</sup>, MD; Bianca E Rich<sup>3</sup>, MD; Lisa B Webber<sup>1</sup>, BS; Abram P Beshay<sup>1</sup>, MD; Joshua E Biber<sup>2</sup>, MBA, MS; Rachel Hess<sup>2,4</sup>, MS, MD; Jamie L W Rhoads<sup>1</sup>, MS, MD; Aaron M Secrest<sup>1,2</sup>, MD, PhD

<sup>1</sup>Department of Dermatology, University of Utah, Salt Lake City, UT, United States

<sup>2</sup>Department of Population Health Sciences, University of Utah, Salt Lake City, UT, United States

<sup>3</sup>School of Medicine, University of Utah, Salt Lake City, UT, United States

<sup>4</sup>Department of Internal Medicine, University of Utah, Salt Lake City, UT, United States

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Aaron M Secrest, MD, PhD Department of Dermatology University of Utah 30 North 1900 East, 4A330 Salt Lake City, UT, 84132 United States Phone: 1 801 581 6465 Fax: 1 801 581 6484 Email: <u>Aaron.Secrest@hsc.utah.edu</u>

# Abstract

**Background:** Pain is an underappreciated symptom of atopic dermatitis that can affect the health-related quality of life (HRQL) of patients.

**Objective:** The aim of this study is to understand the effect of pain on patients with atopic dermatitis and their family members and to recognize how this symptom affects HRQL.

**Methods:** We conducted focus groups and interviews with patients with atopic dermatitis and their family members. Researchers independently coded the transcripts and reached a consensus on the major themes.

**Results:** A total of 33 adult participants, consisting of 21 patients with atopic dermatitis (median age 47 years, range 22-77) and 12 family members (median age 50, range 22-72), attended either focus groups (23/33, 70%) or interviews (10/33, 30%), where we assessed their experiences of pain. Four themes emerged in our study. Itchiness and pain can be intertwined: pain was often caused by or otherwise associated with itchiness and could result from open sores and excoriated skin. Characteristics of pain: pain was most often described as burning. Other descriptors included mild, persistent discomfort; stinging; and stabbing. Effects of pain: pain negatively affected various aspects of daily life, including choice of clothing, sleep, social activities, and relationships. The location of painful areas could also limit physical activity, including sex. Pain management: pain from atopic dermatitis could be managed to varying degrees with different over-the-counter and prescription treatments. Systemic agents that cleared the skin also resolved the pain associated with atopic dermatitis.

**Conclusions:** Pain can be a significant factor in the HRQL of patients with atopic dermatitis and should be considered by clinicians when caring for patients with atopic dermatitis.

(JMIR Dermatol 2021;4(2):e29826) doi:10.2196/29826

#### **KEYWORDS**

atopic dermatitis; eczema; pain; qualitative research; quality of life



# Introduction

#### Background

Atopic dermatitis is a chronic inflammatory skin disease with a highly symptomatic clinical course [1]. The hallmark symptom of atopic dermatitis is itch, or pruritus [1]. However, pain has also been recognized as an important and highly prevalent symptom in patients with atopic dermatitis [2]. An international web-based survey of 1111 patients with atopic dermatitis from 34 countries showed that pain was the second most common symptom of atopic dermatitis after itchiness [3]. A prospective practice-based study found that over 40% of patients with atopic dermatitis experienced some level of pain [4], and a more recent cross-sectional study found that 61% of participants reported experiencing pain from atopic dermatitis [2].

Several studies have analyzed the effect of chronic pain on the lives of patients, highlighting the strong correlation between pain and the deterioration of health-related quality of life (HRQL) [5-8], and atopic dermatitis is no exception. Some patients with atopic dermatitis find that their pain is related to scratching, fissures on the skin, inflamed red skin, or burning from creams or ointments [2]. Pain from atopic dermatitis can have a negative impact on the ability of patients to shop, make clothing decisions, and maintain relationships, among other aspects of daily life [4]. Moreover, although pain is not universally experienced, one study found that the proportion of patients with moderate or severe atopic dermatitis who reported pain as the most burdensome symptom was more than six times the proportion of patients with mild atopic dermatitis who reported the same [9].

#### Objective

Due to the time constraints of clinical practice, dermatologists are often unable to gain an in-depth understanding of all symptoms that the patient has and how they affect the HRQL of a patient. Dermatologists' assessment of the frequency of primary symptoms of a patient (often itchiness with atopic dermatitis) may not accurately reflect the perspectives of the patient. For diseases in which symptoms become debilitating, the primary goal of treatment is symptom control. Failure to understand how debilitating symptoms are for patients may leave them undertreated. We aimed to document the qualitative experience of atopic dermatitis from the perspectives of patients and their families, specifically focusing on the understudied symptoms of pain with atopic dermatitis.

# Methods

## **Study Design**

We conducted a qualitative study using focus groups and interviews to understand the effect of pain on HRQL in patients with atopic dermatitis and their family members. Our study was approved by the University of Utah institutional review board (#98441).

#### **Participants and Setting**

Participants were recruited either by recommendation from their dermatologist or by identifying patients with a diagnosis of atopic dermatitis in the electronic medical record with an upcoming appointment and having the study coordinator ask them about participating in the study at the time of the appointment. To be included, patients had to be aged  $\geq 18$  years, speak English, and have atopic dermatitis diagnosed by a University of Utah dermatologist. Family members had to be a partner or first-degree relative of a patient with atopic dermatitis, be aged  $\geq 18$  years, and speak English.

We attempted to recruit a sufficiently large sample to achieve thematic saturation. In total, 21 patients and 12 family members participated in the focus groups or interviews. Each participant provided demographic data via a written survey and written informed consent before the focus group or interview. One family member also had atopic dermatitis, so they contributed data from both family member and patient perspectives.

## **Data Collection and Analysis**

Semistructured interview guides with open-ended questions were developed regarding experiences with itchiness, pain, sleep quality, and personal relationships because of atopic dermatitis (Textbox 1). The principle of theory-driven qualitative research was used, including basing themes and interview questions on theoretical considerations, expert discussions, and an extensive literature review. Investigators used an integrative model of patient-centeredness to guide the development of guidelines [10,11]. Interviews lasted about 15-35 minutes, and focus groups lasted about 60-70 minutes. Meetings were audiorecorded and transcribed verbatim, though some utterances were left out if not considered important for meaning, for example, "mm-hmm."



Textbox 1. Interview guide questions about pain from atopic dermatitis (eczema).

#### Interview guide questions

Please tell me more about the pain associated with the eczema.

- What words would you use to describe the pain of the eczema?
  - Prompts: burning, stinging, pins and needles, aching, stabbing, tingling.
- What time of day is the eczema most painful?
- What are things that cause pain with eczema?
  - Prompts: scratching too much, putting creams/lotions on your eczema
- What helps when the pain is worst, what provides relief?
- How does eczema's pain affect your sleep? The sleep of your significant other?
  - How often is pain affecting sleep? How does it affect your bedroom relationship?
- How does eczema's pain affect your mood? The mood of your loved ones?
- How does pain from eczema affect relationships?
- What other areas of your life are affected by the pain of eczema?

A thematic analysis approach was used to assess transcripts [12,13]. Two investigators (AM Snyder and VLT) with previous training in qualitative methods assessed several transcripts for themes and ideas for an initial codebook, and themes evolved as they continued to code all the transcripts and analyzed the final set of codes. The two investigators reached a consensus on the major themes. Although no changes were made to the meaning of the quotes, it should be noted that minor aspects of some quotes (eg, punctuation and grammatical errors) were changed to account for errors during transcription. For the presentation of quotes, words inserted into quotes or replacing specific words to help convey meaning are shown in brackets; descriptions of actions during the interview or focus group are italicized and shown in brackets; and any text left out of a quote, whether to shorten the quote or replace the text where there was uncertainty about the transcription, was replaced by bracketed

ellipses. NVivo version 12 (QSR International) was used in assessing the codes. STATA version 16 (StataCorp) was used to calculate the demographic statistics.

## Results

#### **Demographic Characteristics**

Participants attended either focus groups (23/33, 70%) or interviews (10/33, 30%), where we assessed the experiences of 21 patients with atopic dermatitis and 12 family members. Most participants identified as female and non-Hispanic White (Table 1). Four themes emerged that indicated that pain had a significant effect on HRQL (Figure 1). Not all participants reported pain, but for those who did, pain created many different sensations and a variety of effects on daily life.



Snyder et al

Table 1. Demographic characteristics of patients and family members (N=33).

Characteristics	Patients (n=21)	Family members (n=12)
Age (years), median (range)	47 (22-77)	50 (22-72)
Gender, n (%)		
Female	16 (76)	8 (67)
Male	5 (24)	4 (33)
Race and ethnicity, n (%)		
Non-Hispanic White	20 (95)	10 (83)
Other	1 (5)	2 (17)
Education, n (%)		
High school	3 (14)	2 (17)
College degree	7 (33)	6 (50)
Bachelor's degree	7 (33)	3 (25)
Master's degree or higher	3 (14)	1 (8)
Not reported	1 (5)	0 (0)
Marital status, n (%)		
Married or domestic partner	16 (76)	11 (92)
Single, widowed, or divorced	5 (24)	1 (8)
Employment status, n (%)		
Employed	11 (52)	10 (83)
Retired	4 (19)	2 (17)
Unable to work	1 (5)	0 (0)
Unemployed	4 (19)	0 (0)
Not reported	1 (5)	0 (0)



#### Snyder et al



Figure 1. Four main themes regarding pain were elucidated from the transcripts of focus groups and interviews with patients with atopic dermatitis and their family members.

#### **Theme 1: Itchiness and Pain**

Scratching was a necessity for some patients with atopic dermatitis, and pain was sometimes an unfortunate consequence of scratching to try to relieve itchiness. The urge to provide relief from itchiness could be more powerful than the desire to avoid further consequences. This behavior of *inducing pain* led to physical consequences for some, such as open sores and denuded skin:

[That] is probably where the pain is coming from [...] he's scratched it raw and then it, especially on the inner crooks of his elbows and stuff like where he's bending them a lot, it just kind of opens those wounds back up.

Conversely, scratching was not always viewed as a negative as scratching could provide relief from the pain:

[Sometimes] you get the pain, but sometimes if you scratch it, now you have the sensation of scratching and now it's not hurting like it did in that moment before the scratch. You jarred it up a little bit so your body can get a break from the pain, some relief.

Itchiness and pain were sometimes difficult to distinguish from each other. This *painful itch* phenomenon experienced by some patients appeared to be a significant component of the effects of the condition. One patient explained:

[It] doesn't feel like it's just itching on top of the skin; it itches down in the skin [...] if you rub it and scratch it, feels almost like a thrill going through your body but it's a hurting thrill or [...] it's like you're having sex or something and you get that climax. It is like that but the only thing is it's pain.

This pain, described as *coming from deep within*, might not be stopped simply by scratching an itch. Patients in our study generally struggled with itchiness, but coexistent pain worsened daily struggles with atopic dermatitis.

#### **Theme 2: Characteristics of Pain**

Itchiness was not always a part of the pain sensation for patients; instead, some patients felt a burning sensation that could be just as irritating. A *burning pain* was a somewhat common description of the pain experienced:

[It's] amazing how there aren't any scars from it, because it's like a fire. I mean it's like you got burnt.

One patient explained:

There are times that my skin just feels like it's on fire and there is nothing [that] will put it out.

Additional descriptors of pain included: *hot and burning, stabbing, dull, sharp, sunburn, sting,* needle-like, or even a persistent *discomfort* (Textbox 2). Some participants had difficulty describing their experience, and one patient expressed having trouble even talking about it:

Pain [...] is hard to talk to people about, because people don't view [atopic dermatitis] in terms of pain.



#### **Descriptions of pain**

- Burning: "It is hot and burning. It's true. And it's like you just feel so helpless and nothing makes it feel better."
- Discomfort: "I think...it's not so much like the little bit of itchiness bothers me. It's not so much that a little bit of pain that bothers me. It is more of the persistence of the two. You know what I mean? If I had it for a day and it went away, I'd be like, 'Alright, that wasn't so bad.' Once it gets [to be], like, two to three weeks, then it's like, 'Alright, I've got to do something.' They always ask me what's the level of pain. I always felt that pain is not the right word for me. I feel like it's more discomfort. I can sit and do my normal work and be bothered by it but not like in pain [...] just the persistence of the discomfort."
- Dull: "there is just an overall dull pain that is never-ending."
- Itching: "You will itch it even if it hurts to itch, because the itch feels way better than the pain does."
- Needle-like: "because sometimes they would get infected, he would describe it as like, like needles, like poking."
- Sharp: "I am glad you guys are focusing on the pain, because I feel like that is one aspect that is not even considered [...] I mean, it is just never stopping. It [is] like dull pain, sharp pain. Like you were saying, all the time."
- Stabbing: "it is like a stabbing pain that radiates. If you think of like a reverse lightning bolt, there is one spot that hurts more than others, but it is also radiating to different areas—like a jab or a jolt. It feels like an itch, like a painful itch."
- Sting: "When mine breaks out, I say it burns, but it's not heat burn. It's more probably a sting. But I always say burn, but when I think about it, it's probably more like a sting."
- Sunburn: "it rubbed and I couldn't hardly walk. I couldn't hardly stand it, and [...] I was achy. [...] You know how you feel when you get sunburnt? Your skin just burns. [...] It doesn't go away."

#### **Theme 3: Effects of Pain**

When present, pain could result in various consequences for daily life. Patients with atopic dermatitis and their family members expressed having to be careful about their clothing choices. For example, having clothes touch affected skin could lead to pain:

[It] was mostly on his legs [...] the socks will really hurt.

This could lead to avoidance of certain clothes to avoid pain from atopic dermatitis:

When she gets these open sores [...] she could not wear bras or anything if it was in the sweat line.

Conversely, as one patient expressed, clothes that cover more skin could be a necessity:

[When] it's so hot, I watch everyone else and they've got short-sleeved shirts. I'm all covered up, because the sun is so hard on my skin then. [...] I cannot wear sleeveless or short-sleeve clothes at all.

The pain of an atopic dermatitis flare-up can also affect daily activities. Pain was not always limited to one time of day: "my pain goes all day long." However, the time of day was reported to make a difference for some and could particularly affect sleep:

It does hurt more when you lay down to go to sleep because I think you are starting to think about it more when you're just lying there.

Sleep was also affected for some family members. One family member expressed concern over the consequences of their loved one's pain during the night:

...when I know it's flaring up, I might sleep a little bit lighter just because I don't want him to wake up super, you know, bloody and in a ton a pain, and so

https://derma.jmir.org/2021/2/e29826

I have a tendency to wake up a couple times a night and be like, "Hey, let's put some lotion [on it]." But that's really only when it's flaring up really bad.

However, if the patient cannot control their reactions, family member comments are not helpful:

He will say, "Do not itch it. It is going to hurt." But I can't control it; it's really itchy.

Daytime activities are also affected by atopic dermatitis–related pain. A hobby such as gardening became too painful to continue for a patient with atopic dermatitis:

My mom used to like gardening, but she doesn't anymore because her hands are so affected by it. But she tries to wear gloves, but it still just, like, kills her.

However, as one patient expressed, other hobbies may then become favorable for their lack of resulting pain:

I read, because that's one thing I can do in spite of the pain.

Showering can also be painful:

If he just gets out of the shower, he'll say it feels like it burns.

The skin care regimen of a patient can be tedious and limited:

I use surgical soap as a body soap at this point. I miss pretty smells, just smelling pretty, smelling like a girl.

Warm environments can be problematic:

In the summertime just, the sweat. [...] She spent a lot of time indoors with the air condition on, but if we have to go out, or we go to the store and she starts sweating, you know, I can tell that she will get uncomfortable.

Furthermore, going out can be painful both physically and emotionally:

[It's] depressing to go out. I'll put on makeup. [...] I haven't been able to wear eyeshadows or anything because my eyes are so sensitive [and they] swell up, and it's caused me to have a depression, just the itching and burning.

Activities influenced specifically by pain were mentioned less often than those influenced by itchiness, but the range of effects was broad.

Similarly, social experiences can be affected by pain, and relationships can be strained by trying to care for pain in the affected patients. Physical relationships with a partner can be limited by pain from atopic dermatitis, and the location of the painful areas can limit sexual intimacy, as one patient explained:

It affected [...] our sex life, because I have sores all over my chest [...] It is painful [...] I am so self-conscious of it. [...] now this has been going on for eight years, so there's been nothing in this area going on intimately, you know, with my husband.

For family members, the pain of atopic dermatitis can be difficult simply because they see the burden of the disease:

Every time she scratches, she's talking about it hurting and wishes she could get something to stop it from scratching.

However, for family members, the effects of pain can be difficult to understand without knowing what the pain is like: "I can't feel the pain." However, the understanding of the family members of the effects may still be better than the understanding of others outside the family:

You pick up on it a lot faster if you're living with them. We go over to friends' houses, and they don't understand it.

This lack of understanding, both from family members and others, can be frustrating for the patient:

The explaining to everyone what it is. You're at the grocery store and you have a big cut on your hand, and people are like, "Did you get in a fight?" and you are like, "No!" Yeah, it's just a crazy situation that is hard to explain. I wish they had groups for it because it is nice to talk to you [others in the focus group] because it is this connection that nobody else can understand, because even your partner doesn't understand the exact level to which it affects you on a daily basis.

#### **Theme 4: Pain Management**

Another important component was the use of over-the-counter and prescription treatments to control the symptoms. Prescription treatments could be very helpful in improving the HRQL of the patient:

*I* started the Dupixent and, oh my gosh, what a life-saver. [...] I can't believe the difference.

One patient found cannabidiol helpful:

[She] has been using CBD oil and [...] that really has helped the pain and helped her sleep.

https://derma.jmir.org/2021/2/e29826

Steroids, such as triamcinolone, as well as over-the-counter treatments, such as acetaminophen and ibuprofen, were mentioned as ways to relieve pain. However, not all treatments work:

[Betamethasone] really doesn't help. But I will put it on as soon as they pop out.

Some medications, such as pregabalin, were mentioned as being ineffective for atopic dermatitis-associated pain:

It kind of helps with these things [patient pointing to atopic dermatitis on hand]. But it wasn't necessarily nerve pain.

One patient explained that it could also take time for a medication to start working:

It takes some time; I mean like when I was taking cyclosporine and it didn't happen, like, overnight where it just stopped.

In addition to pain directly associated with atopic dermatitis flares, open wounds can become infected, requiring special treatment:

I think he scratches them to the point where they are open wounds and then they get a little infected, and so a lot of times we use a lot of Neosporin and stuff like that on his arms just, like, to keep the pain and everything at bay.

One patient expressed difficulty in discerning between atopic dermatitis-related pain and treatment-related pain:

I think certain ones are painful. [...] I'm trying to think if the creams cause the pain, and I don't think creams cause the pain.

The pain for some patients was a direct result of medication use:

[He's] been on steroids; it's made his skin super thin [...], so he gets cuts all the time [...] he can't even go get stitches anymore 'cause his skin's so thin it just tears it. [...] it makes him not want to do stuff, which is hard for me 'cause I like to go out and do stuff and try new things and be active and he's a little more hesitant because he's just prone to getting hurt and sores and they take months to heal.

Finding clinicians who could significantly help was difficult for some participants. Patients with atopic dermatitis and their family members had a variety of experiences with clinicians when figuring out treatments for symptoms of atopic dermatitis—some positive and some negative.

## Discussion

#### **Principal Findings**

Atopic dermatitis is known for its itchiness; however, our study found that focusing only on itchiness does not capture the full range of experiences of patients with atopic dermatitis and their family members. This study found that pain could coincide with itchiness, be difficult to describe, and influence all aspects of daily life for patients (and their family members). In addition,

systemic agents could clear atopic dermatitis while also resolving the pain associated with this condition. The effects of pain from atopic dermatitis are relatively understudied but deserve further attention, both to identify the effects of pain on HRQL and to determine how to appropriately measure and potentially manage this symptom [14].

Increased frequency and intensity of pain from atopic dermatitis leads to worse HRQL, and for some, pain can affect relationships and numerous daily activities [2]. A study assessing the effects of pain from atopic dermatitis on patients and their caretakers found that 80% of participants had experienced effects on sleep, nearly as many (78%) experienced effects on leisure activities, and most (63%) experienced effects on other activities of daily living [15]. Although most comments in our study related to effects on HRQL were made about itchiness or atopic dermatitis more generally, we found that some patients experienced pain that affected the activities of daily living (eg, clothing choices, exercise, environmental exposures, and sexual relations) and could further affect overall HRQL. However, not all participants shared the same level of impact, likely due to differences in disease severity.

Some expressed having regained control over symptoms through medications. The use of systemic treatments, such as dupilumab, greatly improved both symptoms and HRQL outcomes for some participants, an observation supported by the literature [16]. However, not all systemic treatments share the same level of success [16], and prescribing systemic treatments must be carefully considered based on side effects, as was expressed by some participants in our study.

One of the most challenging aspects of pain is defining it. The root cause of pain from atopic dermatitis can be difficult to identify; one study found that about 17% of patients with atopic dermatitis thought pain was part of itchiness, whereas 72% thought it was part of both scratching and itchiness [4]. This is consistent with our results, as itchiness and pain overlapped for several patients. The two symptoms could be almost indistinguishable, and for some, scratching due to itchiness led to pain, although this trade-off was worth it when the pain felt better than an itch. The sensation of pain could be difficult to describe, underlining the problem that pain is a poorly understood and ill-defined symptom of atopic dermatitis.

Helping patients express concerns and how symptoms affect their daily lives is a necessity when addressing HRQL, and we believe that appropriate methods of identifying and defining pain are needed to further address this concern with patients. One approach to measuring pain is through pain-specific patient-reported outcome (PRO) measures [17]. PROs capture information of interest from the patient perspective and have demonstrated utility in identifying concerns otherwise left unexpressed in a dermatology visit [18]. These measures track patient progress and problems over time when administered regularly at visits [19], and numerous PROs currently exist for a wide range of concerns, giving clinicians many options to choose from when deciding the best measures to use with their patients. However, further studies are needed to determine which methods work best for identifying pain specific to atopic dermatitis.

#### Limitations of the Study

Our study is limited in generalizability because it took place at a single academic medical center in a high-altitude, low-humidity environment conducive to increased atopic dermatitis severity. Expanding to other institutions and other geographic locations outside Utah may produce different results. Furthermore, our study only included adults, and thus our results might not be generalizable to the experiences of children and adolescents with atopic dermatitis. Although investigators used open-ended questions to capture the participants' voices, it is possible that the way the questions were worded influenced participant responses. In using prompts to aid discussion, the interviewers may have directed a conversation toward those specifics, and some aspects were talked about more than others due to how questions were worded. This study is also limited in its interpretability because of its qualitative nature. Qualitative research provides an opportunity to learn about patient experiences and produce ideas for future research [20]. However, a small, nonrandom, single-institution cohort makes the findings from this study difficult to generalize if the data were quantified. The thematic analysis for this study does not involve quantification of themes or individual components of these themes but does provide information to help generate ideas for future studies that can appropriately quantify the phenomena presented here.

This study presents the experiences of patients and their family members in dealing with the effects of pain caused by atopic dermatitis. We found that many aspects of daily life can be affected by this symptom, and although pain can be very bothersome and significantly impact HRQL, it can be difficult for some patients to explain what they are experiencing. Clinicians must be aware that atopic dermatitis can cause pain and should ask patients about the presence and effects of pain when treating patients with atopic dermatitis.

#### Acknowledgments

This research project was funded by a grant from the National Eczema Association awarded to AM Secrest. AM Secrest is also supported by the Public Health Career Development Award from the Dermatology Foundation.

#### **Authors' Contributions**

All authors were involved in the conceptualization of this paper, although AM Secrest led conceptualization and acquired funding.



## **Conflicts of Interest**

RH serves on a data safety monitoring board of Astellas Pharmaceuticals unrelated to this work.

#### References

- 1. Boguniewicz M, Leung DY. Atopic dermatitis: a disease of altered skin barrier and immune dysregulation. Immunol Rev 2011 Jul;242(1):233-246 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1600-065X.2011.01027.x] [Medline: 21682749]
- Silverberg JI, Gelfand JM, Margolis DJ, Boguniewicz M, Fonacier L, Grayson MH, et al. Pain is a common and burdensome symptom of atopic dermatitis in United States adults. J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract 2019;7(8):2699-2706. [doi: 10.1016/j.jaip.2019.05.055] [Medline: <u>31228619</u>]
- von Kobyletzki LB, Thomas KS, Schmitt J, Chalmers JR, Deckert S, Aoki V, et al. What factors are important to patients when assessing treatment response: an international cross-sectional survey. Acta Derm Venereol 2017 Jan 04;97(1):86-90 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2340/00015555-2480] [Medline: 27305646]
- 4. Vakharia PP, Chopra R, Sacotte R, Patel KR, Singam V, Patel N, et al. Burden of skin pain in atopic dermatitis. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 2017 Dec;119(6):548-552 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.anai.2017.09.076] [Medline: 29223299]
- Lerman SF, Rudich Z, Brill S, Shalev H, Shahar G. Longitudinal associations between depression, anxiety, pain, and pain-related disability in chronic pain patients. Psychosom Med 2015 Apr;77(3):333-341. [doi: 10.1097/PSY.00000000000158] [Medline: 25849129]
- VanDenKerkhof EG, Hopman WM, Towheed T, Wilson R, Murdoch J, Rimmer M, et al. Pain, health-related quality of life and health care utilization after inpatient surgery: a pilot study. Pain Res Manag 2006;11(1):41-47. [doi: 10.1155/2006/320461] [Medline: 16511613]
- Tüzün EH. Quality of life in chronic musculoskeletal pain. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol 2007 Jun;21(3):567-579. [doi: 10.1016/j.berh.2007.03.001] [Medline: 17603000]
- Blyth FM, March LM, Nicholas MK, Cousins MJ. Chronic pain, work performance and litigation. Pain 2003 May;103(1-2):41-47. [doi: <u>10.1016/s0304-3959(02)00380-9</u>] [Medline: <u>12749957</u>]
- Silverberg JI, Gelfand JM, Margolis DJ, Boguniewicz M, Fonacier L, Grayson MH, et al. Patient burden and quality of life in atopic dermatitis in US adults: A population-based cross-sectional study. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 2018 Sep;121(3):340-347 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.anai.2018.07.006] [Medline: 30025911]
- 10. Scholl I, Zill JM, Härter M, Dirmaier J. An integrative model of patient-centeredness a systematic review and concept analysis. PLoS One 2014 Sep 17;9(9):e107828 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0107828] [Medline: 25229640]
- 11. Rogers CR. Client-Centered Therapy: Its Current Practice, Implications and Theory. Boston: Houghton Mifflin; 1951.
- 12. Bengtsson M. How to plan and perform a qualitative study using content analysis. NursingPlus Open 2016;2:8-14 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.npls.2016.01.001]
- Vaismoradi M, Turunen H, Bondas T. Content analysis and thematic analysis: Implications for conducting a qualitative descriptive study. Nurs Health Sci 2013 Sep 11;15(3):398-405 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/nhs.12048] [Medline: 23480423]
- Drucker AM, Wang AR, Qureshi AA. Research gaps in quality of life and economic burden of atopic dermatitis: The National Eczema Association Burden of Disease Audit. JAMA Dermatol 2016 Aug 01;152(8):873-874. [doi: <u>10.1001/jamadermatol.2016.1978</u>] [Medline: <u>27305113</u>]
- 15. Maarouf M, Kromenacker B, Capozza KL, Kempton D, Hendricks A, Tran K, et al. Pain and itch are dual burdens in atopic dermatitis. Dermatitis 2018;29(5):278-281. [doi: 10.1097/DER.0000000000000406] [Medline: 30179978]
- 16. Drucker AM, Ellis AG, Bohdanowicz M, Mashayekhi S, Yiu ZZ, Rochwerg B, et al. Systemic immunomodulatory treatments for patients with atopic dermatitis: a systematic review and network meta-analysis. JAMA Dermatol 2020 Jun 01;156(6):659-667. [doi: 10.1001/jamadermatol.2020.0796] [Medline: 32320001]
- 17. Intro to PROMIS. HealthMeasures. URL: <u>https://www.healthmeasures.net/explore-measurement-systems/promis/</u> intro-to-promis [accessed 2020-09-11]
- Secrest AM, Chren MM, Hopkins ZH, Chen SC, Ferris LK, Hess R. Benefits to patient care of electronically capturing patient-reported outcomes in dermatology. Br J Dermatol 2019 Oct;181(4):826-827. [doi: <u>10.1111/bjd.18027</u>] [Medline: <u>31017651</u>]
- Secrest AM, Hopkins ZH, Frost ZE, Taliercio VL, Edwards LD, Biber JE, Dermatology PRO Consortium. Quality of life assessed using skindex-16 scores among patients with acne receiving isotretinoin treatment. JAMA Dermatol 2020 Jul 08:1098-1106. [doi: 10.1001/jamadermatol.2020.2330] [Medline: 32639529]
- 20. Creswell JW, Creswell JD. Research Design: Qualitative, Quantitative, and Mixed Methods Approaches, 5th Ed. Kindle e-Book. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications; 2018.

## Abbreviations

RenderX

**HRQL:** health-related quality of life **PRO:** patient-reported outcome

Edited by R Dellavalle, T Sivesind; submitted 22.04.21; peer-reviewed by Z Hopkins, B Arents, L Edwards; comments to author 17.05.21; revised version received 11.06.21; accepted 07.07.21; published 04.10.21. <u>Please cite as:</u> Snyder AM, Taliercio VL, Brandenberger AU, Rich BE, Webber LB, Beshay AP, Biber JE, Hess R, Rhoads JLW, Secrest AM Effects of Pain From Atopic Dermatitis: Interview and Focus Group Study With Patients and Their Families JMIR Dermatol 2021;4(2):e29826 URL: https://derma.jmir.org/2021/2/e29826 doi:10.2196/29826 PMID:37632808

©Ashley M Snyder, Vanina L Taliercio, Adelheid U Brandenberger, Bianca E Rich, Lisa B Webber, Abram P Beshay, Joshua E Biber, Rachel Hess, Jamie L W Rhoads, Aaron M Secrest. Originally published in JMIR Dermatology (http://derma.jmir.org), 04.10.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Dermatology Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://derma.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



**Research Letter** 

# Sunscreen Posts on Twitter in the United States and Canada, 2019: Content Analysis

Sajjad S Fazel<sup>1,2,3</sup>, PharmD, MPH; Emma K Quinn<sup>2,3,4</sup>, BSc; Chelsea A Ford-Sahibzada<sup>2,3</sup>, BSc; Steven Szarka<sup>3</sup>, PhD; Cheryl E Peters<sup>1,2,3</sup>, PhD

<sup>1</sup>Department of Oncology, Cumming School of Medicine, University of Calgary, Calgary, AB, Canada

<sup>2</sup>CAREX Canada, Simon Fraser University, Vancouver, BC, Canada

<sup>3</sup>Cancer Epidemiology and Prevention Research, Cancer Care Alberta, Alberta Health Services, Calgary, AB, Canada

<sup>4</sup>School of Health Sciences, University of Northern British Columbia, Prince George, BC, Canada

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Sajjad S Fazel, PharmD, MPH Department of Oncology Cumming School of Medicine University of Calgary 3330 Hospital Dr NW Calgary, AB, T2N4N1 Canada Email: sajjad.fazel@ucalgary.ca

(JMIR Dermatol 2021;4(2):e29723) doi:10.2196/29723

#### **KEYWORDS**

sunscreen; skin cancer; Twitter; misinformation; prevention; skin; social media; health promotion; melanoma

Skin cancer is a growing burden in Canada and the United States. One effective prevention method is the use of sunscreen; however, low sunscreen use [1] coupled with the spread of misinformation online can hinder health promotion activities.

Health-related social media posts (including sunscreen) may shape risk-related behaviors of users, so it is important to understand the accuracy of such posts [2].

Twitter's Application Program Interface was used to search for tweets in English containing the word "sunscreen" posted in Canada and the United States (May 1 to August 31, 2019). We used thematic content analysis to elicit the accuracy, sentiment, and theme of the tweets.

Tweets containing verifiable information (that could be assessed as factual or not) were analyzed for accuracy and coded as either "accurate" or "inaccurate" based on current evidence. All tweets were coded for sentiment (positive or negative). Themes were analyzed using an a priori list of codes based on our previous study [3] and inductively modified based on emergent themes. Differences were tested using the chi-square statistic or the Fisher exact test.

In total, 9176 tweets were collected; 167 retweets and 85 irrelevant tweets were excluded. The remaining 8924 tweets were analyzed for accuracy (where applicable), sentiment, and theme. The observed percentage agreement between the coders for sentiment and accuracy was 76%. Only 395 tweets (4% of the total) contained verifiable information and were analyzed for accuracy. Among these, 277 (70%) were accurate and 118 (30%) were inaccurate (Figure 1).

The most common themes were personal story (n=5425, 61%), tips and recommendations (n=2591, 28%), and advertisements (n=457, 5%). The top theme for accurate and inaccurate tweets was tips and recommendations (n=171, 56%) and personal story (n=90, 62%), respectively.



Figure 1. Comparison of sentiments between accurate, inaccurate, and unverifiable sunscreen tweets originating from Canada and United States between May 1, 2019 and August 31, 2019.



Sentiment - Unverifiable

The sentiment analysis found that 7460 (84%) of tweets had a positive sentiment, 1031 (11%) were mixed or neutral, and 433 (5%) were negative. Among the accurate tweets, the majority had a positive sentiment toward sunscreen (n=248, 89%), while over half (n=64, 54%) of the inaccurate tweets had a negative sentiment. Interestingly, inaccurate tweets were more likely to have any engagement than accurate tweets (Table 1).

We found that most tweets were personal stories and not verifiable for accuracy. This suggests that misinformation about sunscreen may not be an important contributor to low sunscreen use, as also noted by Silva et al [4]. The sentiment analysis found that over 80% of all sunscreen tweets had a positive sentiment toward sunscreen use, which is similar to our previous study on sunscreen information in traditional media sources [3].

This study was limited to Twitter; further research on sunscreen misinformation using other social media platforms is recommended.

In conclusion, sunscreen misinformation was limited, but misinformation was more likely to have engagement from users. Organizations may have better success in promoting sunscreen use by producing tailored, engaging sunscreen and cancer prevention messages [5]. Furthermore, it may be beneficial for physicians and health organizations to share messages using lived experience, which may increase reach and engagement online.



Fazel et al

Table 1. Comparison of Twitter data between verifiable and unverifiable tweets: Canada and United States, 2019.

Category and subcategory	Verifiable tweets		<i>P</i> value (accurate vs inaccurate tweets)	Unverifiable tweets, n (%)	<i>P</i> value (all verifiable vs unverifiable tweets)
	Accurate tweets, n (%)	Inaccurate tweets, n (%)			
Sentiment		·	<.001		<.001
Positive	248 (89)	29 (25)		7183 (84)	
Mixed	19 (7)	25 (21)		987 (12)	
Negative	10 (4)	64 (54)		359 (4)	
Engagement <sup>a</sup>			.04		.68
0	96 (35)	29 (25)		2689 (32)	
1-5	126 (46)	66 (56)		4269 (50)	
6-10	18 (18)	13 (11)		711 (8)	
>10	37 (13)	10 (8)		860 (10)	
Followers <sup>b</sup>			.049		.61
0-200	73 (26)	28 (24)		2011 (24)	
201-500	55 (20)	38 (32)		2222 (26)	
501-1000	58 (21)	24 (20)		1675 (20)	
>1000	91 (33)	28 (24)		2621 (31)	
Attached URL			<.001		<.001
Yes	205 (74)	60 (51)		4349 (51)	
No	72 (26)	50 (49)		4180 (49)	
Type of URL			.30		<.001
Social media	199 (88)	50 (83)		4214 (97)	
News	5 (2)	0 (0)		88 (2)	
Health organizations	4 (2)	1 (2)		18 (0.4)	
Peer-reviewed journal web- sites	1 (0.5)	1 (2)		2 (0.05)	
Other	17 (8)	8 (13)		268 (6)	
Attached media			.02		.86
Yes	57 (21)	13 (11)		1482 (17)	
No	220 (79)	105 (89)		7047 (83)	
Type of media			.87		.26
Photo	46 (81)	11 (85)		1095 (74)	
Video	1 (2)	0 (0)		82 (5)	
Animated GIF	10 (17)	2 (15)		305 (21)	

<sup>a</sup>Engagement was defined as the total number of "likes," "retweets," "quote tweets," and "replies" for each tweet. <sup>b</sup>Followers was defined as the number of individual Twitter accounts following the user.

# Acknowledgments

This research received no external funding.



# **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

#### References

- 1. Pinault L, Fioletov V. Sun exposure, sun protection and sunburn among Canadian adults (Vol 28, Issue 5). Statistics Canada. 2017 May 17. URL: <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/82-003-x/2017005/article/14792-eng.htm</u> [accessed 2021-07-07]
- 2. Macnamara J. Media content analysis: Its uses; benefits and best practice methodology. Asia Pacific Public Relations Journal 2010;6(1):1-34 [FREE Full text]
- Quinn E, Ford Sahibzada C, Fazel S, McWhirter J, Peters C. Sunscreen and Associated Risk in the News: A Content Analysis of Canadian Newspapers (2009–2019). The Journal of Communication and Media Studies 2021;6(1):41-55. [doi: 10.18848/2470-9247/CGP/v06i01/41-55]
- 4. Vasconcelos Silva C, Jayasinghe D, Janda M. What Can Twitter Tell Us about Skin Cancer Communication and Prevention on Social Media? Dermatology 2020 Feb 25;236(2):81-89 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1159/000506458] [Medline: 32097934]
- 5. Caulfield T. Pseudoscience and COVID-19 we've had enough already. Nature 2020 Apr 27. [doi: 10.1038/d41586-020-01266-z]

Edited by R Dellavalle, MD, PhD, MSPH, T Sivesind; submitted 18.04.21; peer-reviewed by J Makin; comments to author 03.05.21; revised version received 15.06.21; accepted 16.06.21; published 19.07.21.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Fazel SS, Quinn EK, Ford-Sahibzada CA, Szarka S, Peters CE Sunscreen Posts on Twitter in the United States and Canada, 2019: Content Analysis JMIR Dermatol 2021;4(2):e29723 URL: <u>https://derma.jmir.org/2021/2/e29723</u> doi:<u>10.2196/29723</u> PMID:<u>37632814</u>

©Sajjad S Fazel, Emma K Quinn, Chelsea A Ford-Sahibzada, Steven Szarka, Cheryl E Peters. Originally published in JMIR Dermatology (http://derma.jmir.org), 19.07.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Dermatology Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://derma.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



**Original Paper** 

# Patients' Experiences of Using Skin Self-monitoring Apps With People at Higher Risk of Melanoma: Qualitative Study

Emily Habgood<sup>1</sup>, BSc; Christopher McCormack<sup>2</sup>, MBBS; Fiona M Walter<sup>1,3,4</sup>, MA, MD, MB BCh; Jon D Emery<sup>1,3</sup>, MA, MB BCh, DPhil

<sup>1</sup>Department of General Practice and Centre for Cancer Research, University of Melbourne, Melbourne, Australia

<sup>2</sup>Department of Surgical Oncology, Peter MacCallum Cancer Centre, Melbourne, Australia

<sup>3</sup>Primary Care Unit, Department of Public Health and Primary Care, University of Cambridge, Cambridge, United Kingdom

<sup>4</sup>Wolfson Institute of Population Health, Queen Mary University of London, London, United Kingdom

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Emily Habgood, BSc Department of General Practice and Centre for Cancer Research University of Melbourne Level 10 Grattan Street Melbourne, 3000 Australia Phone: 61 0385597044 Email: <u>emily.habgood@unimelb.edu.au</u>

# Abstract

**Background:** Melanoma is the fourth most commonly diagnosed cancer in Australia. Up to 75% of melanomas are first detected by patients or their family or friends. Many mobile apps for melanoma exist, including apps to encourage skin self-monitoring to improve the likelihood of early detection. Previous research in this area has focused on their development, diagnostic accuracy, or validation. Little is known about patients' views and experiences of using these apps.

**Objective:** This study aims to understand patients' views and experiences of using commercially available melanoma skin self-monitoring mobile apps for a period of 3 months.

**Methods:** This qualitative study was conducted in two populations: primary care (where the MelatoolsQ tool was used to identify patients who were at increased risk of melanoma) and secondary care (where patients had a previous diagnosis of melanoma, stages T0-T3a). Participants downloaded 2 of the 4 mobile apps for skin self-monitoring (SkinVision, UMSkinCheck, Mole Monitor, or MySkinPal) and were encouraged to use them for 3 months. After 3 months, a semistructured interview was conducted with participants to discuss their experiences of using the skin self-monitoring mobile apps.

**Results:** A total of 54 participants were recruited in the study, with 37% (20) of participants from primary care and 62% (34) from secondary care. Interviews were conducted with 34 participants when data saturation was reached. Most participants did not use the apps at all (n=12) or tried them once but did not continue (n=14). Only 8 participants used the apps to assist with skin self-monitoring for the entire duration of the study. Patients discussed the apps in the context of the importance of early detection and their current skin self-monitoring behaviors. A range of features of *perceived quality* of each app affected engagement to support skin self-monitoring. Participants described their skin self-monitoring routines and potential mismatches with the app reminders. They also described the technical and practical difficulties experienced when using the apps for skin self-monitoring. The app's positioning within existing relationships with health care providers was crucial to understand the use of the apps.

**Conclusions:** This study of patients at increased risk of melanoma highlights several barriers to engagement with apps to support skin self-monitoring. The results highlight the wide-ranging and dynamic influences on engagement with mobile apps, which extend beyond app design and relate to broader contextual factors about skin self-monitoring routines and relationships with health care providers.

#### (JMIR Dermatol 2021;4(2):e22583) doi:10.2196/22583

#### **KEYWORDS**

RenderX

melanoma; skin cancer; early detection; mobile apps; qualitative; mHealth; mobile phone

# Introduction

Skin cancers account for 80% of all newly diagnosed cancers in Australia, with melanoma being the most harmful [1]. Early detection is key, as it provides a better chance of receiving timely treatment. More than 91% of Australians survive if their melanomas are detected early [1]. Up to 75% of melanomas are first detected by patients or their family or friends [2]. Encouraging people to self-monitor their skin for suspicious moles on their bodies could encourage early diagnosis [2]. Current guidelines already recommend Australians at increased risk of melanoma to monitor their own skin in between appointments [3,4]. However, there is currently little information on how patients are recommended to do this, and many patients are completing this insufficiently [5].

Mobile apps for melanomas are becoming increasingly popular. There is an abundance of commercially available mobile apps for melanoma across the different mobile app stores [6,7]. The purpose of these apps varies from prevention (UV exposure apps) to treatment management (drug and side effect management). Apps that encourage skin self-monitoring are designed to support the early detection of melanoma by identifying changes in moles. Most research into these mobile apps for skin self-monitoring for melanoma has focused on their development or diagnostic accuracy [8-11], but there have been limited studies on the actual use of these apps outside controlled laboratory settings. Qualitative research provides a deeper understanding of people's experiences, thoughts, and opinions to explore what determines the effective implementation of digital interventions [12,13]. Recent research has shed light on patients' perceptions of the use of mobile health apps for melanoma. Specifically, Koh et al [14] found that patients had positive views about apps for skin self-monitoring and thought they would benefit from using them, but this was based on the intended use of a hypothetical app. We suggest that allowing participants to experience using these types of apps over a period of time provides greater ecological validity. In this study, we aim to understand users' experiences and use of skin self-monitoring mobile apps for melanoma over a 3-month period, focusing on people who were at increased risk of melanoma, as this is consistent with the current Australian guidelines [3,4].

More specifically, we aim to understand participants' experiences of actually using these mobile apps and the reasons they chose whether to use and engage with the apps. We also wanted to determine if this was a potentially feasible way to recruit people at risk of melanoma in future studies of skin self-monitoring apps.

# Methods

#### **Study Design and Ethics Approval**

This study used a qualitative design with a 3-month follow-up period using a baseline questionnaire and semistructured interviews. A 3-month period was considered to be sufficient to understand participants' interest and patterns of use of the mobile apps and understand their experiences. Participants downloaded the apps on their own phones, were provided with

```
https://derma.jmir.org/2021/2/e22583
```

a brief demonstration of both apps, and received automated reminders once per month via each app. Semistructured interviews were used to understand participants' thoughts and experiences after the 3-month period of ad libitum use of 2 of the 4 apps allocated to them on the basis of their phone's operating system (iOS or Android). This study was reviewed and approved by the University of Melbourne Health Sciences Human Ethics Committee (1749081) and the Peter MacCallum Cancer Centre Human Research Ethics Committee (HREC/17/PMCC/214).

#### Recruitment

#### Study Setting

Participants were recruited from two different populations: Melbourne general practices, where participants were identified as at increased risk of melanoma on the basis of risk factors; and the Melanoma Outpatient Clinic at Peter MacCallum Cancer Centre (Melbourne, Australia), where participants had a previous diagnosis of melanoma. The study was conducted between October 2018 and February 2019.

#### **Primary Care**

In primary care, recruitment was undertaken across 3 busy Melbourne general practices. All patients in the waiting room of the practices were consecutively approached and invited to complete the MelatoolsQ tool [15] to determine if they were eligible. Patients were excluded if they were aged <18 years, unable to understand English, or acutely unwell.

The MelatoolsQ tool is a self-completed survey, which is delivered on an iPad. It contains a modified version of the Williams melanoma risk prediction model [16], which includes the following risk factors: sex, age, natural hair color at the age of 15 years, number of raised moles on both arms, the density of freckles on both arms before the age of 20 years, number of severe sunburns up to the age of 18 years, and previous nonmelanoma skin cancer (basal cell carcinoma and squamous cell carcinoma). A melanoma risk score was calculated from the patients' responses; if they scored 25 or more, they were categorized as increased risk of melanoma and invited to participate in the study [15,16].

#### Secondary Care

In secondary care, all patients attending an outpatient appointment for their current or previous early-stage melanoma (stages T0-T3a) and aged 18 years or older were approached and invited to participate in the study. Patients were ineligible if they had suspicion or evidence of metastatic disease or were receiving palliative treatment.

#### Procedure

All participants who were eligible from either primary or secondary care were invited to participate. The aims of the study were discussed, and all participants were provided with a plain English statement explaining the details of participation. Participants recruited to the study had to own a compatible smartphone (Android or iOS operating system) and have sufficient data storage on their phone to download and store photographs (approximately 130 MB). Written consent was

XSL•FO RenderX

obtained from all participants before completing a short baseline survey.

Consented participants were assisted in downloading 2 study apps onto their own phones, which were dependent on their phone's operating system. They were provided with a short booklet and demonstration of how to use each app. Participants were asked to use the apps at least once a month for the 3 months of the study, with a monthly SMS text reminder to check their moles through the app.

#### **Data Collection**

A baseline questionnaire collected data on demographics and patterns of mobile phone use. All participants were invited to participate in a telephonic semistructured interview at the end of the 3-month time point, which was audio recorded. The interview guide was designed to explore participants' experiences and preferences for using the apps and their skin monitoring behaviors (Multimedia Appendix 1).

#### **App Selection**

The melanoma skin self-monitoring mobile apps identified for the study were SkinVision, UMSkinCheck, Mole Monitor, and MySkinPal. The researchers have no association with the development or marketing of these apps. Inclusion criteria for app selection were apps that were designed for patient use, allowed users to take photographs of their skin within the app, compare photographs over time, and had built-in reminder notifications and information on skin self-monitoring.

The selected apps were identified through a previous review of available mobile apps designed for early detection of melanoma [7]. Kassianos et al [7] identified 39 apps available at that time on app stores for melanoma, and we selected 4 apps on the basis of their functionality. The apps varied by the operating system they were compatible with (either Android or iOS) and the level of assistance provided to determine changes between photos. The Mole Monitor and UMSkinCheck apps were only available on iOS at the time of the study. During the study period, there were no updates to 3 of the apps and minor bug fixes to SkinVision. The apps were allocated to participants depending on their phone's operating system. We wanted to understand participants' experiences of using a melanoma skin self-monitoring mobile app per se rather than the specific apps selected. Therefore, we decided to provide participants with 2 apps each (depending on their phone operating system) to allow comparison of app features and content but to minimize

participant burden. We believed that this more closely reflected the usual consumer approaches to trialing new apps while studying those that had similar functionality to support skin self-monitoring.

#### **Data Analysis**

Quantitative baseline data were collected using REDCap (Research Electronic Data Capture) [17] and analyzed using descriptive statistics with Stata Statistical Software (version 17, StataCorp LLC) [18].

Qualitative data were audio recorded and transcribed verbatim. Transcripts from the semistructured interviews were analyzed using inductive and deductive thematic analyses, using the stepped approach described by Braun and Clarke [19]. All coding was undertaken by EH, a health services researcher, with a subsample coded by JDE, an academic general practitioner (GP); discrepancies were discussed and resolved as a team. The team also included a second academic GP and a dermatologist. All individuals in the team brought their perspectives to the analysis. Data saturation was reached when the team agreed that no new themes were arising from the transcripts. All analyses were performed using Dedoose (version 8.3.17) [20].

# Results

#### **Participant Demographics**

A total of 54 participants (28/54, 52% female; mean age 57.3 years, SD 12.5 years) were recruited in the study between June and September 2018. A total of 20 participants were recruited from primary care and 34 from secondary care. Among the 54 participants who completed the baseline questionnaire, 34 (63%) were interviewed about their experiences (12 from primary care and 22 from secondary care). The demographic characteristics are presented in Table 1. The median interview time was 21 (range 5-39) minutes. Nine participants were lost to follow-up, and 11 participants withdrew during the study period. The main reasons for withdrawal were competing health issues (n=3), difficulty using the apps (n=3), and being too busy to participate (n=2). These participants were mostly older and from rural areas.

Table 2 presents data on patterns of use of apps by participants. Of the 34 participants interviewed, 88% (30) had downloaded an app in the last year and 73% (25) often use the apps on their phone more than once a day. More than half of the participants (20/34, 59%) had health-related apps on their phone.



 Table 1. Demographic characteristics (N=54).

Habgood et al

Variable	Total recruited, n (%)	Total interviewed (n=34), n (%)	Total not interviewed (n=20), n (%)
Gender			
Female	28 (52)	15 (44)	13 (65)
Male	26 (48)	19 (56)	7 (35)
Age (years)			
18-44	8 (15)	6 (18)	2 (10)
45-54	9 (16)	6 (18)	3 (15)
55-64	21 (39)	16 (47)	5 (25)
65-74+	16 (30)	6 (17)	10 (50)
Education			
Year 11 or below	15 (28)	8 (23)	7 (35)
Year 12 or equivalent	8 (15)	5 (15)	3 (15)
Trade or apprenticeship	10 (19)	7 (20)	3 (15)
Tertiary certificate or diploma	6 (11)	4 (12)	2 (10)
Undergraduate	4 (7)	2 (6)	2 (10)
Postgraduate	11 (20)	8 (24)	3 (15)
ARIA <sup>a</sup> postcode classification			
City	36 (67)	30 (88)	6 (30)
Rural	18 (33)	4 (12)	14 (70)
Phone operating system			
iOS	36 (67)	21 (62)	15 (75)
Android	18 (33)	13 (38)	5 (25)

<sup>a</sup>ARIA: Accessibility or Remoteness Index of Australia.



Table 2. Baseline survey responses (N=54).

Qu	estion	Total recruited, n (%)	Total interviewed (n=34), n (%)	Total not interviewed (n=20), n (%)	
Number of apps downloaded in the last year		ast year			
	0	7 (13)	4 (12)	3 (15)	
	1-4	16 (29)	9 (26)	7 (35)	
	5-10	21 (39)	14 (41)	7 (35)	
	11-20	8 (15)	6 (18)	2 (10)	
	≥20	2 (4)	1 (3)	1 (5)	
W	nat types of apps do you use on you	ur phone? <sup>a</sup>			
	Games	21 (39)	10 (29)	11 (55)	
	Social networking	37 (69)	23 (68)	14 (70)	
	Video or movies	2 (4)	2 (6)	0 (0)	
	News	22 (41)	15 (44)	7 (35)	
	Maps or navigation	45 (83)	28 (82)	7 (35)	
	Weather	43 (80)	25 (73)	18 (90)	
	Banking or finance	38 (70)	24 (71)	14 (70)	
	Shopping or retail	19 (35)	11 (32)	8 (40)	
	Health-related	20 (37)	13 (38)	7 (35)	
Ho	w often do you typically use the ap	ops on your smartphone?			
	More than 10 times a day	15 (28)	8 (23)	7 (35)	
	2-10 times per day	24 (44)	17 (50)	7 (35)	
	Once a day	8 (15)	4 (12)	4 (20)	
	Less than once a day	7 (13)	5 (15)	2 (10)	
How many health-related apps do you have on your phone?					
	0	24 (44)	14 (41)	10 (50)	
	≥1	30 (56)	20 (59)	10 (50)	

<sup>a</sup>More than 1 option could be chosen; on average, 4.5 were selected, with a median of 5.

#### Use of the Skin Self-monitoring Apps

Overall, although a minority of the participants who were interviewed thought the skin self-monitoring apps were helpful and used them for the entire duration of the study (n=8), most participants either did not use the apps at all (n=12) or tried them once and did not continue (n=14). Participants spoke about their preferences for the different apps, which mostly referred to their user experience of the apps. Of the 4 apps used in the study, no app was preferred over the other by a majority of users. There were no discernible differences in views about the skin self-monitoring apps between those with a previous melanoma and those recruited from primary care. We present the results of the qualitative data analysis in relation to the following core themes: perceived benefits of early detection and experiences of skin self-monitoring, the experience of using the apps to support skin self-monitoring, skin self-monitoring routines and the role of app reminders, and the apps and their positioning within existing relationships with health care providers (HCPs). Data saturation was reached by the last 3 interviews, where no new themes were arising for both primary

and secondary care participants. All relevant quotes are provided in Multimedia Appendix 2.

#### **Benefits of Early Detection**

Many participants, regardless of their use, discussed the importance of early detection of melanoma and how these apps could support patients in identifying melanomas at an early stage. As a result, all participants who used the app throughout the study thought that using the app provided peace of mind and reduced some of the uncertainty about checking their skin for signs of melanoma. Despite recognizing the potential benefits of using apps for the early detection of melanoma, there were variable degrees of engagement with them. Some participants felt that they were more relevant to their needs, and this was driven, in part, by their perceived increased risk of melanoma.

#### **Experience of Skin Self-monitoring**

In the context of the perceived benefits of early detection of melanoma, all participants discussed skin self-monitoring and recognized the importance of checking their own skin regularly. Some participants discussed the importance of routine to engage in regular skin self-monitoring, for example, performing it while

RenderX

they were dressing for the day. However, some participants felt that skin self-monitoring was not appropriate for them, describing the challenges of skin self-monitoring on having large numbers of moles and the challenges of deciding which ones to monitor, especially when they had many to choose from.

# Experience of Using Apps to Support Skin Self-monitoring

Although individual opinions on skin self-monitoring varied, most participants perceived skin self-monitoring positively and continued to perform it regardless of their engagement with the apps. Participants described several factors that influenced their perceptions of the quality of the apps, which affected their engagement with them. People were more likely to engage with an app that they felt was of high quality, although what exactly determined this perception differed among users. Primarily, users described the importance of intuitive design and the simplicity of use to foster engagement. This was key as the app was only recommended to be used once a month and not on a more frequent basis, as in most other apps.

When discussing their experience of the different apps, participants described the importance of simple navigation through the app and the ability to move through the app easily as they checked individual moles. Not surprisingly, key functions in the apps were considered better in some apps compared to others—a critical function related to the ability to capture good quality images of the mole to enable comparison over time.

#### **Technical Challenges of Using the Apps**

In addition to such key aspects of image capture, the participants discussed other important technical challenges they experienced. A particular one, relevant to skin self-monitoring more broadly, is viewing moles in less accessible parts of the body, including the back. For many, this required seeking assistance from a partner or carer but was a greater challenge for those who lived alone.

Although all participants were regular users of smartphones, there were varying levels of reported proficiency in their use. Some were, therefore, not confident enough to use the app in the way it was intended. There were concerns related to this issue about the amount of time needed to learn how to use the individual apps and maintain the photos.

Participants also experienced specific technical issues with the apps; some participants complained about the apparent impact on battery life, whereas others had difficulties reinstalling the app when purchasing a new phone.

#### App Reminders and Skin Self-monitoring Routines

All the apps had a reminder function to prompt users to examine their skin. There was mixed feedback on these reminders. Most participants thought they were helpful and used them to help keep on track with monitoring their skin. However, there were problems with the reminders not coinciding with individuals' skin self-monitoring routines. For younger participants who were less regular with conducting skin self-monitoring, the app reminders were insufficient to prompt them to check their skin.

#### https://derma.jmir.org/2021/2/e22583

XSL•FC

# The Apps and Their Positioning Within Existing Relationships With HCPs

Participants discussed the importance of the HCPs involved in managing their skin, and this often involved seeing multiple doctors, even for those participants recruited in primary care who had not been previously diagnosed with melanoma. Many participants spoke to their GPs regarding concerns about a specific mole, and some participants also attended primary care skin clinics; those with a previous melanoma also consulted their specialists for signs of recurrence and a whole-body examination. Participants also discussed how the app fit into these relationships with their HCP and how they could share and discuss the photographs they had been taking.

They felt that the ability to compare photographs over time within the app and have all their photographs stored in a single accessible place could help communicate with their doctors.

However, some participants felt that there was no place for the app because they were already being monitored closely by their doctors.

Related to this was the issue of greater trust in continuing to see their doctor than relying on an app. This model of care provided them with greater peace of mind and was more effective for the early detection of melanoma.

Others thought the apps were potentially more relevant to a rural audience, who did not have such good access to health care.

There was some support for the potential use of the apps to enable a telehealth model and change the way they interacted with their health professionals about their skin. They supported the idea of sending images directly to a specialist through an app for review, whereas others were more skeptical about this model of care. By assuming that even if they did send a photograph in for review, they would be asked to consult a doctor every time.

# Discussion

## **Principal Findings**

To our knowledge, this is one of the first studies to assess the experiences of people at higher risk of melanoma using mobile apps for skin self-monitoring. This qualitative study found that participants were receptive to the potential benefits of using mobile apps for skin self-monitoring. Not all participants engaged on a monthly basis with the use of apps, despite acknowledging their potential benefits. This is related to technical and practical barriers, including infrequent use limiting learning about app use. Additional barriers to adoption were the relationship of the apps to existing skin self-monitoring routines and skin checks provided by HCPs.

We found that perceptions of the quality of the apps were integral to its use and how it was experienced. Technology literacy was highly variable; although almost all participants used their smartphones regularly, they did not necessarily perceive the apps to be easy to use. Although some of these technical barriers could potentially be overcome by better app

design, we must recognize the practical challenges related to the specific task; obtaining a high-quality image of a skin lesion, especially in certain parts of the body, is difficult, more so without assistance.

To our knowledge, this is the first qualitative study reporting the lack of actual use of skin self-monitoring apps in people at increased risk of melanoma. Only a quarter of the participants regularly used the app for the entire duration of the study. This was in an at-risk population who already had an increased personal incentive to use these melanoma skin self-monitoring apps. It is possible that even fewer people would actively engage with mobile app use among people at population-level risk. A recent randomized controlled trial of skin self-monitoring app use among a UK primary care population who were at increased risk of melanoma found no evidence of increased consulting about skin lesions over a 12-month period [21]. This study was unable to collect data on the actual use of the mobile app; however, according to our findings, the lack of effect in that trial may well have been due to limited engagement with the app.

Previous qualitative research has focused on patients' intentions and attitudes toward using skin self-monitoring apps [14,22]. Dieng et al [22] interviewed patients who had a previous diagnosis of melanoma and asked about the possible use of digital technology to assess changes in skin lesions over time. Similar to our findings, participants had positive attitudes toward this type of technology and thought it would prompt them to visit their HCP if a concern was found ahead of their regular appointments. Our study suggests a large gap between intentions and actual engagement with the currently available skin self-monitoring apps.

Our study has highlighted the many technical and practical factors at play when patients experience skin self-monitoring apps. It emphasizes the importance of participants' personal circumstances and their context as to whether they engage with these apps. It is important to understand patients' existing relationships with HCPs and their access to regular clinical skin examinations, their current skin self-monitoring routines, and the role of partners or carers for assistance using the app. Only a minority of people in our study were regular users of these apps after 3 months. We do not know if they continued to use them for longer-term skin self-monitoring, but we suggest that both personal and contextual issues as well as the app-related technical issues are likely to determine this. This is echoed in many studies on health apps more broadly, where uptake is low and dropout is high. This has been observed in mental health apps [23], asthma apps [24], and diabetes apps [25]. Using

depression health apps as an example, the completion of apps within the real-world setting was as low as 1%-28% [23].

#### **Strengths and Limitations**

We conducted qualitative interviews in a relatively large sample, providing a rich, in-depth understanding of the factors influencing app use.

We recruited participants from two different populations: those at increased risk of melanoma in the general practice setting and those who have had a previous diagnosis of melanoma in the hospital setting. Both populations represent potential target users of these apps. We had initially expected app engagement to be higher in those with a previous melanoma but found that this may not hold true.

There were some limitations to this study. Although we recruited a large sample for a qualitative study, we experienced moderate attrition. A third of the participants withdrew or were lost to follow-up before completion, likely representing people who were even less inclined to engage with the apps. Nonetheless, it is clear that the sample we interviewed did not represent a self-selected group that was highly motivated to use these apps.

Considering the use of commercially available apps, we were unable to record the exact amount of time or the frequency of actual interactions with the apps used during the study and relied on self-reporting. We had no control over changes to app functions or updates. Therefore, we deliberately monitored use for a relatively short period of follow-up, which limits our understanding of or additional barriers to long-term adoption.

Finally, the participants themselves did not choose the apps but were only given 2 apps to try on the basis of their phone's operating system. We do not know how the public currently selects skin self-monitoring apps from app stores or how payment for an app might influence whether users persevere with them for longer.

#### Conclusions

This qualitative study provides important new findings about engagement with skin self-monitoring apps in people at increased risk of melanoma. The findings can make useful contributions to designing future apps or interventions for promoting skin self-monitoring. If such apps are to play a role in the early detection of melanoma, we must move beyond a focus on app design and diagnostic accuracy. This will require acknowledgment of the complex contextual factors affecting app use and incorporating app-based skin self-monitoring into existing models of care and skin assessments.

#### Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank all the participants in this study and the general practice staff who supported the recruitment. This research arises from the CanTest Collaborative, which was funded by Cancer Research UK (C8640/A23385): FMW is the Director, JDE is the Associate Director, and EH's PhD was supported by CanTest. The researchers gratefully acknowledge the Primary Care Collaborative Cancer Clinical Trials Group for their support of this project. The UK MelaTools programme was supported by FMW's Clinician Scientist Award from the National Institute for Health Research (RG 68235). JDE was supported by the National Health and Medical Research Council Practitioner Fellowship. The views expressed in this publication are those



of the authors and not necessarily those of the National Health Service, the National Institute for Health Research, or the Department of Health.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Interview guide. [DOCX File , 18 KB - derma v4i2e22583 app1.docx ]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Participant quotes table. [DOCX File , 16 KB - derma\_v4i2e22583\_app2.docx ]

#### References

- 1. Melanoma of the skin statistics. Cancer Australia. 2020. URL: <u>https://melanoma.canceraustralia.gov.au/statistics</u> [accessed 2020-07-02]
- Körner A, Coroiu A, Martins C, Wang B. Predictors of skin self-examination before and after a melanoma diagnosis: the role of medical advice and patient's level of education. Int Arch Med 2013 Feb 27;6(1):8 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1755-7682-6-8] [Medline: 23446040]
- 3. Early detection of skin cancer. RACGP Redbook Clinical Guidelines. 2012. URL: <u>https://www.racgp.org.au/clinical-resources/</u> <u>clinical-guidelines/key-racgp-guidelines/view-all-racgp-guidelines/guidelines-for-preventive-activities-in-general-pr/</u> <u>early-detection-of-cancers/skin-cancer</u> [accessed 2020-07-02]
- 4. Clinical practice guidelines for the diagnosis and management of melanoma. Cancer Council Australia Clinical Guidelines. 2020. URL: <u>https://wiki.cancer.org.au/australiawiki/index.php?oldid=212613</u>, [accessed 2021-07-16]
- 5. Coups EJ, Manne SL, Stapleton JL, Tatum KL, Goydos JS. Skin self-examination behaviors among individuals diagnosed with melanoma. Melanoma Res 2016 Feb;26(1):71-76. [doi: 10.1097/CMR.0000000000204] [Medline: 26426762]
- 6. Tellez W, Nieto-Gutierrez W, Taype-Rondan A. Sunscreen mobile apps: a content analysis. Eur Res Telemed / La Recherche Européenne en Télémédecine 2017 Nov;6(3-4):157-163. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.eurtel.2017.08.001</u>]
- Kassianos AP, Emery JD, Murchie P, Walter FM. Smartphone applications for melanoma detection by community, patient and generalist clinician users: a review. Br J Dermatol 2015 Jun;172(6):1507-1518. [doi: <u>10.1111/bjd.13665</u>] [Medline: <u>25600815</u>]
- 8. Yas QM, Zaidan AA, Zaidan BB, Hashim M, Lim CK. A systematic review on smartphone skin cancer apps: coherent taxonomy, motivations, open challenges and recommendations, and new research direction. J Circuit Syst Comp 2018 Feb 06;27(05):1830003. [doi: 10.1142/s0218126618300039]
- 9. Ersser SJ, Effah A, Dyson J, Kellar I, Thomas S, McNichol E, et al. Effectiveness of interventions to support the early detection of skin cancer through skin self-examination: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Br J Dermatol 2019 Jun;180(6):1339-1347. [doi: 10.1111/bjd.17529] [Medline: 30561006]
- Freeman K, Dinnes J, Chuchu N, Takwoingi Y, Bayliss SE, Matin RN, et al. Algorithm based smartphone apps to assess risk of skin cancer in adults: systematic review of diagnostic accuracy studies. Br Med J 2020 Feb 10;368:m127 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.m127] [Medline: 32041693]
- 11. Chuchu N, Takwoingi Y, Dinnes J, Matin RN, Bassett O, Moreau JF, Cochrane Skin Cancer Diagnostic Test Accuracy Group. Smartphone applications for triaging adults with skin lesions that are suspicious for melanoma. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2018 Dec 04;12(12):CD013192 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD013192] [Medline: 30521685]
- 12. Bradbury K, Watts S, Arden-Close E, Yardley L, Lewith G. Developing digital interventions: a methodological guide. Evid Based Complement Alternat Med 2014;2014:561320 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1155/2014/561320] [Medline: 24648848]
- Yardley L, Morrison L, Bradbury K, Muller I. The person-based approach to intervention development: application to digital health-related behavior change interventions. J Med Internet Res 2015;17(1):e30 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.4055] [Medline: 25639757]
- Koh U, Horsham C, Soyer HP, Loescher LJ, Gillespie N, Vagenas D, et al. Consumer acceptance and expectations of a mobile health application to photograph skin lesions for early detection of melanoma. Dermatology 2019;235(1):4-10 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1159/000493728] [Medline: 30404081]
- Habgood E, Walter FM, O'Hare E, McIntosh J, McCormack C, Emery JD. Using an electronic self-completion tool to identify patients at increased risk of melanoma in Australian primary care. Australas J Dermatol 2020 Feb 12;61(3):231-236. [doi: 10.1111/ajd.13244] [Medline: 32050041]
- Williams LH, Shors AR, Barlow WE, Solomon C, White E. Identifying persons at highest risk of melanoma using self-assessed risk factors. J Clin Exp Dermatol Res 2011;2(6):1000129 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4172/2155-9554.1000129] [Medline: 22229112]

RenderX

- 17. Harris PA, Taylor R, Thielke R, Payne J, Gonzalez N, Conde JG. Research electronic data capture (REDCap) a metadata-driven methodology and workflow process for providing translational research informatics support. J Biomed Inform 2009 Apr;42(2):377-381 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2008.08.010] [Medline: 18929686]
- 18. Stata Statistical Software: Release 15. StataCorp LLC. URL: <u>https://www.stata.com/stata-news/news32-2/</u> [accessed 2021-07-16]
- 19. Braun V, Clarke V. Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qual Res Psychol 2006 Jan;3(2):77-101. [doi: 10.1191/1478088706qp063oa]
- 20. Dedoose Version 8.0.35 Web application for managing, analyzing, and presenting qualitative and mixed method research data. SocioCultural Research Consultants, LLC, Los Angeles, CA. 2018. URL: <u>https://www.dedoose.com/</u> [accessed 2021-07-16]
- 21. Walter FM, Pannebakker MM, Barclay ME, Mills K, Saunders CL, Murchie P, et al. Effect of a skin self-monitoring smartphone application on time to physician consultation among patients with possible melanoma: a phase 2 randomized clinical trial. JAMA Netw Open 2020 Feb 05;3(2):e200001 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.0001] [Medline: 32101302]
- 22. Dieng M, Smit AK, Hersch J, Morton RL, Cust AE, Irwig L, et al. Patients' views about skin self-examination after treatment for localized melanoma. JAMA Dermatol 2019 May 15;155(8):914-921 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamadermatol.2019.0434] [Medline: 31090868]
- 23. Fleming T, Bavin L, Lucassen M, Stasiak K, Hopkins S, Merry S. Beyond the trial: systematic review of real-world uptake and engagement with digital self-help interventions for depression, low mood, or anxiety. J Med Internet Res 2018 Jun 06;20(6):e199 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.9275] [Medline: 29875089]
- 24. Chan YY, Wang P, Rogers L, Tignor N, Zweig M, Hershman SG, et al. The Asthma Mobile Health Study, a large-scale clinical observational study using ResearchKit. Nat Biotechnol 2017 Mar 13;35(4):354-362 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/nbt.3826] [Medline: 28288104]
- 25. Holtz B, Lauckner C. Diabetes management via mobile phones: a systematic review. Telemed J E Health 2012 Apr;18(3):175-184. [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2011.0119] [Medline: 22356525]

#### Abbreviations

**GP:** general practitioner **HCP:** health care provider **REDCap:** Research Electronic Data Capture

Edited by R Dellavalle, T Sivesind; submitted 19.07.20; peer-reviewed by M Janda, R Matin; comments to author 04.08.20; revised version received 22.09.20; accepted 23.06.21; published 13.08.21.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Habgood E, McCormack C, Walter FM, Emery JD Patients' Experiences of Using Skin Self-monitoring Apps With People at Higher Risk of Melanoma: Qualitative Study JMIR Dermatol 2021;4(2):e22583 URL: https://derma.jmir.org/2021/2/e22583 doi:10.2196/22583 PMID:<u>37632821</u>

©Emily Habgood, Christopher McCormack, Fiona M Walter, Jon D Emery. Originally published in JMIR Dermatology (http://derma.jmir.org), 13.08.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Dermatology Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://derma.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Research Letter

# Surgical Surprise: Cutaneous Metastasis Presenting for Mohs Micrographic Surgery Without a Prior Diagnostic Biopsy

Spencer Dunaway<sup>1</sup>, MD; Pushkar Aggarwal<sup>2</sup>, MBA; Cristin Shaughnessy<sup>1</sup>, MD; Scott Neltner<sup>1</sup>, MD

<sup>1</sup>Department of Dermatology, University of Cincinnati College of Medicine, Cincinnati, OH, United States <sup>2</sup>University of Cincinnati College of Medicine, Cincinnati, OH, United States

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Pushkar Aggarwal, MBA University of Cincinnati College of Medicine 3230 Eden Avenue Cincinnati, OH, 45267 United States Phone: 1 240 200 0896 Email: aggarwpr@mail.uc.edu

(JMIR Dermatol 2021;4(2):e33241) doi:10.2196/33241

#### KEYWORDS

cutaneous metastasis; Mohs surgery; biopsy; micrographic surgery; dermatology; dermatologist; skin cancer; melanoma

# Case Report

A 60-year-old Caucasian woman presented for Mohs micrographic surgery (MMS) after being referred for a clinically presumed basal cell carcinoma of the scalp. Three months prior, while living abroad, the patient developed a nodule on the vertex of her scalp. The patient's primary care physician initially treated the lesion as a cyst with antibiotics. However, after no improvement, she received a second opinion and was told it was a basal cell carcinoma. The patient returned to the United States for treatment and was seen by a plastic surgeon, who subsequently referred her to a Mohs micrographic surgeon.

Upon presentation, the patient had a 1.7-cm violaceous, slightly scaly nodule on the vertex of the scalp (Figure 1).

Figure 1. A 1.7-cm violaceous, slightly scaly nodule at the vertex of the patient's scalp, revealed through preoperative evaluation.





RenderX

The patient also complained of a tender subcutaneous nodule on her right flank that was noted after a bicycle accident, also approximately 3 months prior. Pertinent history included 10 pack-years of smoking in her 20s. Prior to initiating Mohs surgery, a shave biopsy was performed, revealing a basaloid proliferation with adenomatous differentiation diffusely involving the dermis and subcutis. Given the diagnostic ambiguity regarding this lesion, it was sent for permanent section processing.

Evaluation of the permanent section was consistent with metastatic adenocarcinoma. Immunohistochemical studies were performed and revealed the neoplastic cells to be positive for CK7 (cytokeratin 7) and TTF-1 (thyroid transcription factor-1) consistent with lung origin (Figures 2-5).

Figure 2. Frozen section with basaloid proliferation with adenomatous differentiation.



Figure 3. Permanent section with proliferation of variably shaped and sized islands with a central lumen lined by crowded, hyperchromatic, and large columnar cells with many atypical mitotic figures.





Figure 4. CK7 (cytokeratin 7) positive.



Figure 5. TTF-1 (thyroid transcription factor-1) positive.



The patient was referred to oncology and was found to have stage IV adenocarcinoma of the lung with extensive bony metastasis and involvement of the adrenals, pelvis, and parietal lobe. Excision of the abdominal mass by plastic surgery revealed similar histology.

# Discussion

Cutaneous metastases develop in 0.7% to 9% of patients with cancer. In men, the most frequent sources of metastases are the lung (24%), colon (19%), melanoma (13%), and oral cavity (12%). In women, the most frequent sources of metastases are the breast (69%), colon (9%), melanoma (5%), ovaries (4%), and lung (4%) [1]. Cutaneous metastasis is rather uncommon and has been reported to occur in approximately 5% of all cancer

```
https://derma.jmir.org/2021/2/e33241
```

RenderX

patients [2]. In lung cancer, it is usually a sign of late disease, and concomitant poor prognosis, with a median survival of 3.9 months [3]. In a recent retrospective study of 2130 patients with nonsmall cell carcinoma, only 2.8% had cutaneous metastasis at the time of diagnosis [3]. Our case describes an even rarer occurrence in which cutaneous metastasis manifested as the presenting sign of an underlying malignancy.

Despite the rarity, dermatologists should always consider cutaneous metastasis in their differential for solitary nodules. Our case demonstrates the characteristic lesion of a cutaneous metastasis, which has been described as a flesh-colored or violaceous, nonpainful nodule [2]. The lesion also was located in a high-risk area, the scalp, which makes up 6.9% of cases of cutaneous metastasis [4]. A study of 398 Taiwanese patients

with scalp malignancies reported that other than squamous cell carcinoma and basal cell carcinoma, metastatic cutaneous tumors were most common, making up 12.8% of cases. Lung cancer was the leading primary lesion, causing almost a quarter of the cases [5].

This case also demonstrates the critical importance of performing a biopsy and establishing a firm diagnosis prior to initiating MMS. One recent study reported that in 450 patients presenting for MMS with a clinical diagnosis only, 13 of the diagnoses changed following examination of the Mohs debulk specimen. In these patients, a skin biopsy would have changed the management of 9 patients (1%). In 6 of these cases, MMS would not have been performed due to precancerous or benign histology, and in 3 cases, MMS would have been expedited due

to the histological presentation of squamous cell carcinoma rather than basal cell carcinoma [6].

In summary, it is rare for an underlying malignancy to present as a cutaneous metastasis. Despite this, it is essential for dermatologists to recognize the classic features and have a high index of suspicion. A timely biopsy can significantly expedite definitive diagnosis, which was delayed in our case by 3 months, potentially impacting the long-term prognosis. Confirmation of a clinical diagnosis with a biopsy prior to MMS can avoid unnecessary procedures and may reveal a more serious pathology. In situations of histologic ambiguity on frozen sections, diagnostic certainty is paramount prior to initiating MMS.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

#### References

- Pathak S, Joshi SR, Jaison J, Kendre D. Cutaneous metastasis from carcinoma of lung. Indian Dermatol Online J 2013 Jul;4(3):185-187 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4103/2229-5178.115512] [Medline: 23984229]
- Krathen RA, Orengo IF, Rosen T. Cutaneous metastasis: a meta-analysis of data. South Med J 2003 Feb;96(2):164-167. [doi: <u>10.1097/01.SMJ.0000053676.73249.E5</u>] [Medline: <u>12630642</u>]
- Song Z, Lin B, Shao L, Zhang Y. Cutaneous metastasis as a initial presentation in advanced non-small cell lung cancer and its poor survival prognosis. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol 2012 Oct;138(10):1613-1617. [doi: <u>10.1007/s00432-012-1239-6</u>] [Medline: <u>22581263</u>]
- Salemis NS, Veloudis G, Spiliopoulos K, Nakos G, Vrizidis N, Gourgiotis S. Scalp metastasis as the first sign of small-cell lung cancer: management and literature review. Int Surg 2014;99(4):325-329 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.9738/INTSURG-D-13-00070.1] [Medline: 25058760]
- Chiu CS, Lin CY, Kuo TT, Kuan YZ, Chen MJ, Ho HC, et al. Malignant cutaneous tumors of the scalp: a study of demographic characteristics and histologic distributions of 398 Taiwanese patients. J Am Acad Dermatol 2007 Mar;56(3):448-452. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jaad.2006.08.060</u>] [Medline: <u>17141358</u>]
- Verykiou S, Oliphant TJ, Rahim R, Husain A, Lawrence CM, Langtry JA. Diagnostic biopsy before Mohs micrographic surgery, frequency of change in diagnosis and impact on management. Br J Dermatol 2016 Mar;174(3):649-651. [doi: 10.1111/bjd.14186] [Medline: 26399472]

#### Abbreviations

**CK7:** cytokeratin 7 **MMS:** Mohs micrographic surgery **TIF-1:** thyroid transcription factor-1

Edited by R Dellavalle, T Sivesind; submitted 29.08.21; peer-reviewed by N Mytle, Y Li; comments to author 06.10.21; revised version received 07.10.21; accepted 11.10.21; published 01.11.21.

<u>Please cite as:</u>

Dunaway S, Aggarwal P, Shaughnessy C, Neltner S Surgical Surprise: Cutaneous Metastasis Presenting for Mohs Micrographic Surgery Without a Prior Diagnostic Biopsy JMIR Dermatol 2021;4(2):e33241 URL: https://derma.jmir.org/2021/2/e33241 doi:10.2196/33241 PMID:37632877

©Spencer Dunaway, Pushkar Aggarwal, Cristin Shaughnessy, Scott Neltner. Originally published in JMIR Dermatology (http://derma.jmir.org), 01.11.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution

RenderX

License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Dermatology Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://derma.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

# Global Melanoma Correlations With Obesity, Smoking, and Alcohol Consumption

Nisha Batta<sup>1\*</sup>, MS; Sarah Shangraw<sup>1\*</sup>, MD; Andrew Nicklawsky<sup>2</sup>, MS; Takeshi Yamauchi<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Zili Zhai<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Dinoop Ravindran Menon<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Dexiang Gao<sup>2</sup>, PhD; Robert P Dellavalle<sup>1,3,4</sup>, MD, MSPH, PhD; Mayumi Fujita<sup>1,3,5</sup>, MD, PhD

<sup>2</sup>Department of Biostatistics and Informatics, University of Colorado Anschutz Medical Campus, Aurora, CO, United States

<sup>3</sup>Rocky Mountain Regional Veterans Affairs Medical Center, Aurora, CO, United States

- <sup>4</sup>Department of Epidemiology, Colorado School of Public Health, University of Colorado Anschutz Medical Campus, Aurora, CO, United States
- <sup>5</sup>Department of Immunology and Microbiology, University of Colorado Anschutz Medical Campus, Aurora, CO, United States

\*these authors contributed equally

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Mayumi Fujita, MD, PhD Department of Dermatology University of Colorado Anschutz Medical Campus 12801 E. 17th Avenue, RC-1 South, Rm 4124 Aurora, CO, 80045 United States Phone: 1 303 724 4045 Email: mayumi.fujita@cuanschutz.edu

(JMIR Dermatol 2021;4(2):e31275) doi:10.2196/31275

#### **KEYWORDS**

melanoma incidence; melanoma mortality; non-UV risk factors; obesity; alcohol consumption; smoking; wine; World Health Organization; WHO; Global Cancer Observatory; GCO; Global Health Observatory; GHO; aldehyde dehydrogenase 2; ALDH2; polymorphism

The incidence of melanoma has continued to rise over the last few decades [1]. Although many explanations have been posited, such as increased screening, detection, and UV exposure [2], it is essential to examine non-UV–related risk factors contributing to its continued rise.

We reviewed published data on obesity, smoking, and alcohol consumption trends worldwide to understand human behaviors and their relationship to melanoma. We collected data for the three risk factors from the Global Health Observatory (GHO), World Health Organization (WHO), published in 2010, as these were the most comprehensive available data with minimal changes in trends noted in the following years. We also collected data for melanoma incidence and mortality from the Global Cancer Observatory (GCO), WHO, published in 2018, as they were the most currently available data. Compiled data were displayed using choropleth maps with color gradients to visualize variations across geographic areas (Figure 1A). Subsequently, each country's data were plotted, and Spearman rank correlation coefficient (R) was calculated for melanoma incidence and mortality with each risk factor. The choropleth map of each risk factor showed similar patterns to melanoma incidence and melanoma mortality. The statistical analysis

RenderX

depicted a positive correlation (with a positive R) between melanoma incidence/mortality and all risk factors (obesity, smoking, and alcohol consumption). Among them, alcohol consumption showed the strongest positive correlation with both melanoma incidence (R=0.72; P<.001) and mortality (R=0.59; P<.001). Because individuals with lighter skin color (eg, Caucasians) have a higher melanoma incidence, this correlation data might implicate that alcohol consumption is high in countries with lighter skin color, such as European ancestry. To address whether the correlation between alcohol consumption and melanoma incidence is skin color dependent or independent, we reanalyzed the data by continent (Figure 1B). A positive correlation still existed between alcohol consumption and melanoma incidence in Europe, Asia, and Africa (Multimedia Appendix 1, Supplementary Table S1). In particular, the strongest correlation (R=0.68; P<.001) was observed in European countries with exclusively lighter skin color (1-12 or 12-14 of skin color numbers, per a human skin color distribution map in the second figure by Barsh [3]), suggesting that the correlation between alcohol consumption and melanoma incidence is likely to be skin color independent. A positive correlation was also observed between alcohol consumption and melanoma mortality in all continents.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Department of Dermatology, University of Colorado Anschutz Medical Campus, Aurora, CO, United States

To understand how genetic risk factors have a role in the observed correlation between alcohol consumption and melanoma incidence/mortality, we examined the correlation of aldehyde dehydrogenase 2 (ALDH2) rs671 polymorphism with both alcohol consumption and melanoma outcomes. ALDH2 is an alcohol-metabolizing enzyme, and its allelic variation affects alcohol detoxification [4]. The correlation analysis showed that it was the wild-type ALDH2 allele that was strongly positively correlated with melanoma incidence (R=0.70; P<.001) and mortality (R=0.74; P<.001; Table 1). On the other hand, the allelic variants had a modest to strong negative correlation with melanoma incidence (R=-0.70 to -0.51; P<.001) and mortality (R=-0.73 to -0.57; P<.001). Possible explanations for the opposing effect of ALDH2 polymorphism include that individuals with risk alleles consume less alcohol than wild-type individuals, which is consistent with our data showing a positive and a negative correlation to alcohol consumption in wild-type individuals and allelic variants, respectively.

Overall, our findings highlight an association between alcohol and melanoma outcomes globally. The association was observed not only with melanoma incidence but also with its mortality. We also found a potential involvement of the alcohol-related gene ALDH2. Limitations of our analyses include unavailability of the population statistics for some risk factors by some countries, binary questionnaire of alcohol use without reflecting the quantity of alcohol consumption, and country-based analysis rather than individualized data. To determine whether our cross-country data support individual-level conclusions at individual levels, individual-level studies, such as a recent one [5], need to be conducted. Furthermore, our findings do not necessarily indicate causation from alcohol, and other factors might be involved, including skin/hair color, ethnicity, geography, economy, and lifestyle. Further investigation is warranted to verify these associations at individual levels and elucidate alcohol's effects on melanoma outcomes by eliminating potential confounding factors such as skin/hair color genotypes.



#### Batta et al

Figure 1. Global maps and scatter plots of melanoma burden and potential lifestyle factors. A: Correlation of melanoma outcomes and 3 lifestyle factors. Melanoma incidence (2018) is the number of new melanoma cases in 2018, including both sexes and all ages, and expressed as a rate per 100,000 persons per year. Melanoma mortality (2018) is the number of deaths due to melanoma in 2018, including both sexes and all ages, and expressed as a rate per 100,000 persons per year. Obesity prevalence (2010) refers to the percentage of obesity among adults (20+ years, both sexes) with a BMI of 30 kg/m2 or higher in 2010. Smoking prevalence (2010) refers to the percentage of men and women ages 15 and older who smoked any tobacco product daily or nondaily in 2010. Smokeless tobacco use is excluded and not available from the original data source. Alcohol consumption (2010) refers to the proportion of adults (15+ years, both sexes) who consumed any alcohol in 2010. Sources: Global Cancer Observatory (melanoma incidence and mortality) and Global Health Observatory (obesity prevalence, smoking prevalence, and alcohol consumption) from World Health Organization. The choropleth maps were created with MapChart. Scatter plots of each country's metrics were created to visualize the distributions of lifestyle factors and outcomes. The left panel of scatter plots: correlation of melanoma incidence with obesity prevalence (n=174), smoking prevalence (n=140), and alcohol consumption (n=175). The right panel of scatter plots: correlation of melanoma mortality with obesity prevalence (n=174), smoking prevalence (n=140), and alcohol consumption (n=175). The original data set included the following number of countries: melanoma incidence and mortality (n=185), obesity prevalence (n=174), smoking prevalence (n=140), and alcohol consumption (n=190). B: Correlation of alcohol consumption and melanoma outcome by continent. Figure 1A data were reanalyzed by grouping countries into continents: Africa (n=55), Americas (n=39), Asia (n=48), Europe (n=40), and Oceania (n=17; Multimedia Appendix 1, Supplementary Table S1). Each symbol represents an individual country. Hashes on each axis are included to assist in visualizing the distribution of each variable. Spearman rank coefficient was used to assess correlation due to skewed data and the influence of outliers. P values were reported based on a null hypothesis of no monotonic association against a two-sided alternative at the .05 level. The statistical analysis was conducted using R version 4.0.2.





#### Table 1. Correlations between melanoma outcomes and ALDH2 alleles in 23 countries.<sup>a</sup>

Variable	Correlation with	orrelation with					
	Melanoma incidence	P value	Melanoma mortality	P value	Alcohol consumption	P value	
Genetic alleles							
ALDH2 <sup>b</sup> *1/*1	0.70	<.001	0.74	<.001	0.39	.07	
ALDH2 *1/*2	-0.70	<.001	-0.73	<.001	-0.38	.07	
ALDH2 *2/*2	-0.51	.01	-0.57	.005	-0.25	.26	
Alcohol consumption	0.79	<.001	0.71	<.001	N/A <sup>c</sup>	N/A	

<sup>a</sup>The source of melanoma incidence (2018), melanoma mortality (2018), and alcohol consumption (2010) is explained in the Figure 1 legend. ALDH2 allele frequency was obtained by searching research papers (Multimedia Appendix 1, Supplementary Table S2). The original data set included the following number of countries: melanoma incidence (n=185), melanoma mortality (n=185), alcohol consumption (n=175), and ALDH2 alleles (n=23). Only 23 countries had all 4 factors available for the correlation analysis. Spearman rank coefficient was used to assess correlation due to skewed data and the influence of outliers. The data represent correlation coefficients (R) with *P* values. Alcohol consumption was reassessed to determine the correlation coefficient with an associated *P* value for the subset of countries that were considered. The statistical analysis was conducted using R version 4.0.2 (R Foundation for Statistical Computing).

<sup>b</sup>ALDH2: aldehyde dehydrogenase 2.

<sup>c</sup>N/A: not applicable.

#### Acknowledgments

Supported by a grant from National Institutes of Health (NIH)/National Cancer Institute (NCI) R01CA197919 (to MF), NIH/National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases (NIAID) R01AI156534-01A1 (to MF), Veterans Affairs Merit Review Award 5I01BX001228 (to MF), NIH/National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism (NIAAA) R21AA028904 (to MF), Cancer League of Colorado (to MF and TY), Dermatology Foundation (to TY) and University of Colorado Cancer Center-Nutrition Obesity Research Center (UCCC-NORC) Metabolism and Cancer Pilot Grant (to MF).

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

RPD serves as an Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation (IHME) Global Burden of Disease collaborator, editor-in-chief of JMIR Dermatology, joint coordinating editor of Cochrane Skin, and a dermatology section editor of UpToDate. Other authors have no conflicts of interest.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Supplemental tables. [PPTX File, 48 KB - derma\_v4i2e31275\_app1.pptx]

#### References

- Siegel RL, Miller KD, Fuchs HE, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2021. CA Cancer J Clin 2021 Jan;71(1):7-33. [doi: 10.3322/caac.21654] [Medline: <u>33433946</u>]
- Brunssen A, Waldmann A, Eisemann N, Katalinic A. Impact of skin cancer screening and secondary prevention campaigns on skin cancer incidence and mortality: a systematic review. J Am Acad Dermatol 2017 Jan;76(1):129-139.e10. [doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2016.07.045] [Medline: 27707591]
- 3. Barsh GS. What controls variation in human skin color? PLoS Biol 2003 Oct;1(1):E27 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.0000027] [Medline: 14551921]
- 4. Chen CH, Ferreira JCB, Gross ER, Mochly-Rosen D. Targeting aldehyde dehydrogenase 2: new therapeutic opportunities. Physiol Rev 2014 Jan;94(1):1-34 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1152/physrev.00017.2013] [Medline: 24382882]
- Rota M, Pasquali E, Bellocco R, Bagnardi V, Scotti L, Islami F, et al. Alcohol drinking and cutaneous melanoma risk: a systematic review and dose-risk meta-analysis. Br J Dermatol 2014 May;170(5):1021-1028. [doi: <u>10.1111/bjd.12856</u>] [Medline: <u>24495200</u>]

#### Abbreviations

**ALDH2:** aldehyde dehydrogenase 2 **WHO:** World Health Organization



```
https://derma.jmir.org/2021/2/e31275
```

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 23.06.21; peer-reviewed by T Koritala, U Pfeffer; comments to author 10.08.21; revised version received 05.10.21; accepted 21.11.21; published 13.12.21. <u>Please cite as:</u> Batta N, Shangraw S, Nicklawsky A, Yamauchi T, Zhai Z, Ravindran Menon D, Gao D, Dellavalle RP, Fujita M Global Melanoma Correlations With Obesity, Smoking, and Alcohol Consumption JMIR Dermatol 2021;4(2):e31275 URL: https://derma.jmir.org/2021/2/e31275 doi:10.2196/31275

PMID:<u>35990801</u>

©Nisha Batta, Sarah Shangraw, Andrew Nicklawsky, Takeshi Yamauchi, Zili Zhai, Dinoop Ravindran Menon, Dexiang Gao, Robert P Dellavalle, Mayumi Fujita. Originally published in JMIR Dermatology (http://derma.jmir.org), 13.12.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Dermatology Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://derma.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.


Research Letter

# Teledermatology Consults in a County Hospital Setting: Retrospective Analysis

Colton H Funkhouser<sup>1</sup>, MD; Martha E Funkhouser<sup>2</sup>, MD; Jay E Wolverton<sup>3</sup>, MD; Toby Maurer<sup>2,3</sup>, MD

<sup>1</sup>Georgetown University School of Medicine, Washington, DC, United States

<sup>2</sup>Department of Dermatology, San Mateo Medical Center, San Mateo, CA, United States

<sup>3</sup>Department of Dermatology, Indiana University School of Medicine, Indianapolis, IN, United States

Corresponding Author: Colton H Funkhouser, MD Georgetown University School of Medicine 3900 Reservoir Road NW Washington, DC, 20007 United States Phone: 1 (202) 687 0100 Email: chf36@georgetown.edu

(JMIR Dermatol 2021;4(2):e30530) doi:10.2196/30530

## **KEYWORDS**

dermatology; teledermatology; telemedicine; referrals; primary care; keratosis; digital health; skin cancer; dermatitis

Teledermatology is increasingly used by primary care providers (PCPs) for diagnosis and triage of skin conditions [1,2]. Many dermatology practices have increased telemedicine services in light of the COVID-19 pandemic [2]. Current teledermatology guidelines provide standards for effective teledermatology practice but do not detail recommendations for management of specific conditions [2]. By understanding the distribution of cases sent to teledermatology, and which are seen in-person, guidelines can be properly structured to optimize teledermatology use.

Prior studies have found that 20% to 50% of teledermatology cases required an in-person visit after teledermatology evaluation [3-5]. However, there is limited information on the distribution of cases sent for teledermatology consultation. In our study, teledermatology consults from PCPs at a county hospital were analyzed to identify common diagnoses that prompted the use of the teledermatology system and which diagnoses required an in-person visit. PCPs were encouraged to send any dermatologic cases to teledermatology, even if they felt comfortable managing it independently.

We conducted a retrospective analysis of 450 store-and-forward consults from PCPs to teledermatologists via Medweb from 2017 to 2019 at San Mateo County Medical Center in California. Diagnoses were made by the teledermatologist based on the teledermatology consult. Our analysis captured 471 diagnoses encompassing a wide range of dermatologic conditions (Table 1). The most frequent diagnoses were seborrheic keratosis, eczema, and acne. Overall, 39.9% of diagnoses seen via teledermatology were referred for an in-person visit, the most common of which were nonmelanoma skin cancer, actinic keratosis, and alopecia areata. Others such as atopic dermatitis and lentigo were never referred for an in-person visit. When grouped into categories based on similar types of dermatologic diseases (Figure 1), the most frequent group was banal and precancerous neoplasms. The groups with the highest proportion of referrals for in-person visits were malignant neoplasms and hair disorders. The papulosquamous disorders and acneiform disorders groups were referred for an in-person visit less frequently. We found that 6.2% of consults could not be diagnosed via teledermatology due to insufficient photo quality or patient history.



Table 1. T	Top 25 diagnoses sent to	teledermatology listed in or	der of frequency and t	the proportion	requiring referral	to an in-person visit.
------------	--------------------------	------------------------------	------------------------	----------------	--------------------	------------------------

1 0		1 1 1 0	1
Diagnosis	Cases, n	Referred, n (%)	Not referred, n
Seborrheic keratosis	48	4 (8)	44
Eczema NOS <sup>a</sup>	30	1 (3)	29
Acne	27	6 (22)	21
Rule out NMSC <sup>b,c</sup>	28	28 (100)	0
Seborrheic dermatitis	20	2 (10)	18
Actinic keratosis	17	17 (100)	0
Poor photo quality	12	8 (67)	4
Vitiligo	12	4 (33)	8
Banal neoplasm NOS	12	9 (75)	3
Insufficient data	11	7 (64)	4
Wart	11	10 (91)	1
Nevus	10	6 (60)	4
Contact dermatitis	9	3 (33)	6
Alopecia areata	8	8 (100)	0
Rosacea	8	2 (25)	6
Papulosquamous disorder NOS	8	2 (25)	6
Cyst	8	3 (38)	5
Keloid	6	5 (83)	1
Dermatologist unable to make diagnosis	6	4 (67)	2
Onychodystrophy NOS	6	2 (33)	4
Atopic dermatitis	6	0 (0)	6
Lentigo	6	0 (0)	6
Idiopathic guttate hypomelanosis	5	2 (40)	3
Urticaria	5	1 (20)	4
Angioma	5	3 (60)	2

<sup>a</sup>NOS: not otherwise specified.

<sup>b</sup>NMSC: nonmelanoma skin cancer.

<sup>c</sup>NMSC includes basal cell carcinoma, squamous cell carcinoma, and dermatofibroma sarcoma protuberans.



#### Funkhouser et al

Figure 1. Diagnoses referred to teledermatology grouped into categories based on similarity. TBSE was due to: patient high risk, patient history of melanoma/NMSC, and patient request. NMSC: nonmelanoma skin cancer; NOS: not otherwise specified; NR: not referred; R: referral; TBSE: total body skin exam.

Instantary recurrent control is a regulated and any set of the se	D 1/0							_		<b>D</b> 1		_				_				
Diagonis         a         N         N         Diagonis         a         N         N         Diagonis         a         N	Banal/Precance	rous Ne	oplasi	ns	Inflammatory I	Jerma	toses	210	Papulosquamou	is Diso	rders	210	Infecti	ons			Other Discussion III D. N.		2.15	
Sebortice         -         -         Carana Nors         -         Nart         Nart         -         Nart	Diagnosis	n	R	NR	Diagnosis	n	R	NR	Diagnosis	n	Ŕ	NR	Diagnoses	n	Ŕ	NR	Diagnosis	n	Ŕ	NR
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Seborrheic				Urticaria				Eczema NOS				Wart				Poor photo quality			
Actine kraines         17         10         Communication annume         2         1         1         Solution of a solutio	keratosis	48	4	44		5	1	4		29	1	28		11	10	1		12	8	4
Band norpham $$ $$ $$ $$ $$ $$ $$ $$ $$ $$ $$	Actinic keratosis	17	17	0	Granuloma annulare	2	1	1	Seborrheic dermatitis	20	2	18	Herpetic infection	6	0	6	Insufficient data	11	7	4
	Banal neoplasm				Hypersensitivity		Ι.		Contact dermatitis	_			Folliculitis	Ι.			Keloid		Ι.	
New of the set of the	37	12	9	3	reaction	2	1	1	D l	9	3	6	0	4	0	4	Description in the	6	5	1
Image         Image <th< td=""><td>Nevus</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>Morphea</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>Papulosquamous</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>Candida</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>Dermatologist</td><td></td><td></td><td></td></th<>	Nevus				Morphea				Papulosquamous				Candida				Dermatologist			
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$									disorder NOS								unable to make			
Cyst         8         3         5         Viral exanthem         2         0         2         Adaptic dermatinis         6         0         6         Neables         4         0         4         Rentoss plants         3         0         3         3         0         3           Angroma         -         -         Bullous permityliodi         -         1		10	6	4		2	2	0		8	2	6		4	0	4	diagnosis	6	4	2
	Cyst	8	3	5	Viral exanthem	2	0	2	Atopic dermatitis	6	0	6	Scabies	4	0	4	Keratosis pilaris	3	0	3
AngiomabbbBbLicken singlexbMollaxemFCAction inpurpora20202020202020202020202020202020202021101101101 <t< td=""><td>Lentigo</td><td>6</td><td>0</td><td>6</td><td>Bites</td><td>2</td><td>0</td><td>2</td><td>Lichen amyloidosis</td><td>3</td><td>0</td><td>3</td><td>Intertrigo</td><td>3</td><td>0</td><td>3</td><td>TBSE</td><td>3</td><td>3</td><td>0</td></t<>	Lentigo	6	0	6	Bites	2	0	2	Lichen amyloidosis	3	0	3	Intertrigo	3	0	3	TBSE	3	3	0
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	Angioma				Bullous pemphigoid				Lichen simplex				Molluscum				Actinic purpura			
	-	5	3	2		2	1	1	chronicus	3	0	3		3	2	1		2	0	2
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Dermatofibroma				Erythema annulare				Lichen Planus				Infection NOS				Keratoderma			
Liche planos         2         1         Hindradentis         -         Plytrais rose         2         0         1         0         1         0         1         1         0		4	1	3	centrifugum	1	1	0		2	2	0		2	2	0		2	1	1
like kerntosis         2         1         1         1         0	Lichen planus-				Hidradenitis				Pityriasis rosca				Erythrasma				Acanthosis			
Benign nervusIIInflammatoryIIDyshidroic eccema2IICallulitisIArrophi blancheII01001010100100100100100100100100010000000000000000000000000000<	like keratosis	2	1	1	suppurativa	1	0	1		2	0	2		2	0	2	nigricans	1	0	1
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Benign nevus				Inflammatory				Dyshidrotic eczema				Cellulitis				Atrophic blanche			
Cherry anglom Componential nervosICurry consistingICurry consistingII </td <td></td> <td>1</td> <td>0</td> <td>1</td> <td>disorder NOS</td> <td>1</td> <td>1</td> <td>0</td> <td></td> <td>2</td> <td>1</td> <td>1</td> <td></td> <td>1</td> <td>0</td> <td>1</td> <td></td> <td>1</td> <td>1</td> <td>0</td>		1	0	1	disorder NOS	1	1	0		2	1	1		1	0	1		1	1	0
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	Cherry angioma				Leukocytoclastic				Hand eczema				Erysipelas				Burn			
Congenital nervos110011002111101101101101100101001010010100100 </td <td></td> <td>1</td> <td>0</td> <td>1</td> <td>vasculitis</td> <td>1</td> <td>0</td> <td>1</td> <td></td> <td>2</td> <td>0</td> <td>2</td> <td></td> <td>1</td> <td>0</td> <td>1</td> <td></td> <td>1</td> <td>0</td> <td>1</td>		1	0	1	vasculitis	1	0	1		2	0	2		1	0	1		1	0	1
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	Congenital nevus				Lipodermatosclerosis				Dermatitis NOS				Erosio interdigitalis				Callus			
Digital nuccos         Seleroderma         I         O         Macular amyloidosis         I         I         O         I <td></td> <td>1</td> <td>1</td> <td>0</td> <td></td> <td>1</td> <td>1</td> <td>0</td> <td></td> <td>2</td> <td>1</td> <td>1</td> <td>blastomycetica</td> <td>1</td> <td>0</td> <td>1</td> <td></td> <td>1</td> <td>0</td> <td>1</td>		1	1	0		1	1	0		2	1	1	blastomycetica	1	0	1		1	0	1
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	Digital mucous				Scleroderma				Macular amyloidosis				Tinea				Chilblains			
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	cyst	1	0	1		1	0	1		1	0	1		1	0	1		1	1	0
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	Dysplastic nevus	1	0	1	Vasculitis	1	1	0	Prurigo nodularis	1	0	1	Total	43	14	29	Ecchymosis	1	1	0
Image: Problem and proble	Fibroma				Discoid lupus				Nummular eczema								Hypertrichosis	1	0	1
Halo nevus $\ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ $		1	1	0	erythematosis	1	1	0		1	0	1	Nail Disc	orders						
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	Halo nevus				Dissecting cellulitis				Pityriasis lichenoides								Pachyonychia			
NeurofibromaIII <t< td=""><td></td><td>1</td><td>0</td><td>1</td><td>of scalp</td><td>1</td><td>1</td><td>0</td><td>chronica</td><td>1</td><td>1</td><td>0</td><td>Diagnosis</td><td>n</td><td>R</td><td>NR</td><td>congenita</td><td>1</td><td>0</td><td>1</td></t<>		1	0	1	of scalp	1	1	0	chronica	1	1	0	Diagnosis	n	R	NR	congenita	1	0	1
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Neurofibroma				Drug rash				Total				Onychodystrophy				Photodermatitis			
Nevus       Nevus       Nevus       Sebes       Neus		1	0	1		1	1	0		92	13	79	NOS	6	2	4		1	0	1
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Nevus				Dermatitis								Onychomycosis				Pigmented purpura	1	0	1
Nevus sebaceous110Pemphigus vulgaris110DiagnosisnRNRIngrown nail110Redness of hands10101Pyogenic granuloma110Zoon's balanitis 1110Diagnosis Rule out NMSCnRNRIngrown nail1110Redness of hands10101Sebaceous hyperplasia101110Rule out MMSC280Paronychia110Terra firma 110<	comedonicus	1	0	1	herpetiformis	1	1	0	Malignant N	eoplas	ns			2	0	2	5 1 1			
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Nevus sebaceous	1	1	0	Pemphigus vulgaris	1	1	0	Diagnosis	n	R	NR	Ingrown nail	1	1	0	Redness of hands	1	0	1
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Pyogenic	-	-		Zoon's balanitis	-	-		Rule out NMSC				Nail psoriasis	-		-	Striae distensae			
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	granuloma	1	1	0		1	1	0		28	28	0		1	1	0		1	0	1
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Sebaceous	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	, in the second		<u> </u>	<u> </u>	Ű	Rule out melanoma			-	Paronvchia	<u> </u>	· ·	-	Terra firma	-		-
Venue lake110Pigmentary DisorterNMSC110Total1147Ulcer110Total1254976DiagnosisnRNRAtypical nevus1110Total1147Ulcer1110AcneiforDisorterVitiligo1248NRAtypical nevus1110DiagnosisnRNRAtypical nevus110DiagnosisnRNRIdiopathic guttate hypomelanosis5237Total34340DiagnosisnRNRTotal603327DiagnosisnRNRIdiopathic guttate hypomelanosis52337Alopecia areata alopeciaRNRTotal603327DiagnosisnRNRMelasma4047Total34340DiagnosisnRRNRTotal603327DiagnosisnRNRMRMelasma4047Total347Alopecia areata alopecia8807110110RosaceaPostinflamatoryPostinflamatoryPostinflamatoryPostinflamatoryPostinflamatoryPostinflamatoryPostinflam	hyperplasia	1	0	1	Total	30	16	14		4	4	0	,	1	0	1		1	1	0
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Venous lake	1	1	0	Pigmentary I	Disord	ers		NMSC	1	1	0	Total	11	4	7	Ulcer	1	1	0
Acneiform DisorderNNNNNNNNNIII0Acneiform DisorderVitiligo1248Total34340DiagnosisnRNRNTotal603327DiagnosisnRNRNg pomelanosis523-AllopeciaAllopecia areatanRNRNTotal603327DiagnosisnRNRNg pomelanosis523Allopecia areatanRNRNTotal603327Acne27621Melasma404Allopecia areatanRNRNRosacePostinflamatoryPostinflamatory<	Total	125	40	76	Diagnosis		P	ND	A tunical name	1	1	0	Hair Die	11	4		Vanthalasma	1	1	0
Acneifor       Using of the second sec	Total	123	49	70	Diagnosis		<u>~</u>	AK	Atypical nevus			• •	Han Dis	Juers		_	Adhuletashia		<u>'</u>	
Accelorm Disorders124810tal34340DiagnosisnRNRIotal603527DiagnosisnRNRNRldiopatic guttate hypomelanosis52310tal34340DiagnosisnRNRIotal603527Acne2.7621Melasma4040401010101RosaceaRNR1021Melasma40401010101RosaceaPostinflamotry hyperpigmentation10101010101Rosacea0202Total2261610110101Perioral dermatitis202Total226161101010101Acne excorice101112101101101101101101101101111111111111111111111111 <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>Vitiligo</td> <td></td> <td>Ι.</td> <td></td> <td>m - 1</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td><b>T</b> 1</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>					Vitiligo		Ι.		m - 1								<b>T</b> 1			
Diagnosis         n         R         NR         Inspondance sufficiency         Alopecia areata         Alopecia areata         R         NR	Acneitorm	Disord	ers	_		12	4	8	Total	34	34	0	Diagnosis	n	R	NR	Total	60	33	27
Diagnosis         n         R         NR         hypomelanosis         5         2         3          6         8         8         0          6         7         6         7         6         7         6         7         6         7         6         7 <th7< th=""> <th7< th=""> <th7< th=""> <th7< th=""></th7<></th7<></th7<></th7<>					Idiopathic guttate								Alopecia areata							
Acne         27         6         21         Melasma         4         0         1 </td <td>Diagnosis</td> <td>n</td> <td>R</td> <td>NR</td> <td>hypomelanosis</td> <td>5</td> <td>2</td> <td>3</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>8</td> <td>8</td> <td>0</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>	Diagnosis	n	R	NR	hypomelanosis	5	2	3						8	8	0				
Rosacea         8         2         6         Postinflamatory hypergigmentation         1         0         1         0         1         0         1         0         1         0         1         0         1         1         0         1         1         0         1         1         0         1         1         0         1         1         0         1         1         0	Acne	27	6	21	Melasma	4	0	4					Alopecia NOS	3	2	1				
8         2         6         hyperpigmentation         1         0         1         alopacia         1         1         0           Perioral dermatitis         2         0         2         Total         22         6         16         Telogen effluxium         1         0         1         1         0         1         1         0         1         1         0         1         1         0         1         1         0         1         1         0         1         1         0         1         1         0         1         1         0         1         1         0         1         1         0         1         1         0         1         1         0         1         1         0         1         1         0         1         1         0         1         1         0         1         1         0         1         1         1         0         1         1         0         1 </td <td>Rosacea</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>Postinflamatory</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>Frontal fibrosing</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>	Rosacea				Postinflamatory								Frontal fibrosing							
Perioral dermatitis         2         0         2         Total         22         6         16         Telogen effluxium         1         0         1         0         1           Acne excorie         1         0         1         2         6         16         Total         13         11         2         0         1           Total         38         8         30         0<		8	2	6	hyperpigmentation	1	0	1					alopecia	1	1	0				
Acne excoriee         1         0         1         Total         13         11         2           Total         38         8         30         Image: Constant of the second	Perioral dermatitis	2	0	2	Total	22	6	16					Telogen effluvium	1	0	1				
Total 38 8 30	Acne excoriee	1	0	1					I				Total	13	11	2				
	Total	19	0	20																

Our study demonstrates that teledermatology is frequently used to manage benign skin conditions while serving as a triage tool for more concerning lesions that should be evaluated in person. The diagnoses most commonly referred for an in-person visit were ones with concern for precancer or malignancy, or that required procedural management, such as alopecia areata, verruca, and keloids. Furthermore, hair disorders and scalp lesions can be difficult to capture via photo and frequently necessitated an in-person visit. Benign conditions without concern for malignancy were able to be managed completely via teledermatology. The results of this study can provide support for guidelines delineating which dermatologic conditions are appropriate to be managed via teledermatology and which require in-person management. There are several limitations of this study: it did not specifically quantify the severity of disease, it did not follow long-term outcomes of cases managed via teledermatology, and it focused on patients only in a county hospital setting. Future work should focus on addressing these limitations with studies in other patient populations to provide more robust support for teledermatology guidelines.

## **Conflicts of Interest**

TM is a technical advisor teledermatology platform Medweb. All other authors have no conflicts to declare.

## References

- 1. Yim KM, Florek AG, Oh DH, McKoy K, Armstrong AW. Teledermatology in the United States: an update in a dynamic era. Telemed J E Health 2018 Sep;24(9):691-697. [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2017.0253] [Medline: 29356616]
- 2. McKoy K, Antoniotti NM, Armstrong A, Bashshur R, Bernard J, Bernstein D, et al. Practice guidelines for teledermatology. Telemed J E Health 2016 Dec;22(12):981-990. [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2016.0137] [Medline: 27690203]
- Zakaria A, Maurer T, Su G, Amerson E. Impact of teledermatology on the accessibility and efficiency of dermatology care in an urban safety-net hospital: A pre-post analysis. J Am Acad Dermatol 2019 Dec;81(6):1446-1452. [doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2019.08.016] [Medline: 31415834]
- 4. Bianchi MG, Santos A, Cordioli E. Benefits of teledermatology for geriatric patients: population-based cross-sectional study. J Med Internet Res 2020 Apr 21;22(4):e16700 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/16700] [Medline: 32314966]

 McAfee JL, Vij A, Warren CB. Store-and-forward teledermatology improves care and reduces dermatology referrals from walk-in clinics: a retrospective descriptive study. J Am Acad Dermatol 2020 Feb;82(2):499-501. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jaad.2019.08.006</u>] [Medline: <u>31404572</u>]

## Abbreviations

PCP: primary care provider

Edited by R Dellavalle, T Sivesind; submitted 18.05.21; peer-reviewed by J Whited, A Bailey; comments to author 09.06.21; revised version received 23.06.21; accepted 06.07.21; published 08.09.21.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Funkhouser CH, Funkhouser ME, Wolverton JE, Maurer T Teledermatology Consults in a County Hospital Setting: Retrospective Analysis JMIR Dermatol 2021;4(2):e30530 URL: https://derma.jmir.org/2021/2/e30530 doi:10.2196/30530 PMID:37632816

©Colton H Funkhouser, Martha E Funkhouser, Jay E Wolverton, Toby Maurer. Originally published in JMIR Dermatology (http://derma.jmir.org), 08.09.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Dermatology Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://derma.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



**Original Paper** 

# Global Burden of Skin Disease Representation in the Literature: Bibliometric Analysis

Kayd J Pulsipher<sup>1</sup>, BS; Mindy D Szeto<sup>2</sup>, MS; Chandler W Rundle<sup>3</sup>, MD; Colby L Presley<sup>4</sup>, BA, BS; Melissa R Laughter<sup>2</sup>, PhD; Robert P Dellavalle<sup>2,5,6</sup>, MSPH, MD, PhD

<sup>1</sup>College of Osteopathic Medicine, Rocky Vista University, Parker, CO, United States

<sup>3</sup>Department of Medicine, St. Joseph's Hospital, Denver, CO, United States

<sup>5</sup>Department of Epidemiology, Colorado School of Public Health, University of Colorado Anschutz Medical Campus, Aurora, CO, United States <sup>6</sup>Dermatology Service, Rocky Mountain Regional Medical Center, US Department of Veteran Affairs, Aurora, CO, United States

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Robert P Dellavalle, MSPH, MD, PhD Dermatology Service Rocky Mountain Regional Medical Center US Department of Veteran Affairs 1700 N Wheeling St Rm E1-342 Aurora, CO, 80045 United States Phone: 1 720 857 5562 Fax: 1 720 723 7876 Email: robert.dellavalle@cuanschutz.edu

## Abstract

**Background:** The global burden of skin disease may be reduced through research efforts focused on skin diseases with the highest reported disability-adjusted life years.

**Objective:** This study evaluates the representation of dermatologic conditions comprising the highest disability-adjusted life years in dermatology literature to identify areas that could benefit from greater research focus.

**Methods:** The top 10 skin disorders according to their respective disability-adjusted life years as per the 2013 Global Burden of Disease were identified using previous studies. The top 5 dermatology journals ranked by the 2019 h-index were also identified. A PubMed search of each journal was performed using individual skin disease terms. From 2015 to 2020, all indexed publications pertaining to each disease were recorded and compared to the total number of publications for each journal surveyed.

**Results:** A total of 19,727 papers were published in the 5 journals over the span of 2015-2020. Although melanoma ranked as the eighth highest in disability-adjusted life years, it had the highest representation in the literature (1995/19,727, 10.11%). Melanoma was followed in representation by psoriasis (1936/19,727, 9.81%) and dermatitis (1927/19,727, 9.77%). These 3 conditions comprised a total of 29.69% (5858/19,727) of the total publications, while the remaining 7 skin conditions were represented by a combined 6.79% (1341/19,727) of the total publications.

**Conclusions:** This research identifies gaps in the literature related to the top skin diseases contributing to the global burden of disease. Our study provides insight into future opportunities of focused research on less-studied skin diseases to potentially aid in reducing the global burden of skin disease.

(JMIR Dermatol 2021;4(2):e29282) doi:10.2196/29282

## KEYWORDS

RenderX

global burden of disease; global health; global dermatology; disability-adjusted life years; GBD; DALYs; journalology; dermatology; skin disorders

```
https://derma.jmir.org/2021/2/e29282
```

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Department of Dermatology, University of Colorado Anschutz Medical Campus, Aurora, CO, United States

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Division of Dermatology, Lehigh Valley Health Network, Allentown, PA, United States

## Introduction

The 2013 Global Burden of Disease (GBD) Morbidity and Mortality report identified skin diseases as the fourth leading cause of global disability-adjusted life years (DALYs) [1]. One DALY is the sum of years of life lost to a disease plus years lived with disability, with 1 DALY equating to 1 year of healthy life lost [1]. Research pertaining to skin disorders with higher reported DALYs has potential to reduce the global burden of skin disease through improvements in management guidelines, public health initiatives, policy changes, and increased awareness within the scientific and greater community [2]. This study evaluates the representation of dermatologic conditions comprising the highest DALYs in dermatology literature to identify areas that could benefit from increased research focus.

## Methods

A comprehensive search was performed using PubMed to identify peer-reviewed papers. A previous GBD study has identified and ranked individual skin disorders according to their respective DALYs [1]. This GBD study was used to select our specific search terms such as dermatitis, acne vulgaris, psoriasis, urticaria, viral skin diseases, fungal skin diseases, scabies, melanoma, pyoderma, and cellulitis. The h-index is a noted metric used to measure individual author and journal research influence and impact [3]. The top 5 dermatology journals ranked by the 2019 h-index were identified using the Scimago Journal and Country Rank [4]. PubMed searching was performed by pairing individual skin disease terms with each journal title (eg, "dermatitis" AND "Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology"). From 2015 to 2020, all indexed publications pertaining to each disease were recorded and compared to the total number of publications for each journal surveyed. All article types were included to obtain a complete picture of relevant skin disease research. Duplicate papers were excluded.

## Results

Over the span of 2015-2020, 19,727 publications were recorded from the previously mentioned journals. Melanoma (eighth in DALYs) had the highest representation in the literature at 10.11% (1995/19,727) of the total publications, followed by psoriasis (1936/19,727, 9.81%) and dermatitis (1927/19,727, 9.77%) (Table 1). Melanoma, psoriasis, and dermatitis comprised a total of 29.69% (5858/19,727) of all the publications from 2015 to 2020. The remaining 7 skin diseases comprised only 6.79% (1341/19,727) of the total publications. Acne vulgaris, the second highest contributor to skin GBD, followed dermatitis with a much lower representation in the literature (477/19,727, 2.42%). Scabies accumulated the lowest percentage of the total publications (54/19,727, 0.27%). The proportions of publications by year for each disease are shown in Figure 1.



Pulsipher et al

Table 1.	Top	10 skin conditions	contributing to the	global burden of disease	[ <mark>1</mark> ] an	d their representation in the dermatology literature <sup>a</sup>
THOIC TO	100	10 bitili conditions	continuity to the	global balach of albeabe	1   un	a men representation in the dermatorogy interature.

1		U	U		1	0,
Skin disease search term	Global burden of skin disease rank	Rank by per- centage of to- tal publica- tions	Percentage of global burden of disease (measured in disability-adjust- ed life years) <sup>b</sup>	Proportion of global burden of skin disease measured in disabili- ty-adjusted life years, fraction (%) <sup>c</sup>	Publications in 2015-2020 (N=19,727), n (%)	Percentage of total publica- tions/Percentage of global burden of skin disease
Dermatitis	1	3	0.38	0.38/1.70 (22.35)	1927 (9.77)	0.44
Acne	2	4	0.29	0.29/1.70 (17.06)	477 (2.42)	0.14
Psoriasis	3	2	0.19	0.19/1.70 (11.18)	1936 (9.81)	0.88
Urticaria <sup>d</sup>	3	7	0.19	0.19/1.70 (11.18)	139 (0.70)	0.06
Viral skin disease	5	5	0.16	0.16/1.70 (9.41)	283 (1.38)	0.15
Fungal skin disease	6	6	0.15	0.15/1.70 (8.82)	193 (0.98)	0.11
Scabies	7	10	0.07	0.07/1.70 (4.12)	54 (0.27)	0.07
Melanoma	8	1	0.06	0.06/1.70 (3.53)	1995 (10.11)	2.86
Pyoderma	9	8	0.05	0.05/1.70 (2.94)	124 (0.63)	0.21
Cellulitis	10	9	0.04	0.04/1.70 (2.35)	81 (0.41)	0.17
All other skin and subcutaneous diseases	N/A <sup>e</sup>	N/A	0.12	0.12/1.70 (7.00)	N/A	N/A

<sup>a</sup>The following journals ranked by the 2019 h-index were searched: rank 1, Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology; rank 2, Journal of Investigative Dermatology; rank 3, British Journal of Dermatology; rank 4, Journal of the American Medical Association Dermatology; and rank 5, Dermatologic Surgery.

<sup>b</sup>The percentage values in this column have been directly taken from the global burden of disease paper [1]. Total skin-related percentage of global burden of disease=1.70%.

 $^{c}$ This column shows the fractions of the total skin-related global burden of disease over the total percentage of global burden of disease (1.70%) calculated for the 10 skin diseases.

<sup>d</sup>Urticaria has the same ranking as psoriasis in the calculation of the global burden of skin disease rankings [1].

<sup>e</sup>N/A: not applicable.

Figure 1. Proportion of publications by year for each global burden of skin disease condition.



Top 10 Contributors to the Global Burden of Skin Disease

XSL•FO RenderX

## Discussion

The disproportionate representation of melanoma in the literature compared to overall GBD is likely explained by the increased mortality risk of melanoma relative to other skin diseases [5,6]. Additionally, a large portion of the examined publications originated from North American– and European-based journals, which are regions with high melanoma incidence reported globally [5]. Notably, these regions have minimal incidence of scabies [1], which had the lowest representation in the literature. However, literature representation is likely multifactorial, with epidemiologic factors and research funding contributing to literature representation [7].

Although this study utilizes 2013 GBD data to guide our literature search, it does not implicate the literature gaps identified in this study. Our study was limited by the use of 1 specific search term pertaining to the individual skin diseases. We recognize that performing our search across 5 journals with a single term per skin disease could have led to possible omissions. Although a variety of terms could be searched for some skin diseases within our study, such as fungal skin diseases, we elected to use a single term for consistency across all the skin diseases studied and recognize that certain publications discussing multiple skin diseases may have been listed under more than one search term. Lastly, we acknowledge

that many of the mentioned skin diseases may be represented outside of dermatology-specific journals, which our study did not examine. Nonetheless, we offer a valuable initial survey of these skin diseases in highly read and influential dermatology literature and hope that our study will prompt future necessary work to identify potential avenues for refinement of current research efforts.

Indeed, a primary purpose of the GBD collaboration is to aid clinical researchers in determining priority of research at local, national, and global levels [1]. Herein, our study provides insight into possible future investigative pathways for dermatologic research. For example, urticaria accounts for 11.18% (0.19/1.70) of skin-related DALYs (equal to psoriasis), yet these rank sixth and second in the percentage of the total publications, respectively [8]. Thus, researchers have opportunities to further elucidate causal mechanisms and the clinical impact of less-studied dermatologic conditions as a means to guide clinical decision-making, public health initiatives, policy changes, and education for dermatologists.

Dermatologic disease is a significant source of global DALYs. Although there has been significant research focus on dermatologic malignancies, dermatitis, and psoriasis in the last 5 years, this study highlights significant gaps and opportunities that remain in skin disease literature.

## **Authors' Contributions**

KJP contributed to the project conceptualization, methodology, data collection, writing of manuscript, review, and editing. MDS contributed to the methodology, statistical analysis, review, and editing. CWR contributed to the writing of manuscript, review, and editing. CLP contributed to project conceptualization, writing of manuscript, review, and editing. MRL contributed to the methodology, statistical analysis, review, and editing. RPD contributed to the review and editing, project supervision, and project administration.

## **Conflicts of Interest**

RPD is the Editor-in-Chief of JMIR Dermatology, a Joint Coordinating Editor for Cochrane Skin, a Dermatology Section Editor for UpToDate, a Social Media Editor for the Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology, and a Podcast Editor for the Journal of Investigative Dermatology. He is a coordinating editor representative on Cochrane Council.

## References

- Karimkhani C, Dellavalle RP, Coffeng LE, Flohr C, Hay RJ, Langan SM, et al. Global skin disease morbidity and mortality: an update from the Global Burden of Disease study 2013. JAMA Dermatol 2017 May 01;153(5):406-412 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamadermatol.2016.5538] [Medline: 28249066]
- Pagoto S, Waring ME, Xu R. A call for a public health agenda for social media research. J Med Internet Res 2019 Dec 19;21(12):e16661 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/16661] [Medline: 31855185]
- El Emam K, Arbuckle L, Jonker E, Anderson K. Two h-index benchmarks for evaluating the publication performance of medical informatics researchers. J Med Internet Res 2012 Oct 18;14(5):e144 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2177] [Medline: 23079075]
- 4. Journal rankings on dermatology. Scimago Journal & Country Rank. URL: <u>https://www.scimagojr.com/journalrank.</u> <u>php?category=2708</u> [accessed 2020-09-27]
- Karimkhani C, Green AC, Nijsten T, Weinstock MA, Dellavalle RP, Naghavi M, et al. The global burden of melanoma: results from the Global Burden of Disease Study 2015. Br J Dermatol 2017 Jul;177(1):134-140 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/bjd.15510] [Medline: 28369739]
- Boyers LN, Karimkhani C, Naghavi M, Sherwood D, Margolis DJ, Hay RJ, et al. Global mortality from conditions with skin manifestations. J Am Acad Dermatol 2014 Dec;71(6):1137-1143.e17. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jaad.2014.08.022</u>] [Medline: <u>25282129</u>]

- Hagstrom EL, Patel S, Karimkhani C, Boyers LN, Williams HC, Hay RJ, et al. Comparing cutaneous research funded by the US National Institutes of Health (NIH) with the US skin disease burden. J Am Acad Dermatol 2015 Sep;73(3):383-91.e1. [doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2015.04.039] [Medline: 26051697]
- Maxim E, Aksut C, Tsoi D, Dellavalle RP. Global burden of urticaria: Insights from the 2016 Global Burden of Disease Study. J Am Acad Dermatol 2018 Sep;79(3):567-569 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2018.02.026] [Medline: 29438758]

## Abbreviations

**DALY:** disability-adjusted life year **GBD:** Global Burden of Disease

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 31.03.21; peer-reviewed by M Maymone, S Sankaranarayanan, A Naser, A Bailey; comments to author 19.04.21; revised version received 14.07.21; accepted 27.07.21; published 31.08.21. <u>Please cite as:</u> Pulsipher KJ, Szeto MD, Rundle CW, Presley CL, Laughter MR, Dellavalle RP Global Burden of Skin Disease Representation in the Literature: Bibliometric Analysis JMIR Dermatol 2021;4(2):e29282 URL: https://derma.jmir.org/2021/2/e29282 doi:10.2196/29282 PMID:<u>37632830</u>

©Kayd J Pulsipher, Mindy D Szeto, Chandler W Rundle, Colby L Presley, Melissa R Laughter, Robert P Dellavalle. Originally published in JMIR Dermatology (http://derma.jmir.org), 31.08.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Dermatology Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://derma.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



## Corrigenda and Addenda

# Correction: The Use of Person-Centered Language in Medical Research Journals Focusing on Psoriasis: Cross-sectional Analysis

Ryan Ottwell<sup>1</sup>, DO; Benjamin Heigle<sup>1</sup>, BS; Arjun K Reddy<sup>1</sup>, BA; Nicholas Sajjadi<sup>1</sup>, BS; Alexis Wirtz<sup>1</sup>, BS; Courtney Cook<sup>1</sup>, DO; Hannah Howard<sup>1</sup>, MD; Micah Hartwell<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Matt Vassar<sup>1</sup>, PhD

Oklahoma State University Center for Health Sciences, Tulsa, OK, United States

## **Corresponding Author:**

Ryan Ottwell, DO Oklahoma State University Center for Health Sciences 1111 W 17th Street Tulsa, OK, 74107-1898 United States Phone: 1 (918) 582 1972 Email: ryan.ottwell@okstate.edu

## **Related Article:**

Correction of: https://derma.jmir.org/2021/1/e28415

## (JMIR Dermatol 2021;4(2):e31902) doi:10.2196/31902

In "The Use of Person-Centered Language in Medical Research Matt Vassar: 0000-0003-2859-6152 Journals Focusing on Psoriasis: Cross-sectional Analysis" (JMIR The correction will appear in the online version of the paper on Dermatol 2021;4(1):e28415) two errors were noted. the JMIR Publications website on July 16, 2021, together with In the originally published manuscript, incorrect ORCID the publication of this correction notice. Because this was made numbers were listed for authors Benjamin Heigle and Matt after submission to PubMed, PubMed Central, and other full-text Vassar. The ORCID numbers have been corrected as follows: repositories, the corrected article has also been resubmitted to

Benjamin Heigle: 0000-0003-3724-0756

those repositories.

Submitted 08.07.21; this is a non-peer-reviewed article; accepted 08.07.21; published 16.07.21. Please cite as: Ottwell R, Heigle B, Reddy AK, Sajjadi N, Wirtz A, Cook C, Howard H, Hartwell M, Vassar M Correction: The Use of Person-Centered Language in Medical Research Journals Focusing on Psoriasis: Cross-sectional Analysis JMIR Dermatol 2021;4(2):e31902 URL: https://derma.jmir.org/2021/2/e31902 doi:<u>10.2196/31902</u> PMID: 37632850

©Ryan Ottwell, Benjamin Heigle, Arjun K Reddy, Nicholas Sajjadi, Alexis Wirtz, Courtney Cook, Hannah Howard, Micah Hartwell, Matt Vassar. Originally published in JMIR Dermatology (http://derma.jmir.org), 16.07.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Dermatology Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://derma.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

**Original Paper** 

# Publication Trends and Their Relationship With Academic Success Among Dermatology Residents: Cross-sectional Analysis

J Michael Anderson<sup>1</sup>, BSc; David Wenger<sup>1</sup>, BSc; Austin L Johnson<sup>1</sup>, BSc; Corbin Walters<sup>1</sup>, BSc; Mopileola Tomi Adewumi<sup>1</sup>, MHA; Lindy Esmond<sup>1</sup>, BSc; Jourdan Waddell<sup>1</sup>, MPH; Matt Vassar<sup>1</sup>, PhD

Oklahoma State University Center for Health Sciences, Tulsa, OK, United States

## **Corresponding Author:**

J Michael Anderson, BSc Oklahoma State University Center for Health Sciences 1111 W 17th St Tulsa, OK, 74107 United States Phone: 1 19185218774 Email: jande31@okstate.edu

## Abstract

Background: Involvement in scholarly activities is considered to be one of the foundational pillars of medical education.

**Objective:** This study aims to investigate publication rates before, during, and after residency to determine whether research productivity throughout medical training correlates with future academic success and research involvement.

**Methods:** We successfully identified a list of 296 graduates from 25 US dermatology residency programs from the years 2013-2015. The publication history for each graduate was compiled using Scopus, PubMed, and Google Scholar. The Pearson correlation test and linear regression were used to assess the relationship between research productivity and continued academic success after residency graduation.

**Results:** Before residency, graduates published a mean of 1.9 (SD 3.5) total publications and a mean of 0.88 (SD 1.5) first-author publications. During residency, graduates published a mean of 2.7 (SD 3.6) total publications and a mean of 1.39 (SD 2.0) first-author publications. Graduates who pursued a fellowship had more total publications ( $t_{294}$ =-4.0; *P*<.001), more first-author publications ( $t_{294}$ =-3.9; *P*<.001), and a higher h-index ( $t_{294}$ =-3.8; *P*=.002). Graduates who chose to pursue careers in academic medicine had more mean total publications ( $t_{294}$ =-6.9; *P*<.001). Graduates with one or more first-author publications before residency were 1.3 times more likely to pursue a career in academic medicine (adjusted odds ratio 1.3, 95% CI 1.1-1.5). Graduates who pursued a fellowship were also 1.9 times more likely to pursue a career in academic medicine (adjusted odds ratio 1.3, 95% CI 1.2-3.2).

**Conclusions:** Our results suggest that research productivity before and during residency training are potential markers for continued academic success and research involvement after completing dermatology residency training.

(JMIR Dermatol 2021;4(2):e30015) doi:10.2196/30015

## **KEYWORDS**

publication trends; dermatology residency; academic medicine

## Introduction

## Background

RenderX

Successful matching into selective residency programs, such as dermatology, is multifactorial in nature and requires thoughtful planning by medical students to ensure that they have a competitive, well-rounded application. Previous studies suggest that higher medical licensing exam scores (eg, United States Medical Licensing Exam [USMLE] step 1 and step 2

```
https://derma.jmir.org/2021/2/e30015
```

clinical knowledge scores), honor society memberships, and medical school rankings are associated with an increased likelihood of successfully matching into a residency program [1,2]. Beyond these objective measures, an applicant's research experiences—in the form of abstracts, presentations, and peer-reviewed publications—are an important component in the residency application process [3]. A 2011 survey of medical school graduates who successfully matched into a dermatology residency program found that >85% of graduates listed publications on their Electronic Residency Application Service

application. In this cohort of graduates, the average number of publications before matching was >5 total publications per graduate. As the importance placed on early research exposure has increased, more medical students may elect to participate in research during medical school to enhance their residency application, given that research is a core requirement placed on residency programs and program coordinators to maintain the program's accreditation status [4].

Since its conception in 1994, the Accreditation Council for Graduate Medical Education (ACGME) [5] has required research participation by residency programs and their residents during training. These requirements mandate that residency programs educate residents on the "basic principles of scientific inquiry, including how research is designed, conducted, evaluated, explained to patients, and applied to patient care" [6] and that residents must then engage in scholarly activities as part of their training. Despite mandating these scholarly requirements for accreditation, previous studies have shown that residency programs often fall short of meeting such requirements [7]. Although efforts have been made to determine the level of research participation by residents in other medical specialties [8-10], little is known regarding the extent to which dermatology residents participate in scholarly activities.

Here, we sought to identify whether a correlation exists between research productivity of dermatology residency graduates with continued academic successes and research involvement (eg, careers in academic medicine vs private practice) or whether those with higher research output elected to pursue a fellowship upon completion of residency training. Thus, we explore current research practices and publication trends of dermatology residency graduates to determine whether research efforts made during medical training are associated with future academic achievements (in the form of peer-reviewed publications). Furthermore, we assess whether higher research output during residency correlated with the pursuit of fellowship training or a career in academic medicine.

## Objectives

Our primary objectives are to (1) quantify the number of peer-reviewed publications per resident during the periods before, during, and after residency training and (2) determine whether increased research productivity and academic success (eg, number of peer-reviewed publications and individual h-index scores) are associated with future academic production (eg, careers in academic medicine vs private practice).

## Methods

## **Residency Program Selection**

We used the Doximity Residency Navigator to generate our sample of dermatology residency programs. The Doximity residency ranking is based on subjective reviews of programs that combine objective data, such as alumni research output and board examination pass rate, with subjective data, including current and graduate resident satisfaction scores and *reputation data*, which is collected from past and present residents on an annual basis [11].

```
https://derma.jmir.org/2021/2/e30015
```

To identify top US dermatology residency programs and graduates, we used a search strategy similar to that performed by Yang et al [8]. This process entailed one of the authors (JMA) searching the 2019-2020 Doximity Residency Navigator using the *Dermatology* specialty search tool. Next, the programs were sorted as A-Z and exported to a Microsoft Excel document. Finally, we assigned a random number to each residency program using Microsoft Excel's random number generator.

After randomization, we selected the first 50 residency programs to be included in our sample. Next, we searched for the names of residency graduates (graduating in the years 2013, 2014, and 2015) on each program's institutional website. If this search was unsuccessful, we searched for the name and email address of each residency coordinator using the advanced program search on the ACGME website [12]. We attempted to retrieve a list of residency graduates from each program coordinator. This email correspondence, which has been used in previous studies [13,14], was included to increase the cogency of our methodology. Furthermore, we used the same standardized email process, which entailed repeating the attempted email correspondence one time per week for 3 consecutive weeks, as used in a systematic review by Song et al [15]. Finally, we allotted program coordinators 8 weeks from the date of the initial email to respond before deeming that program noncontactable. If no response was received or if the email was returned as inactive, the program was excluded, and a subsequent program was randomly selected from the original list of residency programs, and the above process was repeated until a 50% inclusion rate was met.

## Training

To ensure consistency among investigators, 3 of the authors (DW, LE, and JW) completed in-person training before data extraction. During this training session, the following items were addressed and discussed at length: (1) description of study design and objectives, (2) a thorough review of the study protocol, (3) step-by-step instructions on how to use the standardized Google form for extraction, and (4) discussion of specific data points to be extracted. The Google form was pilot-tested by each investigator during training with the help of 3 residency graduates and their publication history as examples. After pilot testing, data were extracted for the next 10 graduates in our sample. Responses were subsequently discussed, and any discrepancies among investigators were resolved before proceeding to the remaining list of graduates.

## **Screening and Data Extraction**

After training, 3 of the authors (DW, LE, and JW) extracted data in triplicate, independent, and blinded fashion. Extraction began on October 5, 2019, and concluded on September 10, 2020. To obtain a comprehensive publication history, we searched for each graduate on Scopus using the following demographic information: (1) full name, (2) institution, (3) residency program, (4) fellowship program, and (5) area of interest (dermatology). The list of publications returned for each graduate using this information was subsequently compared with the list of publications generated by searching for authors (using the same demographic information as above) on PubMed and Google Scholar searches. Results from the three individual

XSL•FO RenderX

searches were compared to ensure an accurate record of total publications per resident. More specifically, a publication was included only if it was included in the search return for all three databases. After we compiled a list of publications for each graduate, we extracted the following information from each publication: (1) type of publication, (2) year of publication, and (3) graduate affiliation at the time of publication. In addition, the author h-index was recorded (Figure 1).

Figure 1. Stepwise approach used to identify peer-reviewed publications for dermatology residency graduates.



## **Data Analysis**

Data were separated into the following three cohorts of time: before residency (including undergraduate and medical school education), during residency (4 years in duration in the United States), and after residency (including fellowship training, if applicable). The decision was made to include a 6-month overlap period to capture publications that were likely initiated and completed during the previous period. For example, publications that were published in the first 6 months of residency were classified as *before residency* as these studies were likely started during the *before residency* time frame, given the length of time required to conduct a research project, complete the peer review process, and see a research question through to publication. The results were presented as frequencies and percentages. We used a Pearson product coefficient to examine the relationships among each publication time frame (before, during, and after

residency). An independent sample two-tailed t test was used to compare the mean number of publications for graduates who elected to enter academic medicine with those who entered private practice after completing their residency training. We also used an independent sample two-tailed t test to compare the mean number of publications between those who pursued fellowship training with those who did not. Binary logistic regression was used to analyze the relationship between career type (academic or private practice) and total author publications and fellowships, controlling for gender. Analyses were performed using STATA 15.1 (StataCorp, LLC).

## Results

## Overview

A total of 100 US dermatology programs were found on the Doximity website. Of the 50 randomly sampled programs, we were able to locate a list of graduates for 17 (34%) programs using institutional websites. For the remaining 66% (33/50)

Figure 2. Program and resident inclusion flowchart.

programs, we attempted to obtain this list via email from each program coordinator. An additional 24% (8/33) programs provided a complete list of residency graduates via email correspondence. The remaining 76% (25/33) programs did not respond by the end of the 8-week time frame. Of the 50 sampled programs, 25 (50%) dermatology residency programs were included in total (Figure 2).



## **Subject and Publication Characteristics**

A total of 296 graduates were included in our final sample. Most graduates were female (222/296, 75%). Approximately 35.5% (105/296) graduates pursued a fellowship, with the most common being Mohs surgery (27/105, 25.7%), pediatric dermatology (20/105, 19%), dermatopathology (16/105, 15.2%),

and procedural dermatology (15/105, 14.3%). Approximately 25% (74/296) of graduates entered academic medicine. Of the 105 graduates who pursued fellowship training, 45 (42.9%) also went on to pursue a career in academic medicine. The average h-index among all residency graduates was 3.6 (range 0-24; Table 1).



Table 1. Resident graduate sample characteristics (N=296).

Characteristics	Value, n (%, 95% CI)
Sex	
Female	222 (75, 70.1 to 79.9)
Male	74 (25, 20.1 to 29.9)
Medical degree obtained	
$MD^{a}$	295 (99.7, 99 to 100.3)
$\mathrm{DO}^{\mathrm{b}}$	1 (0.3, -0.3 to 0.9)
Current setting of practice	
Private	222 (75, 70.1 to 79.9)
Academic	74 (25, 20.1 to 29.9)
Pursued fellowship	
No	191 (64.5, 59.1 to 70)
Yes	105 (35.5, 30 to 40.9)
Fellowships (n=105)	
Mohs surgery	27 (25.7, 17.4 to 34.1)
Pediatric dermatology	20 (19, 11.5 to 26.6)
Dermatopathology	16 (15.2, 8.4 to 22.1)
Procedural dermatology	15 (14.3, 7.6 to 21)
Clinical research	9 (8.6, 3.2 to 13.9)
Cutaneous oncology or melanoma	7 (6.7, 1.9 to 11.4)
Laser and aesthetic surgery	4 (3.8, 0.1 to 7.5)
Cosmetic dermatology	3 (2.9, -0.3 to 6)
Rheumatology	3 (2.9, -0.3 to 6)
Biotechnology	1 (0.9, -0.9 to 2.8)
h-index	
0	50 (16.9, 12.6 to 21.2)
1-5	183 (61.8, 56.3 to 67.4)
6-10	44 (14.9, 10.8 to 18.9)
11-15	13 (4.4, 2.1 to 6.7)
>15	6 (2, 0.4 to 3.6)
Number of publications per resident	
0	39 (13.2, 9.3 to 17)
1-5	129 (43.6, 37.9 to 49.2)
6-10	53 (17.9, 13.5 to 22.3)
11-15	27 (9.1, 5.8 to 12.4)
16-20	15 (5.1, 2.6 to 7.6)
21-25	12 (4.1, 1.8 to 6.3)
26-30	8 (2.7, 0.8 to 4.6)
>30	13 (4.4, 2.1 to 6.7)

<sup>a</sup>MD: doctor of medicine.

<sup>b</sup>DO: doctor of osteopathic medicine.



## **Publications**

Before residency, graduates had a mean of 1.9 (SD 3.5) total publications and a mean of 0.88 (SD 1.5) first-author publications. During residency, graduates had a mean of 2.7 (SD 3.6) total publications and a mean of 1.39 (SD 2.0) first-author publications (Table 2). Residents who graduated in 2013 produced a total of 889 (9.6 publications per person) publications, 2014 graduates produced 803 (7.44 per person) publications. A moderate positive correlation existed between the number of publications obtained before and during residency (r=0.35) and the number of publications obtained during

residency and after residency training (r=0.37). A weak correlation was present between publications before residency and total publications after residency (r=0.19).

Graduates who pursued a fellowship had more total publications ( $t_{294}$ =-4.0; *P*<.001), first-author publications ( $t_{294}$ =-3.9; *P*<.001), and higher h-index ( $t_{294}$ =-3.8; *P*=.002) than graduates who did not pursue fellowship training. In a similar manner, we found that graduates who chose to go into academic medicine had a higher number of mean total publications ( $t_{294}$ =-7.5; *P*<.001), first-author publications ( $t_{294}$ =-5.9; *P*<.001), and mean h-index ( $t_{294}$ =-6.9; *P*<.001) than those going into private practice (Table 3).

Table 2. Mean and median publications per resident before, during, and after completion of residency training.

Author position	Value, mean (SD)	Value, median (IQR)	Total publications among all residents, n (%)
Any author position	8.3 (1.6)	5 (1-11)	2445 (100)
Before	1.9 (0.40)	1 (0-2)	577 (23.59)
During	2.7 (0.54)	2 (0-4)	800 (32.72)
After	3.6 (1.02)	1 (0-4)	1068 (43.68)
First-author position	3.14 (0.52)	0 (0-5)	965 (100)
Before	0.9 (0.18)	0.9 (0-1)	261 (27.05)
During	1.4 (0.29)	1 (0-2)	411 (42.59)
After	1 (0.25)	0 (0-1)	293 (30.36)

Table 3. Association between research productivity and pursuit of fellowship training, career in academic medicine, and gender (N=296).

		Total publications			Total first-author publications			h-index		
		Value, mean (SD)	t test ( $df$ )	P value	Value, mean (SD)	t test (df)	P value	Value, mean (SD)	t test (df)	P value
All	residency gradua	ates								
	Overall	8.3 (1.2)	N/A <sup>a</sup>	N/A <sup>·</sup>	1.2 (0.23)	N/A <sup>·</sup>	N/A	3.7 (0.45)	N/A <sup>·</sup>	N/A <sup>·</sup>
Fel	lowship									
	Yes	11.5 (2.3)	-4.0 (104)	<.001 <sup>b</sup>	4.4 (0.35)	-3.9 (104)	<.001 <sup>b</sup>	4.8 (0.79)	-3.8 (104)	.002 <sup>b</sup>
	No	6.5 (1.3)	-4.0 (190)	<.001 <sup>b</sup>	2.6 (0.29)	-3.9 (190)	<.001 <sup>b</sup>	3 (0.53)	-3.8 (190)	.002 <sup>b</sup>
Ca	reer path									
	Academic medicine	14.2 (1.7)	-7.5 (197)	<.001 <sup>b</sup>	5 (0.48)	-5.9 (197)	<.001 <sup>b</sup>	5.8 (0.99)	-6.9 (197)	<.001 <sup>b</sup>
	Private practice	5.3 (0.9)	-7.5 (97)	<.001 <sup>b</sup>	2.4 (0.24)	-5.9 (97)	<.001 <sup>b</sup>	2.6 (0.40)	-6.9 (97)	<.001 <sup>b</sup>
Ge	nder									
	Male	10 (2.7)	-1.7 (73)	.09	3.9 (0.61)	-1.7 (73)	.09	3.9 (0.98)	-0.78 (73)	.44
	Female	7.7 (1.3)	-1.7 (221)	.09	3 (0.23)	-1.7 (221)	.09	3.5 (0.51)	-0.78 (221)	.44

<sup>a</sup>N/A: not applicable.

<sup>b</sup>Statistical significance was set at *P*<.005.

Our logistic regression model examined the relationship between first-author publications before residency and pursuit of fellowship training, as well as whether the graduate went into academic medicine. Graduates with one or more first-author publications were 1.3 times more likely to pursue a career in academic medicine than those with no first-author publications before residency (adjusted odds ratio 1.3, 95% CI 1.1-1.5). Graduates who pursued a fellowship were also 1.9 times more likely to enter into a career in academic medicine than those who did not pursue a fellowship (adjusted odds ratio 1.9, 95% CI 1.2-3.2).

https://derma.jmir.org/2021/2/e30015

## Discussion

## **Principal Findings**

Our results indicate that the total number of publications, first-author publications, and author h-index scores are highly associated with the pursuit of fellowship training, as well as entering into academic medicine following completion of dermatology residency training. Of the graduates included in our sample, over one-third elected to pursue a career in academic medicine, and one-third pursued fellowship training upon graduation. Residency graduates with at least one first-author publication before starting residency were more likely to pursue a career in academic medicine and continue their postgraduate education through fellowship subspecialty training. This emphasis on research appears to carry over into residency training, as we observed that the highest mean research output among the included dermatology graduates occurred during their years of residency training. Here, we discuss the implications that our findings may have on the dermatology match process for prospective applicants, as well as discuss how research throughout medical training may help open doors to future career opportunities and specialized fellowship training.

Our results demonstrate that dermatology residents published, on average, 2.7 (SD 0.54) articles during residency, with an average of 1.3 (SD 0.29) first-author publications. The research productivity among residents included in our sample is similar to that of residents in other fields [8,9,16]. These results are likely attributable to a recent push by the ACGME and individual residency locations to increase resident exposure to research activities [17,18]. Research involvement during residency promotes a well-rounded educational experience during residency-with a particular focus on evidence-based medicine-thereby strengthening resident confidence in research design and methodology, and it has been shown to be associated with higher clinical competency scores [19]. Stevenson et al [20] concluded that residency programs offering protected research time, established research curricula, and providing a specialized research track had increased residency scholarly activity, including the total number of publications. Perhaps integrating research into a program's curriculum will not only ensure that the program is compliant with ACGME standards but also provide an opportunity for residents to establish a track record of scholarly successes. This increased research output during residency makes graduates more competitive for fellowship training positions, increases the likelihood of practicing in academia, and supports mentorship and networking opportunities [21].

Research productivity in the form of total publications, first-author publications, and higher author h-index scores was associated with the pursuit of fellowship training and academic medicine positions after completion of residency training. A recent study in the field of surgical oncology indicates that, along with research, factors such as attending a university-based residency, attending a residency associated with fellowship programs, and attending an allopathic medical school have an effect on matching into a fellowship [22]. Our results suggest that research during residency is associated with an increased

```
https://derma.jmir.org/2021/2/e30015
```

likelihood of pursuing fellowship training in dermatology after completion of residency training. Although a higher total number of publications was observed among residents who pursued fellowship positions, previous research showing more career publications among residents who pursued additional training is conflicting. For example, Yang et al [8] found a strong association between the number of publications of urology residents during and after residency training. In contrast, Prasad et al [23] found that the number of total publications is a poor predictor of future publication among internal medicine residency graduates who pursue fellowship training. These contrasting findings may be the result of varying expectations of scholarly involvement among medical specialties. Despite the disconnect between early scholarly activity and continued research production among specialties, program directors (PDs) may still place emphasis on scholarly involvement when evaluating residency applicants.

Although PDs have many responsibilities, some of the key responsibilities include developing, overseeing, and improving their residency program's education [24], as well as making crucial decisions in selecting residents who are most likely to be successful in their respective fields. In fields such as dermatology, where applicants outnumber available residency positions [25], PDs have historically relied on several metrics to stratify applicants. A major metric heavily considered by dermatology PDs for interview selection is the USMLE step 1 score [26]. Recently, the USMLE step 1 scoring reporting system changed from a 3-digit official score to a pass or fail system [27]. This modification of the step 1 scoring indicates that PDs will rely on other objective measures to stratify qualified applicants for interviews in the future. A potential stratification measure is research productivity in medical schools. For example, a recent survey of PDs suggests an increasing emphasis on research production as a potential stratification model for applicant selection [28]. Although previous studies have shown that other measures, including letters of recommendation, performance on audition clerkship rotations, and scholarships in medical school, are associated with success in residency training [29], the skills involved in research production are an underpinning of traits associated with good clinical practice. For example, participation in research has been shown to increase ethical awareness [30], teamwork and communication skills [31], and the ability to critically evaluate and synthesize new evidence [32], all of which are essential to becoming a competent physician.

In the 2018 match, dermatology yielded one of the lowest match percentages, with only 81.6% of applicants successfully matching, second only to interventional radiology [25]. Osteopathic and international medical graduates have historically low rates of matching competitive specialties, such as dermatology [33,34]. A common strategy taken by medical students, especially osteopathic and international medical graduates medical students who have lower match rates in dermatology programs compared with their allopathic counterparts, is to complete an extra research year between graduating medical school and applying for residency positions to increase their competitiveness. As higher research productivity during preclinical training years has been shown

XSL•FO RenderX

to increase the chances of successfully matching into a dermatology program [35], research remains one of the modifiable factors for prospective residency applicants. Of note, it is important for PDs to take into account potential limitations to research resources available to each applicant depending on their background or school attended. As an alternative to considering peer-reviewed publications as the sole measure of research success, we contend that PDs should also place emphasis on applicants' enthusiasm and desire to participate in research. For instance, applicants may seek out opportunities that may have not resulted in a peer-reviewed publication but still provided the opportunity to develop a research question, conceptualize and implement a study protocol, and demonstrate the ability to think critically while attempting to answer critical research questions.

Our study has both strengths and limitations. In regard to the limitations, a metric used for comparing research production was the author h-index. Although the h-index is considered a robust metric, it does not account for authorship order, which may limit our ability to determine the extent of an author's involvement in the associated research projects [36]. In addition, the cross-sectional nature of our study prevents the generalization of our results to other periods or fields of medicine. Finally, although extensive efforts were made to ensure the inclusion of all authors and their associated publications, we cannot ensure that some authors were missed and therefore, not included in our final statistical analysis. Similarly, our sample included one-quarter of dermatology residency programs listed on the Doximity website. The selection of a different time frame or medical specialty may yield varying results. In regard to strengths, data extraction was conducted in a duplicate and masked fashion, which is considered the gold standard by the Cochrane collaboration [37]. The second strength is the transparent and reproducible nature of our study. For ensuring transparency, our protocol was published in the Open Science Framework before commencing the study.

## Conclusions

Our results highlight research productivity before and during residency training as a potential marker for continued academic success in the field of dermatology. In addition, early scholarly involvement may be associated with successful matching into competitive subspecialty fellowships within the field of dermatology, as well as the pursuit of careers in academic medicine.

## **Authors' Contributions**

Conception or design of the work, data analysis and interpretation, drafting of the manuscript, critical revision of the manuscript were carried out by JMA. Data collection, data analysis and interpretation, drafting of the manuscript, critical revision of the manuscript, and final approval of the manuscript were carried out by DW. Drafting of the manuscript, critical revision of the manuscript, and final approval of the manuscript were carried out by CW. Conception or design of the work, data analysis and interpretation, critical revision of the manuscript, and final approval of the manuscript were carried out by ALJ. Drafting of the manuscript, critical revision of the manuscript, and final approval of the manuscript were carried out by MTA. Data collection, critical revision of the manuscript, and final approval of the manuscript were carried out by JW and LE. Conception or design of the work, critical revision of the manuscript, and final approval of the manuscript were carried out by JW and LE. Conception or design of the work, critical revision of the manuscript, and final approval of the manuscript were carried out by MV.

## **Conflicts of Interest**

MV reports grant funding from the National Institutes of Health, the US Office of Research Integrity, and the Oklahoma Center for the Advancement of Science and Technology, all outside the present work. All other authors have nothing to report.

## References

- Hebert JC. Characteristics of highly ranked applicants to general surgery residency programs: are we assessing the right criteria?: comment on "Characteristics of highly ranked applicants to general surgery residency programs". JAMA Surg 2013 May;148(5):418. [doi: 10.1001/jamasurg.2013.2333] [Medline: 23677404]
- 2. Rinard JR, Mahabir RC. Successfully matching into surgical specialties: an analysis of national resident matching program data. J Grad Med Educ 2010 Sep;2(3):316-321 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4300/JGME-D-09-00020.1] [Medline: 21976075]
- Melendez MM, Xu X, Sexton TR, Shapiro MJ, Mohan EP. The importance of basic science and clinical research as a selection criterion for general surgery residency programs. J Surg Educ 2008;65(2):151-154. [doi: 10.1016/j.jsurg.2007.08.009] [Medline: 18439541]
- Kaplan AB, Riedy KN, Grundfast KM. Increasing competitiveness for an otolaryngology residency: where we are and concerns about the future. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2015 Nov;153(5):699-701. [doi: <u>10.1177/0194599815593734</u>] [Medline: <u>26187905</u>]
- 5. Accreditation Council of Graduate Medical Education. URL: <u>https://www.acgme.org/</u> [accessed 2019-09-24]
- 6. Common program requirements. Accreditation Council for Graduate Medical Education. 2019. URL: <u>https://www.acgme.org/</u> <u>What-We-Do/Accreditation/Common-Program-Requirements</u> [accessed 2019-09-23]
- Beasley BW, Scrase DR, Schultz HJ. Determining the predictors of internal medicine residency accreditation: what they do (not what they say). Acad Med 2002 Mar;77(3):238-246. [doi: <u>10.1097/00001888-200203000-00014</u>] [Medline: <u>11891164</u>]

https://derma.jmir.org/2021/2/e30015

- Yang G, Zaid UB, Erickson BA, Blaschko SD, Carroll PR, Breyer BN. Urology resident publication output and its relationship to future academic achievement. J Urol 2011 Feb;185(2):642-646 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.juro.2010.09.097] [Medline: 21168863]
- 9. Prasad V, Rho J, Selvaraj S, Toomey C, Vandross A, Ho N. Publication trends among internal medicine residents and graduates. Am J Med 2012 Sep;125(9):939-944. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.amjmed.2012.05.014</u>] [Medline: <u>22938929</u>]
- 10. Thangamathesvaran L, M Patel N, Siddiqui SH, Singh R, Wayne R, Kılıç S, et al. The otolaryngology match: a bibliometric analysis of 222 first-year residents. Laryngoscope 2019 Jul;129(7):1561-1566. [doi: 10.1002/lary.27460] [Medline: 30208207]
- 11. Residency navigator. Doximity. URL: <u>https://residency.doximity.com</u> [accessed 2019-09-23]
- 12. Accreditation Council for Graduate Medical Education (ACGME) Public. ACGME. URL: <u>https://apps.acgme-i.org/ads/</u> <u>Public</u> [accessed 2019-09-23]
- Mullan RJ, Flynn DN, Carlberg B, Tleyjeh IM, Kamath CC, LaBella ML, et al. Systematic reviewers commonly contact study authors but do so with limited rigor. J Clin Epidemiol 2009 Feb;62(2):138-142. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jclinepi.2008.08.002</u>] [Medline: <u>19013767</u>]
- 14. Meursinge Reynders R, Ladu L, Di Girolamo N. Contacting of authors by systematic reviewers: protocol for a cross-sectional study and a survey. Syst Rev 2017 Dec 08;6(1):249 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13643-017-0643-z] [Medline: 29216930]
- 15. Song F, Hooper L, Loke Y. Publication bias: what is it? How do we measure it? How do we avoid it? Open Access J Clin Trials 2013 Jul 4;2013:71-81. [doi: 10.2147/OAJCT.S34419]
- Rowley JP, Sindhu KK, Smith WH, Nehlsen AD, Smith AW, Lehrer EJ, et al. Radiation oncology resident research productivity in the United States: 2015 to 2019. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2021 Mar 15;109(4):1111-1118. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijrobp.2020.10.020] [Medline: <u>33223072</u>]
- 17. Park KK. Enhancing dermatology education: resident presentation opportunities. Cutis 2015 Sep;96(3):E21-E22. [Medline: 26562279]
- Wagner RF, Raimer SS, Kelly BC. Incorporating resident research into the dermatology residency program. Adv Med Educ Pract 2013 Apr 23;4:77-81 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2147/AMEP.S44389] [Medline: 23901305]
- Kohlwes RJ, Shunk RL, Avins A, Garber J, Bent S, Shlipak MG. The PRIME curriculum. Clinical research training during residency. J Gen Intern Med 2006 May;21(5):506-509 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1525-1497.2006.00438.x</u>] [Medline: <u>16704399</u>]
- Stevenson MD, Smigielski EM, Naifeh MM, Abramson EL, Todd C, Li ST. Increasing scholarly activity productivity during residency: a systematic review. Acad Med 2017 Feb;92(2):250-266. [doi: <u>10.1097/ACM.00000000001169</u>] [Medline: <u>27049539</u>]
- Jayakumar KL, Samimi SS. Trends in US dermatology residency and fellowship programs and positions, 2006 to 2016. J Am Acad Dermatol 2018 Apr;78(4):813-815. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jaad.2017.09.072</u>] [Medline: <u>29024732</u>]
- 22. Wach MM, Ruff SM, Ayabe RI, Martin SP, Diggs LP, Alexander IA, et al. An examination of applicants and factors associated with matriculation to complex general surgical oncology fellowship training programs. Ann Surg Oncol 2018 Nov;25(12):3436-3442 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1245/s10434-018-6674-4] [Medline: 30054823]
- 23. Prasad V, Rho J, Selvaraj S, Cheung M, Vandross A, Ho N. Can a resident's publication record predict fellowship publications? PLoS One 2014 Mar 21;9(3):e90140 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0090140] [Medline: 24658088]
- 24. Lypson M, Simpson D. It all starts and ends with the program director. J Grad Med Educ 2011 Jun;3(2):261-263 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4300/JGME-03-02-33] [Medline: 22655155]
- 25. Main residency match data and reports. National Resident Matching Program. URL: <u>https://www.nrmp.org/</u> <u>main-residency-match-data/</u> [accessed 2021-04-15]
- 26. National Resident Matching Program, Data Release and Research Committee: Results of the 2016 NRMP Program Director Survey. National Resident Matching Program. 2016. URL: <u>https://www.nrmp.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/NRMP-2016-Program-Director-Survey.pdf</u> [accessed 2021-09-06]
- 27. InCUS Invitational Conference on USMLE Scoring. United States Medical Licensing Examination. URL: <u>http://www.usmle.org/incus/</u> [accessed 2021-04-17]
- 28. Huq S, Khalafallah AM, Botros D, Jimenez AE, Lam S, Huang J, et al. Perceived impact of USMLE Step 1 pass/fail scoring change on neurosurgery: program director survey. J Neurosurg 2020 Jun 19:1-8. [doi: <u>10.3171/2020.4.JNS20748</u>] [Medline: <u>32559749</u>]
- 29. Naylor RA, Reisch JS, Valentine RJ. Factors related to attrition in surgery residency based on application data. Arch Surg 2008 Jul;143(7):647-51; discussion 651. [doi: 10.1001/archsurg.143.7.647] [Medline: 18645106]
- 30. del Carmen MG, Joffe S. Informed consent for medical treatment and research: a review. Oncologist 2005 Sep;10(8):636-641 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1634/theoncologist.10-8-636] [Medline: 16177288]
- 31. Laidlaw A, Aiton J, Struthers J, Guild S. Developing research skills in medical students: AMEE Guide No. 69. Med Teach 2012;34(9):e754-e771. [doi: 10.3109/0142159X.2012.704438] [Medline: 22905661]
- 32. Akobeng AK. Understanding systematic reviews and meta-analysis. Arch Dis Child 2005 Aug;90(8):845-848 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/adc.2004.058230] [Medline: 16040886]

- Craig E, Brotzman E, Farthing B, Giesey R, Lloyd J. Poor match rates of osteopathic applicants into ACGME dermatology and other competitive specialties. J Osteopath Med 2021 Mar 01;121(3):281-286 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1515/jom-2020-0202] [Medline: 33635959]
- 34. Ngaage L, Ge S, Gao C, Ha M, Rosen C, Siegel G, et al. Trends in the academic credentials of matched dermatology residency applicants. Cureus 2020 Dec 31;12(12):e12411 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7759/cureus.12411] [Medline: 33659103]
- 35. Stratman EJ, Ness RM. Factors associated with successful matching to dermatology residency programs by reapplicants and other applicants who previously graduated from medical school. Arch Dermatol 2011 Feb;147(2):196-202. [doi: 10.1001/archdermatol.2010.303] [Medline: 20956631]
- 36. Kreiner G. The slavery of the h-index-measuring the unmeasurable. Front Hum Neurosci 2016 Nov;10:556 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2016.00556] [Medline: 27853429]
- Cumpston M, Li T, Page MJ, Chandler J, Welch VA, Higgins JP, et al. Updated guidance for trusted systematic reviews: a new edition of the Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2019 Oct 03;10:ED000142. [doi: 10.1002/14651858.ED000142] [Medline: <u>31643080</u>]

## Abbreviations

ACGME: Accreditation Council for Graduate Medical Education PD: program director USMLE: United States Medical Licensing Exam

Edited by R Dellavalle, T Sivesind; submitted 28.04.21; peer-reviewed by E O'Connor, E Parker; comments to author 15.06.21; revised version received 19.07.21; accepted 28.07.21; published 06.10.21.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Anderson JM, Wenger D, Johnson AL, Walters C, Adewumi MT, Esmond L, Waddell J, Vassar M Publication Trends and Their Relationship With Academic Success Among Dermatology Residents: Cross-sectional Analysis JMIR Dermatol 2021;4(2):e30015 URL: <u>https://derma.jmir.org/2021/2/e30015</u> doi:10.2196/30015 PMID:<u>37632805</u>

©J Michael Anderson, David Wenger, Austin L Johnson, Corbin Walters, Mopileola Tomi Adewumi, Lindy Esmond, Jourdan Waddell, Matt Vassar. Originally published in JMIR Dermatology (http://derma.jmir.org), 06.10.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Dermatology Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://derma.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



## **Original Paper**

# Skin of Color Representation on Wikipedia: Cross-sectional Analysis

William Kim<sup>1</sup>, MA, BSc; Sophia M Wolfe<sup>1</sup>, BSc; Caterina Zagona-Prizio<sup>1</sup>, BSc; Robert P Dellavalle<sup>1,2,3</sup>, MD, PhD, MSPH

<sup>1</sup>University of Colorado School of Medicine, Aurora, CO, United States

<sup>2</sup>Dermatology Service, Rocky Mountain Regional VA Medical Center, Eastern Colorado Health Care System, Aurora, CO, United States <sup>3</sup>Colorado School of Public Health, Aurora, CO, United States

## **Corresponding Author:**

William Kim, MA, BSc University of Colorado School of Medicine 13001 E 17th Pl Aurora, CO, 80045 United States Phone: 1 562 900 3006 Email: william.kim@cuanschutz.edu

## Abstract

**Background:** Wikipedia is one of the most popular websites and may be a go-to source of health and dermatology education for the general population. Prior research indicates poor skin of color (SOC) photo representation in printed dermatology textbooks and online medical websites, but there has been no such assessment performed to determine whether this discrepancy also exists for Wikipedia.

**Objective:** The aim of this study was to investigate the number and quality of SOC photos included in Wikipedia's skin disease pages and to explore the possible ramifications of these findings.

**Methods:** Photos of skin diseases from Wikipedia's "List of Skin Conditions" were assigned by three independent raters as SOC or non-SOC according to the Fitzpatrick system, and were given a quality rating (1-3) based on sharpness, size/resolution, and lighting/exposure.

**Results:** We identified 421 skin disease Wikipedia pages and 949 images that met our inclusion criteria. Within these pages, 20.7% of images of skin diseases (196 of 949 images) were SOC and 79.3% (753 of 949 images) were non-SOC (P<.001). There was no difference in the average quality for SOC (2.05) and non-SOC (2.03) images (P=.81). However, the photo quality criteria utilized (sharpness, size/resolution, and lighting/exposure) did not capture all aspects of photo quality. Another limitation of this analysis is that the Fitzpatrick skin typing system is prone to subjectivity and was not originally intended to be utilized as a non-self SOC metric.

**Conclusions:** There is SOC underrepresentation in the gross number of SOC images for dermatologic conditions on Wikipedia. Wikipedia pages should be updated to include more SOC photos to mend this divide to ameliorate access to accurate dermatology information for the general public and improve health equity within dermatology.

## (JMIR Dermatol 2021;4(2):e27802) doi:10.2196/27802

## **KEYWORDS**

skin of color; Wikipedia; dermatology; skin photographs; skin color; dermatology; eHealth; representation; SOC; skin conditions; photos; images; medical images

## Introduction

Wikipedia provides a broad range of information for the general public as the 8th most visited website in the United States and the 13th most visited website in the world [1]. Wikipedia may also be a go-to source of health education for the general

```
https://derma.jmir.org/2021/2/e27802
```

RenderX

population, including for information about dermatologic conditions. For example, the Wikipedia pages for psoriasis and leprosy have over 1 million views each, and one project to improve dermatologic Wikipedia pages found that 40 of these pages had over 10 million views combined [2]. Most of the pages dedicated to skin diseases have accompanying pictures

to highlight these common skin pathologies, and the Cochrane Skin Wikipedia Initiative, supported by a board-certified dermatologist, has recently updated 80 dermatologic Wikipedia pages with information and photographs from Cochrane reviews [3]. However, many of the skin disease Wikipedia pages often do not offer adequate photo representation of skin of color (SOC) individuals. As more research on dermatologic conditions for SOC individuals emerges, it is clear that certain conditions such as melanoma, plaque-type psoriasis, and acne can present visually differently in people with darker skin compared to people with lighter skin [4]. These variable presentations can also alter treatment; for example, acne treatment may be based on expected hyperpigmentation levels [4].

Given these visual variations in skin disease presentations based on an individual's skin color, adequate SOC photo representation on Wikipedia is important for the information to be applicable to and usable by people of all skin colors. Ensuring accurate skin disease photo representation contributes to health equity by allowing individuals of all skin colors to access relevant information. Therefore, the aim of this study was to investigate the number and quality of SOC photos included in Wikipedia's skin disease pages and explore the possible ramifications of these findings.

## Methods

Skin diseases from Wikipedia's "List of Skin Conditions" page (that either specified dermatology as a specialty in the article or were discussed in a separate dermatology textbook) were included in this study [5]. We followed the categorization system from Wikipedia's "List of Skin Conditions" for the major categories listed in Table 1 and Table 2 [6]. Each category of skin condition contained multiple individual skin pages. For example, under the category acneiform eruptions, there were pages on neonatal acne and acne vulgaris, among others. Each page had varying amounts of information on the skin pathology, with some more extensive pages including signs and symptoms, causes, pathophysiology, diagnoses, management, prognosis, and epidemiology, in addition to photographs displaying the associated skin findings. In our review, we categorized these photographs into Fitzpatrick skin types, with Fitzpatrick scores of 1-3 deemed as non-SOC and Fitzpatrick skin types 4-6 deemed as SOC [7,8].

Three raters independently counted the images on each skin page, assigned the Fitzpatrick type, and scored the photo quality [7,8]. The raters were third-year medical students at the University of Colorado School of Medicine who were interested in dermatology, with all raters having a bachelor's degree and one having a master's degree. The photos were rated on a scale of 1-3, with 1 being poor quality, 2 being average quality, and 3 being excellent quality. Each photo was assessed for sharpness, size/resolution, and lighting/exposure. A photo received a score of 1 if it failed all three of these criteria, 2 if it had 2/3 criteria, and 3 if it met all three vertices and being until a consensus was reached.

Our photo quality criteria were chosen as dermatology is an exceedingly visual specialty that requires clear images to accurately identify and interpret skin pathology. Black and white images, paintings and drawings, or images with ambiguous Fitzpatrick type were excluded, as were images unrelated to the skin disease. Some images appeared in more than one article, and these were counted more than once, as they were important in the context of each individual article. The quality and quantity of images were then compared between the SOC and non-SOC groups using the Student t test.



Table 1. Percentage of skin of color (SOC) to non-SOC photos on the Wikipedia list of skin conditions.

Skin condition	Non-SOC photos, n (%)	SOC photos, n (%)	Total number of photos
Acneiform eruptions	13 (81)	3 (19)	16
Autoinflammatory syndromes	3 (60)	2 (40)	5
Chronic blistering	11 (92)	1 (8)	12
Conditions of the mucous membranes	30 (91)	3 (9)	33
Conditions of the skin appendages	43 (78)	12 (22)	55
Conditions of the subcutaneous fat	8 (89)	1 (11)	9
Congenital anomalies	9 (82)	2 (9)	11
Connective tissue diseases	48 (92)	4 (8)	52
Dermal and subdermal growths	45 (66)	23 (34)	68
Dermatitis	32 (84)	6 (16)	38
Disturbances of pigmentation	12 (71)	5 (29)	17
Drug eruptions	11 (79)	3 (21)	14
Endocrine-related	7 (50)	7 (50)	14
Eosinophilic	2 (100)	0 (0)	2
Epidermal nevi, neoplasms, and cysts	45 (88)	6 (12)	51
Erythemas	11 (92)	1 (8)	12
Genodermatoses	31 (74)	11 (26)	42
Infection-related	146 (67)	71 (33)	217
Lichenoid eruptions	2 (40)	3 (60)	5
Lymphoid-related	11 (92)	1 (8)	12
Melanocytic nevi and neoplasms	36 (92)	3 (8)	39
Monocyte- and macrophage-related	3 (75)	1 (25)	4
Mucinoses	3 (75)	1 (25)	4
Neurocutaneous	11 (79)	3 (21)	14
Noninfectious immunodeficiency-related	2 (100)	0 (0)	2
Nutrition-related	0 (0)	4 (100)	4
Papulosquamous hyperkeratotic	12 (100)	0 (0)	12
Pregnancy-related	6 (86)	1 (14)	7
Pruritic	8 (67)	4 (33)	12
Psoriasis	15 (100)	0 (0)	15
Reactive neutrophilic	8 (100)	0 (0)	8
Recalcitrant palmoplantar eruptions	2 (100)	0 (0)	2
Resulting from errors in metabolism	10 (100)	0 (0)	10
Resulting from physical factors	65 (88)	9 (12)	74
Urticaria and angioedema	7 (100)	0 (0)	7
Vascular-related	45 (90)	5 (10)	50



Table 2.	Average quality	rating of skin	of color (SOC)	and non-SOC photos.
----------	-----------------	----------------	----------------	---------------------

Categories	Average quality of non-SOC photos	Average quality of SOC photos
Acneiform eruptions	1.69	2.33
Autoinflammatory syndromes	1.67	2.5
Chronic blistering	2.27	2.0
Conditions of the mucous membranes	2.07	1.67
Conditions of the skin appendages	1.74	1.75
Conditions of the subcutaneous fat	2.0	2.0
Congenital anomalies	2.33	2.0
Connective tissue diseases	1.92	1.75
Dermal and subdermal growths	2.24	2.65
Dermatitis	1.78	1.5
Disturbances of pigmentation	1.5	2.6
Drug eruptions	2.36	2.67
Endocrine-related	2.43	2.67
Eosinophilic	1.5	N/A <sup>a</sup>
Epidermal nevi, neoplasms, and cysts	2.31	2.17
Erythemas	2.36	2.0
Genodermatoses	1.77	2.09
Infection-related	2.08	1.89
Lichenoid eruptions	1.5	1.33
Lymphoid-related	1.55	3.0
Melanocytic nevi and neoplasms	1.64	2.0
Monocyte- and macrophage-related	2.0	2.0
Mucinoses	1.67	2.0
Neurocutaneous	1.64	2.0
Noninfectious immunodeficiency-related	1.5	N/A
Nutrition-related	N/A	1.75
Papulosquamous hyperkeratotic	1.75	N/A
Pregnancy-related	2.0	1.0
Pruritic	1.38	3.0
Psoriasis	2.27	N/A
Reactive neutrophilic	2.25	N/A
Recalcitrant palmoplantar eruptions	2.0	N/A
Resulting from errors in metabolism	2.5	N/A
Resulting from physical factors	2.29	2.0
Urticaria and angioedema	2.43	N/A
Vascular-related	2.18	2.0

<sup>a</sup>N/A: not applicable.

## Results

XSL•FO RenderX

We identified 421 skin disease Wikipedia pages and 949 images that met our inclusion criteria. Within these pages, 20.7% of images of skin diseases (196 of 949 images; s=1.52 cm) were

https://derma.jmir.org/2021/2/e27802

SOC (Table 1) and 79.3% (753 of 949 images; s=2.02 cm) were non-SOC, representing a significant difference (P<.001); the s values are the standard deviations of the *t* tests. Lichenoid eruptions had the highest percentage of SOC photos (60%) with 3 out of 5 images being SOC images. Categories with no SOC representation included eosinophilic, noninfectious

immunodeficiency-related, papulosquamous hyperkeratotic, psoriasis, reactive neutrophilic, recalcitrant palmoplantar eruptions, resulting from errors of metabolism, and urticaria and angioedema. The average quality for SOC images was 2.05 (s=0.79 cm) compared to 2.03 (s=0.75 cm) in non-SOC images (P=.81) (Table 2).

## Discussion

## **Principal Findings**

This study found significantly fewer SOC images compared to non-SOC images in the dermatology-related Wikipedia skin pages. There was no significant difference in photo quality between SOC and non-SOC photos.

## Limitations

This study highlights the discrepancies in the total number of SOC photos represented on Wikipedia's list of skin conditions. However, our findings did not show a significant difference in the quality of SOC vs non-SOC photos. This may have been influenced by the small range of the rating scale (1-3) or the photo quality criteria utilized (sharpness, size/resolution, and lighting/exposure). If the rating scale was more granular, it may have allowed for more nuanced differences in photo quality to emerge between the SOC and non-SOC mean photo qualities. Additionally, other aspects of photo quality, including noise amount, noise pattern, and compression quality, may have led to differences in photo quality between SOC and non-SOC photographs. The study was also limited by the nature of the Fitzpatrick skin typing system, which was not originally intended to be utilized as a non-self SOC metric [9]. Therefore, some SOC individuals fell into our grouping of non-SOC (Fitzpatrick skin types 1-3), which may have influenced our results.

## Recommendations

Regardless of the quality of the photographs, there is underrepresentation in the total number of images for SOC dermatologic conditions on Wikipedia. Previous research has shown SOC photo underrepresentation in a wide range of resources, including printed dermatology textbooks [7], online websites such as VisualDx and Dermnet [7], and USMLE preparatory materials [8]. Alvarado et al [7] assessed the percentages of dark-skin (Fitzpatrick types 5 and 6) images across a variety of dermatologic resources [7]. DermNet NZ had 2.8% dark skin images, whereas VisualDx had 28.5% dark skin images [7]. In comparison, our study found 20.7% SOC images on Wikipedia (Fitzpatrick types 4-6). Compared to websites such as VisualDx (ranked in position 113,182) and Dermnet (ranked in position 26,412), Wikipedia (ranked in position 8) has substantially more US internet traffic and engagement as evidenced by the listed rankings on the Alexa website [1]. Although VisualDx and Dermnet are well-known sources of dermatology information for the medical community, they may not be as well utilized by the general public. Wikipedia is arguably one of the main sources of dermatology information for the general public, and the discrepancies in SOC representation have a larger influence on the public's perception of dermatologic disease and care compared to other dermatology resources previously reported in the literature. Possible ramifications of this discrepancy include decreased access to accurate information for SOC patients, skewed societal perceptions of how dermatologic conditions manifest in SOC individuals, inadequate treatment, and potentially poorer outcomes.

Specific dermatology-related Wikipedia pages that need updating with more SOC photographs to reflect the higher rates in individuals with SOC include hyperpigmentation, acral lentiginous melanoma, melasma, pityriasis alba, acne, and atopic dermatitis [4,10,11]. Wikipedia's "melasma" skin page has only one photograph highlighting skin pathology, and it is of an ambiguous Fitzpatrick skin type. Similarly, Wikipedia's atopic dermatitis page has only one picture, and it is of a non-SOC individual. Potentially lethal skin diseases should also have their pages updated. For example, acral lentiginous melanoma is a dangerous skin pathology that disproportionately affects SOC individuals but has no SOC skin photographs on Wikipedia [4].

One skin page that did have a significant number of SOC photographs was "keloid" (under the dermal and subcutaneous growth category) with 20 of 26 photographs being SOC photos, which is more aligned with the higher rates seen in black patients [12]. The other Wikipedia skin pages should be updated similarly to more closely match population statistics in order to improve access to accurate information and potentially improve safety.

## Conclusion

Wikipedia pages should be updated to include more SOC photos. Given that Wikipedia is open to editing, more teams dedicated to updating the material information on SOC dermatology findings and presentations, particularly those supported by board-certified dermatologists, can help bolster the information available. Doing so will help mend the divide between SOC and non-SOC photos on Wikipedia's dermatology pages and improve access to accurate dermatology information for the general public, thereby improving health equity within dermatology.

## **Conflicts of Interest**

RD is the Editor in Chief for JMIR Dermatology, a Joint Coordinating Editor for Cochrane Skin, a dermatology section editor for UpToDate, a Social Media Editor for Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology (JAAD), and a Podcast Editor for Journal of Investigative Dermatology (JID). He is a coordinating editor representative on Cochrane Council. RD receives editorial stipends (JAAD, JID, JMIR Dermatology), royalties (UpToDate), and expense reimbursement from Cochrane Skin.

## References

- 1. Alexa. URL: <u>https://www.alexa.com/siteinfo</u> [accessed 2021-05-31]
- 2. Hutton MO, Dawson JE, Lee KC, Shumaker PR, Doney E, Dellavalle RP. Improving Wikipedia skin disease content. J Am Acad Dermatol 2019 Nov;81(5):1193-1195. [doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2019.03.063] [Medline: 30928466]
- 3. Cochrane Skin Wikipedia Initiative. Cochrane Skin. URL: <u>https://skin.cochrane.org/our-evidence/</u> <u>cochrane-skin-wikipedia-initiative</u> [accessed 2021-05-17]
- 4. Jothishankar B, Stein SL. Impact of skin color and ethnicity. Clin Dermatol 2019;37(5):418-429. [doi: 10.1016/j.clindermatol.2019.07.009] [Medline: 31896399]
- 5. Bolognia JL, Jorizzo JJ, Schaffer JV, Callen JP, Cerroni L, Heymann WR, et al. Dermatology, 3rd edition. London: Elsevier; 2012.
- 6. List of skin conditions. Wikipedia. URL: https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/List\_of\_skin\_conditions [accessed 2021-05-14]
- Alvarado SM, Feng H. Representation of dark skin images of common dermatologic conditions in educational resources: A cross-sectional analysis. J Am Acad Dermatol 2021 May;84(5):1427-1431. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jaad.2020.06.041</u>] [Medline: <u>32565205</u>]
- 8. Jones VA, Clark KA, Shobajo MT, Cordova A, Tsoukas MM. Skin of color representation in medical education: an analysis of popular preparatory materials used for United States medical licensing examinations. J Am Acad Dermatol 2020 Aug 01:online ahead of print. [doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2020.07.112] [Medline: 32750385]
- 9. Ware OR, Dawson JE, Shinohara MM, Taylor SC. Racial limitations of fitzpatrick skin type. Cutis 2020 Feb;105(2):77-80. [Medline: <u>32186531</u>]
- Davis SA, Narahari S, Feldman SR, Huang W, Pichardo-Geisinger RO, McMichael AJ. Top dermatologic conditions in patients of color: an analysis of nationally representative data. J Drugs Dermatol 2012 Apr;11(4):466-473. [Medline: 22453583]
- Kim Y, Blomberg M, Rifas-Shiman SL, Camargo CA, Gold DR, Thyssen JP, et al. Racial/ethnic differences in incidence and persistence of childhood atopic dermatitis. J Invest Dermatol 2019 Apr;139(4):827-834 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jid.2018.10.029] [Medline: 30414911]
- 12. McGinty S, Siddiqui WJ. Keloid. StatPearls. 2020 Aug 16. URL: <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK507899/</u> [accessed 2021-06-26]

## Abbreviations

SOC: skin of color

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 07.02.21; peer-reviewed by C Yang, F Kaliyadan; comments to author 22.04.21; revised version received 19.05.21; accepted 29.05.21; published 16.07.21.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Kim W, Wolfe SM, Zagona-Prizio C, Dellavalle RP Skin of Color Representation on Wikipedia: Cross-sectional Analysis JMIR Dermatol 2021;4(2):e27802 URL: <u>https://derma.jmir.org/2021/2/e27802</u> doi:<u>10.2196/27802</u> PMID:<u>37632806</u>

©William Kim, Sophia M Wolfe, Caterina Zagona-Prizio, Robert P Dellavalle. Originally published in JMIR Dermatology (http://derma.jmir.org), 16.07.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Dermatology Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://derma.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



## Original Paper

# Identifying and Responding to Health Misinformation on Reddit Dermatology Forums With Artificially Intelligent Bots Using Natural Language Processing: Design and Evaluation Study

Monique A Sager<sup>1</sup>, BA; Aditya M Kashyap<sup>2</sup>, PhD; Mila Tamminga<sup>1</sup>, BS; Sadhana Ravoori<sup>2</sup>, BE; Christopher Callison-Burch<sup>2</sup>, PhD; Jules B Lipoff<sup>3</sup>, MD

<sup>1</sup>Perelman School of Medicine, University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, PA, United States

<sup>2</sup>Department of Computer Science, University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, PA, United States

<sup>3</sup>Department of Dermatology, University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, PA, United States

## **Corresponding Author:**

Jules B Lipoff, MD Department of Dermatology University of Pennsylvania 3737 Market Street, Suite 1100 Penn Medicine University City Philadelphia, PA, 19104 United States Phone: 1 215 662 8060 Fax: 1 215 243 3284 Email: jules.lipoff@pennmedicine.upenn.edu

## Abstract

**Background:** Reddit, the fifth most popular website in the United States, boasts a large and engaged user base on its dermatology forums where users crowdsource free medical opinions. Unfortunately, much of the advice provided is unvalidated and could lead to the provision of inappropriate care. Initial testing has revealed that artificially intelligent bots can detect misinformation regarding tanning and essential oils on Reddit dermatology forums and may be able to produce responses to posts containing misinformation.

**Objective:** To analyze the ability of bots to find and respond to tanning and essential oil–related health misinformation on Reddit's dermatology forums in a controlled test environment.

**Methods:** Using natural language processing techniques, we trained bots to target misinformation, using relevant keywords and to post prefabricated responses. By evaluating different model architectures across a held-out test set, we compared performances.

**Results:** Our models yielded data test accuracies ranging 95%-100%, with a Bidirectional Encoder Representations from Transformers (BERT) fine-tuned model resulting in the highest level of test accuracy. Bots were then able to post corrective prefabricated responses to misinformation in a test environment.

**Conclusions:** Using a limited data set, bots accurately detected examples of health misinformation within Reddit dermatology forums. Given that these bots can then post prefabricated responses, this technique may allow for interception of misinformation. Providing correct information does not mean that users will be receptive or find such interventions persuasive. Further studies should investigate this strategy's effectiveness to inform future deployment of bots as a technique in combating health misinformation.

(JMIR Dermatol 2021;4(2):e20975) doi:10.2196/20975

## **KEYWORDS**

bots; natural language processing; artificial intelligence; Reddit, medical misinformation; health misinformation; detecting misinformation; dermatology; misinformation

## Introduction

## Background

Health misinformation—defined as information that is incorrect, and possibly intended to deceive [1]—is rampant on the internet. Well-intentioned social media users often advise each other regarding health care treatments and home remedies. Prior studies have assessed health misinformation on Facebook and Twitter, yet one of the most active communities in health care discussions remains less investigated: the social media forums of Reddit [2]. As a social media and commentary platform with 330 million users, Reddit is the fifth most popular site in the United States [3]. The forums, known as subreddits, also cover nearly every medical specialty; for example, dermatology (known as "r/Dermatology"), cardiology, and others.

One of the most active medical forums on Reddit is r/Dermatology, with users seeking to crowdsource for free medical opinions. Indeed, posts often begin with variations of "I cannot afford a dermatologist." The advice ranges from homeopathic remedies suggested by uncredentialled users to evidence-based medical treatments offered by dermatologists volunteering their time on the forum. A significant portion of medical advice from nonphysicians promotes non-evidence-based homeopathic treatments over scientifically validated medical treatments. For example, a user posting a photograph of a suspicious mole may be falsely reassured by other posters that in-person evaluation is unnecessary or that it can be resolved with the application of essential oils. Given that Reddit posts are anonymous, people may be empowered to reveal their medical concerns more candidly. In contrast, the public nature of a forum such as Facebook may discourage candid sharing [4]. Thus, the design of Reddit makes it a uniquely promising target for studying this crowdsourcing and potential health misinformation.

The audience for Reddit dermatology forums is large and highly engaged; over 55,000 users follow r/Dermatology, over 1.3 million users follow r/SkincareAddiction, and over 19,000 follow r/essentialoils [5]. These users (known as Redditors), log in globally, though a majority are from the United States (58%) [6]. While the majority of Redditors are young men, the skin care forums are largely female-dominated. Subreddit r/SkincareAddiction is one of the largest dermatology-related forums with 87% of female users, of whom 70% are between 19 and 29 years old [7].

## **Prior Work**

Our previous work has used the artificial intelligence subfield of natural language processing techniques to analyze Reddit dermatology forums' content [8]. Our data suggest that these forums are a rich source of patient engagement, presenting an untapped opportunity for expert involvement. Our study aimed to investigate the feasibility of engaging in these forums using bots, with the goal of intercepting health misinformation.

Preliminary analysis of Reddit dermatology forums identified a potential target: rampant confusion and misinformation regarding sun exposure. For instance, many users had questions about the dangers of sun exposure, questioning if these supposed dangers are a scam perpetuated by sunscreen companies. Further, tanning beds were often touted as a cure for acne and other skin conditions. Sun exposure–related misinformation was identified as a good target for intervention because of the clear consensus on guidance from the medical establishment. Indoor tanning devices are classified as the highest class of carcinogens by the World Health Organization, and it is well established that tanning bed use is a risk factor for developing melanoma, with multiple tanning bed sessions increasing the risk of melanoma [9-11]. Melanoma leads to an estimated 7000 deaths per year in the United States [12].

Essential oil (EO) use and safety was selected as a second target of misinformation. Users discussed EOs as a remedy for many health conditions, though no such efficacy has been established in the medical literature, and EO use is not without risk. For instance, 1 user solicited information on using EOs to treat Sjogren syndrome and was told to seek out a local herbalist.

In this context, we aimed to develop artificially intelligent bots for Reddit forums as a means to intercept and correct health misinformation.

## Methods

## **Methods Overview**

To develop bots to intercept health misinformation, we developed 2 sets of machine learning models: 1 targeting posts that discussed sun exposure or tanning, and the second for posts that discussed EOs. We used Google's BigQuery application programming interface (API) to query publicly available Reddit data [13], pulling from the forums r/Dermatology, r/essentialoils, and r/tanning from January 2018 to August 2019. Google BigQuery API analyses 100% of full-text posts. We used the API to extract Reddit posts and comments that belonged to the subreddits we targeted and then locally ran our scripts over the entirety of the text posts. Using the data from BigQuery, we filtered by subreddit and searched for keywords (Textbox 1) [14].



Textbox 1. Keywords used.

#### Essential oil-related keywords

- essential oils
- Bay
- cinnamon bark
- clove
- frankincense
- citronella
- cumin
- lemongrass
- lemon verbena
- oregano
- thyme
- lavender
- nutmeg
- peppermint
- tea tree
- cinnamon leaf
- camphor oil
- oil of wintergreen
- jasmine
- ylang-ylang
- sandalwood oil

#### Tanning-related keywords

- sun exposure
- tanning
- tanning bed
- base tan

For the sun exposure/tanning data set, we included all posts from the r/tanning subreddit as positive training instances in addition to posts from r/Dermatology, which contained tanning-related keywords. The remaining posts from r/Dermatology were taken as negative training instances. Similarly, for the essential oils data set, all posts from the r/essentialoils subreddit were considered positive training instances in addition to posts from r/Dermatology that contained EO-related keywords. Positive training instances meant that the targeted content was identified, while negative training instances indicated that no such content was identified within the post. Next, we removed the search keywords from the positive comments to ensure that the classification task was nontrivial.

Two medical student annotators read through over 350 posts on the aforementioned forums and annotated posts as containing misinformation or not. This analysis was performed to determine that a sufficient number of posts contained misinformation in r/essentialoils and r/tanning to establish those forums as misinformation in our data set. To annotate the posts, the

```
https://derma.jmir.org/2021/2/e20975
```

annotators used UpToDate and PubMed. UpToDate is the most frequently utilized clinical decision database for physicians, and all information included is evidence-based and peer reviewed [15]. PubMed (the database of science journals for the National Library of Medicine of the National Institutes of Health) supplemented with additional journal articles when needed.

As mentioned, during bot development, we trained the bot to treat all comments related to "tanning" or "essential oils" as positive for misinformation. As a result, we did not exclude posts with phrases such as "avoid tanning," despite the risk of causing the bot to respond to posts containing accurate information. This workflow was chosen because we felt that false positives were acceptable, but false negatives (where misinformation is present and we failed to reply to it) could be harmful. After the bot had been trained to identify "misinformation" versus "valid posts," our human annotators reviewed posts to ascertain the number of false positives vs false negatives, using the aforementioned annotation. In our

XSL•FO RenderX

training data set, the percentage of false positives for EOs and tanning was 2% and 5% respectively.

Once the quality of these data sets was verified, we were then able to posit an "accuracy" score for each model to determine how much true misinformation they could assimilate. These scores were calculated by evaluating the trained models on a held-out test set. Given a smaller proportion of positive training instances (21% and 5% for EOs and tanning, respectively), we created a balanced data set by undersampling the negative examples. We performed a train-test split on this balanced data set (details about their sizes are shown in Table 1).

Table 1. Number of instances in the data set.

	Essential oils	Tanning
Training instances, n	1971	586
Test instances, n	221	66

In this study, we aimed to examine the theoretical ability of bots to detect and respond to misinformation. In developing our methods, we found that by using natural language processing techniques, bots can learn differentiating terms such as "tanning," "essential oils," or "sun exposure." These bots have the ability to post prefabricated responses to comments related to a variety of skin conditions. These responses were developed and condensed from the American Academy of Dermatology (AAD) into user-friendly lengths and include a link for viewers to directly access the AAD website.

When these terms are identified, bots can reflexively provide condensed AAD recommendations in a comment. For example, with a mention of sun exposure, the bot can post a brief response detailing risk factors such as blistering sunburns, rates of skin cancer in the United States, and recommendations on sunscreen use. For EOs, the bot can return guidance on safe usage and potential adverse reactions. To be clear, these responses have not been posted in any live forums on Reddit, but the design was aimed at a live endpoint in the future.

## **Model Creation**

We compared the test accuracy for 3 different models. The first model included a baseline logistic regression model, which used a simple bag-of-words representation considering unigram, bigram, and trigram features. A vocabulary consisting of the 20,000 most frequent ngrams was chosen after converting the text to lowercase.

The second model involved fine-tuning a pretrained Bidirectional Encoder Representations from Transformers

**Table 2.** Validation accuracy of the models.

(BERT) model [16] with a fully connected feed forward classification layer on top. The posts in the training data were first tokenized using a word piece tokenizer, following which [CLS] and [SEP] tokens were appended to the beginning and end of the sequences, respectively. Adam optimizer with a learning rate of 2e-5 and Binary Cross Entropy Loss was used to finetune this model over 4 epochs.

For the third model, we developed a fine-tuned XLNet model [17] with a single feed forward layer on top for classification. The optimizer, loss, and model hyperparameters were similar to those selected for the BERT model. The held-out test data set was used to evaluate each model's performance and estimate the prediction error.

## Results

Test accuracies by model are shown in Table 2. We compared the results against a random baseline (where there is an equal probability for each label to be picked for a test instance). Our preliminary results show that all 3 models had high test accuracies for both EOs and tanning. The baseline logistic regression model performed well with an accuracy of over 95%. The top positive features of the logistic regression model included words such as "diffuser" and "blends" for essential oils, "bronzer" and "St. Tropez" for tanning, and top negative features included words such as "rash" and "acne." The XLNet fine-tuned model was also effective, with a test accuracy over 98%, while the BERT fine-tuned model had the highest test accuracy of 100%.

Model	Test accuracy for "essential oils," %	Test accuracy for "tanning," %
Random predictor	50.00	50.00
Logistic regression model	97.29	95.65
BERT <sup>a</sup> fine-tuned	99.56	100
XLNet fine-tuned	98.70	98.61

<sup>a</sup>BERT: Bidirectional Encoder Representations from Transformers.



## Discussion

## **Principal Findings**

Our study demonstrates, in a test environment, the ability for artificially intelligent bots to identify health misinformation related to tanning and EOs on Reddit forums, which have the ability to subsequently post corrective prefabricated responses. These results raise the question of whether benevolent bots should play a role in identifying and intercepting health misinformation on live forums. To date, social media bots have largely failed to promote credible sources. An analysis of 14 million Twitter messages by Shao et al [18] in 2017 revealed that social media bots overwhelmingly spread information from low-credibility sources. They reported that bots can "tailor misinformation" to "target those who are most likely to believe it." The public's vulnerability to misinformation is further enhanced by inundation of such untruths from multiple sources. For instance, similar tweets, news stories, and Facebook articles popping up on social media feeds, even if all incorrect, may appear to falsely validate each other [19]. By automatically targeting inaccuracies with accurate medical information, we can potentially interrupt this inundation of untruths.

Beyond the issue of noncredible bots, media coverage related to bots has focused on their potential negative impact on society. These concerns mainly revolve around the use of malicious bots to alter outcomes of elections, seed political and social turmoil, or even endanger lives via public health propaganda. One recent study showed, for example, that bots and Russian trolls on Twitter post more content about vaccination than the average user [20]. However, we would argue that the potential upside makes benevolent bots, at the very least, worthy of further study, with any potential impacts carefully studied before transitioning from proof of concept to real-world application.

Specifically, while bots have been used to spread misinformation, they can also be harnessed proactively to disseminate information from high-credibility sources, such as the National Institutes of Health and various academies of medicine. Indeed, some nonmedical projects have already attempted to harness the power of benevolent bots. For example, the United States Geological Service uses @earthquakeBot, a bot that detects earthquakes of 5.0 magnitude and automatically alerts the public. In 2017, the World Economic Forum experimented with an official Twitter bot, @forumfactbot, to combat misinformation about its funding sources, targeting World Economic Forum-related misinformation in tweets and automatically linking to accurate stories [21]. These examples show how transparent, fact-based bots have previously been harnessed to combat misinformation on social media. The creators of any benevolent bot must preemptively consider all ethical and practical issues prior to and during implementation.

Though concerns about bots are justified, our study builds on a growing body of work arguing that bots can—and should—be studied as forces for public health benefits. Many believe that a critical part of combating misinformation is the strong assertion of the truth, with many effective (though nonbot) examples such as Politifact, Factcheck.org, and Snopes [19]. Others have suggested that the public health community should

```
https://derma.jmir.org/2021/2/e20975
```

"go on the offense with our messages," and perhaps benevolent bots could be 1 avenue to deliver such messages [22]. This reveals the possibility that those with malicious intent could use bots to further their own interests or stymie healthy discussions of differing viewpoints.

#### **Strengths and Limitations**

Our approach has several limitations. Methodologically, we chose to have the bot treat all posts on the r/essentialoils and r/tanning subreddit forums as misinformation. The basis for this assumption came from having annotators read through over 350 posts on r/tanning and r/essentialoils and determine that a sufficient number of posts contained misinformation, which we would be able to consider it misinformation in our data set. Of note, an additional limitation is that while the annotators used evidence-based sources and support from a senior physician to annotate the posts for misinformation, there was no formal training prior to the annotation process. Thus, no standards were developed from which a formal training process could be created.

Many posts simply promoted the practice of tanning, which is undoubtedly misinformation given consensus among experts regarding the risk of melanoma with tanning. Similarly, many posts promoted EO use instead of evidence-based medical treatments. For r/Dermatology, more information was deemed accurate and thus required a different strategy. We considered only posts containing those keywords included in this study on r/Dermatology as misinformation.

Given that bots consider entire forums as misinformation, they are highly sensitive but fairly nonspecific. We run the risk of automatically posting replies to posts containing phrases such as "avoid tanning." This reflexivity could prompt users to consider the bots as unreliable and thus begin to ignore the responses. In future iterations, we intend to refine this approach to increase the specificity of posts captured.

The bots currently only search for a limited set of keywords, as shown in Multimedia Appendix 1 [23-26]. Given that these keywords do not encompass all the words that users describe when discussing tanning or essential oils, we are inevitably missing posts containing misinformation. We hope to increase the effectiveness of the bots by including a wider set of keywords in future searches, such as commonly used words for tanning in countries outside of the United States.

Furthermore, to be an effective public health intervention, we must assume that users will read both the post containing the misinformation and any corrective responses. However, the massive amount of content on these forums makes it impossible for a casual browser to read everything. Many posts on Reddit are either unread or only have 1 or 2 comments in response to them. The forums are constantly refreshed as new content is generated, meaning that our responses to a post could be buried under a new post within a few hours. One safeguard against this is the "search" function that exists within the forums; if a user is searching for advice on a topic such as "tanning," Reddit returns results spanning back to the creation of the forum, which could be years prior. The user can then see all posts about the topic, including those that have our responses attached to them.

Another factor complicating Reddit visibility of posts is the order in which posts are displayed. Responses to Reddit posts are displayed in order of how often they are "upvoted," which is essentially the same function as a "like" on Facebook. Thus, a highly upvoted but inaccurate opinion could become the top comment users see, lending it more visibility than our post. Future research could benefit from addressing how to boost the visibility of validated information, such as running advertisements or "featured spots" on social media sites.

A final limitation is that even if users see factual evidence opposing misinformation, they may disregard corrective responses. Politics and sociology have repeatedly demonstrated that when facts are incongruent with a person's opinion, a person may in fact disregard the facts presented to them and cling to misinformation, a phenomenon called the "cognitive consistency" [27,28]. Ideological beliefs, or simply rumors heard enough to have reached a "social consensus," can impair one's ability to assess the validity of a statement and lead readers to process incongruent information less fluently [27,28]. Further, users may not be receptive to corrective information provided by nonhuman users; indeed, the presence of bots could potentially interrupt a tacit community standard and violate users' trust, even if bots were completely transparent in their roles to correct health misinformation.

## Conclusions

In our study, our bot models all had high test accuracies, which suggests that artificially intelligent bots may accurately target Reddit posts containing commonly misunderstood health content. The ability to consistently detect comments at risk of misinformation is merely the first step toward using benevolent bots to disseminate high-quality scientific information to the public. Our ultimate goal is to test a novel method of addressing dermatology misinformation on Reddit by posting active replies with bots to posts deemed misinformation. Our results suggest that using artificial intelligence is a potentially beneficial and valid method of targeting misinformation on the internet. Having now established feasibility of both detecting misinformation and reflexively responding to it in test environments, subsequent steps include testing the bots on Reddit and other social media forums, with user satisfaction surveys and links to track user engagement with bot-delivered posts. While this initial work has focused on a subset of dermatology misinformation, it demonstrates proof of concept of the potential for using bots to promote fact-based discussions on any medical topic or public health conversation. Thus, we anticipate continued and necessary work to explore and validate the potential for benevolent bots in the health misinformation space.

## **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Bot responses to misinformation. [DOCX File, 13 KB - derma\_v4i2e20975\_app1.docx]

## References

- 1. Misinformation. Cambridge Dictionary. URL: <u>https://dictionary.cambridge.org/us/dictionary/english/misinformation</u> [accessed 2021-07-28]
- De Choudhury M, De S. Mental Health Discourse on reddit: Self-Disclosure, Social Support, and Anonymity. 2014 Presented at: Eighth International AAAI Conference on Weblogs and Social Media (ICWSM-14); June 1-4, 2014; Ann Arbor, MI URL: <u>https://ojs.aaai.org/index.php/ICWSM/article/view/14526</u>
- 3. Hutchinson A. Reddit now has as many users as twitter, and far higher engagement rates. Social Media Today. 2018. URL: https://www.socialmediatoday.com/news/reddit-now-has-as-many-users-as-twitter-and-far-higher-engagement-rates/521789/ [accessed 2019-11-06]
- 4. Newman M, Lauterbach D, Munson S, Resnick P, Morris M. It's not that i don't have problems, i'm just not putting them on facebook: challenges and opportunities in using online social networks for health. 2011 Presented at: CSCW '11: Computer Supported Cooperative Work; March 19-23, 2011; Hangzhou. [doi: 10.1145/1958824.1958876]
- 5. Subreddit Stats: Statistics for every subreddit. URL: <u>https://subredditstats.com/</u> [accessed 2021-03-29]
- 6. Sattelberg W. The Demographics Of Reddit: Who Uses The Site? ALPHR. 2021. URL: <u>https://www.techjunkie.com/</u> <u>demographics-reddit/</u> [accessed 2019-11-05]
- 7. [Meta] They're finally here: the ScA Survey results!. Reddit. URL: <u>https://www.reddit.com/r/SkincareAddiction/comments/6nagon/meta\_theyre\_finally\_here\_the\_sca\_survey\_results/</u>[accessed 2019-11-05]
- Okon E, Rachakonda V, Hong HJ, Callison-Burch C, Lipoff JB. Natural language processing of Reddit data to evaluate dermatology patient experiences and therapeutics. J Am Acad Dermatol 2020 Sep;83(3):803-808. [doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2019.07.014] [Medline: 31306722]
- 9. Indoor Tanning: The Risks of Ultraviolet Rays. US Food and Drug Administration. 2015. URL: <u>https://www.fda.gov/</u> <u>consumers/consumer-updates/indoor-tanning-risks-ultraviolet-rays</u> [accessed 2021-08-23]
- 10. Mogensen M, Jemec GB. The potential carcinogenic risk of tanning beds: clinical guidelines and patient safety advice. Cancer Manag Res 2010 Oct 28;2:277-282 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2147/CMR.S7403] [Medline: 21188119]

- Ting W, Schultz K, Cac NN, Peterson M, Walling HW. Tanning bed exposure increases the risk of malignant melanoma. Int J Dermatol 2007 Dec;46(12):1253-1257. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1365-4632.2007.03408.x</u>] [Medline: <u>18173518</u>]
- 12. American Cancer Society. 2019. URL: <u>https://www.cancer.org/content/dam/cancer-org/research/cancer-facts-and-statistics/annual-cancer-facts-and-figures/2019/cancer-facts-and-figures-2019.pdf</u> [accessed 2021-08-23]
- 13. Using BigQuery with Reddit Data. Pushshift. URL: <u>https://pushshift.io/using-bigquery-with-reddit-data/</u> [accessed 2021-03-20]
- 14. Google Cloud Platform, SQL Workspace: Reddit Comments 2018\_01. URL: <u>https://console.cloud.google.com/</u> <u>bigquery?project=fh-bigquery&page=table&t=2018\_01&d=reddit\_comments&p=fh-bigquery&redirect\_from\_classic=true&ws=!1m5!</u> <u>1m4!4m3!1sfh-bigquery!2sreddit\_comments!3s2018\_01</u> [accessed 2021-03-20]
- 15. About UpToDate. Wolters Kluwer. URL: https://www.wolterskluwer.com/en/solutions/uptodate/about [accessed 2021-06-20]
- 16. Devlin J, Chang MW, Lee K, Toutanova K. BERT: Pre-training of Deep Bidirectional Transformers for Language Understanding. arXiv Preprint posted online May 24, 2019. [FREE Full text]
- 17. Yang Z, Dai Z, Yang Y, Carbonell J, Salakhutdinov R, Le QV. XLNet: Generalized Autoregressive Pretraining for Language Understanding. arXiv Preprint posted online January 2, 2020. [FREE Full text]
- 18. Shao C, Ciampaglia GL, Varol O, Yang K, Flammini A, Menczer F. The spread of low-credibility content by social bots. Nat Commun 2018 Nov 20;9(1):4787 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-06930-7] [Medline: 30459415]
- 19. West DM. How to combat fake news and disinformation. Brookings. 2017. URL: <u>https://www.brookings.edu/research/how-to-combat-fake-news-and-disinformation/</u> [accessed 2019-11-23]
- Broniatowski DA, Jamison AM, Qi S, AlKulaib L, Chen T, Benton A, et al. Weaponized health communication: Twitter bots and Russian trolls amplify the vaccine debate. Am J Public Health 2018 Oct;108(10):1378-1384. [doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2018.304567] [Medline: 30138075]
- 21. Stroppa A, Hanley M. How can we defeat fake news? World Economic Forum. 2017. URL: <u>https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2017/02/how-can-we-defeat-fake-news-automate-the-right-to-reply/</u> [accessed 2019-12-02]
- 22. Lowry M, Fouse D. Communicating research in an era of misinformation. Am J Public Health 2019 May;109(5):645. [doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2019.305048] [Medline: 30969830]
- 23. Ismail F, Nixon R. Allergic contact dermatitis to essential oils. DermNet NZ. 2020. URL: <u>https://www.dermnetnz.org/</u> topics/allergic-contact-dermatitis-to-essential-oils/ [accessed 2021-07-28]
- 24. Henley DV, Lipson N, Korach KS, Bloch CA. Prepubertal gynecomastia linked to lavender and tea tree oils. N Engl J Med 2007 Feb 01;356(5):479-485. [doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa064725] [Medline: 17267908]
- 25. Morris MC, Donoghue A, Markowitz JA, Osterhoudt KC. Ingestion of tea tree oil (Melaleuca oil) by a 4-year-old boy. Pediatr Emerg Care 2003 Jun;19(3):169-171. [doi: 10.1097/01.pec.0000081241.98249.7b] [Medline: 12813303]
- 26. Del Beccaro MA. Melaleuca oil poisoning in a 17-month-old. Vet Hum Toxicol 1995 Dec;37(6):557-558. [Medline: 8588296]
- Lewandowsky S, Ecker UKH, Seifert CM, Schwarz N, Cook J. Misinformation and its correction: continued influence and successful debiasing. Psychol Sci Public Interest 2012 Dec;13(3):106-131. [doi: <u>10.1177/1529100612451018</u>] [Medline: <u>26173286</u>]
- 28. Winkielman P, Huber DE, Kavanagh L, Schwarz N. Fluency of consistency: When thoughts fit nicely and flow smoothly. In: Gawronski B, Strack F, editors. Cognitive consistency: A Fundamental Principle in Social Cognition. New York, NY: Guilford Press; 2012:89-111.

## Abbreviations

AAD: American Academy of DermatologyAPI: application programming interfaceBERT: Bidirectional Encoder Representations from TransformersEO: essential oil

Edited by R Dellavalle, T Sivesind; submitted 05.04.21; peer-reviewed by J Solomon, I Brooks, R Alhusayen; comments to author 02.06.21; revised version received 08.07.21; accepted 05.08.21; published 30.09.21.

<u>Please cite as:</u>

Sager MA, Kashyap AM, Tamminga M, Ravoori S, Callison-Burch C, Lipoff JB Identifying and Responding to Health Misinformation on Reddit Dermatology Forums With Artificially Intelligent Bots Using Natural Language Processing: Design and Evaluation Study JMIR Dermatol 2021;4(2):e20975 URL: https://derma.jmir.org/2021/2/e20975 doi:10.2196/20975 PMID:37632809



©Monique A Sager, Aditya M Kashyap, Mila Tamminga, Sadhana Ravoori, Christopher Callison-Burch, Jules B Lipoff. Originally published in JMIR Dermatology (http://derma.jmir.org), 30.09.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Dermatology Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://derma.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

# The Contact Dermatitis Quality of Life Index (CDQL): Survey Development and Content Validity Assessment

Mary K Hill<sup>1</sup>, MD; Melissa R Laughter<sup>2</sup>, PhD; Cecile I Harmange<sup>2</sup>, BSc; Robert P Dellavalle<sup>1,3,4</sup>, MD, PhD, MSPH; Chandler W Rundle<sup>5</sup>, BS; Cory A Dunnick<sup>1,3</sup>, MD

<sup>1</sup>Department of Dermatology, University of Colorado Anschutz Medical Campus, Aurora, CO, United States

<sup>2</sup>School of Medicine, University of Colorado, Aurora, CO, United States

- <sup>3</sup>Dermatology Service, United States Department of Veterans Affairs, Eastern Colorado Health Care System, Aurora, CO, United States
- <sup>4</sup>Department of Epidemiology, Colorado School of Public Health, University of Colorado Anschutz Medical Campus, Aurora, CO, United States <sup>5</sup>School of Medicine, Loma Linda University, Loma Linda, CA, United States

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Cecile I Harmange, BSc School of Medicine University of Colorado 1665 Aurora Court, MS 703 Aurora, CO, 80045 United States Phone: 1 7208480500 Email: cecile.harmange@cuanschutz.edu

## Abstract

**Background:** There is limited measurement and reporting of quality of life (QoL) outcomes for patients with contact dermatitis (CD).

**Objective:** The purpose of this study is to develop a standardized Contact Dermatitis Quality of Life index (CDQL) for adult patients.

**Methods:** A list of 81 topics was compiled from a review of QoL measures used previously in CD research. A total of 2 rounds of web-based Delphi surveys were sent to physicians who registered to attend the 2018 American Contact Dermatitis Society meeting, asking that they rank the relevance of topics for measuring QoL in CD using a 4-point scale. Items met consensus for inclusion if at least 78% of respondents ranked them as relevant or very relevant, and their median score was  $\geq$ 3.25.

**Results:** Of the 210 physicians contacted, 34 physicians completed the initial survey and 17 completed the follow-up survey. A total of 22 topics met consensus for inclusion in the CDQL, addressing symptoms, emotions, functions of daily living, social and physical functions, work/school functions, and treatment.

**Conclusions:** This study was limited by the following factors: few open-ended questions in the initial survey, a lack of direct patient feedback, and long survey length, which likely contributed to lower survey participation. The CDQL is a comprehensive, CD-specific QoL measure developed on the basis of expert consensus via a modified Delphi process to be used by physicians and other health care professionals who care for adult patients with contact dermatitis.

## (JMIR Dermatol 2021;4(2):e30620) doi:10.2196/30620

## **KEYWORDS**

contact dermatitis; allergic contact dermatitis; irritant contact dermatitis; quality of life; outcomes instruments; health outcomes

## Introduction

Measures of quality of life (QoL) have become a fundamental component in evaluating the benefits of dermatologic interventions, especially for chronic, incurable diseases. Supplementary to the objective clinical indices used to assess disease severity, QoL instruments incorporate patients'

https://derma.jmir.org/2021/2/e30620

RenderX

impressions of their functioning and well-being, allowing for a more complete picture of their health status. Unlike generic questionnaires, disease-specific instruments are more responsive to changes over time in QoL [1,2].

The negative impact of contact dermatitis (CD) on QoL has been established in existing literature [3-13]. Worse QoL is

associated with the presence of several features, including pruritus, discomfort, and trouble working with one's hands or carrying out everyday activities [14]. Chronically, the impact of dermatologic diseases on QoL can result in considerable emotional and functional impairment [15]. The extent of CD's effect on QoL is not always adequately reflected by disease severity, possibly due to the psychological stress and embarrassment caused by visual manifestations of the disease [14]. It is therefore essential to use a standardized tool for quantitatively assessing QoL in patients with CD. However, as revealed by a systematic review of outcomes instruments used for CD in randomized controlled trials (RCTs) published between 2005 and 2015 [16], only a small minority of RCTs (6%) assessed QoL, and among those studies, there was a lack of consensus on what tool to use for this purpose.

A standardized measure of QoL for adult patients with CD would be beneficial in guiding individual treatment strategies and to potentially help prevent the risks associated with chronically depressed QoL. Additionally, such a universal tool would allow for greater comparability among articles in the CD literature. The purpose of this study, therefore, was to develop the Contact Dermatitis Quality of Life index (CDQL), a QoL measure specific to CD that quantifies the impact of the disease on functioning and well-being from a patient perspective. This tool was created for use by physicians and other health care professionals caring for patients with contact dermatitis.

## Methods

The process of developing the CDQL consisted of initial topic generation via a literature review, followed by a 2-step modified Delphi method to establish the content validity of the instrument.

Preliminary topics compiled for the questionnaire were based on a review of QoL outcome measures used in previous studies of CD. A systematic review [16] of CD outcome measures in RCTs published from 2005 to 2015 found that QoL was evaluated using the Dermatology Life Quality Index (DLQI) [17] and various general assessments of pruritus. According to a 2003 literature review [12], other QoL tools used for patients with CD include the Dermatology-Specific Quality of Life (DSQL) instrument [15], the Skindex-29 [18,19], and the 36-item Short Form Health Survey [20]. Additionally, the Skindex-16 [21] was previously modified for use in allergic CD, with the addition of 5 questions specific to the effect on one's occupation [22]. A subsequent QoL measure for CD incorporated modifications of both the Skindex-16 and the DLQI, as well as 6 additional items addressing feelings and functioning [14].

A total of 81 topics were generated from a review of the aforementioned QoL instruments. Similar to the Skindex-16 [21], each topic was worded to ask patients how often the event in the topic bothered them. Expert consensus was sought regarding questionnaire topics in accordance with a modified Delphi technique, with 2 rounds of surveys conducted to maximize consensus [23]. Following institutional review board approval, the initial voluntary, anonymous web-based surveys were sent to the 210 registrants of the 2018 annual meeting of the American Contact Dermatitis Society (ACDS), asking that

```
https://derma.jmir.org/2021/2/e30620
```

XSL•FO

dermatology physicians rank the relevance of each questionnaire topic using the following 4-point Likert scale: (1) not relevant, (2) somewhat relevant, (3) relevant, or (4) very relevant (Multimedia Appendix 1). Topics derived from the Skindex-16 were italicized. Survey respondents were also asked to provide their opinion regarding the time frame which the CDQL should be designed to address, keeping in mind both the potentially intermittent nature of CD [15] and the goal of maximizing patient recollection [17].

Definitions of consensus vary throughout the literature. A prior systematic review investigating consensus in Delphi studies found that consensus is most often defined by the percentage of agreement, followed by the proportion of subjects' ratings falling within a specified range [24]. Thresholds set for consensus definitions based on percentages or proportions range from 50% to 97%, with a median of 75%. Green et al [25,26] suggested that consensus is achieved when at least 70% of Delphi respondents rank the item as 3 or 4 on a 4-point Likert scale, and the median is at least 3.25. Lynn et al [27,28] suggested that with at least 6 professionals ranking the relevance of a topic for a new instrument, the content validity index (CVI) of the topic (the proportion of professionals ranking it as a 3 or 4 on a 4-point scale) should be  $\geq 0.78$  in order to reduce the possibility of agreement due to chance. A combination of these criteria was used for this study, with items meeting consensus for inclusion in the CDQL if at least 78% of respondents ranked them as relevant or very relevant (a score of 3 or 4), and the median score was at least 3.25. Also in line with precedent [29-34], items rated as relevant or very relevant by less than 50% of respondents were excluded.

In response to expert comments from the initial survey recommending less repetition and a shorter questionnaire length to improve practicality for clinical use, similar questionnaire topics were combined and/or excluded. The remaining topics with CVIs of 50% to 77% were compiled in a second survey, which listed the initial CVI for each item and asked respondents of the first survey to rank topic relevance on a 4-point scale again (Multimedia Appendix 2). A total of 7 new topics were included in the second survey based on preliminary results from a study aimed at developing a QoL index for allergic CD [35]. Additionally, based on comments from the initial survey, 4 other new topics were included under a treatment domain. Survey respondents were asked to provide a brief explanation for their ranking of relevance if the initial CVI for a topic was <60% or if they ranked an item with a CVI of >60% as somewhat relevant or not relevant. Again, individual items from the second survey were included as items in the final CDQL if the CVI among respondents was  $\geq 0.78$  and the median score was  $\geq 3.25$ .

In order to further establish the CDQL's content validity, the CVI for the total scale was calculated. Different ways of quantifying this value exist, although it is recommended (especially when larger numbers of experts are involved, as in this study) that it be calculated by taking the average of the CVIs for the individual questionnaire topics [28]. A total scale CVI of  $\geq 0.90$  has been previously deemed acceptable [28,36].

Survey data were collected and managed using REDCap (Research Electronic Data Capture; Vanderbilt University)
electronic data capture tools hosted at the University of Colorado Denver [37]. REDCap is a secure, web-based application designed to support data capture for research studies, providing the following: (1) an intuitive interface for validated data entry, (2) audit trails for tracking data manipulation and export procedures, (3) automated export procedures for seamless data downloads to common statistical packages, and (4) procedures for importing data from external sources. Statistical analysis was performed using Excel (Microsoft Corporation).

This study was reviewed and approved by The Colorado Multiple Institutional Review Board.

# Results

Of the 210 individuals contacted, 43 (20.5%) completed the initial Delphi survey. A total of 8 surveys were completed by nonphysicians and were therefore excluded. Additionally, 13 partially completed surveys were excluded. A total of 34 physicians completed the initial survey, of whom 33 were attending dermatologists and 1 was a fellow. Of the 34 physicians who completed the survey, 27 (79%) patch tested >41 patients per year; only 1 physician did not do any patch testing. All but 2 of the physicians were members of the ACDS, American Academy of Dermatology, and/or American Academy of Allergy, Asthma, and Immunology.

A total of 12 topics from the first Delphi survey with a CVI of <50% were excluded. Of the remaining topics, 22 were deemed repetitive and also excluded. Initially, 23 topics from the first Delphi survey met consensus for inclusion in the CDQL; however, based on expert feedback, several redundant topics were either removed or combined, ultimately resulting in 19 topics meeting consensus for inclusion (Table 1). The CVIs and median relevance scores for these topics ranged from 0.79 to 1.0 and 3.5 to 4.0, respectively.

The follow-up Delphi survey consisted of 35 questionnaire topics not yet meeting consensus for inclusion or exclusion

(including 11 new topics). Of the 43 individuals contacted (those who had responded to the initial survey), 23 (53%) completed the second Delphi survey. The final analysis included a total of 17 surveys fully completed by physicians who had also completed the initial survey. Following completion of the second survey, an additional 4 topics met consensus for inclusion, with CVIs ranging from 0.82 to 1.0, and a median relevance score of 4.0 for all 4 questions (Table 2).

Based on the first survey, 20 (59%) of the 34 respondents felt the questionnaire should ask about QoL over the past 6 months, 8 (24%) felt it should address the past month, 4 (12%) felt it should address the past year, and 2 (6%) felt it should address the past week. Agreement improved in the follow-up survey, with 16 (70%) of the 23 respondents suggesting that the CDQL inquire about the past 6 months.

The resulting CDQL consists of 23 items, asking patients how often they have been bothered by each item over the past 6 months (Multimedia Appendix 3). Responses are structured on a 4-point Likert scale: (1) never bothered, (2) sometimes bothered, (3) often bothered, or (4) always bothered. For ease of use, this was simplified from the Skindex-16 [21], which uses a continuous bipolar scale with 7 answer choices.

The CDQL can be broken down into 6 different domains: symptoms (1 item), emotions (9 items), functions of daily living (3 items), social and physical functions (2 items), work/school functions (4 items), and treatment-related items (4 items). The CVI for the total scale was 0.85. A total of 10 topics were at least in part derived from the Skindex-16 [21], 9 topics were derived from the Skindex-29 [18,19], 7 topics were derived from the DSQL [15], 5 topics were derived from the DLQI [17], 6 topics were derived from the CD-specific quality of life measure by Ayala et al [14], 2 topics were derived from the 36-item Short Form Health Survey [20], 2 topics were derived from the modified Skindex-16 by Kadyk et al [22], and 3 topics were based on expert recommendations from the first survey.



Table 1. Topics meeting consensus for inclusion after the initial Delphi survey.

Topics <sup>a</sup>	Content validity index <sup>b</sup>	Median (SD) <sup>c</sup>
Symptoms		
Itching of your skin <sup>d,e,f,g</sup>	1.0	4.0 (0.24)
Emotions		
Your skin condition persisting or reoccurring <sup>d</sup>	0.94	4.0 (0.58)
Your skin condition's appearance <sup>d</sup>	0.91	4.0 (0.65)
Frustration because of your skin condition <sup>d,e,f</sup>	0.91	4.0 (0.66)
Feeling embarrassed <sup>d,e,f,g</sup> or ashamed <sup>e</sup> because of your skin condition <sup>h</sup>	0.82-0.91	3.5-4.0 (0.66-0.84)
Feeling uncomfortable because of your skin condition <sup>i</sup>	0.91	4.0 (0.75)
Feeling annoyed or irritated because of your skin condition <sup>d,e,i</sup>	0.85	3.5 (0.87)
Feeling depressed because of your skin condition <sup>d,e</sup>	0.85	4.0 (0.82)
Lack of self-confidence because of your skin condition <sup>f</sup>	0.82	4.0 (0.85)
Concern about what others think about you because of your skin condition <sup>f</sup>	0.82	4.0 (0.86)
Functions of daily living		
Effects of your skin condition on your daily activities <sup>d</sup>	0.97	4.0 (0.38)
Your skin condition interfering with your sleep <sup>e,i</sup>	0.97	4.0 (0.53)
Social and physical functions		
Effects of your skin condition on your social or leisure activities <sup>e,f,g,k</sup>	0.88	4.0 (0.70)
Effects of your skin condition on your interactions with others (for example, your partner, friends, or relatives) <sup>d,e</sup>	0.85	4.0 (0.81)
Work/school functions		
Difficulties using your hands at work because of your skin condition <sup>i,j</sup>	0.91	4.0 (0.75)
Difficulties working or studying because of your skin condition <sup>d,e,g,k</sup>	0.85	4.0 (0.75)
Concerns that you may lose your job (either because you need to quit or are fired) due to your skin condition <sup>i,j,l</sup>	0.85	4.0 (0.82-0.83)
Effects of your skin condition on your finances <sup>i</sup>	0.79	4.0 (0.94)
Treatment		
Problems from the treatment of your skin condition (for example, taking up time or being messy) <sup>g,m</sup>	0.88	3.5 (0.77)

<sup>a</sup>Topics are intended to ask patients how often they have been bothered by them.

<sup>b</sup>The proportion of physicians ranking a topic's relevance as 3 or 4 on a 4-point Likert scale: (1) not relevant, (2) somewhat relevant, (3) relevant, or (4) very relevant. All values are based on a total of 34 physicians completing the survey.

<sup>c</sup>Values are based on relevance scoring using a 4-point scale, as noted previously.

<sup>d</sup>Topics derived from the Skindex-16 [21].

<sup>e</sup>Topics derived from the Skindex-29 [18,19].

<sup>f</sup>Topics derived from the Dermatology-Specific Quality of Life (DSQL) instrument [15].

<sup>g</sup>Topics derived from the Dermatology Life Quality Index (DLQI) [17].

<sup>h</sup>The following topics were combined: "embarrassment because of your skin condition" and "feeling ashamed of your skin condition." Listed values display the range of values for the combined topics.

<sup>i</sup>Topics derived from a contact dermatitis (CD)-specific quality of life measure from Ayala et al [14].

<sup>j</sup>Topics derived from the 36-item Short Form Health Survey [20].

<sup>k</sup>Topics derived from a modified Skindex-16 from Kadyk et al for use in allergic CD [22].

<sup>1</sup>The following topics were combined: "concerns that you may need to quit your job because of your skin condition" and "concerns about being fired from your job because of your skin condition." The range of standard deviations is listed; other values for the two combined topics were the same.

XSL•FO RenderX

<sup>m</sup>Prior to the development of a treatment domain in the second round of surveying, this topic was initially categorized under functions of daily living.

Table 2. Topics meeting consensus for inclusion after the second Delphi survey.

Topics <sup>a</sup>	Content validity index <sup>b</sup>	Median (SD) <sup>c</sup>
Functions of daily living		
Limitations in shaving or wearing makeup because of your skin condition <sup>d</sup>	0.88	4.0 (0.86)
Treatment		
Lack of treatment success using recommended remedies for your skin condition <sup>e</sup>	1	4.0 (0.51)
Difficulty finding products that are safe for your skin <sup>e</sup>	0.94	4.0 (0.62)
The cost of products that are safe for your skin <sup>e</sup>	0.82	4.0 (0.93)

<sup>a</sup>Topics are intended to ask patients how often they have been bothered by them.

<sup>b</sup>The proportion of physicians ranking a topic's relevance as 3 or 4 on a 4-point Likert scale: (1) not relevant, (2) somewhat relevant, (3) relevant, or (4) very relevant. All values are based on a total of 34 physicians completing the survey.

<sup>c</sup>Values are based on relevance scoring using a 4-point scale, as noted previously.

<sup>d</sup>Topics derived from the Dermatology-Specific Quality of Life (DSQL) instrument [15].

<sup>e</sup>Topics added to the second survey round based on expert recommendations from the first survey.

# Discussion

There are multiple tools to assess QoL in dermatology; however, few of these tools have been validated for use in CD. The 36-item Short Form Health Survey is frequently used in dermatology as a broad questionnaire to assess a wide variety of skin concerns. The DLQI, DSQL instrument for CD, Skindex-16 and its modified versions, and Skindex-29 are more commonly used tools for measuring QoL specifically in CD [38]. However, there are many aspects important for assessing QoL that are not completely incorporated into these questionnaires [39]. Some areas lacking in these questionnaires include psychosocial impact, impact on occupation, and treatment concerns. For these reasons, we developed a new QoL tool specific to CD that can adequately assess all important aspects of QoL in one complete questionnaire. This tool aims to increase detection of QoL changes related to CD in order to better assess disease-related QoL, disease progression, and response to therapies.

Previously validated tools such as the Skindex-16 and the Skindex-29 were used to aid the creation of our new tool. Topics such as those exploring stinging or burning of the skin, irritation of the skin, and worry caused by the skin condition are all validated questions present in the Skindex-16 and also included in the CDQL; these overlapping topics are indicated in Table 1. In terms of more recently published QoL measures, the disease-specific questionnaire for allergic contact dermatitis proposed by Botto et al [35] explores a variety of topics that are also included in the CDQL, such as "concern for infecting others because of your skin condition" and "I am bothered by cracking of my skin." While the CDQL includes similar types of questions under the categories of function, emotions, and symptoms, it also further addresses topics of "functions of daily living" and "work and school function," allowing for a more complete understanding of the impact this skin condition has on patients' daily lives. For example, we include impacts on types of clothes worn, the ability to participate in certain sports,

https://derma.jmir.org/2021/2/e30620

and the duration of time needed to find treatment or care for their condition. Additionally, our tool examines contact dermatitis more broadly, rather than focusing on the specific subset of allergic contact dermatitis, allowing for a more universal application of the tool.

The Delphi technique, a series of successive questionnaires aimed at determining opinion consensus among a group of experts [40], was used to formulate the CDQL. The strength of this technique comes from its ability to efficiently achieve consensus on topics of uncertainty [41]. Furthermore, the controlled feedback following each round of the questionnaire can broaden thinking and stimulate new ideas among experts [42]. However, the weakness of the Delphi technique typically stems from a lack of agreement on how consensus is defined [43]. Varying interpretations and methodology to define consensus and validity can diminish the credibility of this technique.

The precedent is to deem the content validity of an instrument excellent if the following criteria are met: (1) The CVIs for individual topics are  $\geq 0.78$  when at least 6 experts are assessing the relevance of the topics, and (2) the CVI of the total scale (when calculated in the same manner as for this study) is  $\geq 0.90$ [27,28,36]. The final individual topics included in this tool had CVIs ranging from 0.79 to 1.0. However, the CVI of the total scale was 0.85, falling slightly below the previously determined 0.90 standard to be considered excellent. Of note, some studies recommend a minimum total scale CVI of 0.80 [44]. While this may be a more realistic benchmark for the total CVI, some researchers have argued that a total scale CVI of 0.90 would better protect against exceedingly low individual CVIs (eg, <0.4) [36]. As the CDQL had final individual topic CVIs ranging from 0.79 to 1.0, a total scale CVI  $\geq$ 0.80 may be a suitable indication of content validity.

One limitation of this study was the long length of the surveys, which likely played a role in the lower survey completion rate. Additionally, while a typical Delphi method would have

XSL•FO RenderX

consisted of an initial survey with a series of open-ended questions intended to generate a list of QoL issues [45], this was replaced by a literature search in this study. Nevertheless, experts were still given the opportunity in the first survey to note additional topics that they felt were relevant. Additionally, while this study did not directly incorporate patient feedback during development of the scale, the second round of surveying incorporated unique topics from another recent study [35] aimed at developing a QoL index for allergic CD based on patient interviews. This index is intended for use in conjunction with another more comprehensive QoL scale, whereas the CDQL is designed to be sufficient by itself for assessing QoL in CD. Furthermore, 1 respondent to the initial survey felt that the questionnaire was limited by its lack of items incorporating intensity and localization of CD. However, these factors are specific to disease severity and the CDQL is meant to be used in combination with, not in lieu of, a validated disease severity tool. As previously noted, the degree of impact of CD on QoL may not always correlate with disease severity [14].

Future studies are planned to further establish the CDQL's validity, reliability, and responsiveness to changes in QoL. It is hoped that the resulting validated outcomes instrument will be suitable for use in both clinical practice and research to quantitatively determine the effect of health care interventions on QoL among patients with CD.

#### **Funding Sources**

None.

# **Authors' Contributions**

MKH performed data collection, data analysis, and manuscript writing. MRL performed data analysis and manuscript writing. RPD performed manuscript editing and direction for the study. CWR performed manuscript writing and editing. CIH performed manuscript editing. CAD conceived of the study and performed manuscript editing and direction for the study.

# **Conflicts of Interest**

RPD is the Editor-in-Chief of *JMIR Dermatology*, but had no role in the evaluation of this work for publication.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Initial questionnaire sent to registrants of the 2018 American Contact Dermatitis Society meeting. [DOCX File, 32 KB - derma v4i2e30620 app1.docx ]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Second round of the questionnaire sent out to respondents. [DOCX File, 34 KB - derma v4i2e30620 app2.docx ]

Multimedia Appendix 3 Contact Dermatitis Quality of Life Index. [DOCX File , 19 KB - derma v4i2e30620 app3.docx ]

#### References

- 1. Murawski MM, Miederhoff PA. On the generalizability of statistical expressions of health related quality of life instrument responsiveness: a data synthesis. Qual Life Res 1998 Jan;7(1):11-22. [doi: <u>10.1023/a:1008828720272</u>] [Medline: <u>9481147</u>]
- Augustin M, Langenbruch AK, Gutknecht M, Radtke MA, Blome C. Quality of life measures for dermatology: definition, evaluation, and interpretation. Curr Dermatol Rep 2012 Aug 9;1(3):148-159 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s13671-012-0020-z] [Medline: 30311153]
- 3. Anderson RT, Rajagopalan R. Effects of allergic dermatosis on health-related quality of life. Curr Allergy Asthma Rep 2001 Jul;1(4):309-315. [doi: 10.1007/s11882-001-0041-3] [Medline: 11892052]
- Hachem JP, De Paepe K, Sterckx G, Kaufman L, Rogiers V, Roseeuw D. Evaluation of biophysical and clinical parameters of skin barrier function among hospital workers. Contact Dermatitis 2002 Apr;46(4):220-223. [doi: 10.1034/j.1600-0536.2002.460406.x] [Medline: 12081700]
- Holness DL. Results of a quality of life questionnaire in a patch test clinic population. Contact Dermatitis 2001 Mar;44(2):80-84. [doi: <u>10.1034/j.1600-0536.2001.440204.x</u>] [Medline: <u>11205408</u>]
- 6. Hutchings CV, Shum KW, Gawkrodger DJ. Occupational contact dermatitis has an appreciable impact on quality of life. Contact Dermatitis 2001 Jul;45(1):17-20. [doi: <u>10.1034/j.1600-0536.2001.045001017.x</u>] [Medline: <u>11422262</u>]
- Meding B, Swanbeck G. Consequences of having hand eczema. Contact Dermatitis 1990 Jul;23(1):6-14. [doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0536.1990.tb00076.x] [Medline: 2144814]
- 8. Nethercott JR, Holness DL. Disease outcome in workers with occupational skin disease. J Am Acad Dermatol 1994 Apr;30(4):569-574. [doi: 10.1016/s0190-9622(94)70064-8] [Medline: 8157783]

RenderX

- 9. Rajagopalan R, Anderson RT. The profile of a patient with contact dermatitis and a suspicion of contact allergy (history, physical characteristics, and dermatology-specific quality of life). Am J Contact Dermat 1997 Mar;8(1):26-31. [Medline: 9066845]
- 10. Rajagopalan R, Anderson RT, Sarma S, Kallal J, Retchin C, Jones J, et al. An economic evaluation of patch testing in the diagnosis and management of allergic contact dermatitis. Am J Contact Dermat 1998 Sep;9(3):149-154. [Medline: 9744907]
- Rajagopalan R, Anderson RT, Sarma S, Retchin C, Jones J. The use of decision-analytical modelling in economic evaluation of patch testing in allergic contact dermatitis. Pharmacoeconomics 1998 Jul;14(1):79-95. [doi: <u>10.2165/00019053-199814010-00008</u>] [Medline: <u>10182197</u>]
- 12. Skoet R, Zachariae R, Agner T. Contact dermatitis and quality of life: a structured review of the literature. Br J Dermatol 2003 Sep;149(3):452-456. [doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2133.2003.05601.x] [Medline: 14510974]
- Thomson KF, Wilkinson SM, Sommer S, Pollock B. Eczema: quality of life by body site and the effect of patch testing. Br J Dermatol 2002 Apr;146(4):627-630. [doi: <u>10.1046/j.1365-2133.2002.04692.x</u>] [Medline: <u>11966694</u>]
- 14. Ayala F, Nino M, Fabbrocini G, Panariello L, Balato N, Foti C, et al. Quality of life and contact dermatitis: a disease-specific questionnaire. Dermatitis 2010 Apr 23;21(2):84-90 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2310/6620.2010.09057] [Medline: 20233546]
- 15. Anderson RT, Rajagopalan R. Development and validation of a quality of life instrument for cutaneous diseases. J Am Acad Dermatol 1997 Jul;37(1):41-50. [doi: <u>10.1016/s0190-9622(97)70210-x</u>] [Medline: <u>9216522</u>]
- 16. Braunberger T, Lynn D, Reimer C, Doctor M, Hill MK, Mounessa J, et al. Disease severity and quality of life measurements in contact dermatitis: a systematic review 2005-2015. Dermatitis 2016;27(6):362-371. [doi: 10.1097/DER.0000000000235] [Medline: 27775978]
- 17. Finlay AY, Khan GK. Dermatology Life Quality Index (DLQI)--a simple practical measure for routine clinical use. Clin Exp Dermatol 1994 May;19(3):210-216. [Medline: <u>8033378</u>]
- Chren MM, Lasek RJ, Quinn LM, Mostow EN, Zyzanski SJ. Skindex, a quality-of-life measure for patients with skin disease: reliability, validity, and responsiveness. J Invest Dermatol 1996 Nov;107(5):707-713 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/1523-1747.ep12365600] [Medline: 8875954]
- Chren MM, Lasek RJ, Quinn LM, Covinsky KE. Convergent and discriminant validity of a generic and a disease-specific instrument to measure quality of life in patients with skin disease. J Invest Dermatol 1997 Jan;108(1):103-107 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/1523-1747.ep12285650] [Medline: 8980297]
- Ware JE, Sherbourne CD. The MOS 36-item short-form health survey (SF-36). I. Conceptual framework and item selection. Med Care 1992 Jun;30(6):473-483. [Medline: <u>1593914</u>]
- 21. Chren MM, Lasek RJ, Sahay AP, Sands LP. Measurement properties of Skindex-16: a brief quality-of-life measure for patients with skin diseases. J Cutan Med Surg 2001;5(2):105-110. [doi: 10.1007/BF02737863] [Medline: 11443481]
- 22. Kadyk DL, McCarter K, Achen F, Belsito DV. Quality of life in patients with allergic contact dermatitis. J Am Acad Dermatol 2003 Dec;49(6):1037-1048. [doi: 10.1016/s0190-9622(03)02112-1] [Medline: 14639382]
- 23. Yousouf MI. The Delphi technique. Essays in Education 2007;20(8):80-89. [doi: 10.1108/17538370910930545]
- 24. Diamond IR, Grant RC, Feldman BM, Pencharz PB, Ling SC, Moore AM, et al. Defining consensus: a systematic review recommends methodologic criteria for reporting of Delphi studies. J Clin Epidemiol 2014 Apr;67(4):401-409. [doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2013.12.002] [Medline: 24581294]
- 25. Green P. The Content of a College-Level Outdoor Leadership Course. 1982 Presented at: the Conference of the Northwest District Association for the American Alliance for Health, Physical Education, Recreation, and Dance; 1982; Spokane, Washington p. 140678032.
- 26. Hsu C, Sandford B. The Delphi technique: making sense of consensus. Practical assessment, research & evaluation 2007;12:1-8. [doi: 10.4018/978-1-4666-0074-4.ch011]
- 27. Lynn MR. Determination and quantification of content validity. Nurs Res 1986;35(6):382-385. [Medline: <u>3640358</u>]
- 28. Polit DF, Beck CT. The content validity index: are you sure you know what's being reported? Critique and recommendations. Res Nurs Health 2006 Oct;29(5):489-497. [doi: 10.1002/nur.20147] [Medline: 16977646]
- Bulathsinhala L, Eleangovan N, Heaney LG, Menzies-Gow A, Gibson PG, Peters M, et al. Development of the International Severe Asthma Registry (ISAR): a modified Delphi study. J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract 2019 Feb;7(2):578-588.e2. [doi: 10.1016/j.jaip.2018.08.016] [Medline: <u>30179741</u>]
- 30. Ghorbani N, Ahmadi M, Sadoughi F, Abadi A, Ghanei M. Developing Research Information System in Health Sector: a Delphi Study. Aust J Basic & Appl Sci 2012;6(8):124-132 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 23641388]
- 31. Ayesa-Arriola R, Terán JMP, Moríñigo JDL, Rivero MC, Setién-Suero E, Al-Halabi S, et al. The dynamic relationship between insight and suicidal behavior in first episode psychosis patients over 3-year follow-up. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 2018 Oct;28(10):1161-1172. [doi: 10.1016/j.euroneuro.2018.05.005] [Medline: 30097249]
- 32. Uegaki K, de Bruijne MC, Anema JR, van der Beek AJ, van Tulder MW, van Mechelen W. Consensus-based findings and recommendations for estimating the costs of health-related productivity loss from a company's perspective. Scand J Work Environ Health 2007 Apr;33(2):122-130 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5271/sjweh.1115] [Medline: 17460800]
- 33. Farzandipour M, Ahmadi M, Sadoughi F, Karimi Irajk I. Adopting confidentiality principles for electronic health records in iran: a delphi study. J Med Syst 2011 Jun;35(3):333-343. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10916-009-9370-x</u>] [Medline: <u>20703556</u>]

RenderX

- Ahmadi M, Mohammadi A, Chraghbaigi R, Fathi T, Shojaee Baghini M. Developing a minimum data set of the information management system for orthopedic injuries in iran. Iran Red Crescent Med J 2014 Jul;16(7):e17020 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5812/ircmj.17020] [Medline: 25237576]
- 35. Botto N, Raffi J, Trivedi M, Ramirez F, Allen IE, Chren M. Validating a quality-of-life instrument for allergic contact dermatitis. Dermatitis 2019;30(5):300-305. [doi: <u>10.1097/DER.00000000000515</u>] [Medline: <u>31524758</u>]
- 36. Waltz CF, Strickland OL, Lenz ER. Measurement in Nursing and Health Research, 3rd Edition. New York, NY: Springer Publishing Company; 2005.
- 37. Harris PA, Taylor R, Thielke R, Payne J, Gonzalez N, Conde JG. Research electronic data capture (REDCap)--a metadata-driven methodology and workflow process for providing translational research informatics support. J Biomed Inform 2009 Apr;42(2):377-381 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2008.08.010] [Medline: 18929686]
- Swietlik J, Reeder M. Current quality-of-life tools available for use in contact dermatitis. Dermatitis 2016;27(4):176-185. [doi: <u>10.1097/DER.00000000000192</u>] [Medline: <u>27427819</u>]
- 39. Lau MYZ, Burgess JA, Nixon R, Dharmage SC, Matheson MC. A review of the impact of occupational contact dermatitis on quality of life. J Allergy (Cairo) 2011;2011:964509 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1155/2011/964509] [Medline: 21603173]
- 40. Linstone HA, Turoff M. The Delphi Method: Techniques and Applications. Boston, MA: Addison Wesley Publishing Company; 1975.
- 41. Murphy MK, Black NA, Lamping DL, McKee CM, Sanderson CF, Askham J, et al. Consensus development methods, and their use in clinical guideline development. Health Technol Assess 1998;2(3):i-88 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>9561895</u>]
- 42. Pill J. The Delphi method: substance, context, a critique and an annotated bibliography. Socio-Econ Plan Sci 1971 Feb;5(1):57-71. [doi: 10.1016/0038-0121(71)90041-3]
- 43. Powell C. The Delphi technique: myths and realities. J Adv Nurs 2003 Feb;41(4):376-382. [Medline: 12581103]
- 44. Davis LL. Instrument review: getting the most from a panel of experts. Appl Nurs Res 1992 Nov;5(4):194-197 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S0897-1897(05)80008-4]
- 45. Thangaratinam S, Redman CW. The Delphi technique. Obstet Gynaecol 2011 Jan 24:120-125.

#### Abbreviations

ACDS: American Contact Dermatitis Society CD: contact dermatitis CDQL: Contact Dermatitis Quality of Life index CVI: content validity index DLQI: Dermatology Life Quality Index DSQL: Dermatology-Specific Quality of Life instrument NIH/NCRR CSTI: National Institutes of Health/National Center for Research Resources Colorado Clinical and Translational Science Institute QoL: quality of life RCT: randomized controlled trial REDCap: Research Electronic Data Capture

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 21.05.21; peer-reviewed by IV George, M Muzzolon, J Yu; comments to author 22.09.21; revised version received 19.10.21; accepted 17.11.21; published 16.12.21.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Hill MK, Laughter MR, Harmange CI, Dellavalle RP, Rundle CW, Dunnick CA The Contact Dermatitis Quality of Life Index (CDQL): Survey Development and Content Validity Assessment JMIR Dermatol 2021;4(2):e30620 URL: <u>https://derma.jmir.org/2021/2/e30620</u> doi:10.2196/30620 PMID:<u>37632827</u>

©Mary K Hill, Melissa R Laughter, Cecile I Harmange, Robert P Dellavalle, Chandler W Rundle, Cory A Dunnick. Originally published in JMIR Dermatology (http://derma.jmir.org), 16.12.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Dermatology Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://derma.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Original Paper

# Supporting Self-management Among Young People With Acne Vulgaris Through a Web-Based Behavioral Intervention: Development and Feasibility Randomized Controlled Trial

Athena Ip<sup>1,2</sup>, MSc, PhD; Ingrid Muller<sup>1</sup>, MSc, PhD; Adam W A Geraghty<sup>1</sup>, MSc, PhD; Kate Rumsby<sup>1</sup>, BA, MSc; Beth Stuart<sup>1</sup>, MSc, PhD; Paul Little<sup>1</sup>, MD, PhD, FRCGP, FMedSci; Miriam Santer<sup>1</sup>, MBBCHIR, MRCGP, PhD

<sup>1</sup>Primary Care, Population Sciences and Medical Education, University of Southampton, Southampton, United Kingdom <sup>2</sup>School of Health Sciences, University of Surrey, Guildford, United Kingdom

# **Corresponding Author:**

Athena Ip, MSc, PhD Primary Care, Population Sciences and Medical Education University of Southampton Aldermoor Health Centre Aldermoor Close Southampton, SO16 5ST United Kingdom Phone: 44 (023) 8059 1779 Email: <u>a.ip@soton.ac.uk</u>

# Abstract

**Background:** Acne is a common skin condition that is most prevalent in young people. It can have a substantial impact on the quality of life, which can be minimized with the appropriate use of topical treatments. Nonadherence to topical treatments for acne is common and often leads to treatment failure.

**Objective:** The aim of this study is to develop a web-based behavioral intervention to support the self-management of acne and to assess the feasibility of recruitment, retention, and engagement of users with the intervention.

**Methods:** The intervention was developed iteratively using the LifeGuide software and following the person-based approach for intervention development. The target behavior was *appropriate use of topical treatments*. Barriers and facilitators identified from the qualitative research and evidence from the wider literature were used to identify techniques to improve and promote their use. Young people with acne aged 14-25 years who had received treatment for acne in the past 6 months were invited to participate through mail-out from primary care practices in the South of England in a parallel, unblinded randomized trial. Participants were automatically randomized using a computer-generated algorithm to usual care or to usual care plus access to the web-based intervention. Usage data was collected, and a series of questionnaires, including the primary outcome measure for skin-specific quality of life (Skindex-16), were collected at baseline and at the 4- and 6-week follow-ups.

**Results:** A total of 1193 participants were invited, and 53 young people with acne were randomized to usual care (27/53, 51%) or usual care plus intervention (26/53, 49%). The response rate for the primary outcome measure (Skindex-16) was 87% at 4 weeks, 6 weeks, and at both time points. The estimate of mean scores between groups (with 95% CI) using linear regression showed a trend in the direction of benefit for the web-based intervention group in the primary outcome measure (Skindex-16) and secondary measures (Patient Health Questionnaire-4 and the Problematic Experiences of Therapy Scale). Intervention usage data showed high uptake of the core module in the usual care plus web-based intervention group, with 88% (23/26) of participants completing the module. Uptake of the optional modules was low, with less than half visiting each (myth-busting quiz: 27%; living with spots or acne: 42%; oral antibiotics: 19%; what are spots or acne: 27%; other treatments: 27%; talking to your general practitioner: 12%).

**Conclusions:** This study demonstrated the feasibility of delivering a trial of a web-based intervention to support self-management in young people with acne. Additional work is needed before a full definitive trial, including enhancing engagement with the intervention, recruitment, and follow-up rates.

Trial Registration: ISRCTN 78626638; https://tinyurl.com/n4wackrw

RenderX

#### (JMIR Dermatol 2021;4(2):e25918) doi:10.2196/25918

#### **KEYWORDS**

feasibility study; acne vulgaris; intervention study; self-management; primary care; acne; dermatology

#### Introduction

Acne is a common condition that is most prevalent among adolescents, affecting >85% of adolescents at some point [1-3]. It can have a substantial physical and psychological impact; however, its main effects are on quality of life (QoL) [4]. First-line treatments for acne are topical treatments that work well at improving acne [5] and have been shown to improve QoL when used appropriately [6,7]. However, studies have highlighted how adherence to topical treatments is poor [8], and discontinuing treatment is associated with a rapid increase in microcomedones, resulting in more acne lesions and subsequent treatment failure [9].

A limited number of interventions have been developed to improve adherence to acne treatments [10-15], many of which have significant shortcomings. A systematic review of the effect of mobile and electronic health technology on adherence [16] (SMS text message reminders [12], telephone call reminders [13], an internet-based education tool [11], and an internet-based survey [14]) found that a weekly internet-based survey was more effective than telephone-based reminders. However, the sample size was small and not powered to determine significance [14]. Other studies included in the review also had small sample sizes ranging between 40 and 61 participants and no power calculations, which may have limited their ability to detect statistically significant differences. To our knowledge, none of these interventions have been informed by theory or developed using robust methods. Interventions developed using theory have proven to be more effective than those without a theoretical base [17].

There is also little information on recruiting through primary care in acne trials. One randomized controlled trial (RCT) investigating the use of supplementary patient educational materials on adherence recruited patients from primary care clinics in the United Kingdom; however, there was no calculation for sample size [10]. As there is very little information regarding uptake and retention rates for this group, further feasibility trials are needed to establish this.

Feasibility trials are an essential part of complex intervention development [18]. However, few interventions for acne have been subjected to feasibility or pilot testing [11,13,19] and, as a result, these trials may have a number of issues around

acceptability, delivery, recruitment, and retention and are often small in sample size [20].

In this study, we describe the development of a web-based behavioral intervention to support self-management of acne. We also present the results of a feasibility randomized trial delivering this intervention to young people with acne recruited through primary care.

# Methods

#### **Development of Web-Based Intervention**

The Template for Intervention Description and Replication (TIDieR) guideline [21] was used to facilitate the appropriate reporting of intervention development.

#### Person-Based Approach

The intervention was developed using the Person-Based Approach (PBA) for planning, developing, and evaluating the feasibility of the intervention [22]. The aim of this method is to ground the intervention in the views and experiences of the people who will use it to ensure that it is persuasive, accessible, and engaging for the target population [22]. The PBA involves in-depth qualitative research to identify key objectives and barriers and facilitators to target behaviors [22]. We carried out a systematic review and synthesis of qualitative research to explore the qualitative literature on acne among patients, carers, and health care professionals [23]. The review protocol was registered on PROSPERO (International Prospective Register of Systematic Reviews; registration number CRD42016050525). A secondary analysis of qualitative interviews with people with acne was also carried out to understand young people's views and experiences with acne and its treatments [24].

#### **Creating Guiding Principles**

Alongside intervention planning, guiding principles were drafted and iteratively developed throughout, identifying distinctive intervention features to address these. This method involved highlighting key objectives from qualitative research (1). to support young people in gaining autonomy and competence around acne management, (2) to support and promote autonomy in making treatment choices, and (3) to provide support and acknowledge the psychological impact of acne (see Table 1 for guiding principles developed for this intervention).



Table 1. Guiding principles.

Key intervention objectives		Patient characteris- tics	tient characteris- Evidence for key behavioral issues C				
				Design objectives	Key (distinctive) intervention features		
•	To improve the lives of young people with ac- ne To promote self-manage- ment of acne To promote the appropriate use of topical treat- ments	Young people who have mild to moder- ate acne vulgaris	<ul> <li>Little knowledge about acne and its treatments (QR)<sup>a</sup></li> <li>Young people can be confused with the myths and misconceptions around acne and are unaware or unwilling to acknowledge that acne requires ongoing treatment.</li> <li>Low motivation to engage with long-term treatment (QR)</li> <li>Certain beliefs about the causation of acne may affect people's perceived necessity of treatment.</li> <li>Difficulty judging efficacy of topical treatments (QR)</li> <li>Belief that topical treatments do little and are only keeping their acne at bay may result in early abandonment of treatment.</li> <li>Difficulty overcoming barriers (QR)</li> <li>Young people can be uncertain about how to manage side effects of treatment, financial constraints, lengthy routines, and uncertainties around how to use medication.</li> <li>Confusion between cosmetic and medical treatments for acne (QR)</li> <li>Young people perceive they have tried all the topical treatments available</li> </ul>	To support young people in gaining autonomy and com- petence around acne management	<ul> <li>Offer users choice wherever possible</li> <li>Minimize disruption to lifestyle</li> <li>Dispel myths and misconceptions about the causes of acne</li> <li>Autonomy-supportive language</li> <li>Ensure they have a complete understanding of acne and the rationale behind their treatment</li> <li>To build their self-efficacy for the target behaviors (eg, 4-week challenge to support patients to formulate a personal goal or action plan, advice on how to minimize side effects including skin irritation, and a video with step-by-step instructions on how and when to apply topical treatments)</li> <li>Educational information or rationale supported by scientific evidence (topical treatments are equally as effective as antibiotics)</li> <li>Stories and testimonials to model successful management using topical treatments and explain how they work</li> </ul>		
		•	<ul> <li>Need for control over treatment choice and disease (SR)<sup>b</sup></li> <li>Young people want control over their treatment choice as well as their condition and this has been shown to improve adherence and psychological impact</li> </ul>	To support and pro- mote autonomy for making treatment choices	<ul> <li>Provide advice on how people can effectively communicate with their GP<sup>c</sup></li> <li>Invite, acknowledge, and value views or preferences (eg, CAM<sup>d</sup> therapies)</li> <li>Provide a list of topical treatments and explain how they work</li> <li>Offering user choice wherever possible</li> <li>Autonomy-supportive language throughout</li> </ul>		

RenderX

Key intervention objectives	Patient characteris- tics	Evidence for key behavioral issues	Guiding principles		
			Design objectives	Key (distinctive) intervention features	
		<ul> <li>Difficulty dealing with psycholog- ical issues (SR and QR)</li> <li>Young people can be unsure about how to cope with the psychologi- cal impact of acne, including de- pressive symptoms, stress, anxi- ety, and embarrassment</li> <li>Difficulty presenting psychologi- cal issues to HCP<sup>e</sup> (SR)</li> <li>Young people may be unwilling to present psychological problems to their HCP</li> </ul>	To provide support and acknowledge the psychological im- pact of acne	<ul> <li>Acknowledge the psychological impact of acne (eg, (1) emphasize that everyone with a skin disease can be at risk of psychological symptoms and (2) provide patient stories about how they dealt with the impact of acne)</li> <li>Provide advice on how people can effectively communicate with their GP</li> <li>Provide advice on different coping strategies</li> </ul>	

<sup>a</sup>QR: qualitative research (barriers identified from the secondary analysis of qualitative interview data [24]).

<sup>b</sup>SR: systematic review (barriers emerged from systematic review and synthesis of qualitative papers on acne) [23].

<sup>c</sup>GP: general practitioner.

<sup>d</sup>CAM: complementary and alternative medicine.

<sup>e</sup>HCP: health care practitioner.

#### **Target Behavior**

The hypothesized outcome of the intervention was to improve QoL for young people with acne through the target behavior *appropriate use of topical treatments*. This target behavior was chosen as it has been shown that effective use of topical treatments can improve acne [5] and benefit QoL [6,7]. For addressing this target behavior, barriers and facilitators identified from the qualitative research were described along with the proposed intervention element.

Evidence from the literature and qualitative research (including the systematic review and synthesis of qualitative data [23] and the secondary analysis of interview data with young people [24]) highlighted several barriers to the appropriate use of topical treatments that needed to be addressed in the intervention. These included concerns about side effects, confusion about the different types of topical treatments, beliefs around the ineffectiveness of topical treatments, belief that acne is a short-term condition that will resolve on its own, confusion about how to use treatment, the time-consuming nature of topical treatments, and the belief that oral treatments were more effective than topical treatments.

## **Behavioral Analysis**

Alongside the PBA, a behavioral analysis was carried out to map the intervention components to the behavior change taxonomy, which is a list of consensually agreed techniques for specifying interventions [25]. The behavioral analysis showed that the intervention targeted nine behavior change techniques from the 93 behavior change taxonomies [25]. A central behavior change technique was instructions on how to perform the behavior in terms of advice about choosing the right topical treatment and instructions and demonstrations on how to use topical treatments appropriately. The intervention components were also mapped onto the COM-B model, part of the behavior change wheel [26], to map the target constructs and functions for the intervention [26]. This included six target constructs (physical capability, psychological capability, physical opportunity, social opportunity, automatic motivation, and reflective motivation) and five intervention functions (persuasion, education, training, enablement, and modeling).

Qualitative research showed the Extended Common Sense Model of Illness [27] to be a useful model for understanding how people with acne conceptualize illness and treatment and was therefore used in the behavioral analysis to check that all important components of the model were covered in the intervention (Table 2).



Table 2. Behavioral analysis of Spotless intervention.

Barrier or facilitator for target be-	Spotless module	Target construct (BCW) <sup>b</sup>	Intervention	Behavior change technique	Target construct
havior <sup>a</sup> and intervention compo-			function (BCW)	(using 93 BCTTv1) <sup>c</sup>	(ECSM) <sup>d</sup>
nent					

# Concerns about side effects from topical treatments (eg, dry skin and bleaching; $QR^e$ and $SR^f$ ). Fabbrocini et al [28]: having no side effects was reported as one of the most important attributes of topical treatments (EBL<sup>g</sup>)

Provide persuasive and credi- ble information about the side effects of topicals and their safety via scientific evidence and personal stories	Core treatments	Psychological capability, reflective motivation, and social opportunity	Education, per- suasion, and modeling	<ul> <li>5.1. Information about health consequences</li> <li>6.2. Social comparison</li> <li>6.3. Information about others' approval</li> <li>9.1. Credible source</li> </ul>	Beliefs about necessity and concerns over its use
Provide advice on how to choose the right topical	Core treatments	Psychological capability	Training and education	4.1. Instructions on how to perform the behavior	Beliefs about necessity and concerns over its use

Confusion about the different types of topical treatments resulting in difficulty with making own treatment choices (QR and SR)

Provide advice on how to choose the right topical	Core treatments	Psychological capability	Training and education	4.1. Instructions on how to perform the behavior	Curability or controllability
Provide information about different topicals (eg, most common or least common topicals and how they work)	Core treatments	Psychological capability	Education	5.1. Information about health consequences	Curability or controllability

#### Belief that topical treatments do little to help as they are only keeping their acne at bay (QR)

•	Provide persuasive and credible information about the effectiveness of topicals via scientific evidence and personal stories Provide rationale for how topicals control ac- ne Explain via personal sto- ries or video that it can take time for topical treatments to work	Core treatments	Psychological capability, reflective motivation, and social opportunity	Education, per- suasion, and modeling	•	<ul><li>5.1. Information about health consequences</li><li>6.2. Social comparison</li><li>6.3. Information about others' approval</li><li>9.1. Credible source</li></ul>	Beliefs about necessity
Pro mon app each cha	vide a chart for them to hitor how their skin is after lying topical treatments in day as part of the 4-week llenge	Core treatments	Reflective motivation	Education and persuasion	•	<ul><li>5.1. Information about health consequences</li><li>2.3. Self-monitoring of outcomes of behavior</li></ul>	Beliefs about necessity

Belief that acne is a short-term condition caused by puberty and therefore it will go away on its own (QR); McNiven [29]: belief that acne is a cosmetic problem rather than a medical condition (EBL)



JMIR DERMATOLOGY Ip et al							
Barrier or facilitator for target b havior <sup>a</sup> and intervention compo- nent	e- Spotless module	Target construct (BCW) <sup>b</sup>	Intervention function (BCW)	Behavior change technique (using 93 BCTTv1) <sup>c</sup>	Target construct (ECSM) <sup>d</sup>		
<ul> <li>Provide information of the causes of acne and dispel misconceptions using a myth-busting quiz</li> <li>Provide persuasive and credible information about how acne can be effectively managed us ing treatment, includir scientific evidence and personal stories</li> <li>Provide information about what acne is, the importance of treating early, and information about referrals</li> <li>Provide advice on whe</li> </ul>	n Myth-busting quiz; What are spots or acne; Talking to your GP <sup>i</sup>	Psychological capability, reflective motivation, so- cial opportunity, and phys- ical opportunity	Education, modeling, per- suasion, and training	<ul> <li>4.1. Instructions on how to perform the be- havior</li> <li>5.1. Information about health consequences</li> <li>6.2. Social comparison</li> <li>6.3. Information about others' approval</li> <li>9.1. Credible source</li> </ul>	Cause, timeline, and identity		
to see an HCP <sup>h</sup> about acne Provide advice on speaking with an HCP							

Lack of skills regarding how to apply topicals and for how long (QR); Myhill et al [10]: supplementary patient education materials and video about application of topical treatment led to improved adherence (EBL); Sandoval et al [19]: education via physical demonstration led to 15% overall higher adherence rates (EBL)

•	Provide written instruc- tions and an instructional video on how to use top- ical treatments correctly	Core treatments	Physical capability, social opportunity, and reflective motivation	Training, model- ing, and persua- sion	<ul> <li>4.1. Instructions on how to perform the be- havior</li> <li>6.1. Demonstration of the behavior</li> <li>6.2. Social comparison</li> <li>6.3. Information about others' approval</li> <li>9.1. Credible source</li> </ul>	Concerns over its use
4-v cha the hav me	week challenge: provide a art to help people record ir skin condition when they we used their topical treat- nt each day	Core treatments	Reflective motivation	Education and persuasion	<ul> <li>5.1. Information about health consequences</li> <li>2.3. Self-monitoring of outcomes of behavior</li> </ul>	Concerns over its use

Belief that topicals are time-consuming to apply (QR); Rueda [15]: simplifying regimen and considering patient preference increases adherence (EBL)

•	Provide information on how to incorporate topi- cals in everyday life	Core treatments	Psychological capability and automatic motivation	Education and enablement	•	<ul><li>1.4. Action planning</li><li>4.1. Instructions on</li><li>how to perform the be-</li></ul>	Concerns over its use
•	Reassure people that ap-					havior	
	plying topicals should				•	5.3. Information about	
	A dvise people to plan					tal consequences	
•	when to apply their topi- cal					tai consequences	
•	Suggest applying their						
	topical at the same time						
	in the same context each						
	day						

Belief that tablets are easier, stronger, and quicker to take effect than topicals (QR); Santer et al [30] found that some participants preferred oral treatments as they perceived these to be *stronger* than topicals (EBL)

**RenderX** 

about acne

#### Ip et al

Barrier or facilitator for target be- havior <sup>a</sup> and intervention compo- nent		Spotless module	Target construct (BCW) <sup>b</sup>	Intervention function (BCW)	Behavior change technique (using 93 BCTTv1) <sup>c</sup>	Target construct (ECSM) <sup>d</sup>
•	Provide persuasive and credible information about the effectiveness of topicals and antibi- otics via scientific evi- dence and personal sto- ries Provide information about the consequences of long-term oral antibi- otic use	Core treatments and antibiotics	Psychological capability, social opportunity, and re- flective motivation	Education, modeling, and persuasion	<ul> <li>5.1. Information about health consequences</li> <li>6.2. Social comparison</li> <li>6.3. Information about others' approval</li> <li>9.1. Credible source</li> </ul>	Concerns over its use

<sup>a</sup>Target behavior: appropriate use of topical treatments.

<sup>b</sup>BCW: behavior change wheel.

<sup>c</sup>BCTTv1: behavior change technique using the Behavior Change Technique Taxonomy (v1).

<sup>d</sup>ECSM: Extended Common-Sense Model of Illness.

<sup>e</sup>QR: qualitative research (barriers identified from the secondary analysis of published interview data; evidence-based literature).

<sup>f</sup>SR: systematic review (barriers emerged from systematic review and synthesis of qualitative papers on acne); qualitative research.

<sup>G</sup>EBL: barriers and facilitators emerged from a review of literature on acne (including studies testing the effectiveness of interventions to improve adherence to acne treatments).

<sup>h</sup>HCP: health care practitioner.

<sup>1</sup>GP: general practitioner.

#### Web-Based Intervention

The web-based intervention, Spotless, was developed using the LifeGuide software [31]. The intervention was delivered on the web via the internet and included a compulsory core module on topical treatment. This included information about the different types of topical treatments available, how they work, how to use them appropriately, common side effects, and how to manage them. Information was adapted from accurate web-based sources, including National Health Service [32],

National Institute for Health and Care Excellence [33], and the British National Formulary [34]. This was initially carried out by artificial intelligence, and the team (MS, AG, PL, and IM) provided suggestions throughout. The purpose of adapting the information was to ensure that it was easily understood by young persons. An example of this was using information about types of treatments, including how they are used and the side effects, but rewriting this in lay language. Six optional modules were highlighted as important for the self-management of acne in earlier qualitative studies (Textbox 1).

Textbox 1. Overview of intervention.

#### Overview

- When participants first visit the website, they are taken to a *core module* on topical treatments. In the module, they have the option to take part in a 4-week challenge using their choice of topical along with the advice from the website. After completing this module, participants are taken to a main menu page with six optional modules, which they can visit as many times as they want throughout the course of the study. These include *What are spots or acne, Myth-busting quiz, Oral antibiotics, Living with spots or acne, Talking to your general practitioner, and Other treatments* (see Figure 1 for screenshots of the website).
- After the initial visit, participants are taken directly to the main menu page, where they can choose which modules to explore with the option of looking at the *core module* again.
- The intervention includes a *Meet the team* page where participants are able to see who developed the website (general practitioners, psychologists, and academic researchers); quotes adapted from qualitative research and relevant statistics are presented throughout the intervention, and a downloadable chart is available to help participants self-monitor their progress during the 4-week challenge. The intervention also includes audio, visual, and interactive features including a *myth-busting quiz* where participants can answer questions about popular myths and misconceptions around acne.



Figure 1. Screenshots of the Spotless website.



#### Intervention Optimization Using Think-Aloud Interviews

As part of the development stage, think-aloud interviews [35] were carried out with 19 participants with acne using the draft intervention to gather feedback and further modify the intervention. Participants were recruited through mail-out from primary care practices, opportunistic sampling using posters, and advertising via social media. The inclusion criteria for the study were young people aged 14-25 years with acne or those who had consulted about their acne or obtained a prescription for their acne in the past year. Potential participants were excluded if they were outside the age range or did not have acne. General practitioners (GPs) were also asked to screen lists to ensure that the invitation pack was not sent to patients where they felt this would be inappropriate. Face-to-face think-aloud interviews were conducted by following a semistructured interview guide to ensure that all topics were covered while also allowing participants to discuss any concerns they had about the intervention. This process involved asking participants to use the intervention while speaking out their thoughts aloud. Interviews were transcribed and analyzed using a deductive approach to code the data using the objectives of the study (engagement, persuasiveness, and usability) and identify positive and negative comments to aid intervention development.

Overall, participants found the intervention engaging, persuasive, and usable, with some suggestions for changes. Main changes made as a result of the interviews were adding pseudonyms and ages to quotes (these quotes were adapted from the qualitative interview study [24] and included to provide

```
https://derma.jmir.org/2021/2/e25918
```

RenderX

other peoples' experiences in managing acne); changing the context of certain quotes to make them more relatable to the intended user; providing further clarification on how people can manage sun sensitivity as a potential side effect of topical treatments; further clarification on steps for applying topical treatments (time of day and quantity) and what *sensitive areas of the face* referred to; changing the 6-week challenge to 4 weeks as some participants felt that 6 weeks would be too long to commit and based on evidence that topical treatments could take effect sooner [10]; changing the core module name from *universal core treatments* to *core treatments* so that participants would not misinterpret the website as advertising something; and changing the layout of the intervention including the banner, images, and color scheme.

#### **Patient and Public Involvement**

Two public contributors aged 24 and 26 years with experience of acne provided input throughout to enhance the usability and accessibility of the intervention. This included providing feedback to further enhance the intervention before the feasibility trial, commenting on participant facing documents, and advising on the choice of the primary outcome measure for the trial. Comments about the intervention were both positive and negative regarding the layout, content, and appropriateness of the website for the target population. One contributor commented on their preference of the primary outcome measure for the feasibility trial and opted for Skindex-16 [36] over various other skin-specific QoL measures for reasons including the appropriateness of the questions. Input on the participant

facing documents led to changes in wording, making it more appropriate for a layperson and for the target population.

#### **Feasibility Study**

#### **Trial Design**

This was a randomized, unblinded feasibility trial comparing two parallel groups: usual care and usual care plus web-based intervention.

#### Study Population and Eligibility Criteria

The intervention was aimed at young people with acne managed through primary care in the United Kingdom. Participants were recruited through mail-outs from 20 GP practices in the South of England to people aged 14-25 years whose electronic record included a diagnosis of acne and who had received one or more prescriptions for acne in the past 6 months.

People who had previously taken part in the think-aloud study were excluded, as were people who said their acne had cleared and those taking oral isotretinoin, as it is not recommended to use topical acne treatments at the same time as isotretinoin because of the side effects of dry skin.

#### Procedure

Patients aged  $\geq 16$  years, who met the criteria, were sent an *adult* study pack from their GP, and patients <16 years received a child study pack (addressed to the parent or carer). Initially, the pack included an information sheet, a freepost envelope, and a covering letter. Those interested returned a reply slip, and a member of the study team contacted the participant, providing them with a unique participant identification number and the link to the web-based intervention. Amendments were made to the process, and these were approved by both the university and National Health Service ethics committees. Changes included an additional A5 flyer about the study to appeal to the target population and a sign-up sheet providing participants with their unique identification number and a link to the intervention. These changes were essential for assessing the feasibility of the study with a challenging population to recruit. Implied parental consent was approved for participants aged <16 years as invitation letters were sent to the parents; therefore, passing log-in details to their child implied consent. This is because young people from 14 years usually self-manage their acne and are responsible for using topical treatments themselves. The link directed all participants to further information and a web-based consent procedure. After consenting, participants were asked to complete a set of baseline questionnaires before being randomized into 1 of 2 groups. Follow-up questionnaires for the trial were conducted at 4 and 6 weeks as a recent study suggested that topical treatments could take effect within 1 to 4 weeks and that continuation after the 4 weeks would lead to further improvements [10]. Participants received an automated email followed by a reminder email a week after (5 and 7 weeks) if they had not completed these. Further text and subsequent phone follow-ups were conducted for nonresponders to complete the outcome measures, particularly the primary outcome Skindex-16.

## Intervention and Comparator

The usual care group received treatment as usual from their GP, including appointments, prescriptions, and referrals to the dermatologist, if necessary. Participants in this group were given access to the intervention after they had completed the 6-week follow-up questionnaires.

Participants in the usual care plus web-based intervention group received care as usual with immediate access to the website as described to help them self-manage their acne.

#### **Outcome Measures**

We sought to assess a range of feasibility outcomes including the following:

- The rate of recruitment and the number of practices required
- Completion rates of questionnaire outcome measures
- The acceptability of measuring skin-specific QoL using Skindex-16
- The feasibility of a range of quantitative measures
- Intervention usage in terms of number of log-ins and modules accessed

Outcome measures included the following: Skindex-16 [36] was included as a skin-specific QoL measure. Skindex-16 is a validated measure that includes 16 items on a 6-point Likert scale ranging from 0 (never bothered) to 6 (always bothered), which are transformed into a 100-point scale, with higher scores indicating a lower level of QoL [36].

EQ-5D-5L [37] was included as a health-related QoL measure collected at all intervals. It comprised five domains (mobility, self-care, usual activities, pain or discomfort, and anxiety or depression) with five response levels (no problems, slight problems, moderate problems, severe problems, and extreme problems) that describe the current health state. The visual analog scale was also included alongside this [37].

The Problematic Experiences Therapy Scale (PETS) [38] was included and data collected at each interval to explore barriers to treatment adherence. This measure includes 12 items with four subscales: *problems due to symptoms, problems due to uncertainty about therapy, problems due to doubts about treatment efficacy*, and *practical problems*. Participant responses were scored on a scale ranging from 1 (disagree strongly) to 5 (agree strongly), with higher scores indicating fewer barriers to adherence [38].

Participants also completed the Credibility/Expectancy Questionnaire at baseline as a process predictor. It measures how a person thinks and feels about their therapy and its likely success [39]. These are measured using two types of rating scales, one from 1 (not at all) to 9 (very much) and another from 0% (not at all) to 100% (very much), and it provides an overall score ranging from 3-27 for each factor [40].

The Patient Health Questionnaire-4 (PHQ-4) was used to measure anxiety and depression [41] collected at all intervals. This brief screening tool has been shown to be a reliable and valid measure in young people [42] and includes 4 items measured on a 4-point Likert scale ranging from 0 (not at all) to 4 (nearly every day) [41].

```
https://derma.jmir.org/2021/2/e25918
```

XSL•FO RenderX

Treatment monitoring questions were included in order to collect data on what topical treatments participants were using, whether they experienced side effects, how they dealt with these, how often they were using treatment, and any other treatments they were using for their acne.

Sociodemographic questions included age, gender, education, age of onset of acne, and whether living with parents or independently.

#### Sample Size

The target sample size was 65 participants, with 40 in the intervention group and 25 in the usual care group. This was deemed appropriate as guidance on sample sizes in feasibility trials ranged from 12 to >30 participants in each arm [43,44].

#### Randomization

We intended randomizing all participants into 2 groups in a 2:1 ratio using a computer-generated algorithm. However, because of an error in the randomization software, the block randomization was changed to a 1:1 ratio. The sequence was concealed as this was all done via a computer.

#### **Data Collection and Analysis**

Data were automatically collected via the LifeGuide software [31], including information about recruitment, number of log-ins, and which modules or pages participants had accessed. Descriptive statistics were used to describe the data, and outcome measures were analyzed using SPSS version 25 [45]. Linear regression, adjusting for baseline scores, age, gender,

education, and age of onset of acne, was performed to provide estimates of mean scores between groups (with 95% CIs). Intention-to-treat analysis was used, including all participants who were randomized, without imputing missing data. There was no significance testing, as this was a feasibility trial and was not sufficiently powered to seek differences between groups.

#### **Ethics Approval**

The feasibility trial was approved by the National Research Ethics Service Committee east of England (ref: 18/EE/0105) and registered on the ISRCTN registry (78626638).

# Results

#### Recruitment

Recruitment took place from September 2018 to April 2019, and the follow-up ended in June 2019. In total, 1193 invitation letters were sent from 20 primary care practices in the South of England. Of the 1193 invitations sent, we received 92 (7.71%) responses, with 63 (5.28%) agreeing to take part and 29 (2.43%) giving reasons why they could not. Of the 63 participants, 53 (84%) registered on the web and were randomized (usual care: 27/53, 51%; usual care plus web-based intervention: 26/53, 49%). Of the 53 registered participants, 46 (87%) participants completed follow-up at 4 weeks, 6 weeks, or both time points (Figure 2). Five practices carried mail-out using the amended documents, which led to a small increase in participants signing up for the study—from 4.5% to 4.8%.



Figure 2. Flow diagram of recruitment process. \*Problem with LifeGuide randomization procedure incurred delay and participants did not log back in; \*\*Felt like homework; not planning on using topicals; not interested.



#### **Participant Characteristics**

The sample comprised 72% (38/53) female and 28% (15/53) male participants with a mean age of 19 (SD 2.6) years. The

mean age at the onset of acne was reported as 14 (SD 2.1) years. Of the 53 participants, 39 (74%) reported living at home, and 44 (83%) were in full-time education (Table 3).



Table 3. Participant characteristics at baseline (N=53).

Participant characteristics	Intervention (n=26)	Usual care (n=27)	Total (n=53)
Gender, n (%)			
Female	21 (81)	17 (63)	38 (72)
Male	5 (19)	10 (37)	15 (28)
Age (years), mean (SD)	18.3 (2.6)	18.8 (3.4)	18.6 (3)
Age at onset of acne (years), mean (SD)	13.54 (2.1)	13.8 (2.5)	13.7 (2.3)
Living at home, n (%)			
Yes	21 (81)	18 (67)	39 (74)
No	5 (19)	9 (33)	14 (26)
Currently in full-time education, n (%)			
Yes	22 (85)	22 (82)	44 (83)
No	4 (15)	5 (19)	9 (17)

#### **Questionnaire Completion**

Baseline completion rates were high for all questionnaires (Table 4). Not all participants experienced side effects; therefore, the question about their management had a lower completion rate at each interval. Completion rates were higher at 6 weeks than at 4 weeks as there was a longer period to contact participants

by phone to complete the questionnaires if they had not done so after receiving the reminder emails. At 4 weeks, 6% (1/17) of participants in the intervention group and 6% (1/16) of participants in the usual care group completed the primary outcome measure from the questionnaire over the phone. At 6 weeks, this was 24% (5/21) of participants in the intervention group and 14% (3/21) in the usual care group.

 Table 4. Questionnaire completion rates (N=53).

Outcome measure	Baseline, n (%)	4 weeks, n (%)	6 weeks, n (%)
Overall Skindex-16	53 (100)	33 (62)	42 (79)
EQ-5D-5L	53 (100)	32 (60)	39 (74)
EQ VAS <sup>a</sup>	53 (100)	31 (59)	34 (64)
PHQ-4 <sup>b</sup>	53 (100)	31 (59)	36 (68)
Credibility	53 (100)	N/A <sup>c</sup>	N/A
Expectancy	53 (100)	N/A	N/A
PETS <sup>d</sup> symptoms (n=26)	26 (100)	17 (65)	17 (65)
PETS uncertainty (n=26)	25 (96)	17 (65)	17 (65)
PETS doubts (n=26)	25 (92)	17 (65)	17 (65)
PETS practical problems (n=26)	25 (96)	17 (65)	17 (65)
What topical using	53 (100)	31 (59)	36 (68)
How often using treatment	53 (100)	31 (59)	34 (64)
Side effects	51 (96)	31 (59)	32 (60)
Management of side effects (people who reported side effects)	31 (59)	19 (36)	25 (47)
Other treatment	53 (100)	30 (57)	37 (70)

<sup>a</sup>EQ VAS: EuroQol Visual Analogue Scale.

<sup>b</sup>PHQ-4: Patient Health Questionnaire-4.

<sup>c</sup>N/A: not applicable.

<sup>d</sup>PETS: Problematic Experiences Therapy Scale.



#### **Outcome Measures**

# Skindex-16

The Skindex-16 overall mean score at baseline was 55.4 (SD 21.8) across both groups. There was a substantial improvement in both groups, and the mean differences between groups, when

controlling for baseline scores and covariates (gender, age, age onset, and education), suggested a trend toward benefit at both 4 and 6 weeks: at 4 weeks, the intervention group had a score 5.2 points lower (95% CI -14.58 to 4.09) than the usual care group and at 6 weeks 2.9 points lower (95% CI -13.27 to 7.47; Table 5).

**Table 5.** Scores at baseline and follow-up and estimate of mean differences controlling for baseline and covariates (n=53).

Score description	Baseline		4-week f	ollow-up	4-week follow-up, controlling for base- line and other covari- ates, mean differ- ence (95% CI)	6-week f	ollow-up	6-week follow-up, controlling for base- line and other covari- ates, mean differ- ence (95% CI)
	n value	Value, mean (SD)	n value	Value, mean (SD)		n value	Value, mean (SD)	
Overall Skindex-16 scores		·			·		*	
Usual care	27	55.4 (24)	16	54.2 (18.7)	N/A <sup>a</sup>	21	48 (23.8)	N/A
Web-based intervention	26	55.3 (19.8)	17	45.8 (19.9)	-5.2 (-14.58 to 4.09)	21	43.4 (22.2)	-2.9 (-13.27 to 7.47)
Skindex-16 symptom								
Usual care	N/A	41.3 (25.5)	N/A	35.5 (21.5)	N/A	N/A	37.3 (24.3)	N/A
Web-based intervention	N/A	31.9 (19.8)	N/A	30.6 (24.1)	5.4 (-8.41 to 19.22)	N/A	27 (21.5)	-0.9 (-11.76 to 10.03)
Skindex-16 emotional								
Usual care	N/A	72.7 (27.5)	N/A	74.2 (23.4)	N/A	N/A	63.6 (28.1)	N/A
Web-based intervention	N/A	76.6 (21.1)	N/A	63.7 (22.3)	-12.4 (-24.23 to -0.67)	N/A	62 (24.3)	-3.9 (-16.65 to 8.75)
Skindex-16 functioning								
Usual care	N/A	42.6 (28.3)	N/A	41.2 (22.7)	N/A	N/A	34.8 (27.8)	N/A
Web-based intervention	N/A	44.1 (27.9)	N/A	31.9 (26.8)	-6.4 (-20.52 to 7.79)	N/A	30.5 (28.9)	-3.4 (-16.75 to 9.9)
PHQ-4 <sup>b</sup> total								
Usual care	27	4 (3.5)	16	3.9 (3.3)	N/A	18	3.7 (3.3)	N/A
Web-based intervention	26	4.6 (3.7)	15	2.3 (2.9)	-1.7 (-3.66 to 0.18)	18	3.2 (3.3)	-0.8 (-2.6 to 0.97)
PETS <sup>c</sup> symptoms								
Usual care	26	3.9 (1)	14	4 (1.1)	N/A	17	4.1 (0.9)	N/A
Web-based intervention	26	3.9 (0.9)	17	4.2 (1.2)	0.2 (-0.65 to 1.15)	17	4.2 (0.9)	0.2 (-0.47 to 0.82)
PETS uncertainty								
Usual care	26	4.5 (0.9)	15	4.5 (1.2)	N/A	18	4.2 (1.1)	N/A
Web-based intervention	25	4.4 (1)	17	4.7 (0.6)	0.1 (-0.51 to 0.67)	17	4.9 (0.2)	0.6 (0.19 to 1.08)
PETS doubt								
Usual care	27	3.8 (1)	19	3.7 (1.1)	N/A	18	3.7 (1.1)	N/A
Web-based intervention	24	3.4 (1.3)	17	4.2 (0.8)	0.5 (-0.23 to 1.25)	17	4.2 (1)	0.5 (-0.18 to 1.24)
PETS practical problems								
Usual care	27	3.4 (1.3)	15	3.6 (1.3)	N/A	18	3. (1.3)	N/A
Web-based intervention	25	3.8 (1)	17	4 (1.1)	0.1 (-0.44 to 0.73)	17	4.1 (1.1)	0.7 (0.02 to 1.3)

<sup>a</sup>N/A: not applicable.

<sup>b</sup>PHQ-4: Patient Health Questionnaire-4.

<sup>c</sup>PETS: Problematic Experiences Therapy Scale.

https://derma.jmir.org/2021/2/e25918

#### Individual Subscales for Skindex-16

There was no evidence of a trend toward benefit in the symptoms subscale (intervention group 5.4 points higher at 4 weeks: 95% CI –8.41 to 19.22; 0.9 points lower at 6 weeks: 95% CI –11.76 to –10.03); however, some evidence of a trend toward benefit in the emotional subscale (intervention 12.4 points lower at 4 weeks: 95% CI –24.23 to –0.67; 3.9 points lower at 6 weeks: 95% CI –16.65 to 8.75) and functioning subscale (intervention group 6.4 points lower at 4 weeks: 95% CI –20.52 to 7.79; 3.4 points lower at 6 weeks: 95% CI –16.75 to 9.9; Table 5).

## **Other Outcome Measures**

The baseline mean score for anxiety and depression (PHQ-4) suggests that the overall scores between groups were in the mild

Table 6. Reported topical treatment use between groups at each interval.

range for anxiety and depression with a score of 4.3 (SD 3.6) and a trend toward improvement in the intervention group at 4 weeks compared with the usual care group. For all PETS subscales (symptoms, uncertainty, doubt, and practical problems), there were also suggestions of a trend toward benefit (Table 5).

## **Treatment Monitoring**

#### **Topical Treatment Used**

More people in the usual care group reported using topicals at baseline compared with those in the intervention group. In the intervention group, the percentage of people using topicals increased from baseline to 4 weeks by 13.5% and decreased by 0.8% in the usual care group (Table 6).

Topical used	Intervention	Intervention		
	n (%)	Ν	n (%)	Ν
Topical treatments		·	•	•
Baseline	16 (62)	26	20 (74)	27
4 weeks	12 (75)	16	11 (73)	15
6 weeks	15 (88)	17	15 (79)	19
None				
Baseline	3 (12)	26	6 (22)	27
4 weeks	3 (19)	16	4 (27)	15
6 weeks	2 (12)	17	4 (21)	19
Other <sup>a</sup>				
Baseline	7 (27)	26	1 (4)	27
4 weeks	1 (6)	16	0 (0)	15
6 weeks	0 (0)	17	0 (0)	19

<sup>a</sup>Other topical treatments including branded products.

#### **Topical Treatment Side Effects and Management**

At 4 and 6 weeks, the usual care groups reported similar rates of side effects compared with the intervention group (Table 7). There was an increase of 13.5% from baseline to 4 weeks in the number of people reporting continuing treatment (including altering application as advised by the website) when

experiencing minor side effects compared with the usual, which decreased by 2.4% at 4 weeks (Table 8). In both groups, the most common frequency of application at all intervals was *once or more than once a day or most days*. The intervention group and the usual care decreased similarly in the number of people reporting application of *once or more than once a day or most days* at 4 weeks (Table 9).



Table 7. Reported side effects from topical treatments.

Side effects	Intervention	Intervention		
	n (%)	Ν	n (%)	Ν
Topical treatments	-	·	-	
Baseline	15 (60)	25	16 (62)	26
4 weeks	9 (53)	17	8 (57)	14
6 weeks	10 (67)	15	12 (71)	17
None				
Baseline	10 (40)	25	10 (39)	26
4 weeks	8 (47)	17	6 (43)	14
6 weeks	5 (33)	15	5 (29)	17

#### Table 8. Reported management of side effects from topicals.

Management of side effects	Intervention		Usual care	
	n (%)	Ν	n (%)	Ν
Continued treatment	·			
Baseline	9 (64)	14	14 (82)	17
4 weeks	7 (78)	9	8 (80)	10
6 weeks	7 (64)	11	10 (71)	14
Stopped treatment				
Baseline	5 (36)	14	2 (12)	17
4 weeks	2 (22)	9	0 (0)	10
6 weeks	2 (18)	11	1 (7)	14
Other <sup>a</sup>				
Baseline	2 (14)	14	1 (6)	17
4 weeks	1 (11)	9	2 (20)	10
6 weeks	1 (9)	11	3 (21)	14

<sup>a</sup>Other management included using moisturizer, hydrating masks, or face washes.

#### Table 9. Reported frequency of application of topicals.

Frequency of application	Intervention		Usual care	
	n (%)	Ν	n (%)	Ν
Once or more than once a day or most days		•	•	
Baseline	19 (73)	26	19 (70)	27
4 weeks	11 (65)	17	9 (64)	14
6 weeks	13 (81)	16	12 (67)	18
Not at all or once or twice a week				
Baseline	7 (27)	26	8 (30)	27
4 weeks	6 (35)	17	5 (36)	14
6 weeks	3 (19)	16	6 (33)	18

#### **Intervention Use**

XSL•FO RenderX

Approximately 88% (23/26) of participants in the intervention group completed the core module *core treatments*. Completion was decided based on whether participants clicked through to

https://derma.jmir.org/2021/2/e25918

the end of the core module pages without logging off the web-based intervention. Approximately 69% (18/26) of participants visited the website three times or more, including baseline visits. There was a low uptake of the 4-week challenge

(38%), although this was based on whether participants entered a start date; however, it is possible that some participants engaged without entering a start date. Visits to some of the optional modules were low: 42% of participants accessed the module on *living with spots or acne*, and more than a quarter viewed the *myth-busting quiz*; fewer were interested in *talking to your GP* (Table 10).

Table 10.Intervention use (N=26).

Measures of intervention use	Web-based intervention, n (%)
Core module completed	23 (88)
Total number of visits to intervention	
1	3 (12)
2	5 (19)
3	7 (27)
4	7 (27)
5	2 (8)
6	2 (8)
Signed up to 4-week challenge	10 (38)
Visits to other modules	
Living with spots or acne	11 (42)
Myth-busting quiz	7 (27)
What are spots or acne	7 (27)
Other treatments	7 (27)
Oral antibiotics	5 (19)
Talking to your GP <sup>a</sup>	3 (12)

<sup>a</sup>GP: general practitioner.

# Discussion

#### **Principal Findings**

To our knowledge, this is the first web-based behavioral intervention developed for young people with acne, using the PBA along with theory and evidence [22]. The recruitment rate of 8% was lower than expected; however, retention rates for people completing the primary outcome measure at either 4 or 6 weeks were high (87%). There was a suggestive trend toward benefit in the primary (Skindex-16) and secondary outcome measures (PHQ-4 and PETS) when looking at the mean differences. More people in the intervention group reported using topical treatments, and they were also more likely to manage side effects from topical treatments by continuing treatment as opposed to stopping treatment compared with the usual care group. Completion of the core module was high (88%), although it was low for the optional modules. Although promising, these findings should be viewed with caution, as this study was not powered to determine effectiveness.

#### Limitations

RenderX

There were several limitations and changes that should be considered based on the findings of this feasibility trial. First, the mail-out through primary care practices received a low response rate, suggesting that people who took part in the trial may be more motivated and possibly have higher literacy than those who did not respond. Therefore, the sample may not be fully representative of young people who consult primary care

```
https://derma.jmir.org/2021/2/e25918
```

for their acne. A key reason for not participating was time commitment, which suggests that the level of involvement in the study may need to be made clearer. Another reason for not participating was that some participants' skin had cleared up. This could be a reflection on the search strategy or the unpredictable nature of their skin condition. The changes to the recruitment process led to a slight increase in response rate which suggests that if implemented earlier this could have potentially improved the numbers recruited. People who took part in the study also seemed to be using topical treatments already, which suggests that recruitment in a future trial should seek participants who are not already using them to benefit from the intervention. We may also need to consider other ways of reaching the target population, including other platforms such as social media, pharmacies, and schools.

Second, there was a low uptake of the optional modules, which suggests that the intervention may need to be refined further. However, the reason for including these modules as optional was that they might not be applicable to everyone at that time but were seen as important in earlier qualitative research. Uptake of the *4-week challenge* was low; however, this was only determined by people entering a date to start the challenge. In the future, this should be monitored more closely, and perhaps there should be a question in the survey to identify those who did and did not take part. It is also unclear whether people in the usual care group attended their GP practices and were prescribed treatment as usual, making it difficult to fully

understand why people in the usual care increased on a number of outcome measures.

Although the target sample size was not reached, this was a feasibility study and provided useful information about the changes that need to be considered for a future trial. Owing to the randomization error, participants were randomized in a 1:1 ratio instead of 2:1 for intervention to usual care group. This resulted in less usage data for the intervention group, which could have provided further information on intervention use. Although there was a trend toward benefit in both the primary and secondary outcome measures, a larger sample is needed to draw conclusions about the effect of the intervention.

#### **Comparison with Prior Work**

The findings from this feasibility trial reflect the results of previous trials testing the effectiveness of interventions for acne [11,13-15,19]. For example, a pilot RCT of an interactive health education tool also found that those in the intervention group had improved QoL scores compared with the control group, although these findings were not statistically significant [11]. However, this study did not specify which treatments were being used by participants in the intervention (topical or oral treatments); therefore, comparisons should be made with caution. In this study, we used PETS scores to determine adherence to topical treatments, which suggested a trend in the direction of benefit. A previous RCT investigating the effectiveness of supplementary educational materials on a

combination topical treatment also found improved adherence, although using an objective measure (medication event monitoring system) [10]. There is currently no standardized or fully validated method of measurement for adherence to acne treatments [46], and further work would benefit in addressing this so that heterogeneity and adherence can be compared across trials.

The rate of follow-up in this study was high at 6 weeks (79%) in terms of those completing the primary outcome measure (Skindex-16). This is in line with a previous trial that found a follow-up rate of 84.5% when recruiting through primary care [10]. Similarly, a study investigating adherence rates using an internet-based survey for young people with acne had a follow-up rate of 75%, although it is unclear where participants were recruited from, and the sample size was small with 20 participants [14].

#### Conclusions

This feasibility trial demonstrates that a web-based behavioral intervention for young people with acne can be delivered with high retention, high engagement with the core module, and trends in the direction of benefit for the primary outcome measure. However, recruitment to this study was challenging, and alternative methods of seeking participants should be considered for a full-scale trial of a similar intervention, particularly when seeking a population less likely to be using effective topical treatments for acne.

#### Acknowledgments

We would like to thank the participants who took part in the research and the primary care practices for helping with recruitment. We would also like to thank the patient representatives who helped develop the intervention and advised on trial materials. This study was funded by the National Institute for Health Research School for Primary Care Research Studentship for Athena Ip. The views expressed are those of the authors and not necessarily those of the National Institute for Health Research or the Department of Health and Social Care.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 CONSORT-EHEALTH checklist (V 1.6.1). [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 1133 KB - derma v4i2e25918 app1.pdf]

#### References

- 1. James WD. Acne. N Engl J Med 2005 Apr 07;352(14):1463-1472. [doi: <u>10.1056/nejmcp033487</u>]
- 2. Webster G. Acne vulgaris. Br Med J 2002;325(7362):475-479 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 12202330]
- Cunliffe WJ, Gould DJ. Prevalence of facial acne vulgaris in late adolescence and in adults. Br Med J 1979;1(6171):1109-1110 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.1.6171.1109] [Medline: 156054]
- 4. Williams HC, Dellavalle RP, Garner S. Acne vulgaris. Lancet 2012;379(9813):361-372. [doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(11)60321-8]
- 5. Yang Z, Zhang Y, Mosler E, Hu J, Li H, Zhang Y, et al. Topical benzoyl peroxide for acne. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2020 Mar 16;3:CD011154 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD011154.pub2] [Medline: 32175593]
- 6. Jones-Caballero M, Pedrosa E, Peñas PF. Self-reported adherence to treatment and quality of life in mild to moderate acne. Dermatology 2008;217(4):309-314. [doi: 10.1159/000151441] [Medline: 18714158]
- 7. Gollnick H, Friedrich M, Peschen M, Pettker R, Pier A, Streit V, et al. Effect of adapalene 0.1%/benzoyl peroxide 2.5% topical gel on quality of life and treatment adherence during long-term application in patients with predominantly moderate

RenderX

acne with or without concomitant medication - additional results from the non-interventional cohort study ELANG. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 2015 Jun;29 Suppl 4:23-29. [doi: 10.1111/jdv.13195] [Medline: 26059731]

- Dréno B, Thiboutot D, Gollnick H, Finlay AY, Layton A, Leyden JJ, Global Alliance to Improve Outcomes in Acne. Large-scale worldwide observational study of adherence with acne therapy. Int J Dermatol 2010 Apr;49(4):448-456. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-4632.2010.04416.x] [Medline: 20465705]
- Thielitz A, Helmdach M, Röpke EM, Gollnick H. Lipid analysis of follicular casts from cyanoacrylate strips as a new method for studying therapeutic effects of antiacne agents. Br J Dermatol 2001 Jul;145(1):19-27. [doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2133.2001.04276.x] [Medline: 11453902]
- 10. Myhill T, Coulson W, Nixon P, Royal S, McCormack T, Kerrouche N. Use of supplementary patient education material increases treatment adherence and satisfaction among acne patients receiving adapalene 0.1%/benzoyl peroxide 2.5% gel in primary care clinics: a multicenter, randomized, controlled clinical study. Dermatol Ther (Heidelb) 2017 Dec;7(4):515-524 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s13555-017-0203-4] [Medline: 29027127]
- Wang AS, Wu J, Tuong W, Schupp C, Armstrong AW. Effectiveness of a novel interactive health care education tool on clinical outcomes and quality of life in acne patients: A randomized controlled pilot study. J Dermatolog Treat 2015 Oct 20;26(5):435-439. [doi: <u>10.3109/09546634.2015.1020915</u>] [Medline: <u>25790848</u>]
- 12. Boker A, Feetham HJ, Armstrong A, Purcell P, Jacobe H. Do automated text messages increase adherence to acne therapy? Results of a randomized, controlled trial. J Am Acad Dermatol 2012 Dec;67(6):1136-1142. [doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2012.02.031] [Medline: 22521201]
- Yentzer BA, Gosnell AL, Clark AR, Pearce DJ, Balkrishnan R, Camacho FT, et al. A randomized controlled pilot study of strategies to increase adherence in teenagers with acne vulgaris. J Am Acad Dermatol 2011 Apr;64(4):793-795. [doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2010.05.008] [Medline: 21414505]
- 14. Yentzer BA, Wood AA, Sagransky MJ, O'Neill JL, Clark AR, Williams LL, et al. An Internet-based survey and improvement of acne treatment outcomes. Arch Dermatol 2011 Oct;147(10):1223-1224. [doi: 10.1001/archdermatol.2011.277] [Medline: 22006146]
- Rueda MJ. Acne subject preference for pump over tube for dispensing fixed-dose combination adapalene 0.1%-benzoyl peroxide 2.5% gel. Dermatol Ther (Heidelb) 2014 Jun;4(1):61-70 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s13555-014-0054-1] [Medline: 24919432]
- 16. Tan X, Park C, Kim G, Patel I, Chang J. Improving adherence to acne treatment: the emerging role of application software. Clin Cosmet Investigat Dermatol 2014 Feb;7:65-72. [doi: <u>10.2147/ccid.s46051</u>]
- 17. Glanz K, Bishop DB. The role of behavioral science theory in development and implementation of public health interventions. Annu Rev Public Health 2010;31:399-418. [doi: 10.1146/annurev.publhealth.012809.103604] [Medline: 20070207]
- Craig P, Dieppe P, Macintyre S, Michie S, Nazareth I, Petticrew M, Medical Research Council Guidance. Developing and evaluating complex interventions: the new Medical Research Council guidance. Br Med J 2008 Sep 29;337:a1655 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.a1655] [Medline: 18824488]
- 19. Sandoval LF, Semble A, Gustafson CJ, Huang KE, Levender MM, Feldman SR. Pilot randomized-control trial to assess the effect product sampling has on adherence using adapalene/benzoyl peroxide gel in acne patients. J Drugs Dermatol 2014;13(2):135-140. [Medline: 24509962]
- 20. Eldridge SM, Ashby D, Feder GS, Rudnicka AR, Ukoumunne OC. Lessons for cluster randomized trials in the twenty-first century: a systematic review of trials in primary care. Clin Trials 2004 Feb;1(1):80-90. [doi: 10.1191/1740774504cn006rr] [Medline: 16281464]
- Hoffmann TC, Glasziou PP, Boutron I, Milne R, Perera R, Moher D, et al. Better reporting of interventions: template for intervention description and replication (TIDieR) checklist and guide. Br Med J 2014;348:g1687. [doi: <u>10.1136/bmj.g1687</u>] [Medline: <u>24609605</u>]
- 22. Yardley L, Ainsworth B, Arden-Close E, Muller I. The person-based approach to enhancing the acceptability and feasibility of interventions. Pilot Feasibility Stud 2015;1:37 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s40814-015-0033-z] [Medline: 27965815]
- Ip A, Muller I, Geraghty AW, Platt D, Little P, Santer M. Views and experiences of people with acne vulgaris and healthcare professionals about treatments: systematic review and thematic synthesis of qualitative research. BMJ Open 2021;11(2):e041794 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2020-041794] [Medline: 33526498]
- 24. Ip A, Muller I, Geraghty A, McNiven A, Little P, Santer M. Young people's perceptions of acne and acne treatments: secondary analysis of qualitative interview data. Br J Dermatol 2020 Aug;183(2):349-356 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/bjd.18684] [Medline: 31701523]
- 25. Michie S, Richardson M, Johnston M, Abraham C, Francis J, Hardeman W, et al. The behavior change technique taxonomy (v1) of 93 hierarchically clustered techniques: building an international consensus for the reporting of behavior change interventions. Ann Behav Med 2013;46(1):81-95. [doi: 10.1007/s12160-013-9486-6] [Medline: 23512568]
- 26. Michie S, van Stralen MM, West R. The behaviour change wheel: a new method for characterising and designing behaviour change interventions. Implement Sci 2011;6:42 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1748-5908-6-42] [Medline: 21513547]
- 27. Horne R, Weinman J. Self-regulation and self-management in Asthma: exploring the role of illness perceptions and treatment beliefs in explaining non-adherence to preventer medication. Psychol Health 2002;17(1):17-32. [doi: 10.1080/08870440290001502]

```
https://derma.jmir.org/2021/2/e25918
```

RenderX

- Fabbrocini G, Cacciapuoti S, Monfrecola G. A qualitative investigation of the impact of acne on health-related quality of life (hrql): development of a conceptual model. Dermatol Ther (Heidelb) 2018;8(1):85-99 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s13555-018-0224-7] [Medline: 29435857]
- 29. McNiven A. 'Disease, illness, affliction? Don't know': ambivalence and ambiguity in the narratives of young people about having acne. Health (London) 2019 May;23(3):273-288. [doi: 10.1177/1363459318762035] [Medline: 29552892]
- 30. Santer M, Chandler D, Lown M, Francis N, Muller I. Views of oral antibiotics and advice seeking about acne: a qualitative study of online discussion forums. Br J Dermatol 2017 Sep;177(3):751-757. [doi: 10.1111/bjd.15398] [Medline: 28218972]
- 31. The LifeGuide research programme. LifeGuide Online. URL: <u>https://www.lifeguideonline.org/</u> [accessed 2020-08-05]
- 32. Overview acne. National Health Service. URL: <u>https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/acne/</u> [accessed 2020-08-01]
- 33. Acne vulgaris. NICE Clinical Knowledge Summaries (CKS). URL: <u>https://cks.nice.org.uk/</u> <u>acne-vulgaris#!scenarioRecommendation</u> [accessed 2020-04-10]
- 34. Acne. NICE British National Formulary (BNF). URL: <u>https://www.nice.org.uk/bnf-uk-only</u> [accessed 2020-08-03]
- 35. Charters E. The Use of Think-aloud Methods in Qualitative Research An Introduction to Think-aloud Methods. Brock Edu J 2003 Jul 01;12(2):68-82. [doi: 10.26522/brocked.v12i2.38]
- 36. Chren M, Lasek RJ, Sahay AP, Sands LP. Measurement properties of skindex-16: A brief quality-of-life measure for patients with skin diseases. J Cutan Med Surg 2001 Mar;5(2):105-110. [doi: 10.1007/bf02737863]
- Herdman M, Gudex C, Lloyd A, Janssen M, Kind P, Parkin D, et al. Development and preliminary testing of the new five-level version of EQ-5D (EQ-5D-5L). Qual Life Res 2011;20(10):1727-1736 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11136-011-9903-x] [Medline: 21479777]
- Kirby S, Donovan-Hall M, Yardley L. Measuring barriers to adherence: validation of the Problematic Experiences of Therapy Scale. Disabil Rehabil 2014;36(22):1924-1929. [doi: <u>10.3109/09638288.2013.876106</u>] [Medline: <u>24410171</u>]
- 39. Devilly GJ, Borkovec TD. Psychometric properties of the credibility/expectancy questionnaire. J Behav Ther Exp Psychiatry 2000 Jun;31(2):73-86. [doi: 10.1016/s0005-7916(00)00012-4]
- 40. Smeets R, Beelen S, Goossens M, Schouten EG, Knottnerus JA, Vlaeyen JW. Treatment expectancy and credibility are associated with the outcome of both physical and cognitive-behavioral treatment in chronic low back pain. Clin J Pain 2008 May;24(4):305-315. [doi: 10.1097/AJP.0b013e318164aa75] [Medline: 18427229]
- 41. Kroenke K, Spitzer RL, Williams JB, Löwe B. An ultra-brief screening scale for anxiety and depression: the PHQ-4. Psychosomatics 2009;50(6):613-621. [doi: 10.1176/appi.psy.50.6.613] [Medline: 19996233]
- 42. Khubchandani J, Brey R, Kotecki J, Kleinfelder J, Anderson J. The psychometric properties of phq-4 depression and anxiety screening scale among college students. Arch Psychiatr Nurs 2016 Aug;30(4):457-462. [doi: 10.1016/j.apnu.2016.01.014] [Medline: 27455918]
- 43. Julious SA. Sample size of 12 per group rule of thumb for a pilot study. Pharmaceut Stat 2005 Oct;4(4):287-291. [doi: 10.1002/pst.185]
- 44. Sim J, Lewis M. The size of a pilot study for a clinical trial should be calculated in relation to considerations of precision and efficiency. J Clin Epidemiol 2012 Mar;65(3):301-308. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jclinepi.2011.07.011</u>] [Medline: <u>22169081</u>]
- 45. IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 25.0. IBM Corp. Armonk, NY: IBM Corp; 2017. URL: <u>https://www.ibm.com/</u> support/pages/how-cite-ibm-spss-statistics-or-earlier-versions-spss [accessed 2020-08-03]
- 46. Snyder S, Crandell I, Davis SA, Feldman SR. Medical adherence to acne therapy: a systematic review. Am J Clin Dermatol 2014 Apr;15(2):87-94. [doi: <u>10.1007/s40257-014-0063-y</u>] [Medline: <u>24481999</u>]

# Abbreviations

GP: general practitioner
PBA: Person-based approach
PETS: Problematic Experiences Therapy Scale
PHQ-4: Patient Health Questionnaire-4
PROSPERO: International Prospective Register of Systematic Reviews
QoL: quality of life
RCT: randomized controlled trial
TIDieR: Template for Intervention Description and Replication



Edited by R Dellavalle, T Sivesind; submitted 20.11.20; peer-reviewed by A Riis, A AL-Asadi; comments to author 14.12.20; revised version received 05.02.21; accepted 05.08.21; published 03.11.21. <u>Please cite as:</u> Ip A, Muller I, Geraghty AWA, Rumsby K, Stuart B, Little P, Santer M Supporting Self-management Among Young People With Acne Vulgaris Through a Web-Based Behavioral Intervention: Development and Feasibility Randomized Controlled Trial JMIR Dermatol 2021;4(2):e25918 URL: https://derma.jmir.org/2021/2/e25918 doi:10.2196/25918 PMID:37632804

©Athena Ip, Ingrid Muller, Adam W A Geraghty, Kate Rumsby, Beth Stuart, Paul Little, Miriam Santer. Originally published in JMIR Dermatology (http://derma.jmir.org), 03.11.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Dermatology Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://derma.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Research Letter

# The Role of Providers and Influencers in the Use of Social Media as Solace for Psoriasis: Qualitative and Quantitative Study

Sarin H Pakhdikian<sup>1,2\*</sup>, BA; Benjamin K P Woo<sup>1\*</sup>, MD

<sup>1</sup>Department of Psychiatry, Olive View Medical Center, University of California, Los Angeles, Sylmar, CA, United States

<sup>2</sup>College of Osteopathic Medicine of the Pacific, Western University of Health Sciences, Pomona, CA, United States

<sup>\*</sup>all authors contributed equally

**Corresponding Author:** Sarin H Pakhdikian, BA Department of Psychiatry Olive View Medical Center University of California, Los Angeles 14400 Olive View Dr Sylmar, CA United States Phone: 1 818 267 7226 Email: <u>sarin.pakhdikian@westernu.edu</u>

# Abstract

**Background:** Psoriasis is a multisystem chronic inflammatory skin disease and is a relatively common disorder in children and adults. The burden of psoriasis impacts both the physiological and psychological areas of one's life. Given the robust use of the internet and social media, patients have turned to Instagram for educational and social support to discuss psoriasis.

**Objective:** This study aimed to characterize how patients interact with Instagram to cope with the biopsychosocial aspects of psoriasis. We analyzed journals and organizations, and compared them with the public profiles of individuals diagnosed with psoriasis who provided information and refuge. Our goal was to identify how followers engaged and what type of content they were most receptive to in terms of psoriasis.

**Methods:** All journals and organizations representing psoriasis were selected for review. The top 10 public profiles of individuals diagnosed with psoriasis were also selected for comparison. The numbers of followers, followings, and posts were noted to evaluate popularity. The numbers of likes and comments were also recorded to understand engagement.

**Results:** On comparing journals and organizations to public profiles, we found that the former had a greater number of followers but engaged less with the audience on Instagram based on the number of profiles they followed. Profiles of individuals with psoriasis produced content that was more personal and relatable, including experiences with flares, motivational text, and emotional support. The content produced by journals and organizations was geared toward education and providing peer-reviewed resources and commentary from licensed health care professionals. Followers were more engaged via "likes" than "comments" on the Instagram profiles of journals and organizations, as well as the public profiles of individuals diagnosed with psoriasis.

**Conclusions:** There was evident online presence of journals and organizations, and public profiles of individuals providing content regarding psoriasis on Instagram. However, there were distinguishing features for the type of content being produced. Journals and organizations took the traditional approach in providing evidence-based information, whereas the public profiles of individuals provided content related to the psychosocial needs of the psoriasis community. The 10 profiles of individuals provided posts involving creativity and real experiences, which were evidently well-received based on "likes" and "comments." This research helps us appreciate what the audience on Instagram is looking for to further address how we can merge these needs to provide a holistic platform on Instagram for both providers and patients. Social media creates a space for collaboration, which can be advantageous for journals and organizations to work with patient volunteers from diverse backgrounds who can help build a therapeutic alliance and public presence on Instagram with their viewers in order to deliver medical peer-reviewed information.

(JMIR Dermatol 2021;4(2):e29904) doi:10.2196/29904



#### **KEYWORDS**

psoriasis; psychodermatology; social media; Instagram; coping skills; stigma; depression; anxiety; psychosocial; influencers; internet

# Introduction

Psoriasis is a multisystem chronic inflammatory skin disease and is a relatively common disorder in children and adults. There are many risk factors associated with the disease, including genetic, environmental, and behavioral factors. The primary pathophysiology of psoriasis is mediated by the immune system, where T lymphocytes, dendritic cells, and cytokines play important roles [1]. Patients typically present with scaling, induration, and erythema of the skin, which leads to hyperproliferation and abnormal differentiation of the epidermis, vascular dilatation, and inflammatory cell infiltrates [2].

The burden of psoriasis impacts both the physiological and psychological areas of one's life. The prevalence of depression and anxiety in patients with psoriasis is significantly higher than that in the general population [3]. On comparing quality of life between those with psoriasis and those with different dermatological conditions, discrepancies have been observed. Patients diagnosed with psoriasis have been compared to those with urticaria, acne, nonatopic eczema, and alopecia [4]. The findings showed that those with psoriasis most often reported stress as the predominant factor in disease exacerbation, which impacted their activities of daily living more frequently than other conditions. Evidence based on systematic reviews of the literature on the psychopathology in psoriasis has indicated that stress is the driving factor of onset, exacerbation, and relapse [5]. The economic impact of psoriasis has been studied by examining the costs of various therapeutic options. The average monthly expense for treatment ranges from US \$100 to \$200, and this is prior to the consideration of the severity of the disease [6]. The financial burden of this disease is associated with lower quality of life as severity increases, which can further exacerbate the psychosocial stressors. Psychodermatology addresses the interaction between the mind and the skin. While psychiatry is focused on the internal nonvisible disease, dermatology explores the external visible aspects. A neuroimmunocutaneous system has been described as the interplay between these two specialties, where the courses of inflammatory skin diseases and psychiatric conditions disrupt this inherent system [7]. Visibility of lesions significantly affects body image in this patient population, often leading to stigmatization, and it has negative effects on psychological health.

Our interest lies in how patients cope with the psychological impacts of the illness using social media, specifically Instagram, as a resource. The increase in internet users in the past few decades has been exceptional, with 8% activity in 2005 rising to 74% in 2012 [8]. Various social media platforms are readily available for discussion on everyday trials and tribulations, including dermatology. Given the visual component of scrolling through a media feed, platforms like Instagram can be a cornerstone in providing education and resources for patients with psoriasis. Previous research has explored Facebook, Twitter, YouTube, and LinkedIn as means of communication [8-11], but limitations consistently point toward the lack of

https://derma.jmir.org/2021/2/e29904

medical resources presented in a way to garner enough attention of users and the targeted audience [9].

Given the robust use of the internet and social media, we explored how journals and organizations, as well as public accounts on psoriasis, discuss education or personal experience in the context of their posts on Instagram. We studied how this information is received and which profiles had the most popularity (or engagement) based on their social media presence. We further investigated the possible implications of the utility of these applications for communication between health care professionals and patients.

# Methods

#### **Data Collection**

We began collecting data by searching Instagram for notable journals and organizations that study and educate the public about psoriasis. The first 50 public posts of each account were studied for performance based on the number of followers, the number of accounts followed, and audience interaction through likes and comments.

Four Instagram accounts with respect to journals and organizations specific to psoriasis included the *Journal of American Academy of Dermatology, Journal of the American Medical Association (JAMA) Dermatology*, American Academy of Dermatology Association, and National Psoriasis Foundation. Psoriasis Speaks and the *Journal of Psoriasis and Psoriatic Arthritis* did not have an Instagram presence.

It is important to clarify that although *JAMADermatology* had a direct link to their Instagram account on their webpage, the Instagram account itself encompassed the entire JAMA Network, reflecting all medical specialties. It was included in our research for completeness. We surveyed the posts for all material related to dermatology and then filtered specifically for psoriasis.

Next, public Instagram accounts of individuals who are advocates for psoriasis were reviewed. There were more than a dozen accounts that represented people living with psoriasis; however, we limited our search to profiles that explicitly included "psoriasis" or "skin" (or other terms related or implying psoriasis, such as spot, spotty, and spotted) in their Instagram handle. The first 10 accounts with a prominent social media presence were reviewed. These were @getyourskinout, @psoriasis\_thoughts, @beautifullyspotted, @overcoming\_psoriasis, @fixmypsoriasis, @klmpsoriasis, and @pspotted.

#### **Data Analysis**

This is both a qualitative and quantitative study. Quantitatively, we gathered statistics based on the numbers of followers, followings, and posts by each account in order to understand the popularity of these profiles. Next, we studied the data on

XSL•FO RenderX

the numbers of likes and comments to interpret receptivity from the Instagram community. Qualitatively, we observed the context of the posts on each account, limited to the first 50 as previously mentioned, to explore which ideas and experiences are well received based on the numbers of likes and comments on each post.

By summarizing the numbers of followers, followings, and posts, we were also able to assess the visibility of the content. More likes and comments increase online presence, and therefore given the algorithms of social networks, they increase the visibility of the profiles themselves.

In our qualitative analysis, the themes we were interested in exploring were who, what, and how people responded to the content on Instagram. To identify the "who," we observed if the content was produced by physicians or people with psoriasis. To answer the "what," we explored the type of content being produced, for example, educational versus personal experiences with flares, treatment, and psychosocial aspects of psoriasis. To investigate the "how," we inquired if the audience engaged more so by liking the post or commenting on it.

We excluded video posts on Instagram from our data analysis as this feature was not utilized on the platforms of journals and organizations during the timeframe of our search. We will comment on the use of videos briefly in the Discussion section. The described work presents minimal risk research. We used public user data from Instagram, adhering to the terms and conditions, terms of use, and privacy policies of Instagram. Any identifying and personal health information was redacted from the profiles.

# Results

The data presented in the tables below were reflective statistics as on April 8, 2021.

From the six major journals and organizations that represent psoriasis and speak about psoriasis, only four had a presence on Instagram. The opposite was true when searching for public profiles of individuals representing or advocating for psoriasis. Therefore, we had to limit our consideration of public profiles to the top 10 accounts that personified psoriasis through their content. We did not review profiles that had personal names in their account screen names.

Table 1 presents the journals and national organizations on Instagram organized by the number of followers, number of people they followed, and number of posts. The JAMA Network profile, as discussed above, was included for completeness after filtering for dermatology and then psoriasis in particular.

Table 1. Instagram profile data of medical journals and national organizations.

Name	Followers, n	Followings, n	Posts, n
JAMA Network	84,900	82	423
Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology	44,700	291	634
American Academy of Dermatology	63,100	452	802
National Psoriasis Foundation	18,000	327	852

The results showed that journals and national organizations had a larger group of followers but had a relatively low number of accounts they interacted with, indicated by their "followings." The mean number of posts by journals and national organizations collectively was 667.8 (SD 193.7). Within the context of these posts, summarized in Table 2, the American Academy of Dermatology failed to produce any content on psoriasis. The JAMA Network had a total of 432 medically related posts, and there were only 20 posts that focused on dermatology and only one that discussed psoriasis. The post illustrated the inflammatory process in psoriasis. The text provided a link to a JAMA article for more information on the topic. The Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology produced two posts related to medical complications secondary to psoriasis, as well as alternative medicine as a therapeutic option. The National Psoriasis Foundation produced 43 posts related to psoriasis, and its impact on other organ systems, as well as one's personal and professional life. There were various

infographics of patient testimonies that provided feedback and support to the online psoriasis community. Treatment options were also discussed in their content. It was observed that for the mentioned accounts, the audience participated to a greater extent via "likes" than "comments." On average, there were collectively 805.5 (SD 361.5) likes compared to 16.0 (SD 7.3) comments. The people who provided the information were cited as physicians or postdoctoral scholars. Each post included a peer-reviewed source that the audience could read if they needed more information that was not provided. The illustrations were consistent throughout multiple posts, using the same color scheme and inclusion of relevant logos or trademarks. There was no content created by patients or other individuals dealing or working with psoriasis. In addition, there were no pharmaceutical advertisements targeted at the treatment of psoriasis. Therapeutic options were explained by physicians. In summary, the popularity of these posts was driven by "likes."



Table 2.	Categorization	of identified	posts and	audience engagement	based on journa	ls and national	organizations
----------	----------------	---------------	-----------	---------------------	-----------------	-----------------	---------------

Name	Number of re- lated posts <sup>a</sup>	Summary of content ("What")	Information provider ("Who")	Number of likes ("How"), mean or mean (SD)	Number of comments ("How"), mean or mean (SD)
JAMA Network	1	Pathophysiology of psoriasis	Physician	839	9
Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology	2	Psoriasis-related medical issues and alternative medicine as a treatment	Physicians and re- searchers	1149 (553)	15.5 (11.5)
National Psoriasis Founda- tion	43	Psoriasis and the impact in other organ systems, personal and pro- fessional life, patient testimonies, and treatment options	Physicians, researchers, patients, and unspeci- fied content creators	438.4 (619.3)	23.6 (32.7)
American Academy of Dermatology	0	N/A <sup>b</sup>	N/A	N/A	N/A

<sup>a</sup>The number of related posts is based on the first 50 recent posts on the social media page.

<sup>b</sup>N/A: not applicable.

Table 3 outlines the top 10 public profiles reviewed that were related to psoriasis. The profile data were noted similarly to the journals and national organizations. Although, on average, they had a lower number of followers, these profiles engaged more with the Instagram network as shown by the increase in people the accounts themselves followed. The relationship between followers and followings appeared to be more evenly distributed. Collectively, the 10 public profiles had a mean of 264.7 posts (SD 217), which was less compared with that of journals and national organizations.

Table 3. Instagram profile data on public profiles advocating for psoriasis.

Name	Followers, n	Followings, n	Posts, n
@psoriasis_thoughts	15,100	1309	361
@cyapsoriasis	11,600	3548	182
@getyourskinout	10,200	1711	652
@fixmypsoriasis	3940	813	141
@beautifullyspotted	3719	1320	162
@overcoming_psoriasis	3547	7141	594
@thegirlwithpsoriasis	2628	302	28
@pspotted	2067	791	150
@klmpsoriasis	1549	664	335
@spottiettoohottie	1465	1422	42

With regard to these public profiles on Instagram advocating for psoriasis, each one presented a quantifiable number of posts about the topic. The content of these profiles included personal experiences and struggles of psoriasis, most commonly speaking about flares and how they influenced their mood, behaviors, and self-esteem, as summarized in Table 4. Popularity was not based on how many posts these accounts had, but resonated more so with the type of content that was posted. @getyourskinout produced content that spoke about psoriasis 100% of the time, but had less popularity when compared to other accounts based on "likes" and "comments." The Instagram account that had the highest average number of likes was @psoriasis\_thoughts, which created content to promote psoriasis

webinars, poetry to reflect personal experiences with psoriasis, and photo updates of flares. This account also had the largest number of followers. The account with the least number of likes was @overcoming\_psoriasis, which created content that solely focused on treatment. This account was selling its own brand of products targeted for psoriasis treatment. @pspotted used the Instagram platform to talk about clinical trials available for psoriasis interventions. The posts were not advertisements, but rather a journey of the progress through treatment. From the 10 accounts reviewed, it was the only one that educated the audience on variable options for care. The account, however, was not run or managed by a licensed health care professional.

Table 4.	Categorization of identified	posts and audience engagement base	d on public	profiles advocating f	or psoriasis

Name	Number of re- lated posts <sup>a</sup>	Summary of content ("What")	Information provider ("Who")	Number of likes ("How"), mean (SD)	Number of comments ("How"), mean (SD)		
@psoriasis_thoughts	31	Psoriasis webinars, poetry, and personal experiences about flares	Individual with psoriasis	1127.3 (511.2)	121.3 (81.4)		
@cyapsoriasis	21	Sponsored treatment and person- al experiences about flares	Individual with psoriasis	285.1 (248.3)	17.5 (15.8)		
@getyourskinout	50	Personal experience and reflec- tion living with psoriasis and its contributions to all aspects of one's life	Individual with psoriasis	491.4 (256.3)	20.1 (15.7)		
@fixmypsoriasis	40	Treatment options, and personal experiences during pregnancy and flares	Individual with psoriasis	147.1 (49.7)	20.9 (16.4)		
@beautifullyspotted	14	Motivational text and personal experiences about flares	Individual with psoriasis	163.0 (85.1)	19.7 (12.1)		
@overcoming_psoriasis	35	Selling products, personal testi- monies, and experiences	Individual with psoriasis	53.0 (32.9)	5.5 (7.3)		
@thegirlwithpsoriasis	24 <sup>b</sup>	Selfies with motivational text re- garding psoriasis and flare up- dates	Individual with psoriasis	303.2 (195.2)	37.3 (30.1)		
@pspotted	20	Clinical trial journey, motivation, and self-care	Individual with psoriasis	229.7 (150.6)	16.9 (16.6)		
@klmpsoriasis	11	Makeup and fashion tips to boost confidence in people dealing with psoriasis	Individual with psoriasis	119.3 (46.9)	151.0 (12.4)		
@spottiettoohottie	4 <sup>c</sup>	Raised awareness about psoriasis	Individual with psoriasis	557.8 (248.1)	61.5 (43.6)		

<sup>a</sup>The number of related posts is based on the first 50 recent posts on the social media page.

<sup>b</sup>This account only had 28 posts in total; videos were excluded from the count.

<sup>c</sup>This account only had 42 posts in total; videos were excluded from the count.

On average, followers engaged more so via "likes" (mean 347.7, SD 317.2) than "comments" (mean 47.2, SD 49.8), as observed similarly in the journal and national organization profiles. The exception was @klmpsoriasis, with followers, on average, engaging more via comments. The content was based on makeup and fashion tips to boost confidence in people dealing with psoriasis and its impact on their self-esteem. It was the only account that strayed away from educational or reflective content and was geared heavily on the psychosocial factors of psoriasis. @beautifullyspotted provided various motivational images and text to influence followers toward a mindful approach of dealing with psoriasis as a chronic condition. @cyapsoriasis had a lot of sponsored content on the Instagram page to treat psoriasis. The products that were being showcased were also used to describe personal experiences about flares and their resolution secondary to the use of these treatments.

@fixmypsoriasis depicted psoriasis in conjunction with pregnancy. Each flare throughout the course of a 9-month pregnancy was discussed and reflected upon. The content creator briefly touched on heritable concerns of psoriasis, as well as fatigue secondary to flares, and childbirth and childcare itself. @thegirlwithpsoriasis was the most "traditional" Instagram account, as it was filled with "selfies" accompanied by motivational texts, which were geared toward self-care.

RenderX

@spottiettoohottie had the least number of psoriasis-related posts, but was the second highest account in terms of user popularity based on the average number of likes. The content on psoriasis was geared toward raising awareness about the condition.

# Discussion

#### **Principal Findings**

Psoriasis is a prevalent skin condition that impacts many people's lives across the world [12]. The internet is a staple that connects over a billion people with one another. Its use in educating, connecting, and advocating for those with psoriasis is instrumental. As many more health care professionals begin to appreciate its role in medicine, a sense of community can be built with it. Technology has created a platform to address the learners' needs (in our discussion, the patients' needs). The concept of "digital natives" explores the usability and convenience in receiving educational information online [13]. There is evidence of an increase in the number of patients who seek medical advice from the internet [14,15]; therefore, all medical specialties should become more comfortable navigating various social media platforms to become a part of the conversation online.

There are six prominent national journals and organizations that pertain to psoriasis. Based on their social media presence only four are engaged on Instagram (*Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology*, *JAMADermatology*, American Academy of Dermatology Association, and National Psoriasis Foundation). *JAMA Dermatology* was collectively a part of the JAMA Network Instagram account. Psoriasis Speaks and the *Journal of Psoriasis and Psoriatic Arthritis* did not have an Instagram presence.

Based on the above results, the majority of the content these organizational Instagram profiles provided spoke about the pathophysiology and therapeutic options for psoriasis. The content was cited by peer-reviewed sources and detailed the names of the health care professionals who were providing the information. Consumers of online health information are generally skeptical about misinformation [16,17]. Therefore, the approach of providing resources and citations is the transparency that many patients expect from their providers, which is a reputable way to build partnership with the online community [17,18]. What makes social media, and Instagram in our discussion, unique is the range of formality this network can take. One can take time to design and publish information in a thoughtful way or engage with a natural spontaneous post, more in line with the "real-time" connection social media promotes [19]. The use of such networks has been shown to improve the patient-provider relationship, where patients felt empowered to assert their decision-making skills based on information provided on platforms that were accessed on a daily basis [20]. Only one profile, the National Psoriasis Foundation, incorporated real patients with real experiences. It is important to understand the way content is consumed by people on social media, who are evidently the drivers of its popularity. Instagram is perhaps the most visual platform, which allows posts, videos, and real-time interactions [15,21]. Its relative ease of use allows many people to engage and connect. Given that the National Psoriasis Foundation focuses solely on psoriasis, it would likely be a more frequently accessed page by followers looking for organizations related to psoriasis on Instagram.

The receptiveness and popularity of the content created by the top 10 public profiles were the "real experiences," which captivated a larger audience based on the data from "likes" and "comments." Their content tended to be more personal and relatable to the average viewer, but it failed to include educational material at the level of peer-reviewed sources or health care professional citations. It is important to recognize the value of evidence-based medicine, which promotes preventative and therapeutic care. Influencers on social media may blur the lines on what is in fact evidence-based versus content that is driven by sponsorship from pharmaceutical companies or other products related to psoriasis. Although some of these profiles shared brand name products used during psoriasis flares, it was unclear whether they were sponsored by these companies, presenting the risk of conflicts of interest. It would be recommended that moving forward, influencers strive for greater transparency in the driving factors of their content, with appropriate reconciliation from medical professionals. What the public profiles of individuals with psoriasis do

XSL•FO

appreciate, however, is the psychosocial implications psoriasis has on one's mental health, self-efficacy, and self-esteem.

It is important to point out that the journals and organizations had a higher number of "likes" and "comments," which may help us differentiate why each account is popular to begin with. The journals and organizations serve the audiences' need for reputable resources, while the individual profiles allow followers to relate to the whole person impacted by psoriasis. This research helps us appreciate what the audience on Instagram is looking for, but the question lies in how we merge these needs to provide a more holistic platform on Instagram for both providers and patients, while avoiding the dangers of misinformation that is readily found online.

The posts curated by the individuals with psoriasis aim to reduce stigma and bias by forming an online community of "psoriasis warriors." What the journals and national organizations fail to portray on their Instagram accounts is made up for by the individuals who share vulnerable experiences of flares, treatments, and psychologic effects of psoriasis on their personal Given the public accounts. growth surrounding psychodermatology, it is important to consider how engaging individuals with specific dermatologic diseases and their related internal nonvisible diseases via platforms, such as Instagram, should be used more readily to provide a source of information and support. Social media provides the opportunity to build and establish a reputable online presence. Conversations online are not necessarily private; thus, it is important to recognize both the positive and negative feedback that comes along with it [22], such as the boundary of professional versus personal advice. The use of social media is also beneficial to those having limited access to medical care, who can turn to these networks for evidence-based medical advice [23]. Therefore, it is important for medical professionals to gain an online presence to provide information that is free from bias to navigate patients to accurate medical information for both physiological and psychological purposes. In addition, it creates a platform for collaboration, which can be advantageous for journals and organizations to work with patient volunteers from diverse backgrounds who can help medical professionals gain a therapeutic alliance and public presence on Instagram with their followers in order to deliver evidence-based medical information.

#### **Limitations and Future Directions**

We acknowledge that our study was limited to exploring only Instagram under the context of psychodermatology. To further strengthen the validity of our study, future research can incorporate and cross-analyze the way in which people may respond differently on Facebook, Twitter, and Instagram, as well as other related social networks. In general, likes are more amenable to gauge receptiveness to content, while comments allow for a greater understanding of how and what people may take away from the post. Future studies can dissect the comments under these posts to discuss the types of conversations prompted by content on social media.

Another limitation of our study was that not all public profiles of individuals advocating for psoriasis on Instagram were reviewed, as compared to all the journals and organizations that we included. Our methods involving screening for the top 10

profiles were limited to direct text that involved "psoriasis" or its related descriptors "spotted" and "spottie." To allow for a more complete review, all public profiles should be taken into consideration. In between large organizations and individual content creators, there are dermatologists with large Instagram followings. It is important to consider how they engage and provide content on psoriasis to their audience.

The video function is a relatively new feature on Instagram. We did not include videos in our analysis in order to keep our discussion focused on imagery that was photo based. This limits our ability to assess if videos would be a noteworthy function to create a more personal experience between health care providers and followers online.

Further recommendations include surveying the validity of the content produced online by nonmedical professionals. It is important to observe how readily the information provided is backed by evidence-based research or consulted with medical professionals. Therefore, once medical professionals develop a more consistent presence on their respective media platforms, we can revisit the effectiveness in the delivery of information, as well as the reception by followers online.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

#### References

- 1. Boehncke W, Schön MP. Psoriasis. The Lancet 2015 Sep;386(9997):983-994. [doi: <u>10.1016/S0140-6736(14)61909-7</u>]
- Griffiths CE, Barker JN. Pathogenesis and clinical features of psoriasis. The Lancet 2007 Jul;370(9583):263-271. [doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(07)61128-3]
- 3. Torales J, Echeverría C, Barrios I, García O, O'Higgins M, Castaldelli-Maia JM, et al. Psychodermatological mechanisms of psoriasis. Dermatol Ther 2020 Nov 06;33(6):e13827-e13827. [doi: 10.1111/dth.13827] [Medline: 32543743]
- Al'Abadie MS, Kent GG, Gawkrodger DJ. The relationship between stress and the onset and exacerbation of psoriasis and other skin conditions. Br J Dermatol 1994 Feb;130(2):199-203. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1365-2133.1994.tb02900.x</u>] [Medline: <u>8123572</u>]
- 5. Singh S, Taylor C, Kornmehl H, Armstrong AW. Psoriasis and suicidality: A systematic review and meta-analysis. J Am Acad Dermatol 2017 Sep;77(3):425-440.e2. [doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2017.05.019] [Medline: 28807109]
- Feldman SR, Fleischer AB, Reboussin DM, Rapp SR, Bradham DD, Exum M, et al. The economic impact of psoriasis increases with psoriasis severity. Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology 1997 Oct;37(4):564-569. [doi: 10.1016/s0190-9622(97)70172-5]
- Jafferany M. Psychodermatology: a guide to understanding common psychocutaneous disorders. Prim Care Companion J Clin Psychiatry 2007 Jun 15;9(3):203-213 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.4088/pcc.v09n0306</u>] [Medline: <u>17632653</u>]
- Amir M, Sampson BP, Endly D, Tamai JM, Henley J, Brewer AC, et al. Social networking sites: emerging and essential tools for communication in dermatology. JAMA Dermatol 2014 Jan;150(1):56-60. [doi: <u>10.1001/jamadermatol.2013.6340</u>] [Medline: <u>24196212</u>]
- 9. Lenczowski E, Dahiya M. Psoriasis and the Digital Landscape: YouTube as an Information Source for Patients and Medical Professionals. J Clin Aesthet Dermatol 2018 Mar;11(3):36-38 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 29606999]
- Menzies S, Daly S, McKenna D. Social media and psoriasis treatment: what are people saying on Twitter? Br J Dermatol 2019 Jun;180(6):1527-1528. [doi: 10.1111/bjd.17452] [Medline: 30474251]
- 11. Schuster B, Ziehfreund S, Biedermann T, Zink A. Psoriasis 2.0: Facebook as a source of disease-related information for patients with psoriasis. J Dtsch Dermatol Ges 2020 Jun 04;18(6):571-581. [doi: 10.1111/ddg.14070] [Medline: 32247294]
- Parisi R, Symmons DP, Griffiths CE, Ashcroft DM, IdentificationManagement of PsoriasisAssociated ComorbidiTy (IMPACT) project team. Global epidemiology of psoriasis: a systematic review of incidence and prevalence. J Invest Dermatol 2013 Feb;133(2):377-385 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/jid.2012.339] [Medline: 23014338]
- Sinclair P, Kable A, Levett-Jones T. The effectiveness of internet-based e-learning on clinician behavior and patient outcomes: a systematic review protocol. JBI Database System Rev Implement Rep 2015 Jan;13(1):52-64. [doi: 10.11124/jbisrir-2015-1919] [Medline: 26447007]
- 14. Singh S, Banerjee A. Internet and doctor-patient relationship: Cross-sectional study of patients' perceptions and practices. Indian J Public Health 2019;63(3):215. [doi: 10.4103/ijph.jph 392\_18]
- 15. Moorhead SA, Hazlett DE, Harrison L, Carroll JK, Irwin A, Hoving C. A new dimension of health care: systematic review of the uses, benefits, and limitations of social media for health communication. J Med Internet Res 2013 Apr 23;15(4):e85 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1933] [Medline: 23615206]
- Zhao Y, Zhang J. Consumer health information seeking in social media: a literature review. Health Info Libr J 2017 Dec;34(4):268-283 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/hir.12192] [Medline: 29045011]
- Smailhodzic E, Hooijsma W, Boonstra A, Langley DJ. Social media use in healthcare: A systematic review of effects on patients and on their relationship with healthcare professionals. BMC Health Serv Res 2016 Aug 26;16:442 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12913-016-1691-0] [Medline: 27562728]

RenderX

- Markham MJ, Gentile D, Graham DL. Social Media for Networking, Professional Development, and Patient Engagement. American Society of Clinical Oncology Educational Book 2017 May(37):782-787. [doi: <u>10.1200/edbk 180077</u>]
- 19. Benetoli A, Chen T, Aslani P. How patients' use of social media impacts their interactions with healthcare professionals. Patient Educ Couns 2018 Mar;101(3):439-444. [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2017.08.015] [Medline: 28882545]
- McNely BJ. Shaping organizational image-power through images: Case histories of Instagram. 2012 Presented at: 2012 IEEE International Professional Communication Conference; October 8-10, 2012; Orlando, FL p. 1-8. [doi: 10.1109/ipcc.2012.6408624]
- 21. Pemmaraju N. Editorial overview: Emerging importance of social media for real-time communication in the modern medical era. Semin Hematol 2017 Oct;54(4):175-176. [doi: 10.1053/j.seminhematol.2017.08.005] [Medline: 29153076]
- 22. Barreto JE, Whitehair CL. Social Media and Web Presence for Patients and Professionals: Evolving Trends and Implications for Practice. PM R 2017 May 18;9(5S):S98-S105. [doi: 10.1016/j.pmrj.2017.02.012] [Medline: 28527508]
- 23. Terrasse M, Gorin M, Sisti D. Social Media, E-Health, and Medical Ethics. Hastings Cent Rep 2019 Jan;49(1):24-33. [doi: 10.1002/hast.975] [Medline: 30790306]

## Abbreviations

JAMA: Journal of the American Medical Association

Edited by T Sivesind, R Dellavalle; submitted 25.04.21; peer-reviewed by T Dunnsiri, A Bailey, K Chong, S Shu; comments to author 30.05.21; revised version received 02.06.21; accepted 09.06.21; published 28.07.21. <u>Please cite as:</u> Pakhdikian SH, Woo BKP The Role of Providers and Influencers in the Use of Social Media as Solace for Psoriasis: Qualitative and Quantitative Study JMIR Dermatol 2021;4(2):e29904 URL: https://derma.jmir.org/2021/2/e29904 doi:10.2196/29904 PMID:37632846

©Sarin H Pakhdikian, Benjamin K P Woo. Originally published in JMIR Dermatology (http://derma.jmir.org), 28.07.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Dermatology Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://derma.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Research Letter

# Assessment and Evaluation of Social Engagement in Dermatology Residency Programs on Instagram: Cross-sectional Study

Chapman Wei<sup>1</sup>, MD; Sophie Bernstein<sup>2</sup>, BA; Nagasai Adusumilli<sup>3</sup>, MBA; Mark Marchitto<sup>4</sup>, MD; Frank Chen<sup>5</sup>, MD; Anand Rajpara<sup>6</sup>, MD

<sup>1</sup>Department of Medicine, Staten Island University Hospital, Staten Island, NY, United States

<sup>2</sup>University of Missouri-Kansas City School of Medicine, Kansas City, MO, United States

<sup>3</sup>Department of Dermatology, The George Washington School of Medicine and Health Sciences, Washington, DC, United States

<sup>4</sup>Department of Dermatology, Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, United States

<sup>5</sup>Department of Anesthesiology and Critical Care Medicine, Perelman School of Medicine, University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, NY, United States <sup>6</sup>Division of Dermatology, University of Kansas Medical Center, Kansas City, KS, United States

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Chapman Wei, MD Department of Medicine Staten Island University Hospital 475 Seaview Avenue Staten Island, NY, 10305 United States Phone: 1 7182268855 Email: chapman.wei@gmail.com

(JMIR Dermatol 2021;4(2):e32105) doi:10.2196/32105

#### **KEYWORDS**

Instagram; social media; dermatology residency; Instagram engagement score; residency recruitment; medical education

The majority of dermatology residency applicants could not complete away rotations or in-person interviews during the 2021 match cycle due to the COVID-19 pandemic [1]. Without these traditional in-person experiences, applicants needed new ways to get to know one another and learn about programs. Thus, many programs created or enhanced their social media accounts, specifically Instagram, providing an avenue for students to learn about their specific program [2]. By utilizing Instagram, students can be updated on departmental information and the program's overall culture. In a survey study by Steel et al [3], 73% of respondents followed a plastics surgery residency social media account, with 86% using Instagram.

The Instagram engagement score (IES) is a tool that quantifies an Instagram account's engagement [4]. It is the rate of the total number of likes and comments per the number of followers [4]. This study assessed the factors that influence the total follower count and IES of dermatology residency programs' Instagram accounts.

Dermatology residency programs accredited by the Accreditation Council of Graduate Medical Education (ACGME) were identified using the ACGME Directory. Dermatology residency programs with Instagram accounts were identified and evaluated on March 6-7, 2021. Table 1 displays the evaluated variables. Posts were categorized as educational, departmental, academic and professional, social, or other.

```
https://derma.jmir.org/2021/2/e32105
```

RenderX

Univariate and multivariate analyses were performed (Table 2). Three authors independently collected data and resolved any discrepancies unanimously.

Of 145 programs, 78 (53.8%) had Instagram accounts, with 69 (88%) accounts that were active or posted content after November 2020. Other than posts, Instagram Stories Highlights was used most frequently (n=40, 51.3%). Most accounts (n=60) were created in 2020. The average total followers, total accounts following, and IES were 567.4 (SD 289.8), 186.5 (SD 251.1), and 9.06 (SD 3.4), respectively. The University of Miami had the most followers (n=2260) and the University of Kansas had the highest IES (IES=23.76). Program location and affiliation did not affect total followers or IES. Being top 10 on Doximity in terms of reputation (mean 870.9, SD 45.1 vs mean 537.5, SD 286.5; P=.003) and utilizing Instagram TV (mean 701.5, SD 429.0 vs mean 524.2, SD 215.9; P=.02) significantly increased total followers, but not IES.

Multivariate regression analyses showed that total accounts following (P<.001), account age (P<.001), and top 10 status on Doximity (P=.01) strongly correlated with a greater number of total followers ( $R^2$ =0.75) (Table 2). Similarly, total followers (P<.001) and account age (P=.04) were moderately correlated with a greater IES ( $R^2$ =0.42).

Instagram is a valuable platform for dermatology residency programs' self-promotion and recruitment activities following COVID-19. Relative to Twitter and Facebook, Instagram is the ideal social media platform for recruitment because it offers the least amount of negative emotional content while providing positive entertainment, social interaction, and quick information [5]. Thus, dermatology residency programs can easily interact with potential applicants through their posts.

 Table 1. Characteristics of dermatology residency programs' Instagram accounts (N=78).

Ch	aracteristics	Value			
Ca	Categorical variables, n (%)				
	Active (posts more recent than November 2020)	69 (88.5)			
	Instagram Stories Highlights (photos or videos up to 15 seconds in length that are featured on the profile permanently)	40 (51.3)			
	Instagram Reels (15-30-second videos that can incorporate music or special effects)	3 (3.8)			
	Instagram TV (long-form videos up to 60 minutes in length)	19 (24.4)			
Lo	cation, n (%)				
	East North Central (IL, IN, MI, OH, WI)	17 (21.8)			
	East South Central (AL, KY, MS, TN)	4 (5.1)			
	Mid-Atlantic (NJ, NY, PA)	9 (11.5)			
	Mountain (AZ, CO, ID, MT, NM, NV, UT, WY)	2 (2.6)			
	New England (CT, MA, ME, NH, RI, VT)	6 (7.7)			
	Pacific (AK, CA, HI, OR, WA)	8 (10.3)			
	South Atlantic (DC, DE, FL, GA, MD, NC, SC, VA, WV)	17 (21.8)			
	West North Central (IA, KS, MN, MO, ND, NE, SD)	8 (10.3)			
	West South Central (AR, LA, OK, TX)	7 (9.0)			
	Territory (PR)	0 (0)			
Program affiliation, n (%)					
	Community	3 (3.8)			
	Community with university affiliation	10 (12.8)			
	University	65 (83.3)			
	Military	0 (0)			
Continuous variables, mean (SD); range					
	Account age (days) (as of March 07, 2021)	346.8 (396.7); 6-2471			
	Total followers <sup>a</sup>	567.4 (289.8); 81-2260			
	Total accounts following	186.5 (251.1); 3-2045			
	Total posts	51.7 (57.0); 2-263			
	Number of education posts	3.1 (5.5); 0-25			
	Number of departmental posts	29.8 (37.1); 2-191			
	Number of academic and professional posts	7.8 (10.8); 0-50			
	Number of social posts	7.7 (8.6); 0-37			
	Number of other posts	3.2 (5.5); 0-26			
	Instagram engagement score	9.06 (3.4); 2.8-23.8			

<sup>a</sup>Outcome of interest.

XSL•FO RenderX
#### Wei et al

Table 2. Univariate and multivariate linear regression results: total followers or Instagram engagement score gained relative to study variables (P<.05 was considered statistically significant).

Variable	Univariate		Multivariate	
	P value	$R^2$	P value	$R^2$
Total followers				0.749
Account age	<.001	0.208	.01	
Total accounts following	.002	0.120	<.001	
Total posts	<.001	0.366	.87	
Educational posts	.06	0.044	.86	
Departmental posts	<.001	0.430	.90	
Academic posts	<.001	0.239	.86	
Social posts	.03	0.060	.86	
Other posts	.01	0.084	.77	
Active (posts more recent than November 2020)	.08	N/A	.68	
Instagram Stories Highlights	.14	N/A	.66	
Instagram Reels	.64	N/A	.79	
Instagram TV	.02	N/A	.35	
Doximity (top 10 reputation-wise)	.003	N/A	.01	
Program location	.54	N/A	.30	
Program affiliation	.58	N/A	.48	
Instagram engagement score				0.418
Account age	.44	0.008	.04	
Total followers	<.001	0.258	<.001	
Total accounts following	.16	0.026	.49	
Total posts	.02	0.071	.61	
Educational posts	.85	0.000	.60	
Departmental posts	.008	0.089	.60	
Academic posts	.07	0.043	.61	
Social posts	.27	0.016	.62	
Other posts	.28	0.016	.65	
Active (posts more recent than November 2020)	.30	N/A	.50	
Instagram Stories Highlights	.09	N/A	.28	
Instagram Reels	.90	N/A	.55	
Instagram TV	.51	N/A	.12	
Doximity (top 10 reputation-wise)	.32	N/A	.16	
Program location	.94	N/A	.69	
Program affiliation	.35	N/A	.83	

We found several modifiable factors that may increase a program's IES. Programs can indirectly increase their IES by following more accounts to increase the chances of likes and comments. In addition, programs should start utilizing tools like Instagram Stories Highlights, Instagram TV, and Instagram Reels. This study has several limitations. The data were collected from only one social media platform because Instagram content was associated with more positive emotions compared to Twitter and Facebook, which is essential for marketing and recruitment [5]. This study is cross-sectional in design, which means the information presented may change over time.



## **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

#### References

- 1. Kearns DG, Chat VS, Uppal S, Wu JJ. Applying to dermatology residency during the COVID-19 pandemic. J Am Acad Dermatol 2020 Oct;83(4):1214-1215 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2020.07.011] [Medline: 32652192]
- Schwartzman G, Qureshi A, Friedman AJ. Utilization of Instagram by dermatology residency programs in the era of COVID-19. J Am Acad Dermatol 2021 Jul;85(1):204-206 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2021.03.078] [Medline: 33811936]
- Steele TN, Galarza-Paez L, Aguilo-Seara G, David LR. Social media impact in the Match: A survey of current trends in the United States. Arch Plast Surg 2021 Jan;48(1):107-113 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5999/aps.2020.00836] [Medline: 33503753]
- 4. Roach A. Instagram Engagement: What It Is And How To Improve It. Oberlo. 2020. URL: <u>https://www.oberlo.com/blog/</u> instagram-engagement-improve [accessed 2021-03-07]
- Voorveld HAM, van Noort G, Muntinga DG, Bronner F. Engagement with Social Media and Social Media Advertising: The Differentiating Role of Platform Type. Journal of Advertising 2018 Feb 13;47(1):38-54. [doi: 10.1080/00913367.2017.1405754]

#### Abbreviations

**IES:** Instagram engagement score

Edited by R Dellavalle, T Sivesind; submitted 14.07.21; peer-reviewed by A Gu, T Quan; comments to author 24.07.21; revised version received 28.07.21; accepted 28.07.21; published 26.08.21.

Please cite as:

Wei C, Bernstein S, Adusumilli N, Marchitto M, Chen F, Rajpara A Assessment and Evaluation of Social Engagement in Dermatology Residency Programs on Instagram: Cross-sectional Study JMIR Dermatol 2021;4(2):e32105 URL: https://derma.jmir.org/2021/2/e32105 doi:10.2196/32105 PMID:37632856

©Chapman Wei, Sophie Bernstein, Nagasai Adusumilli, Mark Marchitto, Frank Chen, Anand Rajpara. Originally published in JMIR Dermatology (http://derma.jmir.org), 26.08.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Dermatology Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://derma.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



## Short Paper

# Performance of Artificial Intelligence Imaging Models in Detecting Dermatological Manifestations in Higher Fitzpatrick Skin Color Classifications

Pushkar Aggarwal<sup>1</sup>, MBA

College of Medicine, University of Cincinnati, Cincinnati, OH, United States

**Corresponding Author:** Pushkar Aggarwal, MBA College of Medicine University of Cincinnati 3230 Eden Ave Cincinnati, OH, 45267 United States Phone: 1 2402000896 Email: aggarwpr@mail.uc.edu

# Abstract

**Background:** The performance of deep-learning image recognition models is below par when applied to images with Fitzpatrick classification skin types 4 and 5.

**Objective:** The objective of this research was to assess whether image recognition models perform differently when differentiating between dermatological diseases in individuals with darker skin color (Fitzpatrick skin types 4 and 5) than when differentiating between the same dermatological diseases in Caucasians (Fitzpatrick skin types 1, 2, and 3) when both models are trained on the same number of images.

**Methods:** Two image recognition models were trained, validated, and tested. The goal of each model was to differentiate between melanoma and basal cell carcinoma. Open-source images of melanoma and basal cell carcinoma were acquired from the Hellenic Dermatological Atlas, the Dermatology Atlas, the Interactive Dermatology Atlas, and DermNet NZ.

**Results:** The image recognition models trained and validated on images with light skin color had higher sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value, negative predictive value, and F1 score than the image recognition models trained and validated on images of skin of color for differentiation between melanoma and basal cell carcinoma.

**Conclusions:** A higher number of images of dermatological diseases in individuals with darker skin color than images of dermatological diseases in individuals with light skin color would need to be gathered for artificial intelligence models to perform equally well.

(JMIR Dermatol 2021;4(2):e31697) doi:10.2196/31697

#### KEYWORDS

deep learning; melanoma; basal cell carcinoma; skin of color; image recognition; dermatology; disease; convolutional neural network; specificity; prediction; artificial intelligence; skin color; skin tone

# Introduction

#### Background

RenderX

In dermatology, artificial intelligence (AI) is poised to improve the efficiency and accuracy of traditional diagnostic approaches, including visual examination, skin biopsy, and histopathologic examination [1]. Deep-learning image recognition models have had success in differentiating between dermatological diseases using images of light-skinned individuals. However, when these

https://derma.jmir.org/2021/2/e31697

models are tested on images of people with skin of color, the performance drops [2]. It is thought that the primary reason for this difference is the lack of available images of dermatological diseases in individuals with darker skin color (Fitzpatrick classification of skin types 4 and 5) [3]. However, is it also possible that even when the same number of images are available, image recognition models will have a harder time differentiating between dermatological diseases in individuals with Fitzpatrick skin types 4 and 5 compared to skin types 1, 2, and 3?

#### Objective

The objective of this research was to assess whether image recognition models perform differently when differentiating between dermatological diseases in individuals of color (Fitzpatrick skin types 4 and 5) than when differentiating between the same dermatological diseases in Caucasians (Fitzpatrick skin types 1, 2, and 3) when both models are trained on an equal number of images.

# Methods

Open-source images of melanoma and basal cell carcinoma (BCC) were acquired from the Hellenic Dermatological Atlas [4], the Dermatology Atlas [5], the Interactive Dermatology Atlas [6], and DermNet NZ [7]. Two image recognition models were trained, validated, and tested using methodology as described previously [8]. TensorFlow [9], an open-source software library by Google, was used as a deep-learning framework and was used to retrain Inception, version 3 (v3). Inception v3 is a deep convolutional neural network. This neural network consists of a hierarchy of multiple computational layers that each have an input and output. All layers except the final layer of this neural network are pretrained with more than 1.2 million images. The final layer of the neural network was retrained with the gathered dermatological images. During the retraining process, the neural network underwent both a training and validation step. In the training step, the inputted images were used to train the neural network. In the validation step, inputted naïve images were used to iteratively assess training accuracy [10].

After the model had been retrained (trained and validated), a user-inputted testing/assessment step was performed in which test images were inputted and the results were statistically analyzed. The program assessment output is expressed in terms of percentages of the probability of each of the dermatological manifestations for each testing image inputted. R software (R Foundation for Statistical Computing) [11] was used to perform the statistical analysis. Sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value (PPV), negative predictive value (NPV), and F1 score were calculated for each dermatological manifestation. The F1 score is the harmonic average of the sensitivity and PPV (mean of the recall and precision).

The goal of each model was to differentiate between melanoma and BCC.

The first model was:

• Trained on 150 images of individuals with light skin color (Fitzpatrick skin types 1, 2, and 3), 75 melanoma and 75 BCC images;

- Validated on 38 images of individuals with light skin color (Fitzpatrick skin types 1, 2, and 3), 19 melanoma and 19 BCC images;
- Tested on 30 images of individuals with light skin color (Fitzpatrick skin types 1, 2, and 3), 15 melanoma and 15 BCC images.

The second model was:

- Trained on 150 images of individuals with skin of color (Fitzpatrick skin types 4 and 5), 75 melanoma and 75 BCC images;
- Validated on 38 images of individuals with skin of color (Fitzpatrick skin types 4 and 5), 19 melanoma and 19 BCC images;
- Tested on 30 images of individuals with skin of color (Fitzpatrick skin types 4 and 5), 15 melanoma and 15 BCC images.

Area under the receiver operating characteristic (AUC) curves for melanoma and BCC were calculated to determine the performance of the two models.

# Results

When asked to differentiate between melanoma and BCC, the image recognition model trained and validated on images of light skin color had higher sensitivity, specificity, PPV, NPV, and F1 score than the image recognition model trained and validated on images of skin of color (Table 1).

In predicting melanoma, the image recognition model trained and validated on images of light skin color had a sensitivity of 0.60, specificity of 0.53, PPV of 0.56, NPV of 0.57, and F1 score of 0.58. On the other hand, in predicting melanoma, the same image recognition model trained and validated on images of skin of color had a sensitivity of 0.53, specificity of 0.47, PPV of 0.50, NPV of 0.50, and F1 score of 0.52.

In predicting BCC, the image recognition model trained and validated on images of light skin color had a sensitivity of 0.53, specificity of 0.60, PPV of 0.57, NPV of 0.56, and F1 score of 0.55. On the other hand, for prediction of BCC, the same image recognition model trained and validated on images of skin of color had a sensitivity of 0.47, specificity of 0.53, PPV of 0.50, NPV of 0.50, and F1 score of 0.48.

The average AUC for the two light skin color image recognition models was 0.598, compared to 0.500 (values point out the difference) for the skin of color image recognition models (Table 1 and Figure 1).



#### Aggarwal

**Table 1.** Statistical measures of the deep-learning model trained, validated, and tested on different Fitzpatrick skin type classifications (types 1, 2, and 3 vs types 4 and 5) for evaluating melanoma and basal cell carcinoma.

Measure	Melanoma model		Basal cell carcinoma model		
	Skin types 1, 2, and 3	Skin types 4 and 5	Skin types 1, 2, and 3	Skin types 4 and 5	
Sensitivity	0.60	0.53	0.53	0.47	
Specificity	0.53	0.47	0.60	0.53	
Positive predictive value	0.56	0.50	0.57	0.50	
Negative predictive value	0.57	0.50	0.56	0.50	
F1 score	0.58	0.52	0.55	0.48	
Area under the receiver operating characteristic curve	0.59	0.57	0.60	0.53	

Figure 1. Receiver operating characteristic curves for melanoma and basal cell carcinoma (BCC) in each of the two models for different skin types. FC: Fitzpatrick classification.



# Discussion

#### Limitations

The number of images available was limited for Fitzpatrick skin types 4 and 5; as such, both the light skin color and skin of color models were investigated with this constraint for the number of images used during training. A larger sample size would have been better to test if the results recur consistently.

#### Conclusion

When the same number of images is used for training, validation, and testing, the AI model that was provided images

of melanoma and BCC belonging to Fitzpatrick classification skin types 1, 2, and 3 performed better than the AI model that was provided with images of melanoma and BCC in skin types 4 and 5. This may be because dermatological diseases can have more variability in presentation in individuals with darker skin; additionally, cutaneous manifestations may not be as easily distinguished from the surrounding skin in darker-skinned individuals. As such, a higher number of images of skin of color with dermatological diseases than images of light skin color with dermatological diseases would need to be gathered for the AI models to perform equally well.

## **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

#### References

RenderX

1. Patel S, Wang JV, Motaparthi K, Lee JB. Artificial intelligence in dermatology for the clinician. Clinics in Dermatology 2021 Mar;21(8):e208 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.clindermatol.2021.03.012] [Medline: 34237259]

```
https://derma.jmir.org/2021/2/e31697
```

- 2. Kamulegeya LH, Okello M, Bwanika JM, MusinguziD D, Lubega W, Rusoke D, et al. Using artificial intelligence on dermatology conditions in Uganda: A case for diversity in training data sets for machine learning. bioRxiv. Preprint posted online October 31, 2019 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1101/826057]
- 3. Adamson AS, Smith A. Machine Learning and Health Care Disparities in Dermatology. JAMA Dermatol 2018 Nov 01;154(11):1247-1248. [doi: 10.1001/jamadermatol.2018.2348] [Medline: 30073260]
- 4. Verros CD. Hellenic Dermatological Atlas. 2011. URL: <u>http://www.hellenicdermatlas.com/en/</u> [accessed 2021-09-02]
- 5. da Silva SF. Dermatology Atlas. 2021. URL: <u>http://www.atlasdermatologico.com.br/</u> [accessed 2021-09-02]
- 6. Usatine RP, Madden BD. Interactive Dermatology Atlas. 2019. URL: <u>https://www.dermatlas.net/</u> [accessed 2021-09-02]
- Oakley A, Suhonen R, Ashton R, Waikato District Health Board, New Zealand Dermatological Society Inc. DermNet NZ. URL: <u>https://dermnetnz.org/</u> [accessed 2021-09-02]
- Aggarwal P. Data augmentation in dermatology image recognition using machine learning. Skin Res Technol 2019 Nov;25(6):815-820. [doi: <u>10.1111/srt.12726</u>] [Medline: <u>31140653</u>]
- 9. Abadi M, Barham P, Chen J, Chen Z, Davis A, Dean J, et al. TensorFlow: A system for large-scale machine learning. arXiv. Preprint posted online May 27, 2016 [FREE Full text]
- Zhang YC, Kagen AC. Machine Learning Interface for Medical Image Analysis. J Digit Imaging 2017 Oct;30(5):615-621 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10278-016-9910-0] [Medline: 27730415]
- 11. R Core Team. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. Vienna, Austria: R Foundation for Statistical Computing URL: <u>http://www.R-project.org/</u> [accessed 2021-09-02]

#### Abbreviations

AI: artificial intelligence AUC: area under the receiver operating characteristic BCC: basal cell carcinoma NPV: negative predictive value PPV: positive predictive value

Edited by R Dellavalle, T Sivesind; submitted 30.06.21; peer-reviewed by DN Mytle, T Koritala; comments to author 18.08.21; revised version received 23.08.21; accepted 26.08.21; published 12.10.21.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Aggarwal P

Aggarwal F Performance of Artificial Intelligence Imaging Models in Detecting Dermatological Manifestations in Higher Fitzpatrick Skin Color Classifications JMIR Dermatol 2021;4(2):e31697 URL: https://derma.jmir.org/2021/2/e31697 doi:10.2196/31697 PMID:37632853

©Pushkar Aggarwal. Originally published in JMIR Dermatology (http://derma.jmir.org), 12.10.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Dermatology Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://derma.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



# Comparing Risk Profiles in Critical Care Patients With Stage 2 and Deep Tissue Pressure Injuries: Exploratory Retrospective Cohort Study

Jenny Alderden<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Linda Amoafo<sup>1</sup>, MSTAT; Yue Zhang<sup>1</sup>, MSTAT, PhD; Caroline Fife<sup>2</sup>, MD; David Yap<sup>1</sup>; Tracey Yap<sup>3</sup>, PhD

<sup>1</sup>University of Utah, Salt Lake City, UT, United States <sup>2</sup>Intellicure, Inc, The Woodlands, TX, United States <sup>3</sup>Duke University, Durham, NC, United States

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Jenny Alderden, PhD University of Utah 10 S 2000 E Salt Lake City, UT, 84112 United States Phone: 1 2089918349 Email: jenny.alderden@utah.edu

# Abstract

**Background:** Understanding hospital-acquired pressure injury (HAPrI) etiology is essential for developing effective preventive interventions. Pressure injuries are classified based on the degree of visible tissue damage; the two most commonly identified HAPrI stages in critical care patients are stage 2 and deep tissue injury (DTI). Some experts speculate that stage 2 and DTI have different etiologies, with stage 2 injuries formed from the "outside in" as a result of tissue deformation, decreased perfusion, and subsequent ischemia caused by external pressure and/or shear forces, whereas DTI emerges from the "inside out" due to inadequate perfusion to the deeper tissues causing tissue ischemia.

**Objective:** The purpose of this study was to compare risk profiles of intensive care unit (ICU) patients who developed stage 2 injuries versus DTIs.

**Methods:** This was a retrospective cohort study to compare the risk profiles of patients in the ICU with stage 2 injuries and DTIs using electronic health record data. Eligible patients were admitted to the surgical or cardiovascular ICU at an academic medical center in the United States between 2014 and 2018. Anatomic locations were examined, and differences in anatomic patterns were compared using the  $\chi^2$  test. Risk profile variables included demographic characteristics, Braden Scale scores, vasopressor infusions, hypotension, surgical factors, length of stay, BMI, laboratory values, diabetes, Charlson Comorbidity Index, and the levels of sedation or agitation. The distributions of potential risk variables between patients with stage 2 injuries and DTIs were summarized and compared. A logistic regression model with the least absolute shrinkage and selection operator method was developed to identify the critical risk factors for distinguishing stage 2 and DTI patients.

**Results:** A total of 244 patients developed a stage 2 injury or DTI during the study period. Of those, 38 patients with medical device–related pressure injury were excluded. The final study sample consisted of 206 patients (n=146 stage 2 and n=60 DTI).

Compared with DTIs, stage 2 HAPrIs were more likely to be located on a bony prominence (n=206,  $\chi^2_1$ =8.43, *P*=.03). The multivariate model showed that patients who developed stage 2 HAPrIs had a longer length of stay in the ICU than those with DTIs (odds ratio [OR] 1.001, 95% CI 1-1.002, *P*=.03) but were less likely than patients with DTIs to experience a diastolic blood pressure <50 mmHg (OR 0.179, 95% CI 0.072-0.416, *P*<.001) or receive an epinephrine infusion (OR 0.316, 95% CI 0.079-0.525, *P*=.008).

**Conclusions:** Stage 2 injuries and DTIs have different risk factors and different anatomic patterns. Patients who developed DTIs were more likely to experience low diastolic blood pressure and receive epinephrine, a potent vasopressor. Stage 2 injuries were more likely to occur on the bony prominences, whereas DTIs commonly occurred on the fleshy parts of the body such as the buttock.

RenderX

(JMIR Dermatol 2021;4(2):e29757) doi:10.2196/29757

#### **KEYWORDS**

pressure ulcer; pressure injury; critical care; intensive care; hospital-acquired pressure injury; tissue damage; electronic health records; EHRs

# Introduction

The United States has an estimated cost burden exceeding US \$26 billion for hospital-acquired pressure injury (HAPrI) treatment [1], although these injuries are considered to be mainly preventable. The prevailing belief about the development of HAPrIs is that a localized injury occurs to an area of the skin and underlying tissue—usually over a bony prominence—as a result of external pressure and sometimes shear forces, along with additional factors that have yet to be elucidated [2]. Patients admitted to the intensive care unit (ICU) are more likely than other hospitalized patients to experience hemodynamic instability and hypotension; in fact, their risk tends to double [3] given a constellation of other factors such as longer length of stay [4,5], surgical factors [6], vasopressor infusions [7,8] older age [9], increased severity of illness [10], and decreased mobility [8,9].

Understanding the etiology of HAPrI is foundational for developing effective preventive interventions. The National Pressure Injury Advisory Panel and the European Pressure Ulcer Advisory Panel provide a pressure injury (PrI) classification staging system (stages 1-4, deep tissue injury [DTI], and unstageable) along with common descriptions of the extent of the visible skin and tissue damage for the purpose of clinical practice, audits, and research [2]. Stage 2 and DTI, the two most commonly occurring injuries within the classification system, appear to be markedly different: stage 2 injuries are generally shallow ulcers, whereas DTIs present as discolored intact skin as a result of damage to the underlying tissue. Some experts speculate that stage 2 injuries and those considered to be DTIs have different etiologies, with stage 2 injuries forming from the "outside in" as a result of tissue deformation, decreased perfusion, and subsequent ischemia caused by external pressure and/or shear forces, whereas DTIs emerge from the "inside out" due to inadequate perfusion to the deeper tissues causing tissue ischemia [11]. If a stage 2 injury occurs from the "outside in" and a DTI forms from the "inside out," it is likely that ICU patients with a DTI would experience more perfusion-related risk factors. Therefore, the purpose of this study was to compare the risk profiles of ICU patients who developed stage 2 injuries and DTIs.

# Methods

#### Design

This was a retrospective cohort study of electronic health record (EHR) data to establish risk factor profiles of ICU patients comparing stage 2 injuries and DTIs. The institutional review board of the University of Utah approved the study (IRB\_00111380).

#### Sample and Setting

Eligible patients were those who were admitted to the surgical or cardiovascular ICU at an academic medical center in the United States between 2014 and 2018. Inclusion criteria were age >18 years and development of a nonmedical device–related stage 2 injury or DTI during the ICU stay. Exclusion criteria were pediatric patients (<18 years old) and the absence of an ICU-acquired stage 2 injury or DTI. Patients with a medical device–related PrI were included in the study only if they also developed a nonmedical device–related PrI of stage 2 or a DTI [12]. Patients with PrI present on admission to the ICU were only included in the study if they also subsequently developed an ICU-acquired PrI.

Critical care nurses at this institution conduct a head-to-toe skin assessment each shift and document results in the EHR, noting the location and stage of any HAPrI, which is then confirmed by a certified wound care nurse. Patients unable to reposition independently are repositioned every 2 hours, and skincare protocols are employed to encourage nurses to keep the skin as clean and dry as possible. All of the ICU beds are pressure redistribution/low air loss beds; bariatric pressure redistribution/low air loss beds are used for patients with obesity.

#### Data Collection

Data were obtained using a combination of a query of the institution's critical-care datamart cross-referenced with data maintained by the institution's quality department, along with a manual review of the EPIC EHR system when necessary. Data extracted were limited to the first ICU stay for patients with multiple ICU stays. To capture HAPrI risk factors, only data from the timeframe between ICU admission and HAPrI detection were included.

#### Measures

Stage 2 injury and DTI were defined according to the National Pressure Injury Advisory Panel definitions [13]; a PrI was considered to be hospital-acquired if it was detected  $\geq$ 48 hours after admission. The anatomic location was recorded from structured fields in the EHR and also verified with photographic evidence when available. Risk profile variables included demographic characteristics [14], Braden Scale scores [15], vasopressor infusions [7], hypotension [16], surgical factors [6,16,17], length of stay [5,18], BMI [19], laboratory values [16], diabetes [4], Charlson Comorbidity Index (categorizing comorbidities of the patients' disease burden and their 1-year mortality risk) [20], and the Riker score (levels of sedation or agitation) [21].

#### Analysis

All statistical analyses were performed in R version 3.6.1. (R Foundation for Statistical Computing). First, the distributions of potential risk variables between patients with stage 2 injuries and DTIs were summarized and compared using t tests (or

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

Wilcoxon rank-sum tests) for continuous variables and with the  $\chi^2$  test (or Fisher exact test) for categorical variables. Variance inflation factors (VIFs) were calculated to detect if multicollinearity was present among the list of potential predictors. If none of the potential predictors had a VIF exceeding 5, we treated all predictors as independent predictors. We employed a logistic regression model with the least absolute shrinkage and selection operator (LASSO) method [22] to identify the critical risk factors for distinguishing stage 2 injury and DTI patients.

Unlike other variable selection approaches—such as the stepwise approach—the LASSO approach does not select important risk factors based on *P* values. Instead, by imposing a penalty in the regression model fitting, the LASSO approach shrinks the coefficients of unimportant predictors to zero while retaining the important coefficients [22]. The optimal penalty term was determined using 10-fold cross-validation criteria; the predictor was selected if, and only if, its coefficient was nonzero. The final model included all important predictors with parsimonious representation, enhanced interpretability, and improved precision. From the soft-thresholding property of LASSO in generalized linear regression models, the estimated regression coefficients from the penalized logistic regression were biased toward zero. To mitigate these bias problems, we report a more unbiased estimation of the regression coefficients from unpenalized logistic regression using the selected factors from the LASSO.

## Results

A total of 244 patients developed a stage 2 injury or DTI during the study period. Of those, 38 patients with a medical device-related PrI were excluded. The final study sample consisted of 206 patients (n=146 stage 2 and n=60 DTI). Univariate relationships between study variables and HAPrI stage are presented in Table 1. The multivariate model for the effects of risk profiles on stage 2 versus DTI development is presented in Table 2.

Compared with DTIs, stage 2 HAPrIs were more likely to be located on a bony prominence (n=206,  $\chi^2_1$ =8.43, *P*=.03). Among the 146 stage 2 HAPrIs, 93 (63.7%) were located on the sacrum or the coccyx and 11 (7.5%) were located on other bony prominences (ischium, heel, or spine). Among the 60 DTIs, 30 (50%) were found on a bony prominence (sacrum, coccyx, ischium, heel, or spine), whereas the other 30 (50%) occurred on fleshy parts of the body, particularly the buttock (n=23, 38%).



Table 1. Risk factor profiles in stage 2 and deep tissue hospital-acquired pressure injury.

Variable	Stage 2 injury (n=146)	Deep tissue injury (n=60)	P value
Demographic factors			
Age (years), mean (SD)	57.5 (16.4)	57.5 (14.0)	.99 <sup>a</sup>
Sex (male), n (%)	86 (58.9)	43 (71.7)	.09 <sup>b</sup>
Race (White), n (%)	117 (80.1)	48 (80.0)	.98 <sup>b</sup>
Ethnicity (Non-Hispanic), n (%)	123 (84.2)	50 (83.3)	.87 <sup>b</sup>
Hospital length of stay (days), mean (SD)	31 (23)	28 (19)	.52 <sup>c</sup>
ICU <sup>d</sup> length of stay (days), mean (SD)	20 (18)	18 (18)	.35 <sup>c</sup>
Surgical factors, mean (SD)			
Longest surgery (hours)	3 (3)	5 (4)	<.001 <sup>c</sup>
Total surgical time (hours)	6 (4)	4 (5)	.001 <sup>c</sup>
Laboratory values, mean (SD)			
Minimum albumin (g/dl)	2.7 (0.7)	2.6 (0.5)	.23 <sup>a</sup>
Minimum hemoglobin (g/dl)	7.5 (2.1)	7.4 (2.2)	.76 <sup>a</sup>
Maximum lactate (mmol/l)	7.3 (6.0)	5.1 (4.1)	.008 <sup>c</sup>
Maximum creatinine mg/dL	2.9 (2.1)	2.9 (2.2)	.78 <sup>c</sup>
Blood pressure, n (%)			
Systolic <90 mmHg	120 (82.2)	54 (90.0)	.16 <sup>b</sup>
MAP <sup>e</sup> <60 mmHg	99 (67.8)	43 (71.7)	.59 <sup>b</sup>
Diastolic <50 mmHg	60 (41.1)	44 (73.3)	<.001 <sup>b</sup>
Epinephrine	49 (33.6)	40 (66.7)	<.001 <sup>b</sup>
Norepinephrine	71 (48.6)	33 (55.0)	.41 <sup>b</sup>
Dopamine	12 (8.2)	2 (3.3)	.36 <sup>f</sup>
Vasopressin	63 (43.2)	41 (68.3)	.001 <sup>b</sup>
Phenylephrine	8 (5.5)	3 (5.0)	.99 <sup>b</sup>
Diagnosis and comorbidities			
Charlson Comorbidity Index, mean (SD)	4.3 (2.9)	4.5 (2.7)	.53 <sup>c</sup>
Diabetes, n (%)	28 (19.2)	14 (23.3)	.50 <sup>b</sup>
Minimum Braden scale score, mean (SD)	11.1 (3.0)	11.5 (2.8)	.32 <sup>c</sup>
Minimum Riker score, mean (SD)	2.2 (1.2)	1.8 (1.0)	08 <sup>c</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Based on the t test.

 $^bBased$  on the  $\chi^2$  test.

<sup>c</sup>Based on the Wilcoxon rank-sum test.

<sup>d</sup>ICU: intensive care unit.

<sup>e</sup>MAP: mean arterial pressure.

<sup>f</sup>Based on the Fisher exact test.



Table 2.	Logistic	regression m	nodel for stage 2	vs deep tis	ssue injury af	er least abso	lute shrinkage and	l selection operator	variable selection.
----------	----------	--------------	-------------------	-------------	----------------	---------------	--------------------	----------------------	---------------------

Variable	Odds ratio	95% CI	P value
Sex (reference: male)	0.335	0.14-0.755	.11
Hospital length of stay (days)	1.001	1-1.002	.03
Longest surgery (hours)	0.998	0.996-1	.06
Minimum albumin (g/dl)	0.696	0.353-1.351	.29
Diastolic blood pressure <50 mmHg	0.179	0.072-0.416	<.001
Epinephrine	0.316	0.079-0.525	.008
Dopamine	4.277	0.836-33.803	.11

# Discussion

#### **Principal Findings**

This exploratory study investigated differences in risk factors and anatomic patterns between surgical and cardiovascular ICU patients who developed stage 2 injuries vs DTIs. Understanding HAPrI risk factors and the associated etiology is essential for developing effective prevention approaches. It is possible that etiological differences exist between different PrI stages, with stage 2 PrI resulting primarily from external pressure and/or shearing forces affecting perfusion to the superficial tissues and DTI resulting from inadequate blood flow (perfusion) to the deeper tissues [23]. ICU patients are an ideal population for studying perfusion in relation to HAPrIs because they are more likely to experience hypotension and hemodynamic instability.

In this exploratory study, low diastolic blood pressure had the strongest correlation with the development of a DTI. This finding is consistent with a prior study aimed at identifying risk factors for DTI in ICU patients [16], which found that for every 1 mmHg decrease in diastolic blood pressure, the odds of a DTI increased by about 8%. Considering that the heart is in diastole about 2/3 of the time (and in systole 1/3 of the time), it is logical that inadequate diastolic blood pressure is a significant factor contributing to tissue perfusion.

The finding that epinephrine, a potent vasopressor, was associated with DTI is further evidence for the importance of tissue perfusion in DTI etiology. Vasopressor drugs are administered to improve organ perfusion in patients with hypotension; however, the alpha-adrenergic properties of certain vasopressors, including epinephrine, cause arterial vasoconstriction and therefore decrease blood flow to the vessels in the muscles and peripheral tissues. Although it is well established that vasopressor drugs are risk factors for HAPrI, likely as a result of their indication (severe illness and hypotension) and the mechanism of action (arterial vasoconstriction) [8,9,24], this is the first study to examine vasopressors in relation to HAPrI stage.

This study showed that stage 2 HAPrIs were more likely than DTIs to be located on a bony prominence, whereas DTIs were mostly located on the fleshy parts of the body (primarily the buttock). This finding has important clinical implications for routine nursing care because routine skin assessment usually involves checking the bony prominences and not the fleshy areas [2]. Therefore, the fleshy areas, particularly the buttock, should be included in routine nursing skin assessments.

The differences in anatomic patterns, with stage 2 injuries mostly occurring on the bony prominences and DTIs mainly occurring on the fleshy areas, suggest a potential etiological difference between stage 2 injuries and DTIs. Stage 2 HAPrIs are likely primarily caused by pressure (tissue compression) between a surface (eg, a bed) and a bony prominence, or pressure combined with shear force [2]. However, fleshy areas are typically not exposed to significant external pressure, and therefore an "inside-out" etiology driven by perfusion should be considered [11,16,24].

#### Limitations

The study is limited by its small sample size, and therefore the results are considered exploratory. We were limited to the data contained in the EHR, and consequently unable to accurately obtain variables difficult to capture retrospectively, such as repositioning frequency. Moreover, these data are based on a single study site and therefore may not be generalizable to other institutions.

#### Conclusion

Results from this exploratory study performed in surgical and cardiovascular ICU patients showed that deep tissue and stage 2 HAPrIs have different risk factors and different anatomic patterns. Patients who developed DTIs were more likely than patients with stage 2 HAPrIs to experience low diastolic blood pressure and to have received epinephrine, a potent vasopressor. Stage 2 HAPrIs were more likely to occur on the bony prominences, whereas DTIs commonly occurred on the fleshy parts of the body such as the buttock. Future research is needed to elucidate the detailed etiologic differences between stages, which will lead to identifying effective preventive interventions.

#### Acknowledgments

The authors wish to thank Kendall Varin, BA, for her assistance in editing this manuscript.



## **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

#### References

- 1. Padula WV, Delarmente BA. The national cost of hospital-acquired pressure injuries in the United States. Int Wound J 2019 Jun 28;16(3):634-640 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/iwj.13071] [Medline: 30693644]
- 2. European Pressure Ulcer Advisory Panel, National Pressure Injury Advisory Panel, and Pan Pacific Pressure Injury Alliance. In: Haesler E, editor. Prevention and treatment of pressure ulcers/injuries: clinical practice guideline. The International Guideline: EPUAP/NPIAP/PPPIA; 2019.
- 3. Baumgarten M, Margolis DJ, Localio AR, Kagan SH, Lowe RA, Kinosian B, et al. Extrinsic risk factors for pressure ulcers early in the hospital stay: a nested case-control study. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2008 Apr 01;63(4):408-413 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/gerona/63.4.408] [Medline: 18426965]
- 4. Cox J. Pressure injury risk factors in adult critical care patients: a review of the literature. Ostomy Wound Manage 2017 Nov;63(11):30-43 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 29166261]
- Alderden J, Cowan L, Dimas J, Chen D, Zhang Y, Cummins M, et al. Risk factors for hospital-acquired pressure injury in surgical critical care patients. Am J Crit Care 2020 Nov 01;29(6):e128-e134. [doi: <u>10.4037/ajcc2020810</u>] [Medline: <u>33130863</u>]
- 6. Chen H, Chen X, Wu J. The incidence of pressure ulcers in surgical patients of the last 5 years: a systematic review. Wounds 2012 Sep;24(9):234-241. [Medline: 25874704]
- 7. Cox J. Pressure ulcer development and vasopressor agents in adult critical care patients: a literature review. Ostomy Wound Manage 2013 Apr;59(4):50-56 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 23562874]
- Alderden J, Rondinelli J, Pepper G, Cummins M, Whitney J. Risk factors for pressure injuries among critical care patients: A systematic review. Int J Nurs Stud 2017 Jun;71:97-114 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2017.03.012] [Medline: 28384533]
- Lima Serrano M, González Méndez M, Carrasco Cebollero F, Lima Rodríguez J. Risk factors for pressure ulcer development in Intensive Care Units: A systematic review. Medicina Intensiva 2017 Aug;41(6):339-346. [doi: 10.1016/j.medine.2017.04.006]
- Manzano F, Pérez-Pérez AM, Martínez-Ruiz S, Garrido-Colmenero C, Roldan D, Jiménez-Quintana MDM, et al. Hospital-acquired pressure ulcers and risk of hospital mortality in intensive care patients on mechanical ventilation. J Eval Clin Pract 2014 Aug 22;20(4):362-368. [doi: <u>10.1111/jep.12137</u>] [Medline: <u>24854297</u>]
- 11. Yap TL, Alderden J, Lewis M, Taylor K, Fife CE. Angiosomal vascular occlusions, deep-tissue pressure injuries, and competing theories: a case report. Adv Skin Wound Care 2021;34(3):157-164. [doi: 10.1097/01.asw.0000732804.13066.30]
- Barakat-Johnson M, Lai M, Wand T, Li M, White K, Coyer F. The incidence and prevalence of medical device-related pressure ulcers in intensive care: a systematic review. J Wound Care 2019 Aug 02;28(8):512-521. [doi: <u>10.12968/jowc.2019.28.8.512</u>] [Medline: <u>31393800</u>]
- Edsberg L, Black J, Goldberg M, McNichol L, Moore L, Sieggreen M. Revised National Pressure Ulcer Advisory Panel Pressure Injury Staging System: Revised Pressure Injury Staging System. J Wound Ostomy Continence Nurs 2016;43(6):585-597 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/WON.00000000000281] [Medline: 27749790]
- Strazzieri-Pulido KC, S González CV, Nogueira PC, Padilha KG, G Santos VLC. Pressure injuries in critical patients: Incidence, patient-associated factors, and nursing workload. J Nurs Manag 2019 Mar 20;27(2):301-310. [doi: 10.1111/jonm.12671] [Medline: 30238676]
- 15. Bergstrom N, Braden BJ, Laguzza A, Holman V. The Braden Scale for predicting pressure sore risk. Nurs Res 1987;36(4):205-210. [doi: 10.1097/00006199-198707000-00002]
- Kirkland-Kyhn H, Teleten O, Wilson M. A retrospective, descriptive, comparative study to identify patient variables that contribute to the development of deep tissue injury among patients in intensive care units. Ostomy Wound Manage 2017 Feb;63(2):42-47 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>28267682</u>]
- Shen W, Chen H, Xu Y, Zhang Q, Wu J. The relationship between length of surgery and the incidence of pressure ulcers in cardiovascular surgical patients: a retrospective study. Adv Skin Wound Care 2015 Oct;28(10):444-450. [doi: 10.1097/01.ASW.0000466365.90534.b0] [Medline: 26375947]
- 18. Tayyib N, Coyer F, Lewis P. Saudi Arabian adult intensive care unit pressure ulcer incidence and risk factors: a prospective cohort study. Int Wound J 2016 Oct 09;13(5):912-919 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/iwj.12406] [Medline: 25662591]
- Cowan L, Broderick V, Alderden JG. Pressure injury prevention considerations for older adults. Crit Care Nurs Clin North Am 2020 Dec;32(4):601-609. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.cnc.2020.08.009</u>] [Medline: <u>33129417</u>]
- 20. de Almeida Medeiros AB, da Conceição Dias Fernandes MI, de Sá Tinôco JD, Cossi MS, de Oliveira Lopes MV, de Carvalho Lira ALB. Predictors of pressure ulcer risk in adult intensive care patients: A retrospective case-control study. Intensive Crit Care Nurs 2018 Apr;45:6-10. [doi: 10.1016/j.iccn.2017.09.007] [Medline: 29223413]
- 21. Cox J, Roche S, Murphy V. Pressure injury risk factors in critical care patients: a descriptive analysis. Adv Skin Wound Care 2018 Jul;31(7):328-334. [doi: 10.1097/01.ASW.0000534699.50162.4e] [Medline: 29923903]

RenderX

- 22. Tibshirani R. Regression shrinkage and selection via the lasso. J R Stat Soc B 2018 Dec 05;58(1):267-288. [doi: 10.1111/j.2517-6161.1996.tb02080.x]
- 23. Fife CE, Gkotsoulias E. On the origin of intraoperative pressure injury: an angiosomal theory of pressure injury formation. Adv Wound Care 2019 Nov 01;8(11):580-584 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/wound.2018.0905] [Medline: 31832271]
- Cox J, Roche S. Vasopressors and development of pressure ulcers in adult critical care patients. Am J Crit Care 2015 Nov;24(6):501-510. [doi: <u>10.4037/ajcc2015123</u>] [Medline: <u>26523008</u>]

#### Abbreviations

DTI: deep tissue injury
EHR: electronic health record
HAPrI: hospital-acquired pressure injury
ICU: intensive care unit
LASSO: least absolute shrinkage and selection operator
PrI: pressure injury
VIF: variance inflation factor

Edited by R Dellavalle, T Sivesind; submitted 27.04.21; peer-reviewed by A Bailey, K Ashack; comments to author 21.06.21; revised version received 14.07.21; accepted 17.07.21; published 27.08.21.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Alderden J, Amoafo L, Zhang Y, Fife C, Yap D, Yap T Comparing Risk Profiles in Critical Care Patients With Stage 2 and Deep Tissue Pressure Injuries: Exploratory Retrospective Cohort Study JMIR Dermatol 2021;4(2):e29757 URL: <u>https://derma.jmir.org/2021/2/e29757</u> doi:<u>10.2196/29757</u> PMID:<u>37632818</u>

©Jenny Alderden, Linda Amoafo, Yue Zhang, Caroline Fife, David Yap, Tracey Yap. Originally published in JMIR Dermatology (http://derma.jmir.org), 27.08.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Dermatology Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://derma.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



#### **Review**

# Gamification and Game-Based Strategies for Dermatology Education: Narrative Review

Mindy D Szeto<sup>1\*</sup>, MS; Daniel Strock<sup>2\*</sup>, BS; Jarett Anderson<sup>3</sup>, BS; Torunn E Sivesind<sup>1</sup>, MD; Victoria M Vorwald<sup>4</sup>, BA; Hope R Rietcheck<sup>1</sup>, MD; Gil S Weintraub<sup>1</sup>, MD; Robert P Dellavalle<sup>1</sup>, MD, MSPH, PhD

<sup>1</sup>Department of Dermatology, University of Colorado Anschutz Medical Campus, Aurora, CO, United States

<sup>2</sup>School of Medicine, Eastern Virginia Medical School, Norfolk, VA, United States

<sup>3</sup>Arizona College of Osteopathic Medicine, Glendale, AZ, United States

<sup>4</sup>School of Medicine, University of Colorado Anschutz Medical Campus, Aurora, CO, United States

\*these authors contributed equally

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Mindy D Szeto, MS Department of Dermatology University of Colorado Anschutz Medical Campus 1665 Aurora Court, 3rd Floor Mailstop F703 Aurora, CO, 80045 United States Phone: 1 7208480500 Email: mindy.szeto@cuanschutz.edu

# Abstract

**Background:** Game-based approaches, or gamification, are popular learning strategies in medical education for health care providers and patients alike. Gamification has taken the form of serious educational games and simulations to enable learners to rehearse skills and knowledge in a safe environment. Dermatology learners in particular may benefit from gamification methods, given the visual and procedural nature of the field.

**Objective:** This narrative review surveys current applications of gamification within general medical training, in the education of dermatology students, and in dermatology patient outreach.

**Methods:** A literature search was performed using PubMed, Google Scholar, and ResearchGate to access and review relevant medical education- and dermatology-related gamification studies published in peer-reviewed journals. Two independent researchers with education and experience in dermatology screened publications to select studies featuring a diversity of gamification approaches and study subjects for in-depth examination.

**Results:** A total of 6 general medical education–related and 7 dermatology-specific gamification studies were selected. Gamification generally increased motivation and engagement, improved reinforcement of learning objectives, and contributed to more enjoyable and positive educational experiences compared to traditional modes of instruction. Enhancing examination scores, building confidence, and developing stronger team dynamics were additional benefits for medical trainees. Despite the abundance of gamification studies in general medical education, comparatively few instances were specific to dermatology learning, although large organizations such as the American Academy of Dermatology have begun to implement these strategies nationally. Gamification may also a provide promising alternative means of diversifying patient education and outreach methods, especially for self-identification of malignant melanoma.

**Conclusions:** Serious games and simulations in general medical education have successfully increased learner motivation, enjoyment, and performance. In limited preliminary studies, gamified approaches to dermatology-specific medical education enhanced diagnostic accuracy and interest in the field. Game-based interventions in patient-focused educational pilot studies surrounding melanoma detection demonstrated similar efficacy and knowledge benefits. However, small study participant numbers and large variability in outcome measures may indicate decreased generalizability of findings regarding the current impact of gamification approaches, and further investigation in this area is warranted. Additionally, some relevant studies may have been omitted by the simplified literature search strategy of this narrative review. This could be expanded upon in a secondary systematic review of gamified educational platforms.

RenderX

#### **KEYWORDS**

games; game-playing; gamification; serious games; simulations; education; medical education; dermatology education; patient education; review

# Introduction

Game-based approaches, or gamification, are becoming increasingly popular in health care education. These novel and innovative strategies use game design elements such as the concept of a player or players, rules, conflicts, and predetermined goals in an artificial setting [1,2]. Previous literature has formally defined gamification as the application of game characteristics and benefits to real-world processes or problems [3]. The concept of gamification has been separated from that of serious games, which are complete games for specifically educational, nonentertainment purposes [3,4]. Related to but outside the strict definition of serious games are simulations, defined as virtual or "concentrated" realities offering opportunities for learners to rehearse skills and knowledge [1]. Because these delineations have been the subject of some debate [3], for the purposes of this review, we will broadly use gamification to refer to both serious games along with other applications leveraging game and simulation elements for a utilitarian purpose.

Generally, gamification provides a structured, safe, and low-risk environment for learners to build skills and confidence without real-world consequences [5,6]. It can help students to engage in a particular activity, think critically about both their plan and outcome, and then apply important insights gained from their analyses to improve and learn. Emerging digital technologies have transformed how gamification strategies can be used in education. With the dramatic rise of digital gaming as a widespread pastime, incoming students and the general public are more accustomed to gaming in their daily lives than ever before [3,7,8], which presents an ideal opportunity. Studies have shown that students prefer gamification over traditional educational curricula [9,10], especially if they enjoy diverse and alternative learning styles such as primarily visual, auditory, or kinesthetic methods [11]. A general model [12] of how game-based learning achieves desired outcomes in medical education, in which the game cycle is an iterative process of learner judgment, behavior, and feedback, is demonstrated in Figure 1.

Figure 1. Input-process-outcome model of game-based learning [12] adapted for medical education.



Many gamification formats in medical education have been presented including simulations, virtual/alternative reality environments, and social and cooperative gaming [1]. Moreover, the practice-focused nature of health care allows gamification to provide a cost-effective method of optimizing procedural skills such as thoracentesis [13]. Patients also stand to benefit greatly from gamification [14]. Compelling aspects of games such as rewards, competition, self-expression, and social interaction have been extracted to encourage healthy habits and track fitness goals in many popular programs and mobile apps. Game-based challenges can also benefit patients by driving frequent patient engagement, increasing education through quizzes and daily tips, and by motivating difficult long-term behaviors such as medication adherence [15]. Dermatology, as a highly visual and procedural field, is well positioned to take advantage of the learning methods employed in many game-based approaches. This narrative review therefore aims to survey gamification in medical training as well as to explore how the current knowledge base of gamification applications can be expanded in dermatology education for both providers and patients alike through further evidence-based examination of game-based learning.

# Methods

A survey of peer-reviewed scientific literature was performed throughout January and February of 2021, with the purpose of identifying studies for a narrative review of gamification in

RenderX

health care education and dermatology. Key search terms included gamification, games, game-playing, serious games, and simulation games, in combination with terms such as healthcare, healthcare education, medical education, dermatology, and dermatology education. PubMed electronic database searches were supplemented by Google Scholar and ResearchGate to retrieve the full English-language text of each article and remove duplicate search results. The articles included studies from multiple academic institutions worldwide, and they included randomized controlled trials, cohort studies, and case studies. The participants in the studies encompassed medical students, medical residents, and members of the general public. To provide a broad overview of gamification and game-based interventions, both serious games and simulations were surveyed. Two independent researchers with education and experience in dermatology performed separate screenings of the article titles and abstracts, ultimately selecting 6 general medical education–related studies and 7 dermatology-related studies featuring a diversity of gamification approaches and study subjects for in-depth discussion in this narrative review. Additional consultation with board-certified dermatologists involved in medical education led to the inclusion of two recent *Jeopardy* game show–like events tailored toward dermatology residents at national conferences. Table 1 provides a summary of the studies and various gamification approaches examined.

Table 1. Summary of the gamification approaches and studies surveyed.

Game	Classification	Target audience	Participants studied, n	Торіс
Kaizen [16]	Serious game	Medical residents	94	Clinical knowledge
SIU <sup>a</sup> uRCADE [17]	Serious game	Clinicians and medi- cal students	Unknown	Bladder cancer and renal cell carcinoma
Stanford 360 VR <sup>b</sup> [18]	Simulation	Clinicians and medi- cal students	207	Mass pediatric casualty incident
Recreational escape room [19]	Blended	Emergency medicine residents	10	Teamwork
Team-based competition [20]	Serious game	General surgery residents	Approximately 50	Medical knowledge, patient care, profession- alism, interpersonal and communication skills, scholarship
Video games and <i>Jeopardy</i> -style contest [21]	Blended	Cardiothoracic surgery residents	43	Procedural skills and surgical knowledge
Kahoot! [22]	Serious game	Medical students	51	Medical knowledge, histopathology, tumor identification
Skinquizition [23]	Serious game	Medical students	384	Skin diseases and applied dermatology knowledge
American Academy of Dermatology Annual Meeting Resident Jeopardy [24]	Serious game	Dermatology resi- dents	Unknown	Dermatological conditions
DermPath Bowl [25]	Serious game	Dermatology resi- dents	48 residency pro- grams	Dermatopathology
i-DERMIFY [26]	Serious game	Medical students	28	Dermatological conditions
Stud2yBuddy [27]	Serious game	Medical students	65	Dermatological conditions
"Zombie apocalypse" escape room [28]	Blended	Medical students	16	Clinical knowledge, attitudes toward the field of dermatology
Mountain View High School Survey [29]	Serious game	Patients (adoles- cents)	271	Malignant melanoma identification
Tapamole [30]	Serious game	Patients	60	Malignant melanoma identification

<sup>a</sup>SIU: Société Internationale d'Urologie.

<sup>b</sup>VR: virtual reality.

#### Results

RenderX

#### **Gamification in General Medical Education**

Gamification has been employed by medical schools and training programs to engage learners outside the traditional text-based or didactic setting. The effectiveness of gamification in general medical education has been the subject of several

```
https://derma.jmir.org/2021/2/e30325
```

studies, many of which examine the impact of game-based learning on objectives such as knowledge, skills, professional attitudes, or satisfaction. Although we retrieved several hundred articles in our initial literature search, the vast majority discussed gamification approaches in general medical education and were not specific to dermatology learning. We discuss a selection of applications of gamification in general medical education below.

One example of a serious game in general medical education is Kaizen, which tested clinical knowledge of medical residents in several university departments using a web-based multiple-choice quiz [16]. Achievement badges were earned for answering questions daily or answering multiple questions correctly in a row. To align with evolving technological experiences of incoming learners, future Kaizen developments may include Android/iPhone mobile apps and "boss battle" features or leaderboards for team challenges [31]. Indeed, many organizations have introduced serious educational gaming applications to engage medical learners. The Société Internationale d'Urologie (SIU, the International Society for Urology) recently launched web-based applications focusing on bladder cancer and renal cell carcinoma through their official education gaming arcade (SIU uRCADE), and they experienced overwhelming demand [17]. Participants could even earn approved Continuing Medical Education (CME) credits by completing uRCADE games, highlighting their effectiveness and utility.

Virtual reality and simulation games have proved to be very popular among medical learners of all levels. Stanford University recently used the existing 360 Virtual Reality platform, which is already used in entertainment, military training, and pilot training, to create a training module for mass casualty incident training [18]. Actors created realistic scenes of a care point involving 150 potential pediatric casualties, with the immersive virtual reality story allowing users to select triage categories and decide on interventions. The user would then see the intervention as it took place and would learn of the child's outcome, earning points and achievement levels based on their responses. Attending physicians, residents, and students all reported the virtual reality simulation to be enjoyable and engaging, more so than traditional mannequin-based simulations. They also reported feeling more prepared to respond to a pediatric mass casualty incident after completing the exercise.

Blended gamified approaches and applications of gamification to traditional education have likewise been favorably received. For instance, an "escape room" game in which groups solved puzzles and completed tasks within a time limit boosted team-building and multitasking skills for emergency medicine residents. These games may be effective approaches to fulfill difficult-to-teach core Accreditation Council for Graduate Medical Education competencies, such as teamwork [19]. Incorporating game-based elements into existing curricula has also been fruitful. Team-based competitions converting surgical resident performance into game points with leaderboards and Jeopardy-style game shows were found to increase resident satisfaction, training scores, and board examination pass rates. The competitive nature of the trainees may be a contributing factor to the success of the gamification interventions [20,21]. Corroborating this, leaderboards have been suggested to be the most important motivator of game participation among medical residents, while nondaily play worsened attrition [32]. Integration of competitive gaming features with public platforms such as Twitter was found to increase professional social media presence and trainee engagement with their specialty [33]. Video games were also seen to effectively supplement surgical skills education in laparoscopy and robotic surgery [34]. Clearly,

```
https://derma.jmir.org/2021/2/e30325
```

XSL•FC RenderX synergistic combinations of serious games, simulations, and supplementing traditional education with games and game-based elements may be enjoyable and effective for participants.

#### **Gamification in the Education of Dermatology Students**

While gamification has been shown to have a positive impact on general medical education, we also sought to examine whether this held true in dermatology-specific game-based learning. The visual and procedural nature of dermatology would be expected to align well with the gamified educational methods discussed previously. As with gamification in general medical education, every dermatology-focused study reported beneficial effects of gamification on learning outcomes or student satisfaction, although it appears that only 7 dermatology-specific games are reported in the literature overall. Thus, further research and game development is needed in this area to fully elucidate the impact and future dermatology-specific utility of gamification.

One instance of adapting games previously used in general medical education for dermatology students was seen in Kahoot!, a widely used and free real-time platform for formative educational assessment. Participants can compete for top scores in game-based quizzes, surveys, puzzles, and discussion forums. Kahoot! was previously found to motivate medical students to study, prioritize topics, and self-reflect on their learning [35]. The platform was then applied as a simple, low-cost method to teach histopathology and proper identification of benign and malignant tumors, including cutaneous neoplasms. Subsequently, quiz questions and answers were presented in random order, and the 36 students participating were given 30 seconds to answer each question. Ultimately, percentages of correct quiz answers increased after use of Kahoot! compared to classroom teaching, and there was a notable decrease in the time needed to correctly answer questions. Students evaluated their Kahoot! educational experience positively [22].

Skinquizition is another serious game using educational quizzes for formative assessment [23]. The game was developed especially for dermatology, as it allowed questions about diverse skin diseases, incorporated images, and could assess a large amount of applied knowledge in a short period of time. Assigned medical student laboratory groups were pitted against each other in a countdown-timed competition to correctly answer dermatology questions with an audience response system, popularly known as "clickers." To incentivize active participation throughout the competition and even the odds between teams, teams were periodically offered the option to wager some or all of their points on the next question before seeing it, similar to a "Final Jeopardy" round. The gaming elements of a countdown timer, a wagering system, and prizes for winning teams made Skinquizition a thrilling learning experience for students. Afterwards, average class dermatology examination scores improved, along with student motivation and engagement.

Similar elements from *Jeopardy* have been leveraged to exciting effect at the American Academy of Dermatology annual meetings, where resident teams can compete in competitions related to dermatology and dermatopathology knowledge, trivia, and correct diagnoses of cases and images. Multiple fast-paced

competition rounds and single elimination of contestants in front of a national conference audience have made the game show events perennial favorites among trainees. Prizes have included educational grants [25], gift cards [24], and "bragging rights."

i-DERMIFY is an additional serious game learning tool developed to specifically harness dermatology's visual and descriptive nature [26]. Teams of medical students drew action cards to either illustrate or describe skin conditions to each other, with hints provided when a difficult diagnosis was drawn. Each skin condition in the game was part of the British Association of Dermatologists' required medical undergraduate curriculum. The game was iteratively developed with action research, where reflections from 28 student participants guided improvements to later games over time. Average assessment scores showed statistically significant positive increases (compared to knowledge gained from standard teaching, P<.005) after playing. Student confidence in describing, drawing, and recognizing skin diseases also grew. As with other studies of serious games, students responded positively and appreciated the learning techniques of visual representation and group work promoted by the game. In addition to building confidence and recognition during the limited time available for dermatology learning, i-DERMIFY also had the advantage of building the transferable clinical skills of accurately documenting skin conditions in medical records, and it allowed students to practice the concise verbal descriptions of skin lesions that are essential to communicating as future physicians. Thereafter, the game was incorporated into the regular medical school curriculum and made freely available for educational use.

Because serious educational games have been found to build confidence and reduce student stress and anxiety, the card-based board game Stud2yBuddy was specially designed to help medical students study dermatology for final examinations [27]. Learning objectives were mapped from a traditional British medical curriculum, and developers deliberately incorporated different learning styles into the game. Student attitude surveys reported increased confidence among students in the diagnosis, investigation, management, description, and recognition of dermatological conditions. However, no objective measures outside of Likert responses from these surveys of student confidence were assessed, though the 65 students participating did describe increased motivation and decreased stress after playing the game, as was originally expected.

Blending a serious game with a simulation in an "escape room" format also worked well for dermatology trainees, similar to the results of aforementioned studies in general medical education. Surveys of British medical students previously established that trainees have misconceptions about the field of dermatology, along with feelings of being inadequately prepared to manage skin conditions. It was speculated that these were possible barriers to engagement with dermatology as a specialty. After participating in a "zombie apocalypse"–themed escape room featuring a deadly skin disease outbreak, which consolidated previous lecture-based and clinical teaching, the majority of students reported a desire to experience more dermatology, and all enjoyed the session [28]. However, only 16 students were ultimately able to participate due to logistical

https://derma.jmir.org/2021/2/e30325

and practical challenges with securing the physical venue for the escape room. Although further analysis with large-scale standardized studies is needed, our examination of available dermatology literature provides promising evidence for disrupting the paradigm of traditional classroom-based dermatology learning with both serious games and blended simulations.

#### **Gamification in Patient Dermatology Education**

Successfully implemented gamification strategies in medical and dermatology education have also been applied to patient education, especially in regard to recognizing melanoma. Because most malignant melanomas are initially identified by the patients themselves or their partners, impactful melanoma education for the general public is essential [36]. Past efforts have focused on distributing pamphlets in physicians' offices, a nonoptimal education format given that patients are increasingly web-centered and now receive most health care information from internet-based sources. Noninteractive websites may also be too passive for comprehensive patient understanding. An important consideration in the development of education materials is that patient education varies, and it often differs greatly from the training received by medical professionals. Although there are time constraints in patient counseling and necessity for individualization, given different personal needs, priorities, and resources, gamification approaches have still been effective for patients.

One example of a game-based intervention for nonmedical learners successfully taught features of malignant melanoma and alarming lesions. In a study of 271 adolescents, participants who were randomly selected to learn from a gamified six-round image matching program with built-in feedback such as "this lesion image shows irregular borders and uneven coloration, notice the irregular black spots on the left edge of this melanoma" performed significantly better than those receiving traditional "ABCDE" melanoma identification instruction [29]. Another study, developed by the Mayo Clinic, used a web-based pattern recognition game called Tapamole, which showed ABCDE melanoma examples (25 images of malignant melanoma and 60 of benign nevi). Volunteers were able to complete the game in <5 minutes, and they later demonstrated significantly greater sensitivity in recognizing malignant melanoma compared to their preintervention assessment performance. A follow-up Tapamole trial comparing the game, a traditional informational pamphlet, and no intervention showed similar melanoma detection sensitivity results between the game and pamphlet, but participants in the Tapamole game group reported the highest level of enjoyment [30]. Although many outcome measures reported by these studies were subjective (eg, motivation and enjoyment by the participants), these findings are vital to the development of future game-based learning programs, as patient willingness to participate in these programs will be key in moderating the long-term effects of patient education and driving persistence of engagement.

XSL•FO RenderX

# Discussion

#### **Principal Findings**

It is apparent that relatively few gamification studies specifically focused on dermatology currently exist in the literature, and of those studies, many are limited by small sample sizes or poor study design; for example, a control group where the gamification intervention was not administered was often lacking. Small numbers of participants and effect sizes as well as flaws in study design were detrimental to the quality of reported evidence. Our results corroborate recent systematic reviews of gamification interventions in general health care education, which have recognized that the extent of any positive impact is highly variable and nonuniformly measured [37] and largely of limited generalizable quality [3]. Additionally, the skills necessary to develop engaging games in dermatology (and health care education in general) may not directly overlap with the strengths of traditional medical educators; this would require more extensive collaboration with organizations outside of higher education and commitment of significant resources. The implementation of serious games and simulations can be both expensive and time-consuming. To that extent, some experts have suggested that gamification be considered part of an iterative process for directing learner engagement, rather than an end-product in itself [38]. Future investigations focusing on more robust, theory-driven methods should be encouraged. This evidence is complemented by generally positive attitudes regarding gamification by learners and educators; in one recent survey, 92% of residency program directors supported the use of games as an educational strategy [39], matching overwhelmingly positive responses from students [22].

#### Limitations of This Narrative Review

Our narrative review is limited by its highly simplified search strategy, in which only a small subset of English-language peer-reviewed publications indexed in PubMed, Google Scholar, and ResearchGate were examined in detail. A secondary systematic review could be beneficial in extending the preliminary survey we have presented. Gamification is a relatively new approach to education, made possible by the increasing ubiquity of the internet and digital applications in daily life. Given the extreme pace of technology development, it follows that in-depth scientific studies of many gamified platforms may not yet be published; for example, a new iPhone and Android mobile game called "Top Derm: A Game for Dermatologists" is being increasingly advertised on Facebook and Doximity as of July 2021 [40]. Created by board-certified dermatologists, "Top Derm" allows users with an interest in dermatology to attempt challenges testing dermatology knowledge, gain experience points through answering diagnosis quizzes, and unlock achievements. The information presented in the game is based on verified medical knowledge resources, and the game may be eligible for CME credits in the near future. While the game may hold great potential for effective gamified dermatology learning, subsequent investigation of this and other applications is required before evidence-based recommendations can be established.

#### Conclusion

Overall, previous studies indicate that gamification approaches-both serious games and simulations-provide a promising means of future dermatology-related education for students, professionals, and patients. The numerous advantages and reviews of gamification in medical education, however, are in stark contrast to the dearth of available gamification resources for dermatology-specific learning. Moreover, the moderate observed benefits for learner engagement and knowledge require further examination beyond pilot studies. Although there may be widespread support for gamification, our review of current literature provides a case for further investment in large-scale studies of gamified educational platforms, especially in dermatology, and more robust assessment of the true long-term impact of this learning enhancement on standardized outcomes.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

RPD is a Joint Coordinating Editor for *Cochrane Skin*, a dermatology Section Editor for *UpToDate*, a Social Media Editor for the *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology* (JAAD), Editor in Chief of *JMIR Dermatology*, and a Podcast Editor for the *Journal of Investigative Dermatology* (JID). He is a coordinating editor representative on the *Cochrane Council*. TES is a Section Editor for *JMIR Dermatology*. RPD receives editorial stipends (*JAAD*, *JID*, *JMIR Dermatology*), royalties (*UpToDate*), and expense reimbursement from *Cochrane Skin*. TES receives fellowship funding from the Pfizer Global Medical Grant (58858477) Dermatology Fellowship 2020 (Principal Investigator: RPD) and fees for serving as a Medical Advisor and Investigator for Antedotum Inc.

#### References

- 1. Bigdeli S, Kaufman D. Digital games in medical education: key terms, concepts, and definitions. Med J Islam Republic Iran 2017 Dec 30;31(1):300-306. [doi: 10.14196/mjiri.31.52]
- Deterding S, Sicart M, Nacke L, O'Hara K, Dixon D. Gamification: using game design elements in non-gaming contexts. In: Proceedings of the International Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, CHI 2011, Extended Abstracts Volume. 2011 May 07 Presented at: CHI '11: Extended Abstracts on Human Factors in Computing Systems; May 7-12, 2011; Vancouver, BC p. 2425-2428. [doi: 10.1145/1979742.1979575]
- Gentry SV, Gauthier A, L'Estrade Ehrstrom B, Wortley D, Lilienthal A, Tudor Car L, et al. Serious gaming and gamification education in health professions: systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2019 Mar 28;21(3):e12994 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/12994] [Medline: 30920375]

- 4. Pfeiffer JW, Jones JE. Structured Experience Kit. San Diego, CA: University Associates; Oct 1980.
- Alfarah Z, Schünemann HJ, Akl EA. Educational games in geriatric medicine education: a systematic review. BMC Geriatr 2010 Apr 23;10(19):19 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2318-10-19] [Medline: 20416055]
- Blakely G, Skirton H, Cooper S, Allum P, Nelmes P. Use of educational games in the health professions: a mixed-methods study of educators' perspectives in the UK. Nurs Health Sci 2010 Mar;12(1):27-32. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1442-2018.2009.00479.x</u>] [Medline: <u>20487322</u>]
- 7. Institute of Play. Connected Learning Alliance. URL: <u>https://clalliance.org/institute-of-play/</u> [accessed 2021-03-04]
- Wittek CT, Finserås TR, Pallesen S, Mentzoni RA, Hanss D, Griffiths MD, et al. Prevalence and predictors of video game addiction: a study based on a national representative sample of gamers. Int J Ment Health Addict 2016 Sep 23;14(5):672-686 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11469-015-9592-8] [Medline: 27688739]
- Pettit RK, McCoy L, Kinney M, Schwartz FN. Student perceptions of gamified audience response system interactions in large group lectures and via lecture capture technology. BMC Med Educ 2015 May 22;15:92 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12909-015-0373-7] [Medline: 25997953]
- Boeker M, Andel P, Vach W, Frankenschmidt A. Game-based e-learning is more effective than a conventional instructional method: a randomized controlled trial with third-year medical students. PLoS One 2013;8(12):e82328 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0082328] [Medline: 24349257]
- 11. Boctor L. Active-learning strategies: the use of a game to reinforce learning in nursing education. A case study. Nurse Educ Pract 2013 Mar;13(2):96-100. [doi: 10.1016/j.nepr.2012.07.010] [Medline: 22910398]
- 12. Garris R, Ahlers R, Driskell JE. Games, motivation, and learning: a research and practice model. Simul Gaming 2016 Aug 18;33(4):441-467. [doi: 10.1177/1046878102238607]
- 13. Yunyongying P. Gamification: implications for curricular design. J Grad Med Educ 2014 Sep;6(3):410-412 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4300/JGME-D-13-00406.1] [Medline: 26279763]
- Sullivan AN, Lachman ME. Behavior change with fitness technology in sedentary adults: a review of the evidence for increasing physical activity. Front Public Health 2017;4(289):1-16 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2016.00289] [Medline: 28123997]
- 15. Abdul Rahim MI, Thomas RH. Gamification of medication adherence in epilepsy. Seizure 2017 Nov;52:11-14 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.seizure.2017.09.008] [Medline: 28934624]
- Roche CC, Wingo NP, Willig JH. Kaizen: an innovative team learning experience for first-semester nursing students. J Nurs Educ 2017 Feb 01;56(2):124. [doi: <u>10.3928/01484834-20170123-11</u>] [Medline: <u>28141888</u>]
- 17. Société Internationale d'Urologie. Gamification in medical education learning "outside the box". Société Internationale d'Urologie News. URL: <u>https://www.siu-urology.org/siu-news/gamification-in-medical-education-learning-outside-the-box</u> [accessed 2021-03-04]
- Lowe J, Peng C, Winstead-Derlega C, Curtis H. 360 virtual reality pediatric mass casualty incident: a cross sectional observational study of triage and out-of-hospital intervention accuracy at a national conference. J Am Coll Emerg Physicians Open 2020 Oct 17;1(5):974-980 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/emp2.12214] [Medline: 33145548]
- Zhang XC, Lee H, Rodriguez C, Rudner J, Chan TM, Papanagnou D. Trapped as a group, escape as a team: applying gamification to incorporate team-building skills through an 'escape room' experience. Cureus 2018 Mar 02;10(3):e2256 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7759/cureus.2256] [Medline: 29725559]
- McAuliffe JC, McAuliffe RHJ, Romero-Velez G, Statter M, Melvin WS, Muscarella P2. Feasibility and efficacy of gamification in general surgery residency: preliminary outcomes of residency teams. Am J Surg 2020 Feb;219(2):283-288. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.amjsurg.2019.10.051</u>] [Medline: <u>31718815</u>]
- Mokadam NA, Lee R, Vaporciyan AA, Walker JD, Cerfolio RJ, Hermsen JL, et al. Gamification in thoracic surgical education: using competition to fuel performance. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2015 Nov;150(5):1052-1058 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2015.07.064] [Medline: 26318012]
- 22. Neureiter D, Klieser E, Neumayer B, Winkelmann P, Urbas R, Kiesslich T. Feasibility of Kahoot! as a real-time assessment tool in (histo-)pathology classroom teaching. AMEP 2020 Oct;Volume 11:695-705. [doi: <u>10.2147/amep.s264821</u>]
- 23. Schlegel EFM, Selfridge NJ. Fun, collaboration and formative assessment: Skinquizition, a class wide gaming competition in a medical school with a large class. Med Teach 2014 Feb 26;36(5):447-449. [doi: 10.3109/0142159x.2014.888409]
- 24. Walter Reed wins Resident Jeopardy championship for 2016!. American Academy of Dermatology Meeting News. 2016 Mar 16. URL: <u>https://aad-365.ascendeventmedia.com/2016-annual-meeting-wrap-up/resident-jeopardy/</u> [accessed 2021-08-13]
- 25. Dermpath Bowl. Dermpath Diagnostics. URL: <u>http://www.dermpathdiagnostics.com/clinicians/dermpathuniversity/</u> <u>dermpath-bowl/</u> [accessed 2021-04-10]
- Sheppeard R, Samuels A, Davies P. i-DERMIFY: does using practical illustration and verbal description in a game format improve recognition and confidence in describing common skin diseases? Clin Exp Dermatol 2020 Jul 25;45(5):610-611. [doi: 10.1111/ced.14189] [Medline: 32017161]
- Ventre R, Pardoe C, Singhal S, Cripps D, Hough J. Gamification of dermatology: Stud2yBuddy, a novel game to facilitate dermatology revision for final-year medical students. Future Healthc J 2019 Jul 25;6(Suppl 2):22. [doi: <u>10.7861/futurehealth.6-2-s22</u>]

RenderX

- 28. Guckian J, Sridhar A, Meggitt SJ. Exploring the perspectives of dermatology undergraduates with an escape room game. Clin Exp Dermatol 2020 Mar;45(2):153-158. [doi: 10.1111/ced.14039] [Medline: 31276227]
- 29. Jia JL, Shen A, Tabata MM, Sarin KY. Gamification improves melanoma visual identification among high school students: results from a randomized study. Pediatr Dermatol 2020 Jul;37(4):752-753. [doi: 10.1111/pde.14158] [Medline: 32266730]
- Maganty N, Ilyas M, Zhang N, Sharma A. Online, game-based education for melanoma recognition: a pilot study. Patient Educ Couns 2018 Apr;101(4):738-742. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.pec.2017.11.003</u>] [Medline: <u>29137837</u>]
- 31. Henry TA. 3 ways medical schools are embracing gamification. American Medical Association. 2018 Aug 24. URL: <u>https://www.ama-assn.org/education/accelerating-change-medical-education/3-ways-medical-schools-are-embracing-gamification</u> [accessed 2021-03-04]
- Nevin CR, Westfall AO, Rodriguez JM, Dempsey DM, Cherrington A, Roy B, et al. Gamification as a tool for enhancing graduate medical education. Postgrad Med J 2014 Dec;90(1070):685-693 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/postgradmedj-2013-132486] [Medline: 25352673]
- 33. Sundaram KM, Pevzner SJ, Magarik M, Couture P, Omary RA, Donnelly EF. Preliminary evaluation of gamification in residency training. J Am Coll Radiol 2019 Sep;16(9 Pt A):1201-1205. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jacr.2019.02.040</u>] [Medline: <u>31053448</u>]
- Gupta A, Lawendy B, Goldenberg MG, Grober E, Lee JY, Perlis N. Can video games enhance surgical skills acquisition for medical students? A systematic review. Surgery 2021 Apr;169(4):821-829. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.surg.2020.11.034</u>] [Medline: <u>33419578</u>]
- Ismail MA, Ahmad A, Mohammad JA, Fakri NMRM, Nor MZM, Pa MNM. Using Kahoot! as a formative assessment tool in medical education: a phenomenological study. BMC Med Educ 2019 Jun 25;19(1):230-238 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12909-019-1658-z] [Medline: 31238926]
- 36. Sharma A, Ilyas M, Maganty N, Zhang N, Pittelkow MR. An effective game-based learning intervention for improving melanoma recognition. J Am Acad Dermatol 2018 Sep;79(3):587-588. [doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2018.02.068] [Medline: 29518456]
- Gorbanev I, Agudelo-Londoño S, González RA, Cortes A, Pomares A, Delgadillo V, et al. A systematic review of serious games in medical education: quality of evidence and pedagogical strategy. Med Educ Online 2018 Dec;23(1):1438718
   [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/10872981.2018.1438718] [Medline: 29457760]
- Begg M. Leveraging game-informed healthcare education. Med Teach 2008;30(2):155-158. [doi: 10.1080/01421590701874041] [Medline: 18464139]
- Akl EA, Gunukula S, Mustafa R, Wilson MC, Symons A, Moheet A, et al. Support for and aspects of use of educational games in family medicine and internal medicine residency programs in the US: a survey. BMC Med Educ 2010 Mar 25;10(26):26 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1472-6920-10-26] [Medline: 20338034]
- 40. Top Derm: A Game for Dermatologists. Apple App Store. URL: <u>https://apps.apple.com/in/app/top-derm/id1505608766</u> [accessed 2021-07-24]

#### Abbreviations

CME: Continuing Medical Education JAAD: Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology JID: Journal of Investigative Dermatology SIU: Société Internationale d'Urologie

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 10.05.21; peer-reviewed by S Downie, V Verma, L Suppan; comments to author 03.06.21; revised version received 27.07.21; accepted 28.07.21; published 30.08.21.

Please cite as:

Szeto MD, Strock D, Anderson J, Sivesind TE, Vorwald VM, Rietcheck HR, Weintraub GS, Dellavalle RP Gamification and Game-Based Strategies for Dermatology Education: Narrative Review JMIR Dermatol 2021;4(2):e30325 URL: https://derma.jmir.org/2021/2/e30325 doi:10.2196/30325 PMID:<u>37632819</u>

©Mindy D Szeto, Daniel Strock, Jarett Anderson, Torunn E Sivesind, Victoria M Vorwald, Hope R Rietcheck, Gil S Weintraub, Robert P Dellavalle. Originally published in JMIR Dermatology (http://derma.jmir.org), 30.08.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Dermatology Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://derma.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

**Original Paper** 

# Conflicts of Interest in "Throwaway" Dermatology Publications: Analysis of the Open Payments Database

#### Jorge Roman<sup>1</sup>, MD; David J Elpern<sup>2</sup>, MD

<sup>1</sup>The Ronald O. Perelman Department of Dermatology, New York University Grossman School of Medicine, New York, NY, United States <sup>2</sup>The Skin Clinic, Williamstown, MA, United States

**Corresponding Author:** Jorge Roman, MD The Ronald O. Perelman Department of Dermatology New York University Grossman School of Medicine 11th Fl 240 East 38th St New York, NY, 10016 United States Phone: 1 2122635889 Email: jorge.roman@nyulangone.org

# Abstract

**Background:** Dermatology journals, periodicals, editorials, and news magazines are influential resources that are not uniformly regulated and subject to influence from the pharmaceutical industry. This study evaluates industry payments to physician editorial board members of common dermatology publications, including "throwaway" publications.

**Objective:** The aim of this study was to characterize the extent and nature of industry payments to editorial board members of different dermatologic publications in order to ascertain differences in payments between different types of publications.

**Methods:** A list of editorial board members was compiled from a collection of clinical dermatology publications received over a 3-month period. Data from the Open Payments database from 2013 to 2019 were collected, and analysis of payments data was performed.

**Results:** Ten publications were evaluated, and payments data for 466 physicians were analyzed. The total compensation across all years was US \$75,622,369.64. Consulting, services other than consulting, and travel or lodging payments constituted most of the payments. A fraction of dermatologists received the majority of payments. The top payers were manufacturers of biologic medications. Payment amounts were higher for throwaway publications compared to peer-reviewed journals.

**Conclusions:** Editorial board members of dermatology publications received substantial payments from the pharmaceutical industry. A minority of physicians receive the lion's share of payments from industry. "Throwaway" publications have more financial conflict of interest than do peer-reviewed journals. The impact of these conflicts of interest on patient care, physicians' practice patterns, and patient perception of physicians is noteworthy.

(JMIR Dermatol 2021;4(2):e30126) doi:10.2196/30126

#### **KEYWORDS**

pharmaceutical industry; continuing medical education; dermatology; influence; payments; Open Payments database; publications; medical education; compensation; consulting; dermatologists

# Introduction

Health care professionals across all specialties use a myriad of resources for staying up to date on the medical literature. Peer-reviewed journals are touted as the gold standard, while little attention has been given to the role of "throwaway" journals in keeping clinicians abreast of advances in the literature. Throwaway journals are characterized as publications

https://derma.jmir.org/2021/2/e30126

RenderX

that contain no original investigations, are provided free of charge, have a high advertisement to text ratio, are nonsociety publications, and are seldom peer reviewed [1]. Previous studies have shown that throwaway journals are more widely read than some peer-reviewed journals [1,2]. Throwaway journals are attractive to practicing clinicians given their ease of readability. The use of color, larger font size, graphics, and short summaries

#### Roman & Elpern

improve the appeal of throwaway journals to their readership [3].

Industry-physician interaction is common in all medical specialties, and dermatology is no exception [4]. Previous studies have examined conflicts of interests among authors of dermatology textbooks, dermatology patient advocacy organizations, dermatology clinical practice guideline authors, and clinical trials in dermatology [5-9]. Under the Physician Payment Sunshine Act, a part of the Affordable Care Act, payments and other transfers of value by manufacturers and group-purchasing organizations to physicians are reported to the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. These payments are reported in categories including consulting, speaking fees, food, travel, and research [10].

Given the important role that journals play in the education and clinical practice of dermatologists, we sought to characterize the extent and nature of industry payments to editorial board members of different dermatologic publications, including the throwaway journals. Specifically, we examined the number, amount, and type of payments received, the companies that are contributing the payments, and physician-specific characteristics (sex, practice setting, fellowship training).

# Methods

To replicate a real-world scenario, publications related to clinical dermatology received by author JR (a dermatology resident) over a 3-month period were collected. All publication types, including peer-reviewed journals, non-peer-reviewed journals, and periodicals, such as news magazines and tabloids, were included for analysis. A list of editors was compiled by individually reviewing each publication. Editorial board

 Table 1. Physician characteristics.

members whose primary affiliation was outside of the United States and nonphysicians (ie, physician assistants and PhDs) were excluded from the study. Editor names were entered into the Open Payments database, and all payment data from 2013 to 2019 were collected. Physician-specific information on sex, practice setting, and training was collected via examination of professional information and biographies on individual practice websites. This study did not require approval by an institutional review board, as it did not contain human participants and used publicly available data. The Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (STROBE) reporting guidelines were used for this study [11]. Data analysis was completed using Excel version 16.41 (Microsoft Corporation). Descriptive statistics, including mean, median, IQR, and percentages were calculated. Median and IQR were used when appropriate as descriptors when there was a skewed distribution. The statistical significance of intergroup differences was tested by using an independent samples t test. A 2-tailed P value less than .05 was considered statistically significant.

# Results

Ultimately, 10 publications were evaluated, and 466 individual physicians were identified. The publications included 5 periodicals and 5 journals. The group consisted of mostly men (267/466, 57.3%). The proportions of physicians in academic and private practice settings were almost equal, with 51.9% (242/466) in private practice and 48.1% (224/466) in academic settings. However, of those in private practice, 67.8% (164/242) also held academic appointments. Furthermore, 21.0% (98/466) served on more than 1 editorial board. Further physician characteristics are shown in Table 1.

Physician characteristics and payment data	Value, n
Number of physicians	466
Physicians without payment data	52
Males	267
Osteopathic medicine	24
Mohs micrographic surgery	93
Dermatopathology	73
Pediatric dermatology	24
Private practice	242
Academic only	224
Serving on more than 1 editorial board	98

#### **Overall Payments**

The total compensation across all years was US \$75,622,369.64, and the total number of payments was 124,651. Of all physicians, 11.2% (52/466) had 0 payments reported. The median total industry payment was US \$5334.69 (IQR US \$331.23-89,837.74). This was higher than the median payment amount averaged from 2013 to 2019 for all US dermatologists (US \$376.37) as well as the median payment for physicians

https://derma.jmir.org/2021/2/e30126

RenderX

across all specialties (US \$1083.94) [12]. The median number of payments was 55 (IQR 4.3-295). This was also higher compared to the median number of payments for all dermatologists and US physicians across all specialties, with medians of 12 and 4, respectively. Apart from the period spanning 2017 to 2018, the total payment and number of payments increased yearly (Table 2).

Of the total payments (total amount), services other than consulting (US \$31,392,593.02), consulting (US \$22,201,879.20), and travel or lodging (US \$8,071,910.76) payments constituted 81.54% (US \$61,666,383/US \$75,622,369.64) of payments (Multimedia Appendix 1). Associated research funding and research payments across all years totaled US \$171,251,038.77 and US \$17,618,505.85, respectively. The percentage of the cohort that received any

kind of payments for associated research funding or research was small, at just 33.3% (155/466) and 25.5% (119/466), respectively. Of those who received payments, the median payment amount for associated research funding was US \$204,284.45 (IQR US \$39,659.32-960,049.20) and that for research payments was US \$24,484.15 (IQR US \$5017.50-144,941.78).

Table 2. Overall payment data<sup>a</sup>.

Payment data	Value
All years	
General payments (number of payments)	75,622,369.64 (124,651)
Research payments (number of payments)	17,618,505.85 (3325)
Associated research funding (number of payments)	171,251,038.77 (22,076)
Ownership and investment (number of payments)	26,144.08 (15)
Median payment amount (IQR)	5334.69 (331.23-89,837.74)
Median number of payments (IQR)	55 (4.3-295)
2013-2019	
2013 total payments (number of payments)	30,64,126.60 (6462)
2014 total payments (number of payments)	8,422,480.15 (17,094)
2015 total payments (number of payments)	11,270,847.59 (19,093)
2016 total payments (number of payments)	11,398,940.55 (20,021)
2017 total payments (number of payments)	13,784,709.09 (21,225)
2018 total payments (number of payments)	13,211,193.36 (20,232)
2019 total payments (number of payments)	14,470,072.30 (20,815)

<sup>a</sup>Payment amounts are in US \$.

#### **Academic Versus Private**

Further analysis was performed after splitting the cohort by practice setting (academic vs private). Compared to those in academic settings, physicians in private practice had higher payments across all categories. The difference in payments was statistically significant for total general payments but not for research payments or associated research funding. Payment differences in the categories of services other than consulting, food and beverage, education, honoraria, and gifts were also found to be statistically significant (Table 3).

Table 3. Comparison of payments between physicians in academic versus private practice settings<sup>a</sup>.

Payment	Academic	Private	P value
Total general payments (number of payments)	26,210,268.14 (31,001)	49,412,101.50 (93,650)	.03 <sup>b</sup>
Total research payments (number of payments)	5,505,040.83 (1234)	12,113,465.02 (2091)	.09
Associated research funding (number of payments)	67,213,288.37 (7946)	104,037,750.40 (14,130)	.32
Median total general payments (IQR)	1,048.69 (94.46-19,575.68)	19,743.92 (1750.20- 18,5248.15)	N/A <sup>c</sup>
Median number of total payments (IQR)	11 (1-63)	173 (41-463)	N/A
Categories of payments			
Consulting (number of payments)	9,601,983.18 (2,981)	12,599,896.02 (3,838)	.44
Services other than consulting (number of payments)	9,986,340.41 (3,545)	21,406,252.61 (7,810)	.02
Travel and lodging (number of payments)	3,338,185.31 (8,634)	4,733,725.45 (13,608)	.31
Food and beverage (number of payments)	807,956.04 (14,601)	2,505,852.32 (63,696)	<.001
Education (number of payments)	66,933.34 (529)	192,825.57 (2,969)	.01
Current or prospective ownership or investment interest (number of payments)	84,830.47 (4)	256,278.64 (2)	.52
Honoraria (number of payments)	1,036,814.31 (288)	3,172,273.45 (829)	.02
Faculty/speaker at an unaccredited/noncertified CME <sup>d</sup> (number of payments)	777,345.36 (268)	1,463,257.45 (576)	.18
Gift (number of payments)	2161.24 (126)	73,895.71 (401)	.02
Grant (number of payments)	482,568.48 (18)	2,306,195.79 (58)	.12
Faculty/speaker at an accredited CME (number of payments)	14,150 (6)	6310.50 (6)	.41
Entertainment (number of payments)	0 (0)	101.85 (2)	.16
Royalty or license (number of payments)	11,000 (1)	690,334.87 (4)	.32

<sup>a</sup>Payment amounts are in US \$.

<sup>b</sup>Numbers in italics indicate statistical significance (*P*<.05).

<sup>c</sup>N/A: not applicable.

<sup>d</sup>CME: continuing medical education.

#### **Top Earners**

The top 10% of physicians receiving payments collectively received US \$56,060,893.28 which represented 74.13% (US \$56,060,893.28/US \$75,622,369.64) of the total payment amount for the entire study group. Moreover, 80.4% (37/46) of this subgroup received payments for research and associated research funding. In total, this cohort received US \$102,076,943.74 in associated research funding and US

\$9,348,517.09 in research payments across all years, accounting for 59.61% (US \$102,076,943.74/US \$171,251,038.77) and 53.06% (US \$9,348,517.09/US \$17,618,505.85) of all payments in those categories, respectively. This group comprised mostly men (36/46, 78%), and the majority (33/46, 72%) worked in private practice. Of those in private practice, 79% (26/33) also held academic appointments, and 25 physicians served on more than 1 editorial board (mean 2.96; Table 4).



Table 4. Characteristics of the top 10% of physicians receiving payments<sup>a</sup>.

Characteristic	Value
Number of physicians	46
Total general payments (number of payments)	56,060,893.28 (65,644)
Total research payments (number of payments)	9,348,517.09 (1,832)
Total associated research funding (number of payments)	102,076,943.74 (12,715)
Males, n	36
Osteopathic medicine, n	2
Mohs micrographic surgery, n	5
Dermatopathology, n	3
Pediatric dermatology, n	3
Private practice, n	33
Academic only, n	13
Serving on more than 1 editorial board, n	25

<sup>a</sup>Payment amounts are in US \$.

#### **Top Payers**

The top 20 companies making payments were pharmaceutical manufacturers and combined paid US \$64,774,389.91,

representing 85.65% (US \$64,774,389.91/US \$75,622,369.64) of total disbursement. The majority of the companies were manufacturers of biologic medications (Table 5).



Table 5. Highest paying companies.

Company	Total general payments (US \$)	Manufactured products
Abbvie	7,365,101.61	Adalimumab (Humira), risankizumab (Skyrizi), upadacitinib (Rinvoq)
Galderma	7,302,686.12	Hyaluronic acid gel filler (Restylane), abobotulinumtoxina (Dysport), poly-L-lactic acid filler (Sculptra), ivermectin cream (Soolantra), brimonidine topical gel (Mirvaso), adapalene and benzoyl peroxide (Epiduo)
Allergan (subsidiary of Abbvie)	5,993,810.99	Cross-linked hyaluronic acid filler (Juvederm), deoxycholic acid (Kybella), onabotulinum- toxina (Botox), cryolipolysis (Coolsculpting)
Bausch (Ortho dermatologics)	5,342,108.74	Brodalumab (Siliq), laser devices (via Solta)
Celgene	4,938,532.20	Apremilast (Otezla; sold in 2019)
Lilly	4,295,681.28	Ixekizumab (Taltz)
Regeneron	3,835,317.28	Dupilimab (Dupixent)
Novartis	3,599,007.79	Secukinumab (Cosentyx), ruxolitinib (Jakafi), omalizumab (Xolair)
Pfizer	3,435,221.32	Etanercept (Enbrel), tofacitinib (Xeljanz)
Genzyme	2,670,075.41	Dupilimab (Dupixent)
Janssen	2,500,056.99	Golimumab (Simponi), infliximab (Remicade), ustekinumab (Stelara), guselkumab (Tremfya)
Merz pharmaceuticals	2,232,056.79	Incobotulinumtoxina (Xeomin), calcium hydroxylapatite gel filler (Radiesse), hyaluronic acid filler (Belotero), intense focused ultrasound (Ultherapy), polidocanol (Asclera)
Leo pharma	1,967,161.84	Azelaic acid gel (Finacea), tacrolimus ointment (Protopic), topical vitamin D analogues
Almirall	1,938,517.92	Sarecycline (Seysara), dapsone gel (Aczone)
Bayer	1,521,718.32	Clotrimazole
Genentech	1,489,473.68	Vismodegib (Erivedge), rituximab (Rituxan), omalizumab (Xolair)
Amgen	1,276,055.07	Etanercept (Enbrel), apremilast (Otezla)
Sensus	1,071,990.39	Laser devices
Promius (subsidiary of Dr. Reddy's Laboratories)	1,012,017.41	Topical corticosteroids
Sun Pharma	987,798.76	Tildrakizumab-asmn (Ilumya)

#### **Individual Journal Analysis**

Payment data for each individual publication was also performed. For simplicity, the publications were categorized into 2 groups, periodicals (including news magazines, tabloids, and editorials) and peer-reviewed journals. The average number of editorial board members for periodicals (mean 26.2) was lower than the average for peer-reviewed publications (mean 97.4). The averaged median payment amount (median US \$113,877.02) to physicians on the editorial board members of the periodical publications was 3.5 times higher than to those on editorial boards of peer-reviewed publications (US \$32,670.59). Associations with professional societies, patient advocacy organizations, access requirements, and other journal data are shown in Multimedia Appendix 2.

## Discussion

RenderX

In this study we characterized payments from industry to editorial board members of clinical dermatology publications used as important resources in dermatology education and clinical practice. Our study shows that members of editorial boards of various types of publications have ties to industry.

```
https://derma.jmir.org/2021/2/e30126
```

Exploration of this group demonstrates a facet of the medical industrial complex that pervades medicine. The data from this study showed that the remuneration received by editorial board members was on average 14 times higher compared to that received by dermatologists at large. Compensation for speaker fees, consulting, travel, and lodging made up most of the total payments. The 20 highest-paying manufacturers and most of the companies making payments to dermatologists belonged to the pharmaceutical industry. Dermatology as a specialty is a valued target for the pharmaceutical industry, being a relatively small field that treats several common and chronic conditions. Dermatologists are one of a few specialties that prescribe high-price biological medications. Of note, 11 of the top-20 paying companies in our study were manufacturers of biologic medications. Biologics for the treatment of psoriasis is a multibillion-dollar industry, representing some of the top-grossing medications in the world. Adalimumab (Humira) has been the top-selling drug for several years with over 19 billion dollars in global sales in 2019 alone [13]. Since gaining Food and Drug Administration approval for the treatment of adults with moderate to severe atopic dermatitis, dupilimab (Dupixent) sales have skyrocketed into the billions. The predominance of pharmaceutical payments in dermatology

differs from other specialties such as orthopedic surgery, otolaryngology, and ophthalmology, in which device and diagnostic companies provide a greater amount of support [14-16].

Over the last several decades, the number of media by which clinicians acquire information to stay abreast of changes in their respective fields has increased. Historically, peer-reviewed journals were the mainstay source of information. With advancing technology, the market for resources that clinicians use for continuing medical education (CME) has expanded dramatically to embrace new formats, such as podcasts, webinars, virtual conferences, and social media applications (Instagram, Facebook, Twitter). Although most academic organizations have guidelines and policies to minimize or prevent conflicts of interests in publishing or the dissemination of information, the same cannot be said for other avenues that are independently sponsored or promoted. Today, most physicians, when faced with a surplus of journals, do not have the time to critically appraise each individual article. Instead of trying to grasp increasingly complex science or statistical methods, the more practical solution is to read summaries or condensations of educational material. This has paved the way for the "throwaway" journals. Throwaway journals usually do not contain any original investigations, have a high advertisement to text ratio, and are often provided free of charge, as they are funded by pharmaceutical companies. These journals are seldom peer-reviewed but are quite popular given their high readability [10]. The articles are frequently written by employees of the publication's sponsoring companies and are seldom fact-checked by independent reviewers. They often include capsule summaries of conferences, journal article synopses, or therapeutic guides-all sandwiched between pharmaceutical ads. The information within throwaway journals is rarely antagonistic towards the pharmaceutical companies funding the journal [17]. Despite the popularity of throwaway journals and their direct role in clinician education, there is a dearth of research or discussion of throwaways in the literature. A PubMed search for throwaway journals returns just 8 results, with the last article being published in 2005 [18].

Distinguishing between a classic throwaway and a prototypical peer-reviewed journal has become increasingly difficult. For example, one of the periodicals (DermWorld) that was examined in this study was affiliated with a peer-reviewed journal (Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology [JAAD]). The median payment amounts (US \$693.68 and US \$1885.65, respectively) for both of these publications were the lowest (DermWorld) and second lowest (JAAD) in each of their respective groups. In contrast, the median payment amount for one of the peer-reviewed journals (US \$146,159.48, Journal of Clinical and Aesthetic Dermatology [JCAD]) was 11 times greater than the next highest median payment for peer-reviewed journals (US \$12,526.52, Journal of Drugs in Dermatology). JCAD is a peer-reviewed, PubMed-indexed publication platform wherein every article published is available as full text and free via PubMed but with costs covered by advertising and subscriptions. With the commercialization of medical literature and a move toward open-access type publishing, these hybrid types of journals are increasingly common. The bias is clear, and the

```
https://derma.jmir.org/2021/2/e30126
```

conflicts of interest run deep. Affiliations with other entities, including patient advocacy organizations, specialty societies, and other groups that also receive financial support from the pharmaceutical industry, add another layer of complexity to the relationship.

It stands to reason that industry companies would select for well-known authorities and leaders in the field to provide their knowledge and expertise when evaluating their products. Historically, key opinion leaders (KOLs) have earned their positions by performing original research, discovering new therapies, and advancing the field. KOLs are well known in their respective fields, recognized as the authors of innovative journal articles, senior editors of major textbooks, specialty committee or leadership members, clinical practice guidelines authors, expert speakers at societal meetings, and institutional faculty leaders. Traditionally, the road to becoming a KOL involved years of research, teaching, and dissertation. However, currently some have asserted that becoming a KOL is more of a commercial enterprise carried out by the pharmaceutical industry and private KOL consulting firms [19,20]. A usual and effective method for industry to disseminate information is through peer advocacy [21]. This practice makes sense from a business standpoint, as KOLs are valuable figures that can lend expertise and credibility to new pharmaceuticals. Depending on the need, whether a company is looking to introduce a new product, rebrand a previous or newly reformulated product, or develop CME programs, KOLs can function as medical brand ambassadors to target specific audiences. The marketing value of KOLs is analogous to celebrity sponsorship deals in commercial ventures. The line between a trusted colleague sharing their knowledge and a salesperson selling a product is consequently blurred. In an unadulterated world, delivery of information by KOLs would be moral if the material were impartial and rooted in evidence-based medicine. However complete objectivity seems questionable when one party benefits so greatly. Industry offers many advantages to KOLs, including paid consultancy, participation in clinical trials, prestige in the eyes of peers, and opportunities for article authorship. The medical literature represents a useful avenue for industry to take advantage of the credibility and standing of KOLs [22]. The web of interaction is broad as evidenced by the activities of the top-paid dermatologists in our study. Many of the top earners serve on multiple editorial boards, hold dual private and academic appointments, and run a conglomerate of CME activities backed by industry for the purpose of influencing dermatologists at large. As examples, the highest earner received payments from 53 different companies, and one physician in the top 10% served on 6 editorial boards, including several of the peer-reviewed journals. A further 88.8% (414/466) of physicians in this study received payments from industry. This was higher than the percentage reported for dermatology textbook authors [6] (54.0%) and the 73.3% and 86% reported in the studies by Feng et al [4] and Checketts et al [23], respectively.

Historically, collaboration between physicians and the pharmaceutical industry has resulted in innovations and advancements in medicine. When conducted properly, the relationship between physicians and industry serves to advance

XSL•FO RenderX

the field of medicine as a whole with the ultimate goal of improving the lives of patients. However, the interests and commitments of physicians should deviate from those of industry. Where caring for patients is the primary responsibility of physicians, those in industry are chiefly concerned with their responsibility to their shareholders. As with any other business, the objectives of industry are geared towards profit. Industry engagement occurs so often that the practice has become a normalized component of physician education. This element of medical education has evolved over several decades and is so ubiquitous that many trainees and clinicians have become anesthetized to the practice. The fraternity of medicine is one in which new inductees observe their teachers and mentors giving industry-sponsored lectures, serving on industry advisory boards, and receiving industry funding for research [24]. These practices are so ingrained in our profession that participation is actually desirable for advancing academic careers or enhancing prestige. The "supportive" role of industry in medical education is ethically problematic.

Patients expect physicians to deliver effective, safe, and compassionate care based on evidence and best practices. As medicine is always changing, physicians must stay abreast of new therapeutics, devices, skills, and treatments. Establishing and upholding standards of competence is a responsibility of physicians to society. When these standards are perverted by industry, patients become unknowing victims of commerce. Over recent years, industry has played an increasingly direct role in physician education. The pharmaceutical industry's exploitation of medicine is alive and well, flourishing through academic literature, commercial marketing, and compliant colleagues. Industry has become so intertwined with medicine that it shapes medical knowledge and opinion to suit its commercial needs. It has injected its presence into clinics, conferences, research, journals, and medical education. This relationship is not completely clandestine. Funding from industry supports research grants, clinical trials, and educational programs. As physicians we need to be aware of how industry influences the information required to care for our patients. To suit the needs of industry, promotion and marketing sway the independence of information presented to clinicians. The quality and integrity of clinician education is paramount in maintaining the public's trust in our profession. In order to maintain the standards of postgraduate professional education, the relationship between industry and accredited education must be made transparent.

Editorial board members of dermatology publications received substantial payments from the pharmaceutical industry. A minority of physicians receive the lion's share of payments from industry. Throwaway publications have more financial conflicts of interest than do peer-reviewed journals. The impact of these conflicts of interest on patient care, physicians' practice patterns, and patient perception of physicians is noteworthy.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Categories of payments. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 31 KB - derma v4i2e30126 app1.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Individual journal characteristics and payments data. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 36 KB - derma\_v4i2e30126\_app2.pdf ]

#### References

- Rennie D, Bero LA. Throw it away, Sam: the controlled circulation journals. AJR Am J Roentgenol 1990 Oct;155(4):889-892. [doi: <u>10.2214/ajr.155.4.2119127</u>] [Medline: <u>2119127</u>]
- 2. Finkelstein D. Oh, the times! Tabloids and other non-peer-reviewed publications. Arch Ophthalmol 1985 Nov;103(11):1641-1642. [doi: 10.1001/archopht.1985.01050110035017] [Medline: 4062630]
- 3. Rochon PA, Bero LA, Bay AM, Gold JL, Dergal JM, Binns MA, et al. Comparison of review articles published in peer-reviewed and throwaway journals. JAMA 2002 Jun 05;287(21):2853-2856 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 12038932]
- 4. Feng H, Wu P, Leger M. Exploring the industry-dermatologist financial relationship: insight from the open payment data. JAMA Dermatol 2016 Dec 01;152(12):1307-1313. [doi: 10.1001/jamadermatol.2016.3037] [Medline: 27706478]
- 5. Updyke KM, Niu W, St Claire C, Schlager E, Knabel M, Leader NF, et al. Editorial boards of dermatology journals and their potential financial conflict of interest. Dermatol Online J 2018 Aug 15;24(8):1-7 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>30677845</u>]
- Roman J, Elpern DJ, Zampella JG. Conflicts of interest among dermatology textbook authors. Int J Womens Dermatol 2019 Dec;5(5):368-371 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ijwd.2019.08.003] [Medline: <u>31909159</u>]
- Li DG, Singer S, Mostaghimi A. Prevalence and disclosure of potential conflicts of interest in dermatology patient advocacy organizations. JAMA Dermatol 2019 Apr 01;155(4):460-464 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamadermatol.2018.5102] [Medline: 30698625]
- 8. Lim HW, Elmets CA, Begolka WS. Addressing potential conflicts of interest in dermatology clinical practice guidelines. JAMA Dermatol 2018 Mar 01;154(3):259-260. [doi: <u>10.1001/jamadermatol.2017.6207</u>] [Medline: <u>29417139</u>]

RenderX

- 9. Perlis CS, Harwood M, Perlis RH. Extent and impact of industry sponsorship conflicts of interest in dermatology research. J Am Acad Dermatol 2005 Jun;52(6):967-971. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jaad.2005.01.020</u>] [Medline: <u>15928613</u>]
- Kirschner NM, Sulmasy LS, Kesselheim AS. Health policy basics: the Physician Payment Sunshine Act and the Open Payments program. Ann Intern Med 2014 Oct 07;161(7):519-521. [doi: <u>10.7326/M14-1303</u>] [Medline: <u>25069795</u>]
- von Elm E, Altman DG, Egger M, Pocock SJ, Gøtzsche PC, Vandenbroucke JP, STROBE Initiative. Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (STROBE) statement: guidelines for reporting observational studies. BMJ 2007 Oct 20;335(7624):806-808 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.39335.541782.AD] [Medline: 17947786]
- 12. Open Payments Data. Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS). URL: <u>https://openpaymentsdata.cms.gov/</u> [accessed 2020-10-30]
- 13. Urquhart L. Top companies and drugs by sales in 2019. Nat Rev Drug Discov 2020 Apr;19(4):228. [doi: 10.1038/d41573-020-00047-7] [Medline: 32203287]
- 14. Samuel AM, Webb ML, Lukasiewicz AM, Bohl DD, Basques BA, Russo GS, et al. Orthopaedic surgeons receive the most industry payments to physicians but large disparities are seen in Sunshine Act data. Clin Orthop Relat Res 2015 Oct;473(10):3297-3306 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11999-015-4413-8] [Medline: 26088767]
- 15. Chang JS. The Physician Payments Sunshine Act: data evaluation regarding payments to ophthalmologists. Ophthalmology 2015 Apr;122(4):656-661 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ophtha.2014.11.003] [Medline: 25578254]
- Rathi VK, Samuel AM, Mehra S. Industry ties in otolaryngology: initial insights from the physician payment sunshine act. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2015 Jun;152(6):993-999. [doi: <u>10.1177/0194599815573718</u>] [Medline: <u>25779469</u>]
- 17. Redman J, Cockerell C. "Throw-away" medical publications. It's time for a reassessment. The American Journal of Dermatopathology 1984 Dec;6(6):595-598.
- 18. Luther F. The throwaway. J Orthod 2005 Sep;32(3):167-168. [doi: 10.1179/146531205225021042] [Medline: 16170056]
- 19. Sismondo S. Key opinion leaders and the corruption of medical knowledge: what the Sunshine Act will and won't cast light on. J Law Med Ethics 2013;41(3):635-643. [doi: 10.1111/jlme.12073] [Medline: 24088154]
- 20. Meffert JJ. Key opinion leaders: where they come from and how that affects the drugs you prescribe. Dermatol Ther 2009;22(3):262-268. [doi: 10.1111/j.1529-8019.2009.01240.x] [Medline: 19453351]
- 21. Sah S, Fugh-Berman A. Physicians under the influence: social psychology and industry marketing strategies. J Law Med Ethics 2013;41(3):665-672. [doi: 10.1111/jlme.12076] [Medline: 24088157]
- Sismondo S. Ghosts in the machine: publication planning in the medical sciences. Soc Stud Sci 2009 Apr;39(2):171-198. [doi: 10.1177/0306312708101047] [Medline: 19831220]
- Checketts JX, Sims MT, Vassar M. Evaluating industry payments among dermatology clinical practice guidelines authors. JAMA Dermatol 2017 Dec 01;153(12):1229-1235 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamadermatol.2017.3109] [Medline: 29049553]
- 24. Booth CM, Detsky AS. From the \$80 hamburger to managing conflicts of interest with the pharmaceutical industry. BMJ 2019 May 03:365-11939. [doi: 10.1136/bmj.11939] [Medline: 31053609]

#### Abbreviations

CME: continuing medical education
JAAD: Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology
JCAD: Journal of Clinical and Aesthetic Dermatology
KOL: key opinion leaders
STROBE: Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology

Edited by R Dellavalle, T Sivesind; submitted 02.05.21; peer-reviewed by G Singh; accepted 09.05.21; published 22.07.21. <u>Please cite as:</u> Roman J, Elpern DJ Conflicts of Interest in "Throwaway" Dermatology Publications: Analysis of the Open Payments Database JMIR Dermatol 2021;4(2):e30126 URL: <u>https://derma.jmir.org/2021/2/e30126</u> doi:<u>10.2196/30126</u> PMID:<u>37632829</u>

©Jorge Roman, David J Elpern. Originally published in JMIR Dermatology (http://derma.jmir.org), 22.07.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Dermatology Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic

https://derma.jmir.org/2021/2/e30126

information, a link to the original publication on http://derma.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

#### **Research Letter**

# From the Cochrane Library: Skin Care Interventions in Infants for Preventing Eczema and Food Allergy

Jarett Anderson<sup>1</sup>, BS; Torunn Sivesind<sup>2</sup>, MD

<sup>1</sup>Midwestern University, Glendale, AZ, United States <sup>2</sup>University of Colorado School of Medicine, Aurora, CO, United States

**Corresponding Author:** Jarett Anderson, BS Midwestern University 19555 N 59th Ave Glendale, AZ, 85308 United States Phone: 1 8016567069 Email: janderson99@midwestern.edu

(JMIR Dermatol 2021;4(2):e30197) doi:10.2196/30197

#### KEYWORDS

eczema; atopic dermatitis; skin care; emollients; pediatrics; food allergy; allergy; dermatology

Eczema is a common and taxing condition, with an estimated prevalence of 10.7% among pediatric patients in the United States and a cost of US \$5 billion annually [1]. Eczema has a known association with food allergies, with both conditions commonly developing during the first year of life. The cost of care and daily attention required to treat both eczema and food allergy represent significant burdens to individuals and families. Without a global standard for neonatal or infant skin care, and with few emollient studies performed in term infants, Kelleher

et al's Cochrane review [2] provides a much-needed assessment of the evidence for emollients and other interventions to prevent eczema, as well as their effects on the development of food allergy.

This systematic review assessed 33 randomized controlled trials (n=25,827), all of which studied term (>37 weeks) infants (<12 months) without a pre-existing diagnosis of eczema, food allergy, or other skin condition. Clinically relevant findings are summarized in Table 1.

Table 1. Clinically relevant findings.

Outcomes	Comparison	Relative risk (RR) or hazard ratio (HR) (CI)	Number of studies and partici- pants in the pooled analysis	Quality of evidence
Development of eczema by 1- 2 years	Skin care interventions vs stan- dard care <sup>a</sup>	RR=1.03 (CI 0.81-1.31)	7 trials, 3075 participants	Moderate
Time needed to develop eczema	Skin care interventions vs stan- dard care	HR=0.86 (CI 0.65-1.14)	9 trials, 3349 participants	Moderate
Development of skin infec- tions	Skin care interventions vs stan- dard care	RR=1.34 (CI 1.02-1.77)	6 trials <sup>b</sup> , 2728 participants	Moderate
IgE <sup>c</sup> -mediated food allergies at 1-2 years	Skin care interventions vs stan- dard care	RR=2.53 (CI 0.99-6.47)	1 trial, 996 participants	Very low
Sensitization to food allergens at 1-2 years	Skin care interventions vs stan- dard care	RR=0.86 (CI 0.28-2.69)	2 trials, 1055 participants	Very low

<sup>a</sup>Standard care is defined as no skin care or care as usual.

<sup>b</sup>While 2 out of the 6 studies in the pooled analysis slightly favored skin care interventions (not statistically significant), the pooled data suggested an increased risk of skin infection with emollients. The studies contributing to the pooled data varied in a number of study-related and patient-specific characteristics.

<sup>c</sup>IgE: immunoglobulin E.

There was limited evidence concerning the impact of skin care interventions on IgE (immunoglobulin E)-mediated food

allergies; the few trials that investigated these outcomes produced broad CIs that failed to achieve statistical significance.

https://derma.jmir.org/2021/2/e30197

An important strength of this review was its inclusion of 7 studies in a meta-analysis evaluating study-specific factors (eg, type of emollient, duration) and participant covariates (eg, age, FLG [filaggrin] genotype, family history of atopy), which revealed no interplay between these factors and the intervention on eczema risk. Other potential confounders (such as bath water composition, detergent type, diet, climate and geographical factors, and dust and home allergens) were not assessed.

Further, the intervention and control groups varied widely between the included studies such that single and combination emollients of differing contents were considered together. The control (standard care) was likewise variable, depending upon national standards and cultural norms. These limitations highlight the need for additional research to improve the generalizability of the results to diverse populations.

Efforts to identify the effects of different skin care interventions on the prevention of eczema and their effects on food allergy are also warranted. There are currently a number of ongoing clinical trials assessing skin care interventions for the prevention of atopic dermatitis and food allergy; one trial recently concluded there is no evidence that the use of daily emollients reduces the risk of eczema by the age of 2 years in high-risk patients (patients with first-degree relatives with a history of eczema, asthma, or allergic rhinitis) [3].

The incidence of eczema has increased, especially since the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic. With an enhanced emphasis on frequent hand washing, hand hygiene has become an increasingly popular topic among individuals and families [4]. In recent years prior to the pandemic, an increase in the incidence of eczema in the pediatric population was reported, most prominently among infants [5]. With this in mind, it is important for clinicians to familiarize themselves with evidence-based treatment regimens, supported by data from sources like the Cochrane Library. Utilizing information from numerous studies simultaneously, as in the review summarized here, supports best practice and enables physicians to effectively counsel patients.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

TS serves as a section editor for *JMIR Dermatology*. TS receives fellowship funding from the Pfizer Global Medical Grant (58858477) Dermatology Fellowship 2020 (PI: R Dellavalle) and serves on the Medical Advisory Board of Antedotum Inc. JA serves as a social media editor for Cochrane Skin.

#### **Editorial Notice**

The views expressed in this paper are those of the authors and in no way represent the Cochrane Library or Wiley. This article is based on a Cochrane Review previously published in the Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2021, Issue 2, DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD013534.pub2 (see www.cochranelibrary.com for information). Cochrane Reviews are regularly updated as new evidence emerges and in response to feedback, and Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews should be consulted for the most recent version of the review.

#### References

- Drucker AM, Wang AR, Li WQ, Sevetson E, Block JK, Qureshi AA. The Burden of Atopic Dermatitis: Summary of a Report for the National Eczema Association. J Invest Dermatol 2017 Jan;137(1):26-30 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jid.2016.07.012] [Medline: 27616422]
- Kelleher MM, Cro S, Cornelius V, Lodrup Carlsen KC, Skjerven HO, Rehbinder EM, et al. Skin care interventions in infants for preventing eczema and food allergy. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2021 Feb 05;2:CD013534. [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD013534.pub2] [Medline: 33545739]
- Chalmers JR, Haines RH, Bradshaw LE, Montgomery AA, Thomas KS, Brown SJ, et al. Daily emollient during infancy for prevention of eczema: the BEEP randomised controlled trial. The Lancet 2020 Mar;395(10228):962-972. [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(19)32984-8]
- 4. Hajar T, Simpson EL. The Rise in Atopic Dermatitis in Young Children. JAMA Netw Open 2018 Nov 02;1(7):e184205. [doi: <u>10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2018.4205</u>] [Medline: <u>30646336</u>]
- Singh M, Pawar M, Bothra A, Choudhary N. Overzealous hand hygiene during the COVID 19 pandemic causing an increased incidence of hand eczema among general population. J Am Acad Dermatol 2020 Jul;83(1):e37-e41 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2020.04.047] [Medline: 32305441]

#### Abbreviations

**FLG:** filaggrin **IgE:** immunoglobulin E



Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 05.05.21; peer-reviewed by J Solomon, A Allam; comments to author 16.06.21; revised version received 25.06.21; accepted 30.07.21; published 02.09.21. <u>Please cite as:</u> Anderson J, Sivesind T From the Cochrane Library: Skin Care Interventions in Infants for Preventing Eczema and Food Allergy JMIR Dermatol 2021;4(2):e30197 URL: https://derma.jmir.org/2021/2/e30197

*doi*:<u>10.2196/30197</u> *PMID*:<u>37632815</u>

©Jarett Anderson, Torunn Sivesind. Originally published in JMIR Dermatology (http://derma.jmir.org), 02.09.2021. This is an article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons open-access Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Dermatology Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://derma.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



#### **Research Letter**

# From the Cochrane Library: Systemic Treatments for Metastatic Cutaneous Melanoma

Austin Hamp<sup>1</sup>, BSc; Jarett Anderson<sup>1</sup>, BSc; Torunn E Sivesind<sup>2</sup>, MD; Mindy D Szeto<sup>2</sup>, MSc; Andreas Hadjinicolaou<sup>3,4</sup>, MPH, PhD

<sup>1</sup>Arizona College of Osteopathic Medicine, Midwestern University, Glendale, AZ, United States

<sup>2</sup>Department of Dermatology, University of Colorado Anschutz Medical Campus, Aurora, CO, United States

<sup>3</sup>Human Immunology Unit, Institute of Molecular Medicine, Radcliffe Department of Medicine, University of Oxford, Oxford, United Kingdom
<sup>4</sup>Medical Research Council Cancer Unit, Hutchison/MRC Research Centre, University of Cambridge, Cambridge Biomedical Campus, Cambridge,

#### **Corresponding Author:**

United Kingdom

Austin Hamp, BSc Arizona College of Osteopathic Medicine Midwestern University 19555 N 59th Ave, Room 2138 Glendale, AZ, 85308 United States Phone: 1 8016470632 Email: ahamp79@midwestern.edu

(JMIR Dermatol 2021;4(2):e30270) doi:10.2196/30270

#### **KEYWORDS**

melanoma; metastatic melanoma; skin neoplasms; angiogenesis inhibitors; monoclonal antibodies; antineoplastic agents; Cochrane reviews; systematic reviews; clinical trials; randomized controlled trials; dermatology

Melanoma is the most lethal type of skin cancer, with a 5-year survival rate of only 22.5% for stage IV (metastatic) disease [1]. Furthermore, with its steadily increasing incidence rate of 5% to 7% per year predicted through 2031, melanoma represents a significant health burden in the United States [1]. Treatment options for metastatic melanoma have changed dramatically with novel therapeutic strategies. However, a consensus on treatment and quality of evidence has yet to be established. "Systemic treatments for metastatic cutaneous melanoma," a 2018 Cochrane review, assessed the beneficial and harmful effects of these new classes of drugs in treating unresectable metastatic melanoma, defined as stage IIIC or stage IV [2].

This review found high-quality evidence that many newer agents, such as immune checkpoint inhibitors and targeted therapies in the form of small-molecule inhibitors, were more effective than conventional chemotherapies (ie, dacarbazine and temozolomide) in treating unresectable metastatic melanoma. Table 1 summarizes significant findings of the Cochrane review on drug comparisons.

As noted in Table 1, BRAF inhibitors and BRAF inhibitors + mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK; MEK) inhibitors (both are MAPK pathway inhibitors) provide improved survival for patients with metastatic melanoma with BRAF gene mutations. These treatment options are of particular importance, as 40% to 60% of metastatic melanomas harbor the BRAF mutation [3]. A 2021 meta-analysis supported the findings of this Cochrane review, concluding improved overall survival (hazard ratio [HR] 0.59, 95% CI 0.47-0.74) and progression-free survival (HR 0.24, 95% CI 0.19-0.3) when comparing BRAF + MEK inhibitors against conventional chemotherapy for unresectable metastatic melanoma (TNM [tumor, node, metastasis] stage IIIc) [3]. While these data are encouraging, additional randomized controlled studies are warranted to further elucidate outcome differences between these combination treatment strategies.



Table 1. A Cochrane review of metastatic melanoma therapies for overall survival, progression-free survival, and toxicity rate.

Drug therapy comparison	Overall survival	Progression-free survival <sup>a</sup>	Toxicity rate <sup>b</sup>
Antiprogrammed cell death protein 1 (anti-PD1) vs conventional chemotherapy <sup>c</sup>			
Outcome	Improved	Improved	Decreased
Corresponding risk <sup>d</sup> vs assumed risk <sup>e</sup>	320 (95% CI 290-360) deaths per 1000 vs 600 deaths per 1000, re- spectively	610 (95% CI 520-690) per 1000 vs 850 per 1000, respectively	165 (95% CI 93-291) toxicities per 1000 vs 300 per 1000, respec- tively
Relative effect	HR <sup>f</sup> 0.42, 95% CI 0.37-0.48, 1 study, N=418	HR 0.49, 95% CI 0.39-0.61, 2 studies, N=957	RR <sup>g</sup> 0.55, 95% CI 0.31-0.97, 3 studies, N=1360
Evidence quality <sup>h</sup>	High	Moderate	Low
Anti-PD1 vs anticytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated protein 4 (anti-CTLA4)			
Outcome	Improved	Improved	Decreased
Corresponding risk vs assumed risk <sup>e</sup>	428 (95% CI 423-454) deaths per 1000 vs 600 deaths per 1000, re- spectively	641 (95% CI 612-679) per 1000 vs 850 per 1000, respectively	278 (95% CI 215-362) toxicities per 1000 vs 398 per 1000, respec- tively
Relative effect	HR 0.63, 95% CI 0.60-0.66, 1 study, N=764	HR 0.54, 95% CI 0.50-0.60, 2 studies, N=1465	RR 0.70, 95% CI 0.54-0.91, 2 studies, N=1465
Evidence quality	High	High	Low
Anti-PD1 and anti-CTLA4 vs anti-CTLA4 alone			
Outcome	i	Improved	No significant difference
Corresponding risk vs assumed risk <sup>j</sup>	_	425 (95% CI 375-478) per 1000 vs 750 per 1000, respectively	278 (95% CI 215-362) toxicities per 1000 vs 398 per 1000, respec- tively
Relative effect	_	HR 0.40, 95% CI 0.35-0.46, 2 studies, N=738	RR 1.57, 95% CI 0.85-2.92, 2 studies, N=764
Evidence quality	_	High	Low
BRAF inhibitors vs conventional chemotherapy <sup>c</sup>			
Outcome	Improved	Improved	No significant difference
Corresponding risk vs assumed risk <sup>e</sup>	307 (95% CI 226-407) deaths per 1000 vs 600 deaths per 1000, re- spectively	401 (95% CI 328-475) per 1000 vs 600 per 1000, respectively	433 (95% CI 163-1135) toxicities per 1000 vs 341 toxicities per 1000, respectively
Relative effect	HR 0.40, 95% CI 0.28-0.57, 2 studies, N=925	HR 0.27, 95% CI 0.21-0.31, 2 studies, N=925	RR 1.27, 95% CI 0.48-3.33, 2 studies, N=408
Evidence quality	High	High	Low
Mitogen-activated protein kinase (MEK) inhibitors vs conventional chemotherapy <sup>c</sup>			
Outcome	No significant difference	Improved	Increased
Corresponding risk vs assumed risk <sup>e</sup>	541 (95% CI 412-682) deaths per 1000 vs 600 deaths per 1000, re- spectively	667 (95% CI 549-781) per 1000 vs 850 per 1000, respectively	665 (95% CI 446-995) toxicities per 1000 vs 413 toxicities per 1000, respectively
Relative effect	HR 0.85, 95% CI 0.58-1.25, 3 studies, N=496	HR 0.58, 95% CI 0.42-0.80, 3 studies, N=496	RR 1.61, 95% CI 1.08-2.41, 1 study, N=91
Evidence quality	Low	Moderate	Moderate
BRAF inhibitors + MEK inhibitors vs BRAF inhibitors alone			
Outcome	Improved	Improved	Increased
Corresponding risk vs assumed risk <sup>k</sup>	260 (95% CI 204-321) deaths per 1000 vs 350 deaths per 1000, re- spectively	490 (95% CI 411-574) per 1000 vs 700 per 1000, respectively	500 (95% CI 421-594) toxicities per 1000 vs 495 toxicities per 1000, respectively

XSL•FO RenderX JMIR Dermatol 2021 | vol. 4 | iss. 2 |e30270 | p.144 (page number not for citation purposes)
Drug therapy comparison	Overall survival	Progression-free survival <sup>a</sup>	Toxicity rate <sup>b</sup>
Relative effect	HR 0.70, 95% CI 0.59-0.82, 4 studies, N=1784	HR 0.56, 95% CI 0.44-0.71, 4 studies, N=1784	RR 1.01, 95% CI 0.85-1.20, 4 studies, N=1774
Evidence quality	High	Moderate	Moderate
Chemotherapy + antiangiogenic drugs <sup>1</sup> vs	s conventional chemotherapy <sup>c</sup>		
Outcome	Improved	Improved	No significant difference
Corresponding risk vs assumed risk <sup>e</sup>	423 (95% CI 338-524) deaths per 1000 vs 600 deaths per 1000, re- spectively	730 (95% CI 627-825) per 1000 vs 850 per 1000, respectively	185 (95% CI 25-1447) toxicities per 1000 vs 272 toxicities per 1000, respectively
Relative effect	HR 0.60, 95% CI 0.45-0.81, 2 studies, N=324	HR 0.69, 95% CI 0.52-0.92, 2 studies, N=324	RR 0.68, 95% CI 0.09-5.32, 2 studies, N=324
Evidence quality	Moderate	Moderate	Low
Polychemotherapy <sup>m</sup> vs conventional chem	notherapy <sup>c</sup>		
Outcome	None	None	Increased
Corresponding risk vs assumed risk <sup>e</sup>	No significant difference	No significant difference	372 (95% CI 272-512) toxicities per 1000 vs 189 toxicities per 1000, respectively
Relative effect	HR 0.99, 95% CI 0.85-1.16, 6 studies, N=594	HR 1.07, 95% CI 0.91-1.25, 5 studies, N=398	RR 1.97, 95% CI 1.44- 2.71, 3 studies, N=390
Evidence quality	High	High	Moderate

<sup>a</sup>Progression-free survival is defined as the time from randomization until diagnosis of disease recurrence (local or distant/metastatic). The numbers listed refer to event rates (death rates and progression rates) [2].

<sup>b</sup>Toxicity is defined as the occurrence of grade 3 or higher adverse events according to the World Health Organization scale.

<sup>c</sup>Dacarbazine and its orally available derivative, temozolomide, both of which cross-link DNA, inhibiting transcription and replication [2].

<sup>d</sup>Corresponding risk is based on the assumed risk in the comparison group and the relative effect of the intervention.

<sup>e</sup>Assumed risk (which is defined as the median control group risk across all studies): 1-year overall survival rate (40%); assumed risk in the control population: 1-year progression-free survival rate (15%); assumed risk in the control population: toxicity rate across the control arms of the included trials.

<sup>f</sup>HR: hazard ratio.

<sup>g</sup>RR: risk ratio.

<sup>h</sup>High-quality evidence: further research is very unlikely to change the confidence in the estimate of effect; moderate-quality evidence: further research is likely to have an important impact on the confidence in the estimate of effect and may change the estimate; low-quality evidence: further research is very likely to have an important impact on the confidence in the estimate of effect and is likely to change the estimate; very low-quality evidence: very uncertain about the estimate.

<sup>i</sup>No data available.

<sup>j</sup>Assumed risk in the control population: 1-year progression-free survival rate (15%); assumed risk in the control population: toxicity rate across the control arms of the included trials.

<sup>k</sup>Assumed risk in the control population: 1-year overall survival rate (65%); assumed risk in the control population: 1-year progression-free survival rate (30%); assumed risk in the control population: toxicity rate across the control arms of the included trials.

<sup>1</sup>Bevacizumab and endostar.

<sup>m</sup>Dacarbazine in combination with other chemotherapeutics.

Despite the efficacy of BRAF + MEK inhibitors in treating BRAF-mutated melanoma, about 20% of BRAF-mutated melanomas demonstrate resistance to this therapy [4]. Therefore, the pursuit of alternative treatments is necessary. New therapies, such as T-cell therapies, which include tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs), T-cell receptor therapy, and chimeric antigen receptor T-cell therapy, have shown promising results in treating metastatic melanoma. A recent study reported an objective response rate of 36% (95% CI 25%-49%) and a median duration of response that was not reached after an 18.7-month median follow-up (range 0.2-34.1 months) in

patients with metastatic melanoma (stage IIIc or IV) treated with TILs [5]. These therapies present an exciting new avenue to treating metastatic melanoma in patients who have not responded to approved therapy, as there remain very few treatments to improve outcomes in these patients. Additional studies are underway to determine the efficacy of these T-cell therapies on metastatic melanoma and assess the duration of response.

In conclusion, this Cochrane review provides convincing evidence supporting the use of new therapeutics compared to

XSL•FO RenderX

chemotherapy alone. Given recent evidence of resistance to older drugs, there is an ongoing and urgent need for alternative treatment options and approaches [4]. We encourage additional study and evaluation of evidence regarding novel therapies to accurately and comprehensively identify the most effective treatments for metastatic melanoma, especially the individualized treatment of specific melanoma subsets.

## **Conflicts of Interest**

TS serves as a section editor for *JMIR Dermatology*. In addition, TS receives fellowship funding from the Pfizer Global Medical Grant (58858477) Dermatology Fellowship 2020 and fees for serving on the Medical Advisory Board of Antedotum Inc. JA and A Hamp serve as social media editors for Cochrane Skin. MS is a member of the Cochrane Collaboration.

#### **Editorial Notice**

The views expressed in this paper are those of the authors and in no way represent the Cochrane Library or Wiley. This article is based on a Cochrane Review previously published in the Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2018, Issue 2, DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD011123.pub2 (see www.cochranelibrary.com for information). Cochrane Reviews are regularly updated as new evidence emerges and in response to feedback, and Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews should be consulted for the most recent version of the review.

## References

- 1. Stage 4 Melanoma. Melanoma Research Alliance. URL: <u>https://www.curemelanoma.org/about-melanoma/melanoma-staging/</u> stage-4-melanoma/ [accessed 2021-07-06]
- Pasquali S, Hadjinicolaou AV, Chiarion Sileni V, Rossi CR, Mocellin S. Systemic treatments for metastatic cutaneous melanoma. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2018 Feb 06;2:CD011123 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD011123.pub2] [Medline: 29405038]
- 3. Wu J, Das J, Kalra M, Ratto B. J Comp Eff Res 2021 Mar;10(4):267-280 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2217/cer-2020-0249] [Medline: 33448878]
- 4. Czarnecka AM, Bartnik E, Fiedorowicz M, Rutkowski P. Targeted Therapy in Melanoma and Mechanisms of Resistance. Int J Mol Sci 2020 Jun 27;21(13) [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijms21134576] [Medline: 32605090]
- Sarnaik AA, Hamid O, Khushalani NI, Lewis KD, Medina T, Kluger HM, et al. Lifileucel, a Tumor-Infiltrating Lymphocyte Therapy, in Metastatic Melanoma. J Clin Oncol 2021 Aug 20;39(24):2656-2666. [doi: <u>10.1200/JCO.21.00612</u>] [Medline: <u>33979178</u>]

## Abbreviations

HR: hazard ratio MAPK: mitogen-activated protein kinase TIL: tumor-infiltrating lymphocyte TNM: tumor, node, metastasis

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 07.05.21; peer-reviewed by J Solomon, Y Li; comments to author 06.07.21; revised version received 23.07.21; accepted 12.09.21; published 23.09.21.

Please cite as:

Hamp A, Anderson J, Sivesind TE, Szeto MD, Hadjinicolaou A From the Cochrane Library: Systemic Treatments for Metastatic Cutaneous Melanoma JMIR Dermatol 2021;4(2):e30270 URL: https://derma.jmir.org/2021/2/e30270 doi:10.2196/30270 PMID:37632820

©Austin Hamp, Jarett Anderson, Torunn E Sivesind, Mindy D Szeto, Andreas Hadjinicolaou. Originally published in JMIR Dermatology (http://derma.jmir.org), 23.09.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Dermatology Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://derma.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

## **Research Letter**

# From the Cochrane Library: Topical Tacrolimus for Atopic Dermatitis

Austin Hamp<sup>1</sup>, BSc; Jarett D Anderson<sup>1</sup>, BSc; Torunn E Sivesind<sup>2</sup>, MD; Mindy D Szeto<sup>2</sup>, MSc; Jade Cury-Martins<sup>3</sup>, MD, PhD

<sup>1</sup>Arizona College of Osteopathic Medicine, Midwestern University, Glendale, AZ, United States

<sup>2</sup>Department of Dermatology, University of Colorado Anschutz Medical Campus, Aurora, CO, United States

<sup>3</sup>Department of Dermatology, University of São Paulo, São Paulo, Brazil

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Austin Hamp, BSc Arizona College of Osteopathic Medicine Midwestern University 19555 N 59th Ave Glendale, AZ, 85308 United States Phone: 1 8016470632 Email: <u>ahamp79@midwestern.edu</u>

(JMIR Dermatol 2021;4(2):e31838) doi:10.2196/31838

#### KEYWORDS

atopic dermatitis; eczema; calcineurin inhibitor; tacrolimus; lymphoma; dermatology; dermatitis

Among chronic skin disorders, atopic dermatitis demonstrates the greatest negative impact on quality of life for both affected patients and their families, and is associated with anxiety, guilt, and depression [1]. Emotional stress from uncontrolled eczema can be displaced on coworkers, students, and teachers, affecting the entire community. Thus, effective eczema management potentially has far-reaching benefits.

Eczema is commonly treated with topical corticosteroids (TCS), the long-term use of which may cause dermal atrophy, striae, and hypertrichosis, among other adverse effects [2]. Additionally, patients may experience treatment-resistant eczema. Therefore, cost-effective alternative treatments with fewer side effects may be prudent. A 2015 Cochrane review, titled "Topical tacrolimus for atopic dermatitis," assessed the efficacy and safety of the topical calcineurin inhibitors (TCIs) tacrolimus and pimecrolimus in comparison to conventional treatments (20 randomized controlled trials, n=5885) [2]. Significant drug comparison findings are summarized in Table 1. This review found convincing evidence that tacrolimus 0.1% was significantly more effective than low-potency TCS, pimecrolimus 1%, and tacrolimus 0.03% at improving physicianand patient-assessed appearance of eczema-affected skin in many settings. While results were mainly obtained using the subjective measures mentioned previously, several trials included in the review indicated that tacrolimus significantly improved objective measures such as the Eczema Area and Severity Index, quality of life, and Scoring Atopic Dermatitis (SCORAD) when compared to certain TCS in various settings. However, lack of data on these secondary outcomes limited the

RenderX

completeness of evidence. Unfortunately, since the publication of this Cochrane review, only 1 randomized controlled trial analyzing the efficacy of TCIs has been published [3]. Despite this study validating the findings of this Cochrane review, further research is warranted to investigate the true relationship between TCS and TCIs utilizing objective standardized criteria.

One notable side effect found in this review was burning and pruritus experienced in the first days of TCI treatment, which was most pronounced when comparing topical tacrolimus with TCS (risk ratio 2.48, 95% CI 1.96-3.14, 5 studies, n=1883, high-quality evidence). These symptoms were mild and transient, and generally did not lead to discontinuation of treatment. There were no reported TCI-related cases of skin atrophy nor evidence of increased risk of malignancies.

Despite the minimal side-effects profile, a black box warning for topical tacrolimus remains due to concern for malignancies associated with systemic absorption, which is low when administered topically [4]. Nevertheless, patients with rare skin diseases such as Netherton syndrome and lamellar ichthyosis should be cautioned, as systemic absorption of TCIs was noted in these patients [2]. Reassuringly, a recent 10-year prospective longitudinal study following 7954 children with atopic dermatitis who used topical tacrolimus for  $\geq 6$  weeks reported no cases of lymphoma [5].

The efficacy of tacrolimus was further substantiated with a recent 2020 study reporting that tacrolimus 0.1% was more likely to achieve clear or almost clear skin at 28 to 42 days versus vehicle (hazard ratio 1.74, 95% CI 1.13-3.05) based on

the Investigator's Static Global Assessment [6]. Eczema results in psychological stress to the patient, as well as to the patient's family and community. Options with a favorable side-effects profile for treatment-resistant eczema or for patients who are intolerant to TCS are desirable [1]. Tacrolimus is a suitable and effective alternative under these conditions. Thus, tacrolimus appears to be an effective treatment for eczema.

Comparison	Measurement <sup>a</sup>	Result	RR	Quality of evidence <sup>b</sup>
Tacrolimus 0.1% vs low-potency TCS <sup>c</sup> (follow-up: mean 3 weeks)	Physician's assessment	Tacrolimus 0.1% superior	RR 3.09, 95% CI 2.14-4.45, 1 RCT <sup>d</sup> , n=371	Moderate
Tacrolimus 0.1% vs moderate-potency TCS (follow-up: 6 months)	Physician's assessment	Tacrolimus 0.1% marginally better	RR 1.32, 95% CI 1.17-1.49, 2 RCTs, n=506	Moderate
Tacrolimus 0.1% vs pimecrolimus 1% (fol- low-up: mean 6 weeks)	Physician's assessment	Tacrolimus 0.1% superior	RR 1.80, 95% CI 1.34-2.42, 2 RCTs, n=506	Moderate
Tacrolimus 0.03% vs tacrolimus 0.1% (follow-up: 3-12 weeks)	Physician's assessment	Tacrolimus 0.1% superior	RR 0.82, 95% CI 0.72-0.92, 6 RCTs, n=1640	High
Tacrolimus 0.1% vs moderate to high poten- cy TCS (follow-up: mean 3 weeks)	Physician's assessment	No difference	RR 0.95, 95% CI 0.78-1.16, 1 RCT, n=377	Low
Tacrolimus 0.1% vs moderate to high poten- cy TCS (follow-up: mean 6 months)	Participant's self-assessment	Marginal benefit favoring tacrolimus 0.1%	RR 1.21, 95% CI 1.13-1.29, 1 RCT, n=974	Low
Tacrolimus 0.03% vs mild-potency TCS (follow-up: mean 3 weeks)	Physician's assessment	Tacrolimus 0.03% superior	RR 2.58, 95% CI 1.96-3.38, 2 RCTs, n=790	Moderate

<sup>a</sup>Physicians and participants rate skin improvement in a subjective manner. Though subjective, these tools are commonly used to assess treatment efficacy. For example, skin improvement is evaluated as excellent improvement (>90% improvement), marked improvement (75%-89%), or moderate improvement (50%-74%) from the participant's or physician's viewpoint [4].

<sup>b</sup>High quality: further research is very unlikely to change the confidence in the estimate of effect; moderate quality: further research is likely to have an important impact on the confidence in the estimate of effect and may change the estimate; low quality: further research is very likely to have an important impact on the confidence in the estimate of effect and is likely to change the estimate; very low quality: very uncertain about the estimate. <sup>c</sup>TCS: topical corticosteroids.

<sup>d</sup>RCT: randomized controlled trial.

## Acknowledgments

TS receives fellowship funding from the Pfizer Global Medical Grant (58858477) Dermatology Fellowship 2020.

## **Editorial Notice**

The views expressed in this paper are those of the authors and in no way represent the Cochrane Library or Wiley. This article is based on a Cochrane Review previously published in the Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2015, Issue 7, DOI:10.1002/14651858.cd009864.pub2 (see www.cochranelibrary.com for information). Cochrane Reviews are regularly updated as new evidence emerges and in response to feedback, and Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews should be consulted for the most recent version of the review.

## **Conflicts of Interest**

TS serves as a section editor for *JMIR Dermatology*. TS also received fees for serving as a medical advisor for Antedotum Inc. JA and AH serve as social media editors for Cochrane Skin. MS is a member of the Cochrane Collaboration.

## References

- 1. Na CH, Chung J, Simpson EL. Quality of Life and Disease Impact of Atopic Dermatitis and Psoriasis on Children and Their Families. Children (Basel) 2019 Dec 02;6(12) [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/children6120133] [Medline: 31810362]
- Cury Martins J, Martins C, Aoki V, Gois AFT, Ishii HA, da Silva EMK. Topical tacrolimus for atopic dermatitis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2015 Jul 01(7):CD009864 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD009864.pub2] [Medline: 26132597]
- 3. Perälä M, Ahola M, Mikkola T, Pelkonen AS, Remitz A, Mäkelä MJ. Young children with moderate-to-severe atopic dermatitis can be treated safely and effectively with either topical tacrolimus or mild corticosteroids. Acta Paediatr 2020 Mar;109(3):550-556. [doi: 10.1111/apa.15001] [Medline: 31483891]

- Lam M, Zhu JW, Tadrous M, Drucker AM. Association Between Topical Calcineurin Inhibitor Use and Risk of Cancer, Including Lymphoma, Keratinocyte Carcinoma, and Melanoma: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. JAMA Dermatol 2021 May 01;157(5):549-558. [doi: 10.1001/jamadermatol.2021.0345] [Medline: <u>33787818</u>]
- Paller AS, Fölster-Holst R, Chen SC, Diepgen TL, Elmets C, Margolis DJ, et al. No evidence of increased cancer incidence in children using topical tacrolimus for atopic dermatitis. J Am Acad Dermatol 2020 Aug;83(2):375-381 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2020.03.075] [Medline: 32246968]
- Fahrbach K, Tarpey J, Washington EB, Hughes R, Thom H, Neary MP, et al. Crisaborole Ointment, 2%, for Treatment of Patients with Mild-to-Moderate Atopic Dermatitis: Systematic Literature Review and Network Meta-Analysis. Dermatol Ther (Heidelb) 2020 Aug;10(4):681-694 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s13555-020-00389-5] [Medline: 32435999]

## Abbreviations

**SCORAD:** Scoring Atopic Dermatitis **TCI:** topical calcineurin inhibitor **TCS:** topical corticosteroids

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 06.07.21; peer-reviewed by J Solomon, R Alhusayen; comments to author 21.07.21; revised version received 04.08.21; accepted 07.10.21; published 28.10.21.

Please cite as:

Hamp A, Anderson JD, Sivesind TE, Szeto MD, Cury-Martins J From the Cochrane Library: Topical Tacrolimus for Atopic Dermatitis JMIR Dermatol 2021;4(2):e31838 URL: <u>https://derma.jmir.org/2021/2/e31838</u> doi:<u>10.2196/31838</u> PMID:<u>37632863</u>

©Austin Hamp, Jarett D Anderson, Torunn E Sivesind, Mindy D Szeto, Jade Cury-Martins. Originally published in JMIR Dermatology (http://derma.jmir.org), 28.10.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Dermatology Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://derma.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



## Research Letter

## From the Cochrane Library: Interventions for Impetigo

Ani Oganesyan<sup>1</sup>, BA; Torunn Sivesind<sup>1</sup>, MD; Robert Dellavalle<sup>1,2</sup>, MD, PhD

<sup>1</sup>Department of Dermatology, University of Colorado Anschutz Medical Campus, Aurora, CO, United States <sup>2</sup>Dermatology Service, Rocky Mountain Regional VA Medical Center, Aurora, CO, United States

## **Corresponding Author:**

Ani Oganesyan, BA Department of Dermatology University of Colorado Anschutz Medical Campus 13001 E 17th Place Aurora, CO, 80045 United States Phone: 1 818 441 6860 Email: ani.oganesyan@cuanschutz.edu

(JMIR Dermatol 2021;4(2):e33433) doi:10.2196/33433

## KEYWORDS

impetigo; pustular lesions; Staphylococcus aureus; Streptococcus pyogenes; dermatology; skin infection

Impetigo is a contagious, superficial skin infection, most commonly affecting children, caused by *Staphylococcus aureus*, group A beta-hemolytic streptococcus (*Streptococcus pyogenes*), or both pathogens in combination [1]. Bacteria infect the epidermis, leading to itchy or painful, yellow-crusted, erythematous plaques. If blisters are present, the infection is referred to as bullous impetigo [2]. While untreated impetigo is often self-limited, treatment is important for symptom control, limiting the spread of infection and minimizing the risk of developing life-threatening complications. Due to the prevalence and risks associated with impetigo, evidence-based research to inform treatment guidelines is critical to decreasing its disease burden [1]. Current treatment options for impetigo, summarized in Table 1, include topical and systemic antibiotics, as well as topical disinfectants [2]. A 2012 Cochrane review, "Interventions for Impetigo" [2], assessed 68 randomized controlled trials (26 oral treatments and 24 topical treatments for the management of primary impetigo). Specifically, various management strategies were evaluated: watchful waiting, topical disinfectants (saline, hexachlorophene, povidone-iodine, chlorhexidine), topical antibiotics (neomycin, bacitracin, polymyxin B, gentamycin, fusidic acid, mupirocin, retapamulin, topical steroid/antibiotic combination), and systemic antibiotics (penicillin, [flu]cloxacillin, amoxicillin/clavulanic acid, erythromycin, cephalexin). Primary outcome measures included an assessment of clearance of crusts, blisters, and redness, as well as resolution of associated symptoms.



 Table 1. Current guidelines for the management of impetigo.

Oganesyan et al

Treatment	Dosing and usage	Evidence grade <sup>a</sup>	
Topical antibiotics			
Mupirocin 2% ointment	3 times daily for 5-7 days	Strong recommendation	
Retapamulin 1% ointment	2 times daily for 5 days	Strong recommendation	
Fusidic acid 2% cream	3 times daily until healed or up to 14 days	Not available in the United States	
Oral antibiotics			
Dicloxacillin, 250 mg; cephalexin, 250 mg	4 times daily for 7 days for empiric therapy in adults	Strong recommendation	
Cephalexin, 250 mg	4 times daily for 7 days for empiric therapy in adults	Strong recommendation	
Cephalexin, 25-50 mg/kg/day	3-4 divided doses for empiric therapy in children	Strong recommendation	
Penicillin	If culture yields streptococci alone	Strong recommendation	
Doxycycline, clindamycin, or trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole	If methicillin-resistant <i>Staphylococcus aureus</i> (MRSA) is suspected or confirmed	Strong recommendation	

<sup>a</sup>Recommendation according to the Infectious Diseases Society of America, using the GRADE (Grading of Recommendations, Assessment, Development, and Evaluation) system's strength of recommendation: *strong recommendation* (desirable effects clearly outweigh undesirable effects or vice versa) and *weak recommendation* (desirable effects closely balanced with undesirable effects, or [with low- or very low–quality evidence] uncertainty in the estimates of desirable effects, harms, and burden so they may be closely balanced).

Topical antibiotics (mupirocin, retapamulin, fusidic acid) were found to be more effective than the placebo and preferable to oral antibiotics for limited impetigo. Topical antibiotics were also superior to disinfection methods. No significant differences were found in studies evaluating oral antibiotics, with the exception that penicillin was less effective than most other antibiotics. Due to insufficient evidence, the efficacy of these treatments for patients with more extensive disease could not be established. However, newer data suggest systemic antibiotics are more efficacious for patients with 5 or more lesions, or with oral or deep tissue involvement [3]. Significant findings pertaining to the treatment comparisons in this review are summarized in Table 2. Of note, the authors of the Cochrane review pointed to a lack of evidence regarding impetigo treatment in developing countries and endemic populations—a significant data gap given that impetigo disproportionately affects children in resource-poor communities and has the highest prevalence among Australian Aboriginal children (up to 49%). A recent systematic review [4] provided much-needed insight, calling for research into topical antimicrobials for impetigo as alternatives to current first-line therapy (oral co - trimoxazole and intramuscular benzathine penicillin G) in rural Australia. Currently, there are no trials of topical antibiotics for impetigo in high-burden settings, highlighting the need for further studies.

Table 2. Treatment comparison with respective results, risk ratio (RR), 95% CI, and number of studies and participants.

Comparison	Measurement	Result	Statistics
Topical antibiotic vs placebo	Investigator assessment	Topical antibiotic was supe- rior	RR 2.24, 95% CI 1.61-3.13; 6 studies, n=575
Topical mupirocin vs topical fusidic acid	Investigator assessment	No difference	RR 1.03, 95% CI 0.95-1.11; 4 studies, n=440
Topical mupirocin vs oral erythromycin	Investigator assessment	Topical mupirocin was supe- rior	RR 1.07, 95% CI 1.01-1.13; 10 studies, n=581
Penicillin vs erythromycin	Investigator assessment	Erythromycin was superior	RR 1.29, 95% CI 1.07-1.56; 2 studies, n=79
Penicillin vs cloxacillin	Investigator assessment	Cloxacillin was superior	RR 1.59, 95% CI 1.21-2.08; 2 studies, n=166
Topical antibiotics vs disinfecting treat- ments	Investigator assessment	Topical antibiotic was superior	RR 1.15, 95% CI 1.01-1.32; 2 studies, n=292

In industrialized settings, data continue to support the use of topical mupirocin and retapamulin as first-line treatments for primary impetigo. Current guidelines (Table 1) recommend topical antibiotics as the initial therapy for most patients. In patients with numerous lesions, ulceration into the dermis, or

in outbreaks affecting several people, oral antibiotics are preferred [5].

The commonality of impetigo and its rapidly changing antibiotic resistance patterns make it a moving target. Its contagious nature and associated morbidity further emphasize the need for updated guidelines.



## **Editorial Notice**

The views expressed in this paper are those of the authors and in no way represent the Cochrane Library or Wiley.

This article is based on a Cochrane Review previously published in the Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2012, Issue 1, DOI:10.1002/14651858.CD003261.pub3 (see www.cochranelibrary.com for information). Cochrane Reviews are regularly updated as new evidence emerges and in response to feedback, and Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews should be consulted for the most recent version of the review.

## **Conflicts of Interest**

RD is editor in chief of *JMIR Dermatology*, a joint coordinating editor for *Cochrane Skin*, a dermatology section editor for *UpToDate*, a social media editor for the *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology* (JAAD), and a podcast editor for the *Journal of Investigative Dermatology* (JID). He is a coordinating editor representative on Cochrane Council and Cochrane Council cochair. TS is a section editor for *JMIR Dermatology*.

RD receives editorial stipends (JAAD, JID), royalties (*UpToDate*), and expense reimbursement from *Cochrane Skin*. TS receives fellowship funding from the Pfizer Global Medical Grant (58858477) Dermatology Fellowship 2020 (principal investigator: author RD) and serves on the Medical Advisory Board of Antedotum Inc.

## References

- 1. Hartman-Adams H, Banvard C, Juckett G. Impetigo: diagnosis and treatment. Am Fam Physician 2014 Aug 15;90(4):229-235 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 25250996]
- Koning S, van der Sande R, Verhagen AP, van Suijlekom-Smit LWA, Morris AD, Butler CC, et al. Interventions for impetigo. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2012 Jan 18;1:CD003261 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD003261.pub3] [Medline: 22258953]
- 3. Nardi NM, Schaefer TJ. Impetigo. Treasure Island, FL: StatPearls Publishing; 2021.
- 4. May PJ, Tong SYC, Steer AC, Currie BJ, Andrews RM, Carapetis JR, et al. Treatment, prevention and public health management of impetigo, scabies, crusted scabies and fungal skin infections in endemic populations: a systematic review. Trop Med Int Health 2019 Mar;24(3):280-293 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/tmi.13198] [Medline: 30582783]
- 5. Impetigo (updated Nov 30, 2018). DynaMed. Ipswich, MA: EBSCO Information Services; 1995. URL: <u>https://www.dynamed.com/condition/impetigo</u> [accessed 2021-10-30]

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 07.09.21; peer-reviewed by J Solomon, F Wallnöfer; comments to author 21.10.21; revised version received 31.10.21; accepted 22.11.21; published 03.12.21.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Oganesyan A, Sivesind T, Dellavalle R From the Cochrane Library: Interventions for Impetigo JMIR Dermatol 2021;4(2):e33433 URL: <u>https://derma.jmir.org/2021/2/e33433</u> doi:<u>10.2196/33433</u> PMID:<u>27633120</u>

©Ani Oganesyan, Torunn Sivesind, Robert Dellavalle. Originally published in JMIR Dermatology (http://derma.jmir.org), 03.12.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Dermatology Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://derma.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



## Research Letter

## From the Cochrane Library: Topical Treatments for Cutaneous Warts

Ani Oganesyan<sup>1</sup>, BA; Torunn Sivesind<sup>1</sup>, MD; Robert Dellavalle<sup>1,2</sup>, MD, PhD

<sup>1</sup>Department of Dermatology, University of Colorado School of Medicine, Aurora, CO, United States <sup>2</sup>Department of Dermatology, Rocky Mountain Regional VA Medical Center, Aurora, CO, United States

**Corresponding Author:** 

Ani Oganesyan, BA Department of Dermatology University of Colorado School of Medicine 13001 E 17th Place Aurora, CO, 80045 United States Phone: 1 818 441 6860 Email: ani.oganesyan@cuanschutz.edu

(JMIR Dermatol 2021;4(2):e33900) doi:10.2196/33900

## **KEYWORDS**

cutaneous wart; plantar wart; topical treatment; papillomavirus infections; evidence-based medicine; wart; treatment; disease management; dermatology

## Research Letter

Below is the body of our research letter. There is no associated abstract due to the nature of our submission.

Cutaneous warts (CWs) are common infections caused by human papillomavirus (HPV) that affect children and young adults. The treatment of CWs aims to relieve associated pain, functional impairment, and psychological discomfort. Lack of data supporting any single curative treatment for the diverse cutaneous manifestations of HPV has created a challenge for healthcare providers in recommending the "most effective" first-line therapy. A 2012 Cochrane Review, "Topical Treatments for Cutaneous Warts," evaluated treatment outcomes for extra-genital warts in healthy, immunocompetent adults and children, and provides valuable guidance in treatment selection [1].

This analysis [1] compared therapeutic outcomes – namely, cure and decreased incidence of recurrence -- from 85 RCTs (8,815 participants) and reported that salicylic acid (SA) significantly increased the clearance of warts compared to placebo. Data from a meta - analysis of cryotherapy favored neither intervention nor placebo. Aggressive cryotherapy was more effective than gentle cryotherapy, but with adverse effects such as pain, blistering, and scarring. Metanalysis did not demonstrate a significant difference in effectiveness between cryotherapy and SA, but suggested that combined SA and was more effective than SA cryotherapy alone. Dinitrochlorobenzene was twice as effective as placebo. One study demonstrated local hyperthermia was more effective than

RenderX

placebo in the treatment of plantar warts, but further investigation is necessary to validate these results. Trials of clear duct tape demonstrated no advantage over placebo. Evidence regarding bleomycin was inconsistent. 5-fluorouracil (5-FU) was found to be effective in the treatment of cutaneous warts; however, due to its high side effect profile, its utility is limited to that of refractory cases and elimination of neoplastic lesions. The results of the treatment comparisons are summarized in Table 1.

Notable limitations of this review were that it did not identify RCTs evaluating surgery, formaldehyde, podophyllotoxin, cantharidin, or topical immunotherapy. Furthermore, there was insufficient data to evaluate the use of 80% phenol, 5% imiquimod cream, intralesional antigen, and topical alpha - lactalbumin - oleic acid and cantharidin, when not coupled with SA. While there are limited RCTs evaluating the efficacy of intralesional candida antigen, existing studies suggest it's a viable option in clinical settings and may be particularly helpful in cases nonresponsive to traditional treatment modalities. To provide guidance for the use of these potentially harmful second-line treatments and better characterize efficacy of first-line agents, additional studies with standard end points are necessary.

Recent data supports the successful treatment of small, new-onset warts with SA and cryotherapy, largely due to their safety and simplicity. Regarding recurrent and extensive warts, immunotherapy was shown to be a promising approach to clearing injected warts and those at sites distant to the initial intralesional injection [2-4]. A study [5] comparing

immunotherapy to cryotherapy found the former yielded a better therapeutic response with fewer sessions. However, given the novelty of intralesional immunotherapy, further RCTs are needed to compare intralesional immunotherapy options and the associated adverse effects. Lastly, quality of life outcomes associated with each treatment have yet to be determined. Management of warts continues to be a challenge; however, evidence remains strongest for SA and cryotherapy as the safest, most effective initial therapies [1].

Table 1.	Treatment	comparison	with	respective	results,	risk ratio,	and CI.
----------	-----------	------------	------	------------	----------	-------------	---------

Comparison	Result	Risk ratio (95% CI)
SA <sup>a</sup> vs placebo for all sites	SA was superior	1.56 (1.20-2.03)
SA vs placebo for hand sites	SA was superior	2.67 (1.43-5.01)
SA vs placebo for plantar sites	SA was superior	1.29 (1.07-1.55)
Cryotherapy vs placebo for warts at all sites	Neither intervention nor control was favored	1.45 (0.65-3.23)
Cryotherapy vs placebo for hand sites	Neither intervention nor control was favored	2.63 (0.43-15.94)
Cryotherapy vs placebo for plantar sites	Neither intervention nor control was favored	0.90 (0.26-3.07)
Aggressive cryotherapy vs gentle cryotherapy	Aggressive cryotherapy was superior	1.90 (1.15-3.15)
SA and cryotherapy combined vs SA alone	SA and cryotherapy combined was superior	1.24 (1.07-1.43)
Intralesional bleomycin vs saline injections	No significant difference	1.28 (0.92-1.78)
Dinitrochlorobenzene vs placebo	Dinitrochlorobenzene was superior	2.12 (1.38-3.26)
Clear duct tape vs placebo	Neither intervention nor control was favored	1.43 (0.51-4.05)

<sup>a</sup>SA: salicylic acid.

The notable limitations of this review were that it did not identify evaluating formaldehyde, **RCTs** surgery, podophyllotoxin, cantharidin, or topical immunotherapy. Furthermore, there was insufficient data to evaluate the use of 80% phenol, 5% imiquimod cream, intralesional antigen, and topical alpha - lactalbumin - oleic acid and cantharidin, when not coupled with SA. Although there are limited RCTs evaluating the efficacy of intralesional candida antigen, existing studies suggest it is a viable option in clinical settings and may be particularly helpful in cases nonresponsive to traditional treatment modalities. To provide guidance for the use of these potentially harmful second-line treatments and better characterize the efficacy of first-line agents, additional studies with standard end points are necessary.

Recent data support the successful treatment of small, new-onset warts with SA and cryotherapy, largely due to their safety and simplicity. Regarding recurrent and extensive warts, immunotherapy was shown to be a promising approach to clearing injected warts and those at sites distant to the initial intralesional injection [2-4]. A study [5] comparing immunotherapy to cryotherapy found the former yielded a better therapeutic response with fewer sessions. However, given the novelty of intralesional immunotherapy, further RCTs are needed to compare intralesional immunotherapy options and the associated adverse effects. Lastly, quality of life outcomes associated with each treatment have yet to be determined. Management of warts continues to be a challenge; however, evidence remains strongest for SA and cryotherapy as the safest most effective initial therapies [1].

## Acknowledgments

RD receives editorial stipends (Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology, Journal of Investigative Dermatology), royalties (UpToDate), and expense reimbursement from Cochrane Skin. TS receives fellowship funding from the Pfizer Global Medical Grant (58858477) Dermatology Fellowship 2020 (PI: RD) and fees for serving on the Medical Advisory Board of Antedotum Inc.

## **Editorial Notice**

The views expressed in this paper are those of the authors and in no way represent the Cochrane Library or Wiley. This article is based on a Cochrane Review previously published in the Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2019, Issue 9, DOI:10.1002/14651858.CD001781.pub3 (see www.cochranelibrary.com for information). Cochrane Reviews are regularly updated as new evidence emerges and in response to feedback, and Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews should be consulted for the most recent version of the review.

## **Conflicts of Interest**

RD is Editor-in-Chief of *JMIR Dermatology*, a Joint Coordinating Editor for *Cochrane Skin*, a dermatology section editor for *UpToDate*, a Social Media Editor for the *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology*, and a Podcast Editor for the *Journal* 

of Investigative Dermatology. He is a coordinating editor representative on Cochrane Council. TS is an Editorial Board Member-at-Large for JMIR Dermatology.

## References

- Kwok CS, Gibbs S, Bennett C, Holland R, Abbott R. Topical treatments for cutaneous warts. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2012 Sep 12(9):CD001781. [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD001781.pub3] [Medline: 22972052]
- 2. Abeck D, Tetsch L, Lüftl M, Biedermann T. Extragenital cutaneous warts clinical presentation, diagnosis and treatment. J Dtsch Dermatol Ges 2019 Jun;17(6):613-634. [doi: 10.1111/ddg.13878] [Medline: 31241843]
- 3. Ockenfels HM. Therapeutic management of cutaneous and genital warts. J Dtsch Dermatol Ges 2016 Sep;14(9):892-899. [doi: 10.1111/dg.12838] [Medline: 27607030]
- 4. Fields JR, Saikaly SK, Schoch JJ. Intralesional immunotherapy for pediatric warts: a review. Pediatr Dermatol 2020 Mar;37(2):265-271. [doi: 10.1111/pde.14094] [Medline: 31930595]
- Khozeimeh F, Jabbari Azad F, Mahboubi Oskouei Y, Jafari M, Tehranian S, Alizadehsani R, et al. Intralesional immunotherapy compared to cryotherapy in the treatment of warts. Int J Dermatol 2017 Apr;56(4):474-478. [doi: 10.1111/ijd.13535] [Medline: 28108992]

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 28.09.21; peer-reviewed by H Shakshouk, XH Gao; comments to author 17.11.21; revised version received 23.11.21; accepted 23.11.21; published 14.12.21.

#### Please cite as:

Oganesyan A, Sivesind T, Dellavalle R From the Cochrane Library: Topical Treatments for Cutaneous Warts JMIR Dermatol 2021;4(2):e33900 URL: https://derma.jmir.org/2021/2/e33900 doi:10.2196/33900 PMID:<u>37632858</u>

©Ani Oganesyan, Torunn Sivesind, Robert Dellavalle. Originally published in JMIR Dermatology (http://derma.jmir.org), 14.12.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Dermatology Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://derma.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



## **Review**

# Trends in Hidradenitis Suppurativa Disease Severity and Quality of Life Outcome Measures: Scoping Review

Jalal Maghfour<sup>1\*</sup>, MD; Torunn Elise Sivesind<sup>2\*</sup>, BS, MD; Robert Paul Dellavalle<sup>2,3</sup>, MSPH, PhD, MD; Cory Dunnick<sup>2</sup>, MD

<sup>1</sup>Department of Dermatology, Henry Ford Hospital, Detroit, MI, United States

<sup>2</sup>Department of Dermatology, University of Colorado School of Medicine, Aurora, CO, United States

\*these authors contributed equally

## **Corresponding Author:**

Cory Dunnick, MD Department of Dermatology University of Colorado School of Medicine 1665 Aurora Ct Aurora, CO, 80045 United States Phone: 1 7208480500 Email: cory.dunnick@cuanschutz.edu

## Abstract

**Background:** Although there has been an increase in the number of randomized controlled trials evaluating treatment efficacy for hidradenitis suppurativa (HS), instrument measurements of disease severity and quality of life (QoL) are varied, making the compilation of data and comparisons between studies a challenge for clinicians.

**Objective:** We aimed to perform a systematic literature search to examine the recent trends in the use of disease severity and QoL outcome instruments in randomized controlled trials that have been conducted on patients with HS.

**Methods:** A scoping review was conducted in February 2021. The PubMed, Embase, Web of Science, and Cochrane databases were used to identify all articles published from January 1964 to February 2021. In total, 41 articles were included in this systematic review.

**Results:** The HS Clinical Response (HiSCR) score (18/41, 44%) was the most commonly used instrument for disease severity, followed by the Sartorius and Modified Sartorius scales (combined: 16/41, 39%). The Dermatology Life Quality Index (18/41, 44%) and visual analogue pain scales (12/41, 29%) were the most commonly used QoL outcome instruments in HS research.

**Conclusions:** Randomized controlled trials conducted from 2013 onward commonly used the validated HiSCR score, while older studies were more heterogeneous and less likely to use a validated scale. A few (6/18, 33%) QoL measures were validated instruments but were not specific to HS; therefore, they may not be representative of all factors that impact patients with HS.

Trial Registration:National Institute of Health Research PROSPERO CRD42020209582;https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?ID=CRD42020209582

(JMIR Dermatol 2021;4(2):e27869) doi:10.2196/27869

## **KEYWORDS**

hidradenitis suppurativa; severity of illness index; patient-reported outcome measures; quality of life; treatment outcome; illness index; patient outcomes; disease severity; Sartorius; dermatology; treatment interventions

## Introduction

Hidradenitis suppurativa (HS) is a debilitating chronic inflammatory condition that most commonly involves the axilla, inframammary, inguinal, and anogenital regions [1]. HS is characterized by inflamed nodules that generally progress to

```
https://derma.jmir.org/2021/2/e27869
```

RenderX

painful abscesses, sinus tracts, fibrosis, and scarring [2]. HS has been shown to be associated with the increased incidence of metabolic, autoimmune, and psychosocial comorbidities [2]. Although it has been historically difficult to ascertain the exact prevalence of the disease due to underdiagnosis and variations in the estimates among epidemiologic studies, a recent

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Dermatology Service, Rocky Mountain Regional Veterans Affairs Medical Center, Aurora, CO, United States

meta-analysis [3] estimated a worldwide prevalence of 0.3% (range 0.2%-0.6%).

Despite the burden of the disease, the treatment of HS is heterogeneous, and effective management has proven difficult; however, new therapies are under investigation. Randomized controlled trials (RCTs) that are investigating these new therapies have used various instruments to quantify HS disease severity and its impact on patients' quality of life (QoL).

It is well established that HS results in significant emotional, social, and psychological burdens on patients [4]. Recent studies have reported on the increased prevalence of anxiety, depression, and suicidality among patients with HS [5]. These psychological conditions are indicative of a poor QoL [6] and highlight the importance of incorporating patient-focused outcome measures in HS research. Both the US Federal Drug Administration and European Medicines Agency have recommended the evidence-based use of patient-reported outcome measures (PROMs) in clinical trials and have emphasized their importance [7]. PROMs are particularly important in chronic debilitating skin diseases, such as HS. In HS research, RCTs have reported objective and subjective outcomes via a diverse assortment of scales and questionnaires, making the compilation of data and comparisons between studies quite difficult. A previously published study identified 30 different outcome instruments in HS research [8] and found that nearly 90% of these instruments had not been validated. Given the role of clinical research in providing evidence to inform clinical decision-making, the standardization of outcome measures is crucial to enabling data comparisons between studies.

The purpose of this study was to investigate trends in disease severity scales and QoL instruments that were used in HS-related RCTs conducted between January 1964 and February 2021 via a systematic search of the literature.

## Methods

A scoping review of the literature was conducted in February 2021 by using the following four databases: PubMed, Embase,

Web of Science, and Cochrane. To ensure transparency and reproducibility, the literature search was conducted according to the framework established by the PRISMA (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses) reporting guidelines [9] and was prospectively registered with PROSPERO. The key search terms were *Hidradenitis* Suppurativa, acne inversa, randomized controlled trial, RCT, quality of life, QoL, QOL, patient reported outcome measures, PROM, HS severity, severity of HS, Sartorius scale, Hurley stage, and severity of illness index. Detailed search results are included in Multimedia Appendix 1.

This scoping review included published RCTs that reported disease severity, QoL, or both. Secondary articles (eg, reviews and meta-analyses), case reports and case series, cohort studies, letters to editors, commentaries, and in vivo and in vitro experimental studies were excluded. Two reviewers (JM and TS) independently screened articles to include those that met the defined inclusion criteria, were written in English, and were available as full texts. In total, 111 articles were excluded during title and abstract screening for the following reasons: (1) a non-RCT study design (eg, cohort studies, observational studies, reviews, letters), (2) insufficient data, (3) articles written in languages other than English, and (4) articles that were unavailable in a full-text format. An additional 19 studies were excluded after careful review due to the lack of reporting on disease severity and QoL outcome measures.

## Results

## **Summary of Articles**

A total of 171 nonduplicated reports were identified; 60 articles underwent a full-text review, and a total of 41 studies [10-50] were included in this review (Figure 1). For each included RCT, the level of evidence was rated according to the evidence levels established by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine [51].



#### Maghfour et al

Figure 1. The search process is depicted by using a flow diagram that was adapted from the PRISMA (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses) guidelines.



## **Data Extraction**

The following data were extracted: (1) the proportion of RCTs that used disease severity indices or QoL outcome instruments, (2) the total number of and the frequency of use of disease severity scales, and (3) the total number of and the frequency of use of QoL outcome measures.

## **Study Characteristics**

A total of 41 RCTs that were published between 1986 and 2021 were identified; these accounted for a total of 3235 participants. The appraisal of studies via the methods outlined by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine evidence ratings scheme was performed; 17 RCTs qualified as level 1b studies, while the remaining 24 studies were level 2b studies. Summary information for the characteristics of the included studies, including evidence levels, is available in Multimedia Appendix 2. Of the 41 included RCTs, 38 (93%) used disease severity outcome measures, and of these 38 RCTs, 30 (79%) used more than 1 scale to assess disease severity. Additionally, 30 of the 41 studies (73%) included QoL measures; of these 30 studies, 20 studies (67%) assessed more than 1 QoL measure.

## **Disease Severity Outcome Measures**

A total of 25 disease severity outcome measures were identified in this review. The HS Clinical Response (HiSCR) score (19/41, 46%) was the most common instrument used in HS clinical research. HiSCR score use increased from the year 2012 onward. Of the 27 RCTs published since 2012, 18 (67%) used the HiSCR score as an outcome measure (Table 1).

The Sartorius Scale and its modified version—the Modified Sartorius Scale (MSS), which was denoted by some authors as the *Hidradenitis Suppurativa Lesion, Area, Severity Index* (HS-LASI; Sartorius Scale: 7/41, 17%; MSS: 9/41, 22%)—were the second most frequently used instruments for disease severity assessment. The Physician Global Assessment (PGA; 8/41, 20%) was the third most commonly used instrument for disease severity. Only 5 of the 41 RCTs (12%) used the PGA scale that was specific to HS (also known as the HS-PGA). The Hurley stage was primarily used to stratify patients' disease severity prior to enrollment; only 3 studies incorporated the Hurley stage as an outcome measure. A recently developed and validated HS outcome measure—the International HS Severity Scoring System (IHS4)—was identified in a single RCT that was published in 2021 [50].

There were several studies that used inflammatory markers, including C-reactive protein levels, erythrocyte sedimentation rates, and cytokine profiles (7/41, 17%). Further, 1 RCT used noninvasive sonographic imaging to evaluate lesion depth and vascularity (Table 2).



Table 1. The frequency and proportion of disease severity outcome measures.

Disease severity outcome instrument	Studies, n (%)
Hidradenitis Suppurativa Clinical Response <sup>a</sup>	18 (44)
Modified Sartorius Scale <sup>a</sup> ; Hidradenitis Suppurativa Lesion, Area, Severity Index; and Modified Hidradenitis Suppurativa Lesion, Area, Severity Index	9 (22)
Physician Global Assessment and evaluation	8 (20)
Sartorius Scale	7 (17)
Hidradenitis Suppurativa Physician Global Assessment <sup>a</sup>	5 (12)
Adverse events	5 (12)
Hurley stage	5 (12)
Abscess and nodule count	5 (12)
Mean improvement in abscesses, fistulae, and nodules	3 (7)
Recurrence	2 (5)
Hidradenitis Suppurativa Severity Index	2 (5)
Time to hidradenitis suppurativa exacerbation	2 (5)
Histological changes	2 (5)
International Hidradenitis Suppurativa Severity Scoring System <sup>a</sup>	1 (2)
Disease Activity Score (visual analogue scale)	1 (2)
Wound healing	1 (2)
Incidence of hidradenitis suppurativa flare	1 (2)
Manchester postinflammatory scar scoring	1 (2)
Hair follicle count	1 (2)
Average number of days to lesion resolution	1 (2)
Investigator and physician assessment	1 (2)

<sup>a</sup>A validated hidradenitis suppurativa scale.

 Table 2. Laboratory and noninvasive imaging as outcome measures of disease severity.

Diagnostic and inflammatory markers as outcome measures	Studies, n (%)
C-reactive protein	5 (12)
Erythrocyte sedimentation rate	1 (2)
Cytokine profile	1 (2)
Ultrasound findings (eg, vascularity and the depth of lesions)	1 (2)

## **QoL Outcome Measures**

A total of 18 QoL outcome instruments were identified. These are summarized in Table 3.

The Dermatology Life Quality Index (DLQI) was the most common patient-centered outcome reported in this review (18/41, 44%). A total of 17 studies assessed participants' pain. Pain was primarily measured by using a visual analogue scale (11/41, 27%) or a numerical ranking (6/41, 15%), although 1 study used the HS-related skin pain scale. In total, 5 of the 41 studies (12%) used the Patient/Participant Global Self-Assessment, which measures various parameters, including pain, pruritus, and disease burden. Patients' satisfaction with treatment was assessed in 4 of the 41 studies (10%), and 3 RCTs used the Workers Productivity and Impairment Activity Index-Specific Health Problem (WPAI-SHP). Psychological distress was assessed by 2 of the 41 studies (5%), which incorporated the 9-question Patient Health Questionnaire-9 (PHQ-9) depressive symptom scale as a PROM, and by 1 study that used the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HADS). The European Qol-5 Dimension (EQ-5D), which includes a domain for the assessment of anxiety and depression, was used in 1 RCT.

XSL•FO

 Table 3. Frequency and proportion of quality of life outcome measures.

QoL instrument	Frequency of use in studies, n (%)
Dermatology Life Quality Index <sup>a</sup>	18 (60)
Pain using a visual analogue scale	12 (37)
Pain using a numeric rating scale	6 (20)
Patient/Participant Global Assessment and evaluation	6 (20)
Patient satisfaction	4 (10)
Workers Productivity and Impairment Activity Index-Specific Health Problem <sup>a</sup>	3 (10)
Self-reported pruritus	2 (7)
Patient Health Questionnaire-9 <sup>a</sup>	2 (7)
European Quality of Life-5 Dimension <sup>a</sup>	1 (3)
Hidradenitis suppurativa-related skin pain	1 (3)
Patient's overall disease severity and impression (visual analogue scale)	1 (3)
Treatment Satisfaction Questionnaire for Medication <sup>a</sup>	1 (3)
Number of self-reported hidradenitis suppurativa flares	1 (3)
Soreness (visual analogue scale)	1 (3)
Self-assessment of disease burden	1 (3)
Hidradenitis suppurativa-related impairment of general health using a visual analogue scale	1 (3)
Change in the number of daily dressings per week	1 (3)
Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale <sup>a</sup>	1 (3)

<sup>a</sup>A validated quality of life outcome instrument.

## Discussion

## **Principal Findings**

HS continues to represent a disease management challenge and result in a substantial disease burden for patients [2]. Our review of 41 RCTs (published in English) identified 25 disease severity measurements (Tables 1 and 2) and 18 QoL instrument scales (Table 3). Overall, we identified a diverse assortment of outcome measures, which may indicate a barrier to their synthesis and translation into clinical practice.

With regard to the validity of the outcome measures identified in our review, both the HS-PGA and HiSCR score have been shown to be valid assessments, with HiSCR being the most extensively validated outcome measure in published RCTs. The two most commonly reported disease severity scales in our study—the HiSCR score and the Sartorius Scale and MSS—differ substantially in their approaches and frames of reference; the HiSCR assesses clinical responses from baseline (namely, a reduction in inflammatory lesion count), and the Sartorius Scale and MSS assess the extent of HS inflammation by counting anatomic regions and the types and numbers of lesions.

The HiSCR score was the only validated scoring system that appeared in the studies reviewed (all reviewed articles: 18/41, 44%; articles reporting disease severity as an outcome: 18/38, 47%), making it the most commonly used validated scale in HS research. The HiSCR score is a validated scoring system that

```
https://derma.jmir.org/2021/2/e27869
```

is used to evaluate treatment response, and it has been shown to be reliable in both clinical research and daily practice [24]. Although the minimal clinically important difference for HiSCR scores has not been established, a 50% reduction in the total abscess and nodule count appears to be meaningful to both patients and physicians [33].

Although only 5 RCTs used the HS-PGA, it is important to highlight that it is considered to be a relatively easy scoring system that assesses treatment efficacy in clinical research. Similar to the HiSCR score, it is a dynamic outcome instrument that can be used to monitor disease progression [52]. However, compared to the HiSCR score, the HS-PGA has a lower sensitivity for rapidly identifying changes in HS-specific lesions. For instance, some patients with severe HS-specific lesions can experience clinically important improvements without achieving meaningful reductions in their HS-PGA scores [52].

The Sartorius Scale, which is widely used to assess clinical responses to treatment based on the involved anatomical regions and the number and type of lesions involved (nodules, fistulae, and abscesses), the distance between lesions, and whether normal skin exists between lesions, poses a challenge to results interpretation [53]. In addition to being only partially validated, the Sartorius Scale may be quite time consuming to administer and difficult to replicate in a busy outpatient clinic.

The MSS (or HS-LASI) represents a more streamlined version of the original Sartorius Scale; the MSS includes a reduced number of specific types of lesions and a reduced number of

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

points for each parameter [54]. Although it is simpler than the traditional Sartorius Scale, the MSS (or HS-LASI) remains time-consuming and difficult to interpret in the context of assessing coalescing and large lesions. In this review, we identified 2 RCTs that used the HS-LASI scale [22,27], whereas 11 RCTs used a combination of both the MSS and the traditional Sartorius Scale. The overlap in the naming and content of the Sartorius Scale and its variants, such as the MSS and HS-LASI, can hinder meaningful comparisons between studies and thus create challenges in interpreting data and making informed clinical decisions.

In 2016, Ingram et al [8] found that 90% of outcome measures that are used in HS research are not validated; however, the research landscape appears to be changing. We found that RCTs published from 2014 onward were more likely to use the validated HiSCR scale, while older studies used more diverse outcome measures, of which many had low interobserver reliability [55], and were less likely to have used a validated scale. In 2018, the HS ALLIANCE working group highlighted the need to incorporate validated outcome measures and PROMs in HS research [56]. In 2017, the members of the European HS Foundation demonstrated the validity of a novel instrument-the IHS4 [57]. The IHS4 has been shown to be a dynamic instrument for assessing HS severity and is applicable to both clinical research and daily clinical practice [57]. We found a single, recent RCT (published in 2021) that used the IHS4 as an outcome measure [50].

As with instruments of disease severity assessment, patient-reported QoL measures demonstrate significant heterogeneity and are generally nonspecific [57]. Although the majority of articles (30/41, 73%) discussed the impact of HS on patients' lives, the instruments that were used remain inadequate for capturing the overall impact of disease burden on patients. Of all of the QoL instruments identified in this review, the DLQI appeared in 44% (18/41) of RCTs, making it the most commonly used patient-centered instrument in HS research. The DLQI is a validated instrument that is widely used for an array of dermatologic conditions, such as psoriasis and atopic dermatitis, but is not specific to HS.

In addition to QoL instruments, specific outcomes pertaining to pain assessment are needed. Although the visual analogue pain scale has been validated in clinical research, it is not specific to HS. Despite various treatment options, a recent survey study revealed that inadequate pain management is perceived as an unmet need by both patients and health care providers [58]. Given that pain is associated with psychosocial comorbidities [34], it is essential to develop specific core outcome scales that assess pain management and treatment responses.

In contrast to disease severity outcome measures, we identified 6 validated QoL instruments. These include the DLQI, PHQ-9, HADS, EQ-5D, WPAI-SHP, and Treatment Satisfaction Questionnaire for Medication [59]. However, these are not HS-specific QoL instruments. The emotional, social, and psychological impacts of HS on patients cannot be overstated; while QoL can be measured in various ways, the current QoL

instruments that are used in HS research may not adequately capture changes that specifically pertain to the HS population.

In 2018, the first HISTORIC (HS Core Outcomes Set International Collaboration) Delphi study [60] reached a consensus on the following five core domains that are relevant to all types of clinical research: pain, physical signs, HS-specific QoL, global assessment, and the progression of the disease course. HISTORIC Delphi also developed the HS QoL (HiSQOL) scale—an HS-specific QoL instrument [61].

Over the past several years, there has been an increased effort to develop validated, HS-specific QoL outcome instruments, including the aforementioned HiSQOL scale, the HIDRAdisk, and the 44-item HS-QoL questionnaire [61-64]. Promising HS-specific QoL instruments such as these may soon be incorporated in future clinical trial outcome measurements.

Kimball et al [65] introduced the following two specific questionnaires in 2018: the HS Symptom Assessment (HSSA) and the HS Impact Assessment (HSIA). Both the HSSA and HSIA are validated instruments and are considered to be reliable tools for assessing symptoms and the efficacy of HS treatment. We identified no RCTs that used these two instruments for the evaluation of therapeutic interventions for HS.

Ongoing research may soon allow for new technologies to supplement the clinical assessment of HS lesion severity, which relies, in part, on manual palpation–noninvasive imaging techniques such as medial infrared thermography, and may soon aid in the evaluation of disease state and treatment response [66]. The broader adoption of standardized, validated QoL and disease severity measurement tools may allow for the better assessment of the overall impact of disease burden on patients, including the effect of HS on mental health [65], which, in our review, was not well characterized by the limited patient outcome measures reported.

## Limitations

The limitations of this review include that it was restricted to published RCTs and that it excluded other types of publications, such as cohort studies, case control studies and case series, and ongoing or current clinical trials, that may provide further insight. We chose to include RCTs exclusively, as it was a priority to assess evidence of the highest level. It is unclear if other studies with less rigorous methods have similar trends in reporting disease severity and QoL outcome measures—an area that remains open for further follow-up studies. None of the included studies in this review involved pediatric participants; therefore, the trends in outcome measures that we identified may not be applicable to this population group. In addition, this review did not explore the utility of HS interventions and therefore cannot add to the body of knowledge regarding treatment efficacy in HS.

## Conclusion

This review highlights the heterogeneity of outcome measures that are used in RCTs to assess disease severity and QoL for patients with HS. Among the 41 English RCTs published from 1964 to 2021, the HiSCR score remained the predominant outcome instrument that was used to assess HS disease severity.



XSI•FC

The IHS4, which is representative of an expanding number of validated disease severity outcome measures, was used in only 1 RCT among those published from 1964 to 2021. Patient QoL measures remain central to evaluating disease impact and the degree of improvement for patients in clinical studies. PROMs are gaining importance in clinical research and are strongly supported by guidance from both the US Federal Drug

Administration and European Medicines Agency. Recently developed instruments with proven validity, such as the HSSA, HSIA, and HiSQOL scale, represent advancements in measuring the QoL outcomes of HS. Our findings underscore the need for standardized outcome measures that are essential for comparability among studies and the improved quality of research evidence.

## **Conflicts of Interest**

RPD is a joint coordinating editor for *Cochrane Skin*, the editor in chief of *JMIR Dermatology*, a dermatology section editor for *UpToDate*, a social media editor for the *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology*, and a podcast editor for the *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*. He is a coordinating editor representative on the *Cochrane Council*. TES serves on the editorial board of *JMIR Dermatology*. RPD receives editorial stipends (*Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology* and *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*, royalties (*UpToDate*), and expense reimbursements from *Cochrane Skin*. TES receives fellowship funding from the Pfizer Global Medical Grant (grant 58858477) Dermatology Fellowship 2020 (principal investigator: RPD) and serves as a medical advisor and principal investigator for Antedotum Inc. CD serves as a reviewer for *JMIR*, but had no role in the review of this article. He has participated in clinical trials for Pfizer, Arcutis, Target Pharmaceuticals, ArgenX, Amgen, AbbVie, and Kyowa, but none of these trials are related to the topic of this paper, hidradenitis suppurativa. All study related reimbursement were paid directly to the University of Colorado.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Search strategies. [XLSX File (Microsoft Excel File), 21 KB - derma\_v4i2e27869\_app1.xlsx ]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Study characteristics and evidence levels. [XLSX File (Microsoft Excel File), 14 KB - derma\_v4i2e27869\_app2.xlsx]

## References

- Tchero H, Herlin C, Bekara F, Fluieraru S, Teot L. Hidradenitis suppurativa: A systematic review and meta-analysis of therapeutic interventions. Indian J Dermatol Venereol Leprol 2019;85(3):248-257 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4103/ijdvl.IJDVL 69\_18] [Medline: 30924446]
- Marvel J, Vlahiotis A, Sainski-Nguyen A, Willson T, Kimball A. Disease burden and cost of hidradenitis suppurativa: a retrospective examination of US administrative claims data. BMJ Open 2019 Sep 30;9(9):e030579 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2019-030579] [Medline: 31575575]
- 3. Phan K, Charlton O, Smith SD. Global prevalence of hidradenitis suppurativa and geographical variation—systematic review and meta-analysis. Biomedical Dermatology 2020 Jan 04;4(1):1-6. [doi: 10.1186/s41702-019-0052-0]
- 4. Dufour DN, Emtestam L, Jemec GB. Hidradenitis suppurativa: a common and burdensome, yet under-recognised, inflammatory skin disease. Postgrad Med J 2014 Apr;90(1062):216-221; quiz 220 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/postgradmedj-2013-131994] [Medline: 24567417]
- 5. Misitzis A, Goldust M, Jafferany M, Lotti T. Psychiatric comorbidities in patients with hidradenitis suppurativa. Dermatol Ther 2020 Jul;33(4):e13541. [doi: 10.1111/dth.13541] [Medline: 32385861]
- 6. Weigelt MA, Milrad SF, Kirby JRS, Lev-Tov H. Psychosocial impact of hidradenitis suppurativa: a practical guide for clinicians. J Dermatolog Treat 2021 Jun 14:1-8. [doi: 10.1080/09546634.2021.1937483] [Medline: 34060964]
- Bottomley A, Jones D, Claassens L. Patient-reported outcomes: assessment and current perspectives of the guidelines of the Food and Drug Administration and the reflection paper of the European Medicines Agency. Eur J Cancer 2009 Feb;45(3):347-353. [doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2008.09.032] [Medline: 19013787]
- Ingram JR, Hadjieconomou S, Piguet V. Development of core outcome sets in hidradenitis suppurativa: systematic review of outcome measure instruments to inform the process. Br J Dermatol 2016 Aug;175(2):263-272. [doi: <u>10.1111/bjd.14475</u>] [Medline: <u>26873867</u>]
- Liberati A, Altman DG, Tetzlaff J, Mulrow C, Gøtzsche PC, Ioannidis JPA, et al. The PRISMA statement for reporting systematic reviews and meta-analyses of studies that evaluate healthcare interventions: explanation and elaboration. BMJ 2009 Jul 21;339:b2700 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.b2700] [Medline: 19622552]
- Mortimer PS, Dawber RP, Gales MA, Moore RA. A double-blind controlled cross-over trial of cyproterone acetate in females with hidradenitis suppurativa. Br J Dermatol 1986 Sep;115(3):263-268. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1365-2133.1986.tb05740.x</u>] [Medline: <u>2944534</u>]

- Miller I, Lynggaard CD, Lophaven S, Zachariae C, Dufour DN, Jemec GBE. A double-blind placebo-controlled randomized trial of adalimumab in the treatment of hidradenitis suppurativa. Br J Dermatol 2011 Aug;165(2):391-298. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2133.2011.10339.x] [Medline: 21457202]
- 12. Lee RA, Dommasch E, Treat J, Sciacca-Kirby J, Chachkin S, Williams J, et al. A prospective clinical trial of open-label etanercept for the treatment of hidradenitis suppurativa. J Am Acad Dermatol 2009 Apr;60(4):565-573 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2008.11.898] [Medline: 19185954]
- Yildiz H, Senol L, Ercan E, Bilgili ME, Abuaf OK. A prospective randomized controlled trial assessing the efficacy of adjunctive hyperbaric oxygen therapy in the treatment of hidradenitis suppurativa. Int J Dermatol 2016 Feb;55(2):232-237. [doi: <u>10.1111/ijd.12936</u>] [Medline: <u>26267600</u>]
- Kimball AB, Kerdel F, Adams D, Mrowietz U, Gelfand JM, Gniadecki R, et al. Adalimumab for the treatment of moderate to severe Hidradenitis suppurativa: a parallel randomized trial. Ann Intern Med 2012 Dec 18;157(12):846-855. [doi: <u>10.7326/0003-4819-157-12-201212180-00004</u>] [Medline: <u>23247938</u>]
- 15. Gottlieb A, Menter A, Armstrong A, Ocampo C, Gu Y, Teixeira HD. Adalimumab treatment in women with moderate-to-severe hidradenitis suppurativa from the placebo-controlled portion of a phase 2, randomized, double-blind study. J Drugs Dermatol 2016 Oct 01;15(10):1192-1196. [Medline: 27741335]
- 16. Vossen ARJV, van Huijkelom MAPC, Nijsten TEC, Bakker EWP, van der Zee HH, van Doorn MBA, et al. Aggravation of mild axillary hidradenitis suppurativa by microwave ablation: Results of a randomized intrapatient-controlled trial. J Am Acad Dermatol 2019 Mar;80(3):777-779. [doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2018.06.032] [Medline: 29940205]
- 17. Giamarellos-Bourboulis EJ, Pelekanou E, Antonopoulou A, Petropoulou H, Baziaka F, Karagianni V, et al. An open-label phase II study of the safety and efficacy of etanercept for the therapy of hidradenitis suppurativa. Br J Dermatol 2008 Mar;158(3):567-572. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2133.2007.08372.x] [Medline: 18076705]
- Vossen ARJV, van Doorn MBA, van der Zee HH, Prens EP. Apremilast for moderate hidradenitis suppurativa: Results of a randomized controlled trial. J Am Acad Dermatol 2019 Jan;80(1):80-88. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jaad.2018.06.046</u>] [Medline: <u>30482392</u>]
- Grimstad Ø, Kvammen B, Swartling C. Botulinum toxin type B for hidradenitis suppurativa: A randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled pilot study. Am J Clin Dermatol 2020 Oct;21(5):741-748 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s40257-020-00537-9] [Medline: 32761500]
- 20. Azim AAA, Salem RT, Abdelghani R. Combined fractional carbon dioxide laser and long-pulsed neodymium : yttrium-aluminium-garnet (1064 nm) laser in treatment of hidradenitis suppurativa; a prospective randomized intra-individual controlled study. Int J Dermatol 2018 Sep;57(9):1135-1144. [doi: 10.1111/ijd.14075] [Medline: 29907956]
- 21. Wilden S, Friis M, Tuettenberg A, Staubach-Renz P, Wegner J, Grabbe S, et al. Combined treatment of hidradenitis suppurativa with intense pulsed light (IPL) and radiofrequency (RF). J Dermatolog Treat 2021 Aug;32(5):530-537. [doi: 10.1080/09546634.2019.1677842] [Medline: 31609667]
- Xu LY, Wright DR, Mahmoud BH, Ozog DM, Mehregan DA, Hamzavi IH. Histopathologic study of hidradenitis suppurativa following long-pulsed 1064-nm Nd:YAG laser treatment. Arch Dermatol 2011 Jan;147(1):21-28. [doi: 10.1001/archdermatol.2010.245] [Medline: 20855672]
- 23. Grant A, Gonzalez T, Montgomery MO, Cardenas V, Kerdel FA. Infliximab therapy for patients with moderate to severe hidradenitis suppurativa: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled crossover trial. J Am Acad Dermatol 2010 Feb;62(2):205-217. [doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2009.06.050] [Medline: 20115947]
- Fajgenbaum K, Crouse L, Dong L, Zeng D, Sayed C. Intralesional triamcinolone may not be beneficial for treating acute hidradenitis suppurativa lesions: A double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled trial. Dermatol Surg 2020 May;46(5):685-689. [doi: 10.1097/DSS.00000000002112] [Medline: <u>31490300</u>]
- 25. Zouboulis CC, Okun MM, Prens EP, Gniadecki R, Foley PA, Lynde C, et al. Long-term adalimumab efficacy in patients with moderate-to-severe hidradenitis suppurativa/acne inversa: 3-year results of a phase 3 open-label extension study. J Am Acad Dermatol 2019 Jan;80(1):60-69.e2. [doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2018.05.040] [Medline: 29860040]
- 26. Kanni T, Argyropoulou M, Spyridopoulos T, Pistiki A, Stecher M, Dinarello CA, et al. MABp1 targeting IL-1α for moderate to severe hidradenitis suppurativa not eligible for adalimumab: A randomized study. J Invest Dermatol 2018 Apr;138(4):795-801 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jid.2017.10.030] [Medline: 29129600]
- 27. Tierney E, Mahmoud BH, Hexsel C, Ozog D, Hamzavi I. Randomized control trial for the treatment of hidradenitis suppurativa with a neodymium-doped yttrium aluminium garnet laser. Dermatol Surg 2009 Aug;35(8):1188-1198. [doi: 10.1111/j.1524-4725.2009.01214.x] [Medline: 19438670]
- Tzanetakou V, Kanni T, Giatrakou S, Katoulis A, Papadavid E, Netea MG, et al. Safety and efficacy of anakinra in severe hidradenitis suppurativa: A randomized clinical trial. JAMA Dermatol 2016 Jan;152(1):52-59. [doi: 10.1001/jamadermatol.2015.3903] [Medline: 26579854]
- Buimer MG, Ankersmit MFP, Wobbes T, Klinkenbijl JHG. Surgical treatment of hidradenitis suppurativa with gentamicin sulfate: a prospective randomized study. Dermatol Surg 2008 Feb;34(2):224-227. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1524-4725.2007.34041.x</u>] [Medline: <u>18093197</u>]
- 30. Jemec GB, Wendelboe P. Topical clindamycin versus systemic tetracycline in the treatment of hidradenitis suppurativa. J Am Acad Dermatol 1998 Dec;39(6):971-974. [doi: 10.1016/s0190-9622(98)70272-5] [Medline: 9843011]

- 31. Adams DR, Yankura JA, Fogelberg AC, Anderson BE. Treatment of hidradenitis suppurativa with etanercept injection. Arch Dermatol 2010 May;146(5):501-504. [doi: 10.1001/archdermatol.2010.72] [Medline: 20479297]
- 32. Highton L, Chan WY, Khwaja N, Laitung JKG. Treatment of hidradenitis suppurativa with intense pulsed light: a prospective study. Plast Reconstr Surg 2011 Aug;128(2):459-466. [doi: 10.1097/PRS.0b013e31821e6fb5] [Medline: 21788837]
- Kimball AB, Okun MM, Williams DA, Gottlieb AB, Papp KA, Zouboulis CC, et al. Two phase 3 trials of adalimumab for hidradenitis suppurativa. N Engl J Med 2016 Aug 04;375(5):422-434. [doi: <u>10.1056/NEJMoa1504370</u>] [Medline: <u>27518661</u>]
- 34. Scheinfeld N, Sundaram M, Teixeira H, Gu Y, Okun M. Reduction in pain scores and improvement in depressive symptoms in patients with hidradenitis suppurativa treated with adalimumab in a phase 2, randomized, placebo-controlled trial. Dermatol Online J 2016 Mar 16;22(3):13030/qt38x5922j [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5070/d3223030360] [Medline: 27136622]
- 35. Jemec GBE, Sundaram M, Pinsky B, Shu L, Okun M, Bao Y. Adalimumab improves treatment satisfaction with medication (TS-M) in patients with moderate to severe hidradenitis suppurativa (HS) in a 12-week randomized controlled trial (PIONEER II). J Am Acad Dermatol 2015 May;72(5):AB39. [doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2015.02.167]
- 36. Kimball A, Zouboulis C, Armstrong A, Korman N, Crowley J, Lynde C, et al. Safety and efficacy of adalimumab in patients with moderate to severe hidradenitis suppurativa: Results from first 12 weeks of PIONEER I, a phase 3, randomized, placebo-controlled trial. J Am Acad Dermatol 2015 May;72(5):AB60. [doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2015.02.251]
- 37. Kimball AB, Sobell JM, Zouboulis CC, Gu Y, Williams DA, Sundaram M, et al. HiSCR (Hidradenitis Suppurativa Clinical Response): a novel clinical endpoint to evaluate therapeutic outcomes in patients with hidradenitis suppurativa from the placebo-controlled portion of a phase 2 adalimumab study. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 2016 Jun 22;30(6):989-994 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/jdv.13216] [Medline: 26201313]
- 38. Kimball A, Prens E, Bechara F. Novel anti-IL17 antibody (CJM112) reduces inflammation of hidradenitis suppurativa patients in a placebo-controlled trial. Experimental Dermatology 2019;28:33.
- Kimball AB, Jemec GBE, Brooks DM, Gu Y, Teixeira HD. Progression of hidradenitis suppurativa: Outcomes of placebo-treated patients in a phase 3, randomized, placebo-controlled trial (PIONEER II). J Am Acad Dermatol 2016 May;74(5):AB68. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jaad.2016.02.270</u>]
- 40. Armstrong A, Pinsky B, Sundaram M, Gu Y, Williams D, Bao Y. HUMIRA improves health-related quality of life (HRQoL) in patients with moderate to severe hidradenitis suppurativa (HS): results from the first 12 weeks of PIONEER I. Journal of Investigative Dermatology 2014 Sep;134:S34.
- 41. Armstrong A, Pinsky B, Sundaram M, Shu L, Okun M, Bao Y. Adalimumab improves health-related quality of life (HRQoL) in patients with moderate to severe hidradenitis suppurativa (HS): Results from the first 12 weeks of PIONEER II. J Am Acad Dermatol 2015 May;72(5):AB38. [doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2015.02.166]
- 42. Gottlieb A, Menter A, Armstrong A, Ocampo C, Gu Y, Teixeira HD. Adalimumab Treatment in Women With Moderate-to-Severe Hidradenitis Suppurativa from the Placebo-Controlled Portion of a Phase 2, Randomized, Double-Blind Study. J Drugs Dermatol 2016 Oct 01;15(10):1192-1196. [Medline: <u>27741335</u>]
- Gulliver W, Bachelez H, Paek SY, Qureshi A, Geng Z, Mulder G. Concomitant antibiotic use in patients with moderate-to-severe hidradenitis suppurativa who were treated with adalimumab or placebo in a phase 3 study (PIONEER II). J Am Acad Dermatol 2017 Jun;76(6):AB81. [doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2017.04.329]
- 44. Okun M, Yang M, Sundaram M, Gu Y. Validation of the hidradenitis suppurativa clinical response as a clinical endpoint for hidradenitis suppurativa treatment evaluation. J Am Acad Dermatol 2013 Apr;68(4):AB68. [doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2012.12.281]
- 45. Fadel MA, Tawfik AA. New topical photodynamic therapy for treatment of hidradenitis suppurativa using methylene blue niosomal gel: a single-blind, randomized, comparative study. Clin Exp Dermatol 2015 Mar;40(2):116-122. [doi: 10.1111/ced.12459] [Medline: 25262788]
- 46. Mrowietz U, Williams D, Sundaram M, Wang Y. Adalimumab improves health-related quality of life and work productivity in patients with hidradenitis suppurativa: Results from a placebo-controlled phase II trial. J Am Acad Dermatol 2012 Apr;66(4):AB42. [doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2011.11.184]
- 47. Giamarellos-Bourboulis E, Henneberg J, Otto I. IFX-1 in patients with moderate to severe hidradenitis suppurativa/acne inversa (HS): Baseline characteristics of a double-blind, randomized phase 2B dose-finding study (SHINE). Experimental Dermatology 2019;28:25-26.
- 48. Giamarellos-Bourboulis EJ, Sobell J, Ryan C, Wolkenstein PJ, Geng Z, Mulder GD. Infection-free clinical response among patients with hidradenitis suppurativa who were treated with adalimumab: Results from two phase 3 studies. Wounds 2017 Nov;29(11):E98-E102 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 29166256]
- 49. Andersen PL, Riis PT, Thorlacius L, Sigsgaard V, Nielsen CW, Chafranska L, et al. [Intense pulsed light treatment for hidradenitis suppurativa: a within-person randomized controlled trial]. Eur J Dermatol 2020 Dec 01;30(6):723-729. [doi: 10.1684/ejd.2020.3920] [Medline: 33300880]
- 50. Schultheis M, Staubach P, Nikolakis G, Grabbe S, Ruckes C, von Stebut E, et al. LAight® therapy significantly enhances treatment efficacy of 16 weeks of topical clindamycin solution in Hurley I and II hidradenitis suppurativa: Results from period A of RELIEVE, a multicenter randomized, controlled trial. Dermatology 2021 Sep 14:1-11. [doi: 10.1159/000518540] [Medline: 34535610]

```
https://derma.jmir.org/2021/2/e27869
```

- 51. Burns PB, Rohrich RJ, Chung KC. The levels of evidence and their role in evidence-based medicine. Plast Reconstr Surg 2011 Jul;128(1):305-310 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/PRS.0b013e318219c171] [Medline: 21701348]
- 52. Marzano AV, Chiricozzi A, Giovanardi G, Argenziano G, Bettoli V, Bianchi L, et al. Creation of a severity index for hidradenitis suppurativa that includes a validated quality-of-life measure: the HIDRAscore. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 2020 Aug;34(8):1815-1821 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/jdv.16328] [Medline: 32119143]
- Sartorius K, Lapins J, Emtestam L, Jemec GBE. Suggestions for uniform outcome variables when reporting treatment effects in hidradenitis suppurativa. Br J Dermatol 2003 Jul;149(1):211-213. [doi: <u>10.1046/j.1365-2133.2003.05390.x</u>] [Medline: <u>12890229</u>]
- 54. Sartorius K, Emtestam L, Jemec GBE, Lapins J. Objective scoring of hidradenitis suppurativa reflecting the role of tobacco smoking and obesity. Br J Dermatol 2009 Oct;161(4):831-839. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1365-2133.2009.09198.x</u>] [Medline: <u>19438453</u>]
- 55. Sartorius K, Killasli H, Heilborn J, Jemec GBE, Lapins J, Emtestam L. Interobserver variability of clinical scores in hidradenitis suppurativa is low. Br J Dermatol 2010 Jun;162(6):1261-1268. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2133.2010.09715.x] [Medline: 20184581]
- 56. Zouboulis CC, Bechara FG, Dickinson-Blok JL, Gulliver W, Horváth B, Hughes R, et al. Hidradenitis suppurativa/acne inversa: a practical framework for treatment optimization systematic review and recommendations from the HS ALLIANCE working group. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 2019 Jan;33(1):19-31 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/jdv.15233] [Medline: 30176066]
- 57. Zouboulis CC, Tzellos T, Kyrgidis A, Jemec GBE, Bechara FG, Giamarellos-Bourboulis EJ, European Hidradenitis Suppurativa Foundation Investigator Group. Development and validation of the International Hidradenitis Suppurativa Severity Score System (IHS4), a novel dynamic scoring system to assess HS severity. Br J Dermatol 2017 Nov;177(5):1401-1409. [doi: 10.1111/bjd.15748] [Medline: 28636793]
- 58. Willems D, Hiligsmann M, van der Zee HH, Sayed CJ, Evers SMAA. Identifying unmet care needs and important treatment attributes in the management of hidradenitis suppurativa: A qualitative interview study. Patient 2021 Aug 09:1-12 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s40271-021-00539-7] [Medline: 34368925]
- Vellaichamy G, Braunberger TL, Jones JL, Peacock A, Nahhas AF, Hamzavi IH. Patient-reported outcomes in hidradenitis suppurativa. G Ital Dermatol Venereol 2019 Apr;154(2):137-147 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.23736/S0392-0488.18.06021-2</u>] [Medline: <u>30375207</u>]
- Thorlacius L, Ingram JR, Villumsen B, Esmann S, Kirby JS, Gottlieb AB, HIdradenitis SuppuraTiva cORe outcomes set International Collaboration (HISTORIC). A core domain set for hidradenitis suppurativa trial outcomes: an international Delphi process. Br J Dermatol 2018 Sep;179(3):642-650 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/bjd.16672] [Medline: 29654696]
- 61. Zouboulis CC, Chernyshov PV. Hidradenitis suppurativa-specific, patient-reported outcome measures. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 2021 Jul;35(7):1420-1421. [doi: 10.1111/jdv.17306] [Medline: 34139050]
- 62. Peris K, Lo Schiavo A, Fabbrocini G, Dini V, Patrizi A, Fusano M, et al. HIDRAdisk: validation of an innovative visual tool to assess the burden of hidradenitis suppurativa. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 2019 Apr;33(4):766-773 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/jdv.15425] [Medline: 30633405]
- Thorlacius L, Esmann S, Miller I, Vinding G, Jemec GBE. Development of HiSQOL: A Hidradenitis Suppurativa-Specific Quality of Life Instrument. Skin Appendage Disord 2019 Jun;5(4):221-229 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1159/000496234] [Medline: 31367600]
- 64. McLellan C, Sisic M, Oon HH, Tan J. Preliminary validation of the HS-QoL: A quality-of-life measure for hidradenitis suppurativa. J Cutan Med Surg 2018;22(2):142-146. [doi: <u>10.1177/1203475417736281</u>] [Medline: <u>28992738</u>]
- 65. Kimball AB, Sundaram M, Banderas B, Foley C, Shields AL. Development and initial psychometric evaluation of patient-reported outcome questionnaires to evaluate the symptoms and impact of hidradenitis suppurativa. J Dermatolog Treat 2018 Mar;29(2):152-164. [doi: 10.1080/09546634.2017.1341614] [Medline: 28608738]
- Elkin K, Daveluy S, Avanaki K. Review of imaging technologies used in hidradenitis suppurativa. Skin Res Technol 2020 Jan;26(1):3-10. [doi: <u>10.1111/srt.12772</u>] [Medline: <u>31595571</u>]

## Abbreviations

DLQI: Dermatology Life Quality Index
EQ-5D: European Quality of Life-5 Dimension
HADS: Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale
HiSCR: Hidradenitis Suppurativa Clinical Response
HiSQOL: Hidradenitis Suppurativa Quality Of Life
HISTORIC: Hidradenitis Suppurativa Core Outcomes Set International Collaboration
HS: hidradenitis Suppurativa Impact Assessment
HSIA: Hidradenitis Suppurativa Lesion, Area, Severity Index
HSSA: Hidradenitis Suppurativa Symptom Assessment

https://derma.jmir.org/2021/2/e27869

IHS4: International Hidradenitis Suppurativa Severity Scoring System
MSS: Modified Sartorius Scale
PGA: Physician Global Assessment
PHQ-9: Patient Health Questionnaire-9
PRISMA: Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses
PROM: patient-reported outcome measure
QoL: quality of life
RCT: randomized controlled trial
WPAI-SHP: Workers Productivity and Impairment Activity Index-Specific Health Problem

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 10.02.21; peer-reviewed by J Solomon, F Gomez; comments to author 06.04.21; revised version received 04.05.21; accepted 06.09.21; published 01.10.21.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Maghfour J, Sivesind TE, Dellavalle RP, Dunnick C Trends in Hidradenitis Suppurativa Disease Severity and Quality of Life Outcome Measures: Scoping Review JMIR Dermatol 2021;4(2):e27869 URL: <u>https://derma.jmir.org/2021/2/e27869</u> doi:10.2196/27869 PMID:<u>37632807</u>

©Jalal Maghfour, Torunn Elise Sivesind, Robert Paul Dellavalle, Cory Dunnick. Originally published in JMIR Dermatology (http://derma.jmir.org), 01.10.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Dermatology Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://derma.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



**Original Paper** 

## Exploring Access to Surgical Interventions for Hidradenitis Suppurativa: Retrospective Population-Based Analysis

Alexandra Finstad<sup>1</sup>, BSc, BA; Alex Lee<sup>1</sup>, BSc; Ralph George<sup>2,3</sup>, MD; Raed Alhusayen<sup>4,5</sup>, MD, MSc

<sup>1</sup>Faculty of Medicine, University of Ottawa, Ottawa, ON, Canada

<sup>3</sup>Department of Surgery, Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce Breast Centre, St. Michael's Hospital, Toronto, ON, Canada

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Raed Alhusayen, MD, MSc Division of Dermatology Department of Medicine Sunnybrook Health Sciences Centre 2075 Bayview Avenue Toronto, ON, M4N 3M5 Canada Phone: 1 416 480 6100 ext 7243 Fax: 1 416 480 6897 Email: Raed.Alhusayen@sunnybrook.ca

## Abstract

**Background:** Hidradenitis suppurativa (HS) is a painful inflammatory disorder that confers significant distress to patients, with surgery as an integral treatment modality.

**Objective:** To inform improvements in care, patterns in HS surgery were assessed.

**Methods:** A retrospective population-based analysis was performed on Ontario billing claims for HS surgery across a period of 10 years from January 1, 2008 to December 31, 2017. HS surgery was defined as the excision of inguinal, perineal, or axillary skin and sweat glands for hidradenitis. The top 5 billing specialties, including general and plastic surgery, were analyzed. The total number of procedures performed as well as the number performed per physician were investigated. Patient and physician locations were compared.

**Results:** A total of 7195 claims for the excision of inguinal, perineal, or axillary skin and sweat glands for HS were submitted across the study period. Annual HS surgery claims showed an increasing trend across 10 years, ranging between 4.9 and 5.8 per 100,000 population. However, overall, for every additional year, the number of claims per 100,000 population only increased slightly, by 0.03 claims. The number of providers steadily decreased, ranging between 1.7 and 1.9 per 100,000, with approximately twice as many general than plastic surgeons. However, again overall, for every additional year, the number of providers per 100,000 population decreased slightly, by 0.002 physicians. The mean annual number of procedures per physician rose from 2.8 to 3.1. In rural areas, analyzed per claim, general surgeons performed the majority of surgeries (1318/2003, 65.8%), while in urban areas, surgeries were more equally performed by general (2616/5192, 50.4%) and plastic (2495/5192, 48.1%) surgeons. Of HS surgery claims, 25.7%-35.9% were provided by a physician residing in a different area than the patient receiving care.

**Conclusions:** No significant improvements in access to HS surgery were seen across the study period, with access potentially worsening with annual HS claims rising overall and number of providers decreasing, with patients travelling further to access surgery. System barriers across the continuum of HS diagnosis and management must be evaluated to improve access to surgical care.

## (JMIR Dermatol 2021;4(2):e31047) doi:10.2196/31047

## **KEYWORDS**

RenderX

hidradenitis suppurativa; surgery; dermatology; access; epidemiology; universal health care

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Division of General Surgery, Department of Surgery, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Division of Dermatology, Department of Medicine, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Division of Dermatology, Department of Medicine, Sunnybrook Health Sciences Centre, Toronto, ON, Canada

## Introduction

Hidradenitis suppurativa (HS) is a painful, inflammatory disorder involving a dysfunction of the pilosebaceous unit, which confers significant distress to patients due to its relapsing and remitting nature [1-3]. HS management is complex, with both medical and surgical treatment options and the first North American clinical management guidelines only recently published in 2019 [4,5]. A variety of options for medical treatment is available depending on the severity of disease, including topical and intralesional therapies, systemic antibiotics, hormonal therapies, retinoids, immunosuppressants, and biologics [4,5]. However, surgery remains an integral treatment modality regardless of disease severity [4-6]. Approximately 80% of patients were shown to be satisfied with surgical treatment of HS and considered it as the best treatment option [6].

Unfortunately, the diagnosis of HS is relatively rare, and it is often mistaken for a simple infection, limiting access to proper treatment [7]. HS is commonly diagnosed after a significant delay, with one multinational study reporting a mean delay of 10.2 years [8] and Canadian data reporting a median delay of 7 years with an average of 3 misdiagnoses [9]. Treatment has also been found to be fragmented over multiple specialties, including dermatology, primary care, general surgery, and plastic surgery [10,11], with patients trying an average of 15 different methods to manage their HS symptoms [9]. The absence of a designated specialty for HS management has been suggested to further delay diagnosis and treatment [12,13].

The prevalence of HS has been reported to range from 0.03% to 4.10% [14]. Although guidelines have been published for the surgical management of HS, they commonly rely on low-quality, uncontrolled, retrospective reports, and whether there is adequate access to HS surgery is unknown [5]. Moreover, although early surgical interventions are believed to potentially prevent progression of disease, data are sparse, and the extent of adoption of surgical management for HS is unclear [15].

To inform improvements in HS care, patterns in current and past HS surgery must be assessed. The objectives of this study were to evaluate patient access to surgical procedures for HS and investigate trends in HS surgery across different specialties and geographical regions.

## Methods

## **Data Source**

Ontario was chosen as the study setting as it is the most populous province in Canada with approximately 14.7 million inhabitants [16] and provides its citizens with universal health care through the Ontario Health Insurance Plan (OHIP). Data on OHIP medical claims were obtained from the Medical Services and Population data source within IntelliHealth, a province-wide data repository operated by the Ontario Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care containing information on physician billing. IntelliHealth has been utilized in prior population-based studies on physician billing and practices [17-22]. Research ethics board approval was not required for this study as information obtained through IntelliHealth is anonymized and publicly available.

## **Study Population**

A retrospective, population-based analysis was performed on Ontario physicians who surgically treated HS. Data were collected across 10 years from January 1, 2008 to December 31, 2017. Physicians who surgically treated HS or hyperhidrosis were identified by procedure codes R059 (unilateral excision of inguinal, perineal, or axillary skin and sweat glands for hyperhidrosis and/or hidradenitis) and R060 (excision of inguinal, perineal, or axillary skin and sweat glands for hyperhidrosis and/or hidradenitis with skin graft(s) or rotation flap(s)) [23]. From these, claims billed under diagnostic code 799 for "excessive sweating" (hyperhidrosis) were excluded to further isolate those for HS, as no OHIP diagnostic code currently exists for HS [24]. The top 5 billing specialties were analyzed, excluding family physicians and anaesthesiologists, to further ensure that the procedure was being performed for the purposes of HS.

## Data Analysis

Data were exported from IntelliHealth's online system and analyzed using Microsoft Excel version 16.36. Physician specialty was defined as the specialty billed for the procedure. The number, location, and specialty of physicians who performed the excision of inguinal, perineal, or axillary skin and sweat glands for HS were analyzed. The total number of procedures performed as well as the number performed per physician were investigated. Patient and physician locations were compared. Location was determined based on the assigned Local Health Integration Network (LHIN). Each LHIN was further classified as rural or urban following previously applied methodology in which a LHIN is deemed rural if its population is less than 1,000,000 and urban if greater [17,20,21].

## Results

## Demographics

Across the study period, a total of 12,539 claims were submitted for the excision of inguinal, perineal, or axillary skin and sweat glands for hyperhidrosis and/or HS. Of these cases, 1758 were excluded because they were submitted for hyperhidrosis (excessive sweating). A further 3586 claims were excluded based on specialty billed. A final total of 7195 claims was included in the study (Figure 1). Patient demographics are shown in Table 1 for patients with a valid health card number. Approximately 10% of patients had multiple surgeries over the study period.



Figure 1. Cohort formation flowchart. OHIP: Ontario Health Insurance Plan.



 Table 1. Ontario hidradenitis suppurativa surgery patient demographics.

Characteris- tics	2008 (n=569)	2009 (n=628)	2010 (n=624)	2011 (n=631)	2012 (n=704)	2013 (n=667)	2014 (n=669)	2015 (n=640)	2016 (n=668)	2017 (n=670)
Sex, n (%)					*				,	
Female	366 (64.3)	427 (68.0)	441 (70.7)	433 (68.6)	458 (65.1)	453 (67.9)	454 (67.9)	415 (64.8)	426 (63.8)	419 (62.5)
Male	203 (35.7)	201 (32.0)	183 (29.3)	198 (31.4)	246 (34.9)	214 (32.1)	215 (32.1)	225 (35.2)	242 (36.2)	251 (37.5)
Age (years), mean	40.4	40.8	41.0	40.7	40.2	40.3	39.9	41.8	41.6	42.8
Age (years),	n (%)									
0-19	41 (7.2)	26 (4.1)	31 (5.0)	36 (5.7)	55 (7.8)	36 (5.4)	32 (4.8)	30 (4.7)	30 (4.5)	31 (4.6)
20-44	306 (53.8)	350 (55.7)	349 (55.9)	351 (55.6)	386 (54.8)	372 (55.8)	396 (59.2)	347 (54.2)	381 (57.0)	340 (50.7)
45-64	181 (31.8)	215 (34.2)	203 (32.5)	194 (30.7)	216 (30.7)	217 (32.5)	192 (28.7)	219 (34.2)	197 (29.5)	234 (34.9)
65-74	23 (4.0)	24 (3.8)	25 (4.0)	36 (5.7)	29 (4.1)	29 (4.3)	36 (5.4)	28 (4.4)	35 (5.2)	46 (6.9)
≥75	18 (3.2)	13 (2.1)	16 (2.6)	14 (2.2)	18 (2.6)	13 (1.9)	13 (1.9)	16 (2.5)	25 (3.7)	19 (2.8)

## **Providers of HS Surgery**

The top 5 billing specialties for HS surgery were general surgery, plastic surgery, obstetrics and gynecology, urology, and dermatology (Multimedia Appendix 1, Supplemental Table 1). Over the course of the entire study period, general and plastic surgeons submitted the vast majority of claims for surgical treatment of HS, at 3934 and 3107 claims, respectively. General surgeons performed the majority of unilateral excision

procedures (R059), while plastic surgeons performed the majority of procedures that involved a skin graft or rotation flap (R060). The annual number of claims submitted for HS surgery experienced an overall slight increase across the study period when standardized by population, ranging between 4.9 (2008) and 5.8 (2012) claims per 100,000 population (Figure 2). However, overall, for every additional year, the number of claims per 100,000 population only slightly increased, by 0.03 claims.



Figure 2. Submission of claims for hidradenitis suppurativa surgery over time per 100,000 population.



■ All Physicians ◆ Plastic Surgery ▲ General Surgery

By specialty, annual claims submitted by general surgeons increased slightly more than those by plastic surgeons. The number of HS surgery providers per 100,000 population ranged from 1.7 to 1.9, with general surgeons ranging from 1.1 to 1.3

and plastic surgeons ranging from 0.5 to 0.6 (Figure 3). However, overall, for every additional year, the number of providers per 100,000 population decreased slightly, by 0.002 physicians.

Figure 3. Providers of hidradenitis suppurativa surgery over time per 100,000 population.



■ All Physicians ◆ Plastic Surgery ▲ General Surgery

The mean number of procedures performed annually per physician rose from 2.8 to 3.1 across 10 years (Figure 4). Plastic surgeons performed more procedures per physician than did general surgeons, ranging from 4.0 to 4.5 compared with 2.3 to 2.8. However, the change in procedures per physician over time for all providers, as well as plastic surgeons and general

surgeons, was not statistically significant. It is also important to note that, averaged across the 10 years, 85.2% (2069/2427) of physicians submitted <5 claims per year, while only 14.8% (358/2427) submitted  $\geq$ 5 claims per year. Furthermore, many only performed 1 HS surgery per year, therefore not necessarily qualifying as a specialized provider of HS care.

```
https://derma.jmir.org/2021/2/e31047
```

Figure 4. Annual hidradenitis suppurativa surgeries performed per physician.



■ All Specialties

General Surgery ■ Plastic Surgery

## **Geographic Distribution of Claims**

In total, analyzed per claim, more patients (2281/7195, 31.7%) than physicians (2003/7195, 27.8%) resided in a rural area, while more physicians (5192/7195, 72.2%) than patients (4914/7195, 68.3%) resided in an urban area (see Multimedia Appendix 2, Supplemental Figure 1a). Furthermore, over time, HS surgeries were increasingly being performed by physicians residing in a different geographic region than the patient receiving care (low of 176/684, 25.7% in 2009 to a high of 269/749, 35.9% in 2017; Multimedia Appendix 3, Supplemental Figure 2). When comparing surgeries performed in rural areas to those in urban areas, in rural areas, surgery was most often performed by a general surgeon (1318/2003, 65.8%), while in urban areas, surgeries were more equally performed by general surgeons (2616/5192, 50.4%) and plastic surgeons (2495/5192, 48.1%; Multimedia Appendix 2, Supplemental Figure 1b).

## Discussion

## **Principal Findings**

In this population-based analysis of HS surgical care in Canada, there was a slight trend towards increasing number of claims for HS surgery per 100,000 population over the 10-year study period, while the number of providers per 100,000 population decreased, particularly in general surgery. However, procedures performed per physician increased overall, although the increase was not statistically significant. Geographically, patients were also travelling further to access surgery. These findings suggest that overall access to HS surgery has not significantly improved over the study period and in fact may be decreasing as more and more patients seek care away from home as the number of clinicians providing surgery decreases.

The female:male ratio of patients included in this study was similar to that of a previous report on surgical interventions for HS patients in Ontario [25]. In comparison, the general female:male ratio among all HS patients is 3:1 [26-28],

RenderX

suggesting that men diagnosed with HS are more likely to undergo surgery than women. This is possibly due to men generally experiencing more severe disease [28,29], underestimation and dismissal of pain in female patients [30], or a lack of surgical expertise for female care due to common lesion localization to the inguinofemoral area [28], as well as low numbers of gynecologists providing HS surgery. This emphasizes the need for improved access to care for female patients through improved surgical expertise and increased awareness surrounding perception of pain in women.

The mean age of disease onset has been reported as 20.5 (SD 9.3) years, with a mean age at diagnosis of 30.7 (SD 10.9) years, representing a mean delay from onset of symptoms to diagnosis of 10.2 (SD 8.9) years [8]. In our study, the mean age at the time of surgery was in the early 40s and increased by 2 years during the study period, representing a duration of potentially 10 more years from diagnosis to surgical treatment. One reason for the general rise in the mean age of patients undergoing HS surgery and the decrease in claims among patients 20-44 years old may be that medical therapy for control of early disease is increasingly being utilized over surgery, which remains a necessary adjunct intervention for refractory HS cases [6,10,31,32]. The mean age of surgery may also be increasing as patients may be receiving multiple surgeries, found to be approximately 10% in this study, with surgical intervention potentially starting at a later age due to surgical options only being explored once the disease has progressed to a more severe state. Furthermore, in Canada, 3.8% of the population, or approximately 3800 per 100,000 persons, are estimated to be living with HS [33]. Exact estimates of HS severity still vary widely, with reports of 3.9% to 23.7% of HS patients diagnosed with Hurley Stage III [28,29,34]. However, in this study, only 4.9 to 5.8 claims per 100,000 persons were submitted annually for the surgical excision of HS. Despite the considerable number of severe cases reported in the literature, surgical management of HS may therefore be underutilized.

Other recent advances in HS care have focused on new systemic drugs that target different immune mediators in the pathogenesis of HS [35]. Research on various monoclonal antibodies and small molecules are currently underway, while the use of anti-tumor necrosis factor biologic therapy has already demonstrated reductions in HS severity in clinical trials [35]. However, patients have reported high satisfaction with surgical management and experience relatively low recurrence of HS [5,6,36,37]. This suggests the need to consider surgery earlier as part of HS management to limit the long-term morbidity and prolonged progression of the disease. Combined management with biologic therapy has also been advocated in the setting of moderate-to-severe disease [38].

HS surgery was found to be primarily performed by general and plastic surgeons, consistent with previous literature [13]. Although general surgeons were the primary providers of HS surgical care, plastic surgeons submitted more claims per physician. Plastic surgeons also performed the majority of procedures that involved a skin graft or rotation flap, with a previous study showing that flap reconstructions by plastic surgeons had significantly shorter operation times and lower transfusion rates than those by general surgeons, reflecting the specialized training plastic surgeons receive in reconstructive procedures [13]. Investigation into the education of relevant surgical programs on specialized HS surgical care may highlight areas of training requiring further improvement.

Furthermore, it is likely that more surgeons are choosing narrower scopes of practice, especially in general surgery where broader scopes of surgical services are diminishing with highly specialized postresidency fellowships [39]. This is reflected in the study, with more HS surgery claims being accompanied by more claims per provider but fewer providers overall. Increased specialization and narrowing scopes of practice may also lead to patients having to travel further to receive care from an available provider. Accordingly, approximately one-third of patients received care away from their home, with this number also increasing over time. This has important implications for postsurgical follow-up care, with HS being a chronic relapsing disease requiring months to even years of follow-up post-surgical excision [6,31]. This highlights the need for recruitment of more surgeons to perform HS surgery as well as the training of rural surgeons on the surgical treatment of HS.

## **Strengths and Limitations**

This study benefited from the use of a comprehensive, large, longitudinal database, allowing for future comparison studies. However, a limitation to this study was the lack of a specific diagnostic code for HS. Therefore, we were unable to evaluate and compare changes in HS surgery over time to changes in HS claims. Future studies should explore this association, to further help characterize patient access to HS surgical care. Second, the two billing codes used in this study, R059 and R060, do not reflect the entirety of procedures that can be offered for HS, such as abscess drainage, laser treatments, or electrosurgical peeling procedures [5,40]. However, these treatment modalities are relatively novel and are rarely performed as standard of care. Procedures such as abscess drainage also have high recurrence rates of up to 100% and are not performed as a curative option [5,41]. Furthermore, we were unable to assess demographic factors of patients and physicians such as gender, race, and ethnicity, limiting our analysis. However, evidence suggests unequal access leading to racial disparities in surgical care [42]. Further investigation into HS patient and physician demographic factors would be impactful to analyze in future studies.

## **Comparison With Prior Work**

Barriers to seeking HS care have previously been reported to include a lack of knowledge about HS among providers, difficulty accessing specialists, poor patient-physician communication, distrust in the medical community, and patients' experiences with HS [43]. This can be amplified by the significant delay to diagnosis that adds to patient frustration and disease severity and affects the likelihood of receiving well-planned, individual management [35]. Despite ongoing research on new treatment modalities, there is also a need to evaluate the circumstances of these barriers including access to operating room time, extent of provider education on HS, role of subspecialization among surgical providers, and public awareness around HS. This also translates to potential areas for public health authorities and hospital administrations to improve HS care, specifically in regard to increasing operating room time for HS surgeries.

## Conclusions

Unfortunately, no significant improvements in patient access to surgery were seen across the study period, with annual HS claims rising overall, number of providers decreasing, and patients travelling further to access surgery. A lack of access to operating room time and narrowing scopes of practice may be contributing factors potentially worsening access over time. Further research on HS surgery, including evaluation into system barriers across the continuum of HS diagnosis and management, are required in order to improve access to surgical care for HS patients.

## Acknowledgments

This study made use of data from the Ontario Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care: IntelliHealth Ontario. No financial support was provided.

## **Authors' Contributions**

RA conceived the study. All authors contributed to the study design. AF acquired the data through IntelliHealth. AF and AL contributed to analysis and interpretation of data and drafting of the article. RA and RG critically revised the article. All authors approved the final version to be published.

```
https://derma.jmir.org/2021/2/e31047
```

## **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Supplemental Table 1. Claims submitted for hidradenitis suppurativa (HS) surgery by specialty. [DOCX File, 29 KB - derma v4i2e31047 app1.docx]

## Multimedia Appendix 2

Supplemental Figure 1. (a) Percentage of claims submitted by physician and patient location. (b) Percentage of claims billed by specialty using physician location.

[PNG File, 75 KB - derma\_v4i2e31047\_app2.png]

Multimedia Appendix 3

Supplemental Figure 2. Percentage of claims submitted by physician and patient location (defined as their Local Health Integration Network [LHIN]) over time. Shown by claims submitted by physicians who resided in the same location as the patient at the time of surgery, and by those who did not.

[PNG File , 69 KB - derma\_v4i2e31047\_app3.png ]

## References

- Parks R, Parks T. Pathogenesis, clinical features and management of hidradenitis suppurativa. Ann R Coll Surg Engl 1997 Mar;79(2):83-89 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 9135232]
- 2. Napolitano M, Megna M, Timoshchuk E, Patruno C, Balato N, Fabbrocini G, et al. Hidradenitis suppurativa: From pathogenesis to diagnosis and treatment. CCID 2017 Apr;Volume 10:105-115. [doi: 10.2147/ccid.s111019]
- Alavi A, Anooshirvani N, Kim WB, Coutts P, Sibbald RG. Quality-of-life impairment in patients with hidradenitis suppurativa: A Canadian study. Am J Clin Dermatol 2015 Feb 29;16(1):61-65. [doi: <u>10.1007/s40257-014-0105-5</u>] [Medline: <u>25432664</u>]
- Alikhan A, Sayed C, Alavi A, Alhusayen R, Brassard A, Burkhart C, et al. North American clinical management guidelines for hidradenitis suppurativa: A publication from the United States and Canadian Hidradenitis Suppurativa Foundations: Part II: Topical, intralesional, and systemic medical management. J Am Acad Dermatol 2019 Jul;81(1):91-101. [doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2019.02.068] [Medline: 30872149]
- Alikhan A, Sayed C, Alavi A, Alhusayen R, Brassard A, Burkhart C, et al. North American clinical management guidelines for hidradenitis suppurativa: A publication from the United States and Canadian Hidradenitis Suppurativa Foundations: Part I: Diagnosis, evaluation, and the use of complementary and procedural management. J Am Acad Dermatol 2019 Jul;81(1):76-90. [doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2019.02.067] [Medline: 30872156]
- Fertitta L, Hotz C, Wolkenstein P, Méningaud JP, Sawan D, Hersant B, et al. Efficacy and satisfaction of surgical treatment for hidradenitis suppurativa. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 2020 Apr;34(4):839-845. [doi: <u>10.1111/jdv.16135</u>] [Medline: <u>31799758</u>]
- 7. Jemec GB. Hidradenitis Suppurativa. N Engl J Med 2012 Jan 12;366(2):158-164. [doi: 10.1056/nejmcp1014163]
- Garg A, Neuren E, Cha D, Kirby JS, Ingram JR, Jemec GB, et al. Evaluating patients' unmet needs in hidradenitis suppurativa: Results from the Global Survey Of Impact and Healthcare Needs (VOICE) Project. J Am Acad Dermatol 2020 Feb;82(2):366-376. [doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2019.06.1301] [Medline: 31279015]
- Scarred for Life: 2020 Update: A National Report of Patients' Experiences Living with Hidradenitis Suppurativa. Canadian Skin Patient Alliance. 2020 May. URL: <u>https://canadianskin.ca/images/HS\_Report/CSPA\_HS\_Report\_May\_22\_2020\_Final.pdf</u> [accessed 2021-11-01]
- Wang S, Wang S, Alavi A, Alhusayen R, Bashash M, Sibbald R. Hidradenitis suppurativa: A frequently missed diagnosis, Part 2: Treatment options. Adv Skin Wound Care 2015 Aug;28(8):372-80; quiz 381. [doi: 10.1097/01.ASW.0000466712.21948.8a] [Medline: 26181861]
- Zouboulis C, Desai N, Emtestam L, Hunger R, Ioannides D, Juhász I, et al. European S1 guideline for the treatment of hidradenitis suppurativa/acne inversa. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 2015 Apr 30;29(4):619-644. [doi: <u>10.1111/jdv.12966</u>] [Medline: <u>25640693</u>]
- 12. McMillan K. Hidradenitis suppurativa: Number of diagnosed patients, demographic characteristics, and treatment patterns in the United States. Am J Epidemiol 2014 Jun 15;179(12):1477-1483. [doi: <u>10.1093/aje/kwu078</u>] [Medline: <u>24812161</u>]
- 13. Ruan QZ, Chen AD, Singhal D, Lee BT, Fukudome EY. Surgical management of hidradenitis suppurativa: Procedural trends and risk factors. J Surg Res 2018 Sep;229:200-207. [doi: 10.1016/j.jss.2018.04.007] [Medline: 29936991]
- 14. Jemec GB, Kimball AB. Hidradenitis suppurativa: Epidemiology and scope of the problem. J Am Acad Dermatol 2015 Nov;73(5 Suppl 1):S4-S7. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jaad.2015.07.052</u>] [Medline: <u>26470614</u>]

- Alavi A, Lynde C, Alhusayen R, Bourcier M, Delorme I, George R, et al. Approach to the management of patients with hidradenitis suppurativa: A consensus document. J Cutan Med Surg 2017 Jun 22;21(6):513-524. [doi: 10.1177/1203475417716117] [Medline: 28639459]
- 16. Table 17-10-0009-01: Population estimates, quarterly. Statistics Canada. URL: <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/t1/tb11/en/tv.action?pid=1710000901</u> [accessed 2021-11-01]
- Micieli JA, Micieli R, Margolin EA. A review of specialties performing temporal artery biopsies in Ontario: A retrospective cohort study. CMAJ Open 2015 Jul 30;3(3):E281-E285 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.9778/cmajo.20140108</u>] [Medline: <u>26442226</u>]
- 18. Micieli JA, Micieli A, Schlenker MB, Kertes PJ. Growth of medical and surgical vitreoretinal subspecialization in Ontario over 12 years. Can J Ophthalmol 2014 Aug;49(4):312-319. [doi: 10.1016/j.jcjo.2014.02.010] [Medline: 25103646]
- 19. Micieli JA, Trope GE, Buys YM. Gender gap and declining surgical activity among new graduates: Cataract surgery in Ontario. Can J Ophthalmol 2016 Jun;51(3):154-160. [doi: 10.1016/j.jcjo.2016.04.013] [Medline: 27316260]
- 20. Micieli JA. Geographic distribution of ophthalmologists in Ontario: A 10-year review. Can J Ophthalmol 2014 Jun;49(3):283-286. [doi: 10.1016/j.jcjo.2014.01.006] [Medline: 24862776]
- 21. Micieli R, Alhusayen R. Changes in the practice patterns and demographics of Ontario dermatologists. J Cutan Med Surg 2018 Mar 08;22(4):390-399. [doi: 10.1177/1203475418762719] [Medline: 29519145]
- 22. Micieli JA, Buys YM. Proportion of medical-only versus surgical ophthalmology practices: Associations and trends. Can J Ophthalmol 2016 Jun;51(3):161-167. [doi: 10.1016/j.jcjo.2016.04.005] [Medline: 27316261]
- Ontario Ministry of Health and LTC. Schedule of Benefits. Physician Services Under the Health Insurance Act 2011:1-874.
   Resource Manual for Physicians: Section 4 Claims Submission. Ontario Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care. 2015.
- URL: <u>https://www.health.gov.on.ca/English/providers/pub/ohip/physmanual/download/section\_4.pdf</u> [accessed 2021-11-01] 25. Mehdizadeh A, Rosella L, Alavi A, Sibbald G, Farzanfar D, Hazrati A, et al. A Canadian population-based cohort to the
- study cost and burden of surgically resected hidradenitis suppurativa. J Cutan Med Surg 2018 Mar 11;22(3):312-317. [doi: 10.1177/1203475418763536] [Medline: 29528753]
- Garg A, Kirby JS, Lavian J, Lin G, Strunk A. Sex- and age-adjusted population analysis of prevalence estimates for hidradenitis suppurativa in the United States. JAMA Dermatol 2017 Aug 01;153(8):760-764 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamadermatol.2017.0201] [Medline: 28492923]
- Cosmatos I, Matcho A, Weinstein R, Montgomery MO, Stang P. Analysis of patient claims data to determine the prevalence of hidradenitis suppurativa in the United States. J Am Acad Dermatol 2013 Mar;68(3):412-419. [doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2012.07.027] [Medline: 22921795]
- 28. Canoui-Poitrine F, Revuz JE, Wolkenstein P, Viallette C, Gabison G, Pouget F, et al. Clinical characteristics of a series of 302 French patients with hidradenitis suppurativa, with an analysis of factors associated with disease severity. J Am Acad Dermatol 2009 Jul;61(1):51-57. [doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2009.02.013] [Medline: 19406505]
- 29. Schrader AM, Deckers IE, van der Zee HH, Boer J, Prens EP. Hidradenitis suppurativa: A retrospective study of 846 Dutch patients to identify factors associated with disease severity. J Am Acad Dermatol 2014 Sep;71(3):460-467. [doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2014.04.001] [Medline: 24880664]
- Zhang L, Losin EAR, Ashar YK, Koban L, Wager TD. Gender biases in estimation of others' pain. J Pain 2021 Sep;22(9):1048-1059 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jpain.2021.03.001] [Medline: 33684539]
- Kagan RJ, Yakuboff KP, Warner P, Warden GD. Surgical treatment of hidradenitis suppurativa: A 10-year experience. Surgery 2005 Oct;138(4):734-40; discussion 740. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.surg.2005.06.053</u>] [Medline: <u>16269303</u>]
- Scuderi N, Monfrecola A, Dessy LA, Fabbrocini G, Megna M, Monfrecola G. Medical and surgical treatment of hidradenitis suppurativa: A review. Skin Appendage Disord 2017 May 21;3(2):95-110 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1159/000462979] [Medline: 28560220]
- 33. Lachaine J, Miron A, Shear N, Alhusayen R. The prevalence and incidence of hidradenitis suppurativa in Canada: Results from a population-based survey. Value in Health 2016 May;19(3):A123. [doi: 10.1016/j.jval.2016.03.495]
- Bianchi L, Caposiena Caro RD, Ganzetti G, Molinelli E, Dini V, Oranges T, et al. Sex-related differences of clinical features in hidradenitis suppurativa: Analysis of an Italian-based cohort. Clin Exp Dermatol 2019 Jul 28;44(5):e177-e180. [doi: 10.1111/ced.13861] [Medline: <u>30593710</u>]
- 35. Sabat R, Jemec GBE, Matusiak L, Kimball AB, Prens E, Wolk K. Hidradenitis suppurativa. Nat Rev Dis Primers 2020 Mar 12;6(1):18. [doi: 10.1038/s41572-020-0149-1] [Medline: 32165620]
- 36. Mehdizadeh A, Hazen PG, Bechara FG, Zwingerman N, Moazenzadeh M, Bashash M, et al. Recurrence of hidradenitis suppurativa after surgical management: A systematic review and meta-analysis. J Am Acad Dermatol 2015 Nov;73(5 Suppl 1):S70-S77. [doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2015.07.044] [Medline: 26470621]
- 37. Kohorst JJ, Baum CL, Otley CC, Roenigk RK, Pemberton JH, Dozois EJ, et al. Patient satisfaction and quality of life following surgery for hidradenitis suppurativa. Dermatol Surg 2017;43(1):125-133. [doi: 10.1097/dss.00000000000942]
- 38. Falola RA, DeFazio MV, Anghel EL, Mitnick CDB, Attinger CE, Evans KK. What heals hidradenitis suppurativa: Surgery, immunosuppression, or both? Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery 2016;138:219S-229S. [doi: 10.1097/prs.00000000002671]
- Doherty GM. Call to action for general surgery-trained specialists: Maintain both breadth and depth. JAMA Surg 2016 Mar 01;151(3):209-210. [doi: 10.1001/jamasurg.2015.4653] [Medline: 26650975]

- 40. Saunte DML, Jemec GBE. Hidradenitis suppurativa: Advances in diagnosis and treatment. JAMA 2017 Nov 28;318(20):2019-2032. [doi: 10.1001/jama.2017.16691] [Medline: 29183082]
- 41. Ritz J, Runkel N, Haier J, Buhr HJ. Extent of surgery and recurrence rate of hidradenitis suppurativa. Int J Colorectal Dis 1998;13(4):164-168. [doi: 10.1007/s003840050159] [Medline: 9810520]
- 42. Haider AH, Scott VK, Rehman KA, Velopulos C, Bentley JM, Cornwell EE, et al. Racial disparities in surgical care and outcomes in the United States: A comprehensive review of patient, provider, and systemic factors. J Am Coll Surg 2013 Mar;216(3):482-92.e12 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jamcollsurg.2012.11.014] [Medline: 23318117]
- Shukla N, Paul M, Halley M, Lowes M, Hester V, Aguilar C, et al. Identifying barriers to care and research in hidradenitis suppurativa: Findings from a patient engagement event. Br J Dermatol 2020 Jun 29;182(6):1490-1492 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/bjd.18818] [Medline: <u>31883104</u>]

## Abbreviations

HS: hidradenitis suppurativa LHIN: Local Health Integration Network OHIP: Ontario Health Insurance Plan

Edited by R Dellavalle, T Sivesind; submitted 07.06.21; peer-reviewed by J Maghfour, A Hamp, S Azadnajafabad, S Gulliver; comments to author 02.09.21; revised version received 28.09.21; accepted 19.10.21; published 14.12.21.

<u>Please cite as:</u>

Finstad A, Lee A, George R, Alhusayen R Exploring Access to Surgical Interventions for Hidradenitis Suppurativa: Retrospective Population-Based Analysis JMIR Dermatol 2021;4(2):e31047 URL: https://derma.jmir.org/2021/2/e31047 doi:10.2196/31047 PMID:37632848

©Alexandra Finstad, Alex Lee, Ralph George, Raed Alhusayen. Originally published in JMIR Dermatology (http://derma.jmir.org), 14.12.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Dermatology Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://derma.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Publisher: JMIR Publications 130 Queens Quay East. Toronto, ON, M5A 3Y5 Phone: (+1) 416-583-2040 Email: <u>support@jmir.org</u>

https://www.jmirpublications.com/

